CARING FOR THOSE WHO ARE NEGLECTED AND FORGOTTEN: PSYCHIATRY IN PRISON ENVIRONMENTS

EDITED BY: Norbert Konrad, Annette Opitz-Welke and Birgit Angela Völlm PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-725-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-725-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

CARING FOR THOSE WHO ARE NEGLECTED AND FORGOTTEN: PSYCHIATRY IN PRISON ENVIRONMENTS

Topic Editors:

Norbert Konrad, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Annette Opitz-Welke, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Rostock, Germany

Citation: Konrad, N., Opitz-Welke, A., Völlm, B. A., eds. (2020). Caring for Those Who are Neglected and Forgotten: Psychiatry in Prison Environments. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-725-6

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Caring for Those Who are Neglected and Forgotten: Psychiatry in Prison Environments

Annette Opitz-Welke, Norbert Konrad and Birgit Völlm

- O8 Prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in Detention Settings: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis
 Stéphanie Baggio, Ana Fructuoso, Marta Guimaraes, Eveline Fois, Diane Golay, Patrick Heller, Nader Perroud, Candy Aubry, Susan Young, Didier Delessert, Laurent Gétaz, Nguyen T. Tran and Hans Wolff
- 18 Prison Suicide in Comparison to Suicide Events in Forensic Psychiatric Hospitals in Germany

Alexander Voulgaris, Nadine Kose, Norbert Konrad and Annette Opitz-Welke

- 25 Criminalization Through Transinstitutionalization: A Critical Review of the Penrose Hypothesis in the Context of Compensation Imprisonment Sebastian Schildbach and Carola Schildbach
- 32 Yield and Efficiency of Mental Disorder Screening at Intake to Prison: A Comparison of DIA-X Short- and Long-Screening-Protocols in Compensation Prisoners

Carola Schildbach and Sebastian Schildbach

- Beyond the Walls: An Evaluation of a Pre-Release Planning (PReP) Programme for Sentenced Mentally Disordered Offenders
 Damian Smith, Susan Harnett, Aisling Flanagan, Sarah Hennessy, Pauline Gill, Niamh Quigley, Cornelia Carey, Michael McGhee, Aoife McManus, Mary Kennedy, Enda Kelly, Jean Carey, Ann Concannon, Harry G. Kennedy and Damian Mohan
- 52 Conflicting Priorities Between Risk Management and Treatment of Schizophrenia in Swiss Forensic Services—A Case Report Sarah Steinau, Nathalie Brackmann, Ulf Sternemann, Nikola Biller-Andorno and Elmar Habermeyer
- 57 Predicting Offenders' Institutional Misconduct and Recidivism: The Utility of Behavioral Ratings by Prison Officers

Joscha Hausam, Robert J. B. Lehmann and Klaus-Peter Dahle

69 Implementation of a Suicide Risk Screening Instrument in a Remand Prison Service in Berlin

Dora Dezsö, Norbert Konrad, Katharina Seewald and Annette Opitz-Welke

- 77 The Costs of Healthcare in Prison and Custody: Systematic Review of Current Estimates and Proposed Guidelines for Future Reporting Shivpriya Sridhar, Robert Cornish and Seena Fazel
- 86 The Role of Oxytocin in Antisocial Personality Disorders: A Systematic Review of the Literature

Trevor Gedeon, Joanne Parry and Birgit Völlm

101 Determinants of Dropout From Correctional Offender Treatment Franziska Brunner, Insa Neumann, Dahlnym Yoon, Martin Rettenberger, Elisabeth Stück and Peer Briken

- 113 Confessions and Denials When Guilty and Innocent: Forensic Patients' Self-Reported Behavior During Police Interviews Renate Volbert, Lennart May, Joscha Hausam and Steffen Lau
- **123** Suicide in Older Prisoners in Germany Annette Opitz-Welke, Norbert Konrad, Justus Welke, Katharina Bennefeld-Kersten, Ulrich Gauger and Alexander Voulgaris
- 130 Validating the Utility of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire With Men Who Have Sexually Offended Against Children
 Ross M. Bartels, Robert J. B. Lehmann and David Thornton
- 140 Identifying Violent Behavior Using the Oxford Mental Illness and Violence Tool in a Psychiatric Ward of a German Prison Hospital
 Vincent Negatsch, Alexander Voulgaris, Peter Seidel, Robert Roehle and Annette Opitz-Welke
- A Latent Profile Analysis of Violent Offenders Based on PCL-R Factor Scores: Criminogenic Needs and Recidivism Risk
 Robert Johann Bernhard Lehmann, Craig S. Neumann, Robert Douglas Hare, Jürgen Biedermann, Klaus-Peter Dahle and Andreas Mokros
- 159 Let's Work Together Occupational Factors and Their Correlates to Prison Climate and Inmates' Attitudes Towards Treatment Julia Sauter, Joanna Vogel, Katharina Seewald, Joscha Hausam and Klaus-Peter Dahle
- 167 Violent Behavior During Psychiatric Inpatient Treatment in a German Prison Hospital

P. Seidel, N. Konrad, V. Negatsch, D. Dezsö, I. Kogan, U. Gauger, B. Neumann, A. Voulgaris and A. Opitz-Welke

174 Foreign National Patients in German Prison Psychiatry Britta Neumann, Thomas Ross and Annette Opitz-Welke





Editorial: Caring for Those Who Are Neglected and Forgotten: Psychiatry in Prison Environments

Annette Opitz-Welke^{1*}, Norbert Konrad¹ and Birgit Völlm²

¹ Institute for Forensic Psychiatry, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Klinik und Poliklinik für Forensische Psychiatrie, Universitätsmedizin Rostock, Rostock, Germany

Keywords: mental health, prison, risk, suicide, violence, psychopathy

Editorial on the Research Topic

Caring for Those Who Are Neglected and Forgotten: Psychiatry in Prison Environments

Prison psychiatry is an area of the psychiatric care system, known only to the few mental health professionals who are working behind bars. As a consequence, the majority may feel unsecure when his or her patient had or has to serve a prison sentence. The aim of this Research Topic is to give an impression of the special challenges of psychiatric work inside correctional institutions.

In general, psychiatric care in prison environments has to deal with a disproportionate burden of psychiatric disease, social marginalization, and substance abuse disorders as well as an elevated prevalence of specific somatic disorders such as infectious diseases. Regarding diagnostic approaches according to the findings of Schildbach, severe mental disorders of prisoners cannot be efficiently detected with the computer aided short screening questionnaire of the DIA-X with a processing time of only a few minutes. Therefore, authors recommended use of the long version of DIA- X interview to open the possibility to identify mental health needs and establish appropriate treatment for those who need it (Schildbach and Schildbach). Although the high prevalence of psychotic disorder, depression, and substance abuse related disorders in prisoners is well-known, evidence about the prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity disorder in prison environments is scarce. Baggio et al. conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis which pooled 102 original studies including 69, 997 participants. According to their findings the rate of adult ADHD of people living in detention was 26.2%, a 5-fold increase compared to the general population (Baggio et al.).

Prisoners with severe mental disorders have been considered as a vulnerable group of inmates who are especially prone to make false confessions during court procedures. In line with these findings Volbert et al. studied a group of 153 patients of forensic hospitals and found evidence that 25% of the all participants have made at least one false confession.

Violent behavior is a major problem in correctional settings and many measures of restrictive prison routine aim to prevent violence. There is evidence that individuals who suffer from severe mental disorders are in general at higher risk for acting violently. In a retrospective case control study Seidel et al. examined a group of 210 individuals who had acted violently during a stay on a psychiatric ward of a prison hospital and compared them to a group who had never showed violent behavior. A diagnosis of schizophrenia, non-German nationality, no use of an interpreter, having no children and not being previously sentenced were associated with behaving violently during hospital stay (Seidel et al.). Regarding the role of citizenship Neumann et al. examined foreign national and German patients at a prison and compared them to foreign national and German patients at a forensic hospital. Differences in diagnosis were only found in the forensic hospital where foreign nationals were more often diagnosed with schizophrenia. Regarding self-harm foreign nationals were more likely to commit self-harm than Germans during their stay at the prison hospital psychiatric ward (Neumann et al.). Because of the high prevalence of violent

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Thomas Nilsson, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

*Correspondence: Annette Opitz-Welke annette.opitz-welke@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 03 February 2020 Accepted: 13 February 2020 Published: 31 March 2020

Citation:

Opitz-Welke A, Konrad N and Völlm B (2020) Editorial: Caring for Those Who Are Neglected and Forgotten: Psychiatry in Prison Environments. Front. Psychiatry 11:126. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00126 behavior in prison environments, there is an urgent need for screening instruments which are capable to detect individuals at risk of acting violently. Negatsch et al. compared a patient group at a psychiatric ward in a prison hospital who had acted violently at least once to a group who never showed any violent behavior. The risk assessment tool OxMIV succeeded in predicting violent behavior in patients suffering from schizophrenia or bipolar disorder, and may thus be useful in detecting individuals at risk for behaving violent in correctional settings (Negatsch et al.).

Although violence is an important issue for prison administrations, prisoners in general are also a high-risk population for self-harming behavior and suicide. The fact that the suicide rate in prisoners compared with that in the general population is significantly higher can also be considered to be an expression of increased mental vulnerability of prisoners. Voulgaris et al. compared suicide rates in forensic psychiatric hospitals and prisons and found no significant difference. To our knowledge is this the first study that presents data for suicide rates within German forensic hospital care (Voulgaris et al.).

While during the last century prison was mostly a matter of young men, the numbers of elderly prisoners are constantly rising. Elderly prisoners are considered a vulnerable prisonsubpopulation due to their lack of physical strength and because of their generally poor health. Analyzing data from a survey that included all German prison suicides from 2000 to 2013 Opitz-Welke et al. found higher suicide rates in elderly prisoners in comparison to the general population of the same age. When compared to younger suicide victims elderly suicide victims were more likely to be female, of German nationality, had remand status or were serving a life sentence (Opitz-Welke et al.). As suicide prevention is a major subject of prison mental health care the use of suicide screening instruments is widely recommended. Dezsö et al. described and examined the implementation of a suicide risk screening instruments (SIRAS) in a remand prison and found evidence for a shift in specific interventions toward toward the high-risk group.

Often psychiatry in prison environments provides treatment for those who do not have access to community-based healthcare systems or for those suffering from stigmatizing disorders like sexual deviations. Since sexual fantasies are a key factor in sex offender treatment programs Bartels et al. tested the validity of the Wilson-Sex-Fantasy-Questionnaire for the use with men who have sexually offended against children. The results of this study suggest that the two child-related items of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire were more useful than just assessing broad fantasy themes (Bartels et al.).

Providing a therapeutic atmosphere inside correctional facilities is sometimes difficult. In an analysis of the impact of social climate on the treatment outcome in correctional treatment units, Sauter et al. showed that measures to improve team climate and working relationship have an impact on inmates as well. Regarding ratings of inmates' prison behavior by prison officers Hausam et al. studied a group of 272 sexual and violent offenders and found that prison officers behavioral ratings can improve risk assessment.

There is sound evidence that the prevalence of antisocial personality disorder (ASPD) and psychopathy in correctional

settings is very high and that individuals with ASPD are difficult to treat and pose a high economic burden on society. Brunner et al. did an analysis of a sample of 205 incarcerated male adults who had been admitted to social-therapeutic facilities in German prisons. Treatment dropouts showed a significantly higher risk of having psychopathy personality traits (Brunner et al.). Lehmann et al. examined a group of 215 violent male offenders with the Psychopathy checklist (PCL-R) factor scores. Results indicated four latent classes with differences of recidivism risk, criminogenic needs and general, violent, and sexual reoffending. According to the authors findings may have implications for the issue of treatment amenability (Lehmann et al.). Looking for new therapeutic approaches for individuals suffering from ASPD there is some evidence that treatment with oxytocin may have a benefit in treating individuals with psychopathy. In a systematic review of the literature exploring the potential use of oxytocin in managing ASPD Gedeon et al. revealed that there were diversified effects with oxytocin showing some benefits and some nondesirable effects in managing ASDP and the symptoms of ASPD. To their opinion further high-quality large sample studies are required before the use of oxytocin may become a treatment option for individuals suffering of ASPD.

After a prison stay good transitional preparation preceding release seems to reduce the risk of poor mental health outcome but is hard to achieve. In a naturalistic prospective observational cohort study Smith et al. could provide evidence for the effectiveness of a Pre-Release Planning Programme of sentenced mentally disordered offenders. Schildbach examined four samples of 100 compensation prisoners each from 1999 till 2017. The majority were homeless, single, and unemployed, exhibited a high degree of substance abuse and showed an extraordinarily high prevalence of mental disorders. Because the average stay of compensation prisoners is short, social rehabilitation after imprisonment is lacking. Schildbach pointed out that compensation imprisonment leads to inappropriate transinstitutionalization and further criminalization of poor or mentally ill people and recommends from a criminalistic perspective community service instead of compensation imprisonment (Schildbach and Schildbach). For improving transition management from prison to community healthcare knowledge about cost effectiveness of mental health in correctional facilities seems crucial. Sridhar et al. reviewed prison healthcare expenditure internationally and found a lack of comparability. They developed a set of consistent and transparent guidelines for consistent and transparent reporting of healthcare costs (Sridhar et al.). The challenges of the treatment of delinquent patients with schizophrenia at the interface of health and justice system is described in a case report from swiss Forensic services. Authors point out that prison environments are difficult for individuals who lack social competences as a consequence of a severe mental disorder (Steinau et al.).

In general research in correctional institutions offers the option for a better understanding of clinical conditions which are rare in the community but common in prison. Evidence about individuals suffering from ASPD or of individuals who self-harm or act violently is necessary for improving treatment and prevention strategies in those cases. Although prison mental health care is often seen as strictly separated from community health provision this is in fact not true. In many cases prison psychiatry offers treatment for mentally disturbed offenders that from an early point have got lost in community health care. After mentally ill individuals are released from prison successful integration in community mental health care can help to prevent reoffending. Research collaboration of prison mental health professionals with providers of mental health in the community offers excellent opportunities for better understanding of factors that hinder the reintegration process. The editors are convinced that all clinicians working inside correctional institutions should be strongly encouraged to get involved in clinical research helping to develop evidence-based treatment strategies for the specific challenges of psychiatric work in prison.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AO-W wrote the first draft of the manuscript. NK und BV provided critical revison of the manuscript and important intellectual contributions. AO-W, NK, and BV read and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Opitz-Welke, Konrad and Völlm. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in Detention Settings: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Stéphanie Baggio^{1,2*}, Ana Fructuoso¹, Marta Guimaraes¹, Eveline Fois¹, Diane Golay¹, Patrick Heller¹, Nader Perroud³, Candy Aubry⁴, Susan Young⁵, Didier Delessert⁶, Laurent Gétaz¹, Nguyen T. Tran^{1,7} and Hans Wolff¹

¹ Division of Prison Health, Geneva University Hospitals and University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ² Life Course and Social Inequality Research Centre, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, ³ Division of Psychiatric Specialties, Department of Mental Health and Psychiatry, University Hospitals of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland, ⁴ Foundation TDAH-Insight and Association TDAH-ImPulse, Geneva, Switzerland, ⁵ Division of Brain Sciences, Department of Medicine, Centre for Mental Health, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁶ Prison Health Care, Valais Hospital, Sion, Switzerland, ⁷ Faculty of Health, Australian Centre for Public and Population Health Research, University of Technology, Sydney, NSW, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Peter Andiné, University of Gothenburg, Sweden David Michael Daley, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Stéphanie Baggio stephanie.baggio@hcuge.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 31 January 2018 Accepted: 29 June 2018 Published: 02 August 2018

Citation:

Baggio S, Fructuoso A, Guimaraes M, Fois E, Golay D, Heller P, Perroud N, Aubry C, Young S, Delessert D, Gétaz L, Tran NT and Wolff H (2018) Prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder in Detention Settings: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Psychiatry 9:331. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00331 **Background:** Previous studies have reported a high prevalence of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) among people living in detention (PLD) corresponding to a five- to ten-fold increase compared to the general population. Our main study objective was to provide an updated ADHD prevalence rate for PLD, including PLD in psychiatric units. Sub-objectives included (i) comparing different ways of assessing ADHD, including DSM-5 criteria and (ii) identifying which types of PLD are more likely to have ADHD.

Methods: We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis following the PRISMA guidelines and the MOOSE checklist. PubMed/Medline, PsycINFO, and Web of Sciences were searched combining "ADHD" and "prison" keywords and synonyms for articles published between January 1, 1966 and January 2, 2018. Potential sources of variation to the meta-analytic ADHD prevalence rate were investigated using meta-regressions and subgroups analyses.

Results: The meta-analysis pooled 102 original studies including 69,997 participants. The adult ADHD prevalence rate was 26.2% (95% confidence interval: 22.7–29.6). Retrospective assessments of ADHD in childhood were associated with an increased prevalence estimate (41.1, 95% confidence interval: 34.9–47.2, p < 0.001). There was no significant difference in the prevalence estimate between screenings and clinical interviews in adulthood. Only three studies used the DSM-5 definition of ADHD and results were non-significantly different with other DSM versions. We found no difference according to participants' characteristics.

Conclusion: Our results confirmed the high prevalence rate of ADHD among PLD, corresponding to a five-fold increase compared to the general population. In light of such high ADHD prevalence, our results reinforce the importance of addressing this critical public health issue by (i) systematically offering ADHD screening and diagnosis to all individuals entering detention, and (ii) delivering treatment, monitoring, and care

8

for ADHD during and after detention. These strategies may help reduce recidivism and reincarceration, as well as violence in detention settings, in addition to improving the health and wellbeing of people living in detention. Additionally, our study suggests that using screening scales may be a reliable way of assessing ADHD, although caution is needed because a complete evaluation by an experienced clinician is required to provide a formal diagnosis.

Keywords: ADHD, incarceration, offender, prevalence, prison

INTRODUCTION

ADHD in the General Population

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is a disorder characterized by difficulties paying attention, poor impulse control, and hyperactive behaviors. ADHD starts in early childhood and persists in adulthood in 40–60% of cases (1). There is growing evidence that adult ADHD is a major health concern (2). It is associated with at-risk behaviors and comorbid psychiatric disorders (3) and affects several areas of life, such as psychosocial functioning, school, work, and health care access and health care use (4).

ADHD in Incarcerated Population

ADHD is associated with an increased risk of having judicial contact at a younger age, including rule-breaking behaviors, delinquency, criminality, and recidivism (5–7). ADHD seems to be significantly more prevalent in incarcerated populations in comparison with the general population and it has been extensively studied in detention settings over the two last decades (5). Compared with other offenders, incarcerated individuals with ADHD are more likely to engage in misconduct in prison, for example, be verbally and physically aggressive (8, 9), have higher rates of recidivism (10), and have unsuccessful experiences with the criminal justice system as well as with probation (11). Therefore, ADHD seems to be a critical factor of the criminal career (7), but further investigations are needed to understand how ADHD is associated with involvement in the legal system.

To date, the only meta-analysis reporting ADHD prevalence in incarcerated populations included studies published until 2012. The study identified a five- to ten-fold increase in prevalence of ADHD compared to the general population (5): 25.5% compared to 5% in the general population (12–14). Since 2012, several studies have investigated the prevalence rates of ADHD in people living in detention (PLD) worldwide. Additionally, this meta-analysis did not include PLD detained in psychiatric units and therefore PLD with formal diagnostic of comorbid psychiatric disorders were likely to be excluded. A more complete picture of ADHD in prison setting is therefore needed.

Measures of ADHD

ADHD was introduced for the first time in the second version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-II), as "kyperkinetic disorder of childhood" (15). It emphasized on hyperactivity as a cardinal feature of the disorder. In the subsequent version of the DSM (DSM-III), the disorder was labeled "Attention deficit disorder with or without hyperactivity" (16). It emphasized on the attentional aspects of the disorder, being considered as a tri-dimensional disorder. However, subtypes were not considered. The main changes introduced in the DSM-IV (17) were to label the disorder "ADHD" and to define three subtypes (inattentive, hyperactive, and combined). Then, two major changes in the diagnostic criteria for adult ADHD were introduced in the fifth version of the DSM (DSM-5), which may affect the prevalence rate of ADHD (18). In the DSM-5, there are a reduced number of symptoms for the diagnosis in adults (five instead of six) and a later age of onset (twelve instead of six) needed to diagnose ADHD. These changes to the DSM-IV aim to address the restrictive diagnostic thresholds (19) and the late onset of some symptoms that may occur in adulthood (20). Recent studies concluded that the switch from DSM-IV to DSM-5 diagnostic threshold resulted in a modest increase and less biased ADHD prevalence rate (4, 21).

To date, no systematic review and meta-analysis has provided an overview of how DSM-5 criteria may have affected the prevalence rate of ADHD, especially among PLD. Furthermore, a recent article questioned the reliability of ADHD prevalence rate among PLD, as some major methodological shortcomings, such as self-reported assessments or non-representative sampling, may have resulted in high prevalence rates (22). Evidence regarding the quality of ADHD studies in prison was therefore needed.

Objective of the Study

This meta-analysis aimed to provide an updated estimate the prevalence rate of ADHD in PLD over the past three decades, including articles published since 2012. Sub-objectives included (i) comparing different ways of assessing ADHD and in particular investigating whether the DSM-5 resulted in an increased prevalence rate of ADHD, and (ii) identifying which characteristics of PLD were more likely to be associated with ADHD (e.g., socio-demographics).

METHODS

The systematic review and meta-analysis adhered to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (23) and the Meta-analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) checklist (24). The protocol for this review was previously registered on Prospero (CRD42017075510).

Eligibility Criteria

All studies investigating ADHD in PLD were eligible for this systematic review. In addition, articles were eligible if they (i) reported an empirical study, (ii) were written in English, and (iii) were published in a peer-reviewed journal.

Search Strategy

We searched Pubmed/Medline, PsycINFO, and Web of Sciences from their inception date until January 2, 2018. We used the terms "attention deficit hyperactivity disorder" or "ADHD" and "prison" or "prisoner" or "inmate" or "detaine*" or "custod*" or "detention" or "crim*" or "offend*" or "correctional" or "forensic" or "penal institution." Published meta-analyses on the subject identified in the search were hand-searched for other relevant studies using their reference lists and studies quoting them. These metaanalyses were excluded from the calculation of prevalence estimates. Reference lists of retrieved studies were also hand-searched.

Study Selection

After article duplicates were removed, a first round of selection was performed to exclude studies meeting exclusion criteria defined in the subsection Eligibility Criteria by screening titles and abstracts, and, if necessary, the whole article. A second round of selection was performed by reviewing the full text of articles. We excluded articles reporting on the same dataset, articles focusing only on participants with ADHD (100% prevalence rate), articles reporting no prevalence rate (after unsuccessful correspondence with the corresponding author), articles with mixed prevalence rates for males and females, because gender is known as an important predictor of ADHD (25) (for which the corresponding author did not provide an answer regarding separate prevalence rates), or if we were unable to access the article.

Two rounds of reviewers (SB and AF/DG/MG) independently screened all the abstracts in the first selection round. In case of disagreement, consensus was achieved by discussion, and, if required, by a third-party arbitration (HW).

Data Extraction

Characteristics of studies included in the meta-analysis were extracted independently by two rounds of reviewers (SB and EV/MG/NTT) using an electronic data abstraction form on Excel. The form included the following study characteristics: (1) year of publication (we used this information instead of year of data collection because the latter was missing in 43.1% of the studies); (2) geographic location; (3) sample size; (4) study population (adults vs. youths); (5) type of detention setting (prison, youth detention centers, or psychiatric unit); (6) gender; (7) mean age; (8) presence of psychiatric disorders in the sample (sample of psychiatric participants vs. "ordinary" participants); (9) type of offenders (serious vs. non-serious offenders; with "serious offending" defined in the corresponding article as: violent or high-risk PLD, rapists, maximumsecurity PLD, long-term sentences); (10) diagnostic tools (self-reported screening for ADHD in adulthood/adolescence, self-reported screening for ADHD in childhood, or clinical interview), (11) criteria used for diagnosis (DSM-III, DSM-IV, or DSM-5); and (12) ADHD prevalence rate. Mean age was included for descriptive purposes. Studies involving both gender and/or using different diagnostic criteria (e.g., a self-reported assessment and a clinical interview) were recorded as separate observations.

We contacted the authors of 67 articles regarding missing information. Five authors answered but were unable to provide gender-disaggregated prevalence rates, 35 provided missing information, and 27 did not answer. Studies with missing information on other variables than prevalence rates were kept for descriptive purposes and to estimate the meta-analytic prevalence rate of ADHD—this was not an exclusion criterion. Listwise deletion was used for other analyses.

Risk of Bias Assessment

Articles included in the systematic review and meta-analysis were assessed for the risk of bias using an adaptation of the Quality in Prognosis Studies including the following relevant items (26): (1) sample selection, (2) study participation, (3) outcome measurement, and (4) presence of exclusion criteria. Each study was rated as low, moderate, and high quality by two rounds of reviewers (SB and EF/MG/TNT) (see Appendix 1 in Supplementary Materials).

Statistical Analyses

We first undertook a descriptive analysis of the studies. We then estimated the meta-analytic prevalence of ADHD. We provided separate prevalence estimates for studies with an adolescent/adult measure (screenings and clinical interviews) and childhood measure. We also computed the prevalence estimate for studies using clinical interviews, the most reliable and valid way to assess ADHD. Indeed, screening tests are not diagnostic tests (established using clinical interviews). They are designed to detect people at risk for the corresponding disease. Diagnostic tests establish the presence of the disease and are used to determine the need for treatment (27, 28). Finally, we tested potential influences of study characteristics. Covariates were first tested using univariate meta-regressions, and then simultaneously in a multivariate meta-regression for all studies and for studies using clinical interviews. In multivariate analyses, only factors with a sufficient number of observations were included. As prison type was redundant with study population and presence of psychiatric disorders, we excluded it from the analyses. We used random-effects model with restricted maximum-likelihood estimator (29) and the Knap and Hartung method (30). We reported "variance accounted for" (VAF) using a pseudo-R². VAF is an indicator of effect size and corresponds to the percentage of the heterogeneity in the prevalence that is accounted for in each model. Analyses were performed using R 3.4.3 and the package "metafor" version 2.0.0.

RESULTS

Study Selection

We identified 916 records on PubMed/Medline, psycINFO, and Web of Sciences. After removal of 223 duplicates, 693 publications remained. We excluded 527 publications after a first screening because they did not focus on ADHD in PLD or did not report empirical findings. After further review of the remaining 166 publications, 81 were excluded: 23 articles did not report ADHD prevalence rates or gender-disaggregated prevalence rates, 8 used samples composed of participants with 100% ADHD, 47 relied on data already used in other articles, and 3 because we had no access to the full article. The manual search of published meta-analyses led to the identification of 17 other studies. A total of 102 publications were included in the meta-analysis (Figure 1). It led to 142 samples: 67 studies with a single sample, 26 studies with both genders, 9 studies with two assessment tools, one study with both genders and two diagnostics, and one study with three diagnostics (one childhood screening, one adulthood screening, and a clinical interview). Data are reported in the Appendix 3. References for all studies are reported in the Appendix 2.

Studies' Characteristics

The meta-analysis pooled 102 original studies (142 samples), including 69,997 participants (males: 89.0%; females: 11.0%; adults: 27.5%, mean age = 32.7, range 24.8–44.9; youths: 72.5%, mean age = 16.4, range 14.0–20.0). A total of 64.7% of the studies were published in the 2008–2017 period, whereas 29.4%



were published between 1998 and 2007, and 4.9% between 1988 and 1997, plus one publication in 1985 (1.0%). The 25, 50, and 75th percentiles of year distribution corresponded respectively to years 2004, 2010, and 2014. Data came from 28 countries distributed as follows: Europe (49.0%, n = 67), North America (35.3%, n = 53), Asia (6.9%, n = 8), Australia (4.9%, n = 9), and South America (3.9%, n = 5). The information on the number of studies included for each region and other characteristics are reported in the first column of in Table 1. Most studies used a clinical diagnosis (58.5%, n = 83), while 21.1% (n = 30) used self-reported screenings of childhood ADHD and 20.4% (n = 29) self-reported screenings of adolescent/adult ADHD. A total of 16.2% (n = 23; total number of participants = 2.321, not shown in **Table 1**) of the studies focused on samples of participants with a psychiatric diagnosis other than ADHD (for example, participants with conduct or personality disorders, schizophrenia, or referred for psychiatric assessment), and 15.5% on serious offenders (n = 22; total number of participants=15,360, not shown in Table 1). Overall, the quality of the studies was high. There was 23.2% (n = 33) of studies with a "weak" quality: in total, 13.4% had a response rate ≤60% or a convenient sample, 24.7% excluded non-native speakers, and 16.2% excluded PLD with psychiatric or somatic disorders (e.g., psychotic symptoms, presence of severe mental disorder, or physical illness, but of course participants with ADHD symptoms were not excluded) (not shown in Table 1).

Overall Prevalence Rate of ADHD

The ADHD adolescent/adult meta-analytic prevalence estimate was 26.2% [95% confidence interval (CI): 22.7–29.6]. The childhood ADHD meta-analytic prevalence estimate assessed retrospectively in adolescence/adulthood was 41.1% (95% CI: 34.9–47.2). Data based on clinical interviews (83 study samples) showed an overall prevalence estimate of 26.7% (95% CI: 22.7–30.7). Prevalence estimates for all study samples according to the year of publication are reported in **Figure 2**.

Factors Related to ADHD Prevalence Estimate

Results of meta-regressions for all studies (n = 142 samples) are reported in **Table 1**. Only one covariate was significantly associated with heterogeneity of prevalence estimates. Screenings of childhood ADHD were associated with an increased prevalence rate compared to current diagnosis using clinical interviews (i.e., for the univariate model: respectively b = 0.28, which correspond to a prevalence estimate of 28% and b = 0.15, which corresponded to a prevalence estimate of 0.28 + 0.15 = 43%, p < 0.001) or screening of adolescent/adult ADHD (univariate and multivariate models: estimate = 0.17, p < 0.001, not shown in **Table 1**). For the diagnosis of adolescent/adult ADHD, there was no difference between clinical interviews and screenings ($p \ge 0.574$).

When pooling only articles using diagnostic interviews (n = 83), the results were almost similar, with no covariate reaching the significance level (**Table 2**). For models with significant predictors, the VAF remained small (VAF $\leq 10.3\%$).

TABLE 1 Univariate and multivariate meta-regressions for all study samples (n = 142).

	No. of study samples	U	nivariate models		Multivariate model		
		Estimate	p-value	VAF%	Estimate	p-value	VAF5
Intercept	_	_	_	_	0.23	<0.001	7.8
Region							
North America (reference)	53	0.29	<0.001	1.5	-	-	
Asia	8	0.07	0.331		-	-	
Australia	9	-0.07	0.307		-	-	
Europe	67	0.03	0.453		-	-	
South America	5	-0.14	0.113		-	-	
Gender							
Male (reference)	104	0.30	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Female	38	-0.01	0.768		-0.01	0.901	
Study population							
Adults (reference)	77	0.31	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Youths	65	-0.01	0.694		0.03	0.340	
Psychiatric diagnosis							
No (reference)	119	0.29	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Yes	23	0.04	0.340		0.05	0.228	
Serious offenders							
No (reference)	120	0.30	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Yes	22	-0.01	0.803		-0.01	0.778	
Diagnostic							
Interview (reference)	83	0.28	<0.001	10.3	-	-	
Current screening	29	-0.03	0.574		-0.01	0.924	
Retrospective screening	30	0.15	<0.001		0.16	0.003	
DSM Version							
DSM-IV (reference)	112	0.29	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
DSM-III	18	0.02	0.618		-	-	
DSM-5	5	0.08	0.484		_	_	
Quality							
Strong (reference)	57	0.27	<0.001	0.5	-	-	
Moderate	52	0.04	0.328		0.01	0.950	
Weak	33	0.06	0.138		0.02	0.662	

VAF, Variance accounted for (pseudo- R^2).

Significant and marginally significant results are in bold.

DISCUSSION

ADHD Prevalence Rate Among People Living in Detention

This study updated the prevalence rate of ADHD in prison settings (including PLD detained in psychiatric units). We identified 102 studies meeting study criteria (142 study samples) published from 1985 to 2017 with data collected in 28 countries. The pooling of all studies yielded an adolescent/adult ADHD prevalence rate of 26.2%, while the pooling of only those using clinical interviews found a similar rate of 26.7%. This high ADHD prevalence rate corresponds with a five-fold increase in comparison with that of the general population (12–14). These findings are consistent with those of Young et al's earlier meta-analysis (31) and added more evidence for the relationship between ADHD and involvement in the legal system.

By contrast, the retrospective assessment of ADHD in childhood was higher at 41.1%. This suggests a remission rate of 63.8%, although a study with a longitudinal design would be required to definitively confirm this. Nevertheless, the estimation corresponds to data obtained from the general population reporting remission in 40–60% of cases (1).

These results suggest that PLD bear a heavy mental health burden on secure services as around one-third may require treatment for ADHD. PLD with ADHD should be referred to mental health services, not only to confer personal health and well-being, but because treatment may support them in their interface and progress within the criminal justice system (6, 11). Several studies have reported the efficacy and safety of pharmacotherapy for ADHD during adulthood, also in prison (32–35). These studies reported strong treatment effects with positive outcomes (e.g., reduction in the symptomatology of



ADHD over time, no drug abuse during the study, increase in psychosocial outcome). Most of the studies included in our metaanalysis did not report ADHD treatment. Therefore, intervention studies to treat ADHD in prison are needed in addition to screening and diagnostic studies.

Furthermore, the meta-analysis of Young et al. (36) reported that PLD with ADHD (compared with those without ADHD) had significantly higher rates of mood disorder in youth institutions and those in adult institutions presented with significantly higher rates of conduct disorder in childhood, anxiety, mood, personality, and substance use disorders. Hence, they are individuals with a higher rate of comorbidity. Even if some specific psychological interventions have been developed for youths and adults with ADHD [e.g., (31, 37, 38)], there is a dearth of data on both pharmacological and psychological intervention for people with ADHD in the criminal justice system and this should be investigated as a priority, given the high prevalence of ADHD in detainees.

Comparing ADHD Assessments

Our study results are influenced by the methods used to ascertain ADHD. Screenings for ADHD in childhood were associated with increased prevalence estimates in comparison with evaluation of adolescent/adult ADHD (using clinical interviews and self-reported screenings). Previous studies already demonstrated that methods have an effect on the prevalence estimate (5, 12). This result was probably due to the fact that some participants were in remission from ADHD (39, 40). Consequently, prevalence rates

for childhood and adult ADHD should not be grouped together. Attention should be given to the kind of assessment used to estimate the prevalence rate of ADHD when interpreting the data.

Prevalence estimates pooled from studies using screenings for adolescence/adult ADHD were not significantly different from estimates of studies using clinical interviews. Recent studies showed that self-reported assessments of ADHD in adulthood are reliable [for example, the ADHD self-reported screening scale, ASRS, (41): sensitivity = 91.4%, specificity = 96.0%; the Barkley screen (B-BAARS) (42): sensitivity = 84%, specificity = 82%]. Our results suggest the same conclusions. Using self-reported screening may be a reliable way of assessing adult ADHD, although caution is needed because a complete evaluation by an experienced clinician is required to provide a formal diagnosis. Clinical interviews may also find psychiatric comorbid states.

To our knowledge, no meta-analysis has investigated differences in estimates according to DSM versions, including the DSM-5. Unfortunately, there were only three studies using the DSM-5 version to assess ADHD among PLD. There was no significant difference between the versions of DSM, but there was probably a bias due to a lack of statistical power. Further studies should test whether there is an increase in the prevalence rate of ADHD when the DSM-5 definition is used (4, 21). We recommend that all future studies use the DSM-5 to provide unbiased prevalence rates of ADHD (41).

From a methodological point of view, the quality of the studies did not significantly affect the prevalence estimates of

TABLE 2 | Univariate and multivariate meta-regressions for study samples with clinical interviews (n = 83).

	No. of study samples	ly samples Univariate models			Multivariate model		
		Estimate	p-value	VAF%	Estimate	p-value	VAF%
Intercept	_	-	_	-	0.20	<0.001	3.5
Region							
North America (reference)	40	0.27	<0.001	2.4	-	-	
Asia	7	0.10	0.203		-	-	
Australia	4	-0.15	0.115		-	-	
Europe	32	0.02	0.600		-	-	
South America	0	-	-		-	-	
Gender							
Male (reference)	59	0.27	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Female	24	-0.01	0.949		0.01	0.896	
Study population							
Adults (reference)	28	0.22	<0.001	2.2	-	-	
Youths	55	0.06	0.133		0.07	0.105	
Psychiatric diagnosis							
No (reference)	63	0.25	<0.001	2.3	-	-	
Yes	20	0.09	0.073		0.09	0.057	
Serious offenders							
No (reference)	71	0.27	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Yes	12	-0.05	0.361		-0.05	0.433	
DSM Version							
DSM-IV (reference)	65	0.26	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
DSM-III	10	-0.02	0.718		-	-	
DSM-5	3	0.11	0.331		-	-	
Quality							
Strong (reference)	54	0.26	<0.001	0.0	-	-	
Moderate	25	0.04	0.339		-	-	
Weak	4	-0.05	0.676		_	_	

VAF, Variance accounted for (pseudo-R²).

Significant results are in bold.

ADHD (presence of exclusion criteria, high non-response rate, or convenient samples, and use of self-reported screenings). Previous studies criticized methodological weaknesses in many prison (22, 43). However, our meta-analysis pooled studies of generally high quality that used reliable and valid ADHD diagnostic approaches as well as robust methods altogether agreeing a high ADHD prevalence estimate.

ADHD According to Participant Characteristics

One of our sub-objectives was to identify which characteristics of PLD were associated with ADHD. Among the five characteristics included in our meta-analysis, none was associated with a significant increase in the ADHD prevalence rate.

Although ADHD is highly comorbid with other psychiatric disorders (36, 44), we did not identify a significant increase of ADHD among PLD with a comorbid diagnostic. In incarcerated populations, Young et al. (36) reported that several psychiatric disorders co-occur with an ADHD diagnostic in PLD, including conduct disorder, substance use disorder, mood disorder, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, and personality disorder. In

our study, "PLD having a psychiatric disorder" included a large range of disorders (conduct disorder, substance use disorder, mood disorder, and personality disorder). Our non-significant result might suggest that PLD without a formal diagnosis of comorbid disorders, not detained in psychiatric units or who have not been referred for psychiatric forensic investigation may in fact also have psychiatric comorbidities. This would in turn suggests that PLD are a highly comorbid population as a whole and that attention should be given to ADHD even if no other formal diagnosis exists. Another explanation was that ADHD is comorbid with some specific disorders (e.g., substance use disorders or antisocial personality disorder). Theses specific features have been missed since the comorbidity group included all psychiatric conditions in a general way.

There were no significant differences for gender and age (adults vs. youths). This supported the previous meta-analysis of Young et al. (5) conducted on a prison population and contrasted with findings from the general population (reporting higher prevalence of ADHD amongst males and youths). Regarding gender, a previous study reported that the prevalence rate ranges from 2.1 to 5.4% among males and 1.1 to 3.2% among females,

but females were more likely to have persistent ADHD in adulthood (45). However, this narrative review reported that gender differences may be partially due to methodological bias rather than fundamental differences in the expression of ADHD. For example, males may be over-referred and over-diagnosed in comparison with females (45–47). This referral bias is lost with offenders, because female offenders become noticed due to their offending. Another explanation is the 8:1 ratio of males to females living in detention may mean that females benefit from protective measures that keep them out of detention (5). Female offenders are therefore likely to be more serious cases with a high rate of psychiatric disorders, including ADHD, in comparison with male offenders (48, 49).

Regarding population age, studies have reported that full remission of childhood ADHD commonly occurred in adulthood after brain maturation (39, 40). However, we did not find any difference between adolescents (mean age = 16.2) and adults. The higher prevalence rates for childhood prevalence in comparison with adolescence/adulthood prevalence may be due to the remission between childhood and adulthood. Another explanation may be that young offenders with ADHD are diverted out of the criminal justice system and referred early on to psychiatric outpatient clinics or adapted residential homes (5). Further, adults with ADHD may be over-represented in prison settings in comparison with the general population, because ADHD symptoms is associated with an increased risk of offending (5–7).

LIMITATIONS

Only methodological and PLD characteristics that were available across studies, or in most studies, were included. This may have led us to miss some important factors associated with the heterogeneity of study findings. For example, we were unable to extract precisely the type of detention (e.g., pre-trial, post-trial, high-security prison). Most studies did not report ADHD treatment, which may have been helpful in understanding ADHD remission. Second, the validity and reliability of ADHD assessments may have contributed to the heterogeneity of the prevalence estimates. However, our meta-analysis took into account the overall diagnostic approach, even if the specific characteristics of the assessment scales were not included in the model. The heterogeneity of the samples used was also a possible

REFERENCES

- Ramos-Quiroga JA, Montoya A, Kutzelnigg A, Deberdt W, Sobanski E. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in the European adult population: prevalence, disease awareness, and treatment guidelines. *Curr Med Res Opin.* (2013) 29:1093–104. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2013.812961
- Asherson P, Buitelaar J, Faraone SV, Rohde LA. Adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: key conceptual issues. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2016) 3:568– 78. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30032-3
- Shaw M, Hodgkins P, Caci H, Young S, Kahle J, Woods AG, et al. A systematic review and analysis of long-term outcomes in attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: effects of treatment and non-treatment. *BMC Med.* (2012) 10:99. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-99

source of variability in the prevalence estimates. This was taken into account by using random study effects. Finally, there were insufficient studies applying the DSM-5 definition of ADHD for meaningful analysis and some regions of the world were underrepresented (South America), whereas other were completely missing (e.g., Africa).

CONCLUSION

ADHD has been an important research focus in the last 2 decades, with 102 studies published in 28 countries regarding prevalence in prison settings around the world. In light of the high ADHD prevalence among PLD (including PLD with comorbid disorders incarcerated in psychiatric units), a fivefold increase in comparison with the general population, our results reinforce the importance of addressing this critical public health issue by (i) systematically offering ADHD screening and diagnosis to all individuals entering detention (youths, adults, men, women) following the most up-to-date criteria, and (ii) delivering treatment, monitoring, and care for ADHD and other psychiatric comorbidities to patients while they are in prison and after their release. These strategies may benefit PLD, prison staff, and society in general. Further studies should research the needs of this population and investigate the efficacy and effectiveness of treatment (both pharmacological and psychological) for PDL with ADHD are required.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB, AF, PH, DD, and HW conceived the study. SB, AF, MG, EF, DG, NTT, and HW collected data. SB drafted the manuscript and performed statistical analyses. All authors excepted SB made substantial contributions for the interpretation of data and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors approved the final version to be published and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work related to its accuracy and integrity.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2018.00331/full#supplementary-material

- Ginsberg Y, Quintero J, Anand E, Casillas M, Upadhyaya HP. Underdiagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in adult patients: a review of the literature. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord.* (2014) 16:PCC.13r01600. doi: 10.4088/PCC.13r01600
- Young S, Moss D, Sedgwick O, Fridman M, Hodgkins P. A meta-analysis of the prevalence of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in incarcerated populations. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:247–58. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714000762
- Mohr-Jensen C, Steinhausen HC. A meta-analysis and systematic review of the risks associated with childhood attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder on long-term outcome of arrests, convictions, and incarcerations. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2016) 48:32–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016. 05.002

- Philipp-Wiegmann F, Rösler M, Clasen O, Zinnow T, Retz-Junginger P, Retz W. ADHD modulates the course of delinquency: a 15-year follow-up study of young incarcerated man. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 268:391–9. doi: 10.1007/s00406-017-0816-8
- Young S, Gudjonsson GH, Wells J, Asherson P, Theobald D, Oliver B, et al. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and critical incidents in a Scottish prison population. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2009) 46:265–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.10.003
- Gordon V, Williams DJ, Donnelly PD. Exploring the relationship between ADHD symptoms and prison breaches of discipline amongst youths in four Scottish prisons. *Public Health* (2012) 126:343–8. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2012.01.004
- González RA, Gudjonsson GH, Wells J, Young S. The role of emotional distress and ADHD on institutional behavioral disturbance and recidivism among offenders. J Atten Disord. (2016) 20:368–78. doi: 10.1177/1087054713493322
- Berryessa CM. Attention, reward, and inhibition: symptomatic features of ADHD and issues for offenders in the criminal justice system. *Atten Defic Hyperact Disord.* (2017) 9:5–10. doi: 10.1007/s12402-016-0203-8
- Polanczyk GV, Willcutt EG, Salum GA, Kieling C, Rohde LA. ADHD prevalence estimates across three decades: an updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2014) 43:434–42. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt261
- Willcutt EG. The prevalence of DSM-IV attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. *Neurotherapeutics* (2012) 9:490–9. doi: 10.1007/s13311-012-0135-8
- Ramos-Quiroga JA, Nasillo V, Fernández-Aranda F, Fernández-Arana F, Casas M. Addressing the lack of studies in attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in adults. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2014) 14:553–67. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2014.908708
- APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 2nd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1968).
- 16. APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (1980).
- 17. APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Glöckner-Rist A, Pedersen A, Rist F. Conceptual structure of the symptoms of adult ADHD according to the DSM-IV and retrospective Wender-Utah criteria. J Atten Disord. (2013) 17:114–27. doi: 10.1177/10870547114 27397
- Shaw P, Ahn K, Rapoport JL. Good news for screening for adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. JAMA Psychiatry (2017) 74:527. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0296
- Van De Glind G, Konstenius M, Koeter MWJ, Van Emmerik-Van Oortmerssen K, Carpentier PJ, Kaye S, et al. Variability in the prevalence of adult ADHD in treatment seeking substance use disorder patients: results from an international multi-center study exploring DSM-IV and DSM-5 criteria. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2014) 134:158–66. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013. 09.026
- 22. Murphy K, Appelbaum K. How reliable are prevalence rates of ADHD in prisons? *ADHD Rep.* (2017) 25:1–5. doi: 10.1521/adhd.2017.25.2.1
- 23. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol. (2009) 62:e1–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006
- Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283. 15.2008
- Gershon J, Gershon J. A meta-analytic review of gender differences in ADHD. J Atten Disord. (2002) 5:143–54. doi: 10.1177/108705470200500302

- Hayden JA, Van Der Windt DA, Cartwright JL, Côté P, Bombardier C. Assessing bias in studies of prognostic factors. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:280-6. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-4-201302190-00009
- Mccann BS, Roy-Byrne P. Screening and diagnostic utility of self-report attention deficit hyperactivity disorder scales in adults. *Compr Psychiatry* (2004) 45:175–83. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2004.02.006
- Taylor A, Deb S, Unwin G. Scales for the identification of adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): A systematic review. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2011) 32:924–38. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010.12.036
- Viechtbauer, W. Bias and Efficiency of Meta-Analytic Variance Estimators in the Random-Effects Model. J Educ Behav Stat. (2005) 30:261–293. doi: 10.3102/10769986030003261
- Viechtbauer W, López-López JA, Sánchez-Meca J, Marín-Martínez, F. A comparison of procedures to test for moderators in mixedeffects meta-regression models. *Psychol Methods* (2015) 20:360–374. doi: 10.1037/met0000023
- Young S, Khondoker M, Emilsson B, Sigurdsson JF, Philipp-Wiegmann F, Baldursson G, et al. Cognitive-behavioural therapy in medicationtreated adults with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and co-morbid psychopathology: a randomized controlled trial using multi-level analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2793-804. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000756
- Ginsberg Y, Lindefors N. Methylphenidate treatment of adult male prison inmates with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: randomised doubleblind placebo-controlled trial with open-label extension. *Br J Psychiatry* (2012) 200:68–73. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.092940
- Young S, Hopkin G, Perkins D, Farr C, Doidge A, Gudjonsson G. A controlled trial of a cognitive skills program for personality-disordered offenders. J Atten Disord. (2013) 17:598–607. doi: 10.1177/1087054711430333
- 34. Konstenius M, Jayaram-Lindström N, Guterstam J, Beck O, Philips B, Franck J. Methylphenidate for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and drug relapse in criminal offenders with substance dependence: a 24week randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Addiction* (2014) 109:440–9. doi: 10.1111/add.12369
- Jillani S, Patel P, Trestman R, Kamath J. Atomoxetine for the treatment of ADHD in incarcerated adolescents. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law (2016) 44:158– 63.
- 36. Young S, Sedgwick O, Fridman M, Gudjonsson G, Hodgkins P, Lantigua M, et al. Co-morbid psychiatric disorders among incarcerated ADHD populations: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2499–510. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000598
- 37. Emilsson B, Gudjonsson G, Sigurdsson JF, Baldursson G, Einarsson E, Olafsdottir H, et al. Cognitive behaviour therapy in medication-treated adults with ADHD and persistent symptoms: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Psychiatry* (2011) 11:116. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-116
- Young S, Emilsson B, Sigurdsson JF, Khondoker M, Philipp-Wiegmann F, Baldursson G, et al. A randomized controlled trial reporting functional outcomes of cognitive-behavioural therapy in medication-treated adults with ADHD and comorbid psychopathology. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 267:267–76. doi: 10.1007/s00406-016-0735-0
- Simon V, Czobor P, Bálint S, Mészáros A, Bitter I. Prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2009) 194:204–11. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107.048827
- Karam RG, Breda V, Picon FA, Rovaris DL, Victor MM, Salgado C, et al. Persistence and remission of ADHD during adulthood: a 7-year clinical follow-up study. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2045–56. doi: 10.1017/S0033291714003183
- Ustun B, Adler LA, Rudin C, Faraone SV, Spencer TJ, Berglund P, et al. The world health organization adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder self-report screening scale for DSM-5. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2017) 74:520–6. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0298
- Young S, González RA, Mutch L, Mallet-Lambert I, O'rourke L, Hickey N, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of a brief screening tool for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in UK prison inmates. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:1449–58. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716000039
- Eme R, Young S. Reliability of ADHD in prison populations: a response to Murphy and Appelbaum. ADHD Rep. (2017) 25:1–6. doi: 10.1521/adhd.2017.25.5.1

- 44. Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R, Biederman J, Conners CK, Demler O, et al. The prevalence and correlates of Adult ADHD in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Am J Psychiatry (2006) 163:716–23. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2006.163.4.716
- Williamson D, Johnston C. Gender differences in adults with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a narrative review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2015) 40:15–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2015.05.005
- Rucklidge JJ. Gender differences in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2010) 33:357–73. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2010.01.006
- Bruchmüller K, Margraf J, Schneider S. Is ADHD diagnosed in accord with diagnostic criteria? Overdiagnosis and influence of client gender on diagnosis. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2012) 80:128–38. doi: 10.1037/ a0026582
- Binswanger IA, Merrill JO, Krueger PM, White MC, Booth RE, Elmore JG. Gender differences in chronic medical, psychiatric, and substance-dependence disorders among jail inmates. Am J Public Health (2010) 100:476–82. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2008. 149591

 Fazel S, Baillargeon J. The health of prisoners. Lancet (2011) 377:956–65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer DD and handling editor declared their shared affiliation at time of review.

Copyright © 2018 Baggio, Fructuoso, Guimaraes, Fois, Golay, Heller, Perroud, Aubry, Young, Delessert, Gétaz, Tran and Wolff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prison Suicide in Comparison to Suicide Events in Forensic Psychiatric Hospitals in Germany

Alexander Voulgaris^{1*}, Nadine Kose², Norbert Konrad² and Annette Opitz-Welke²

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Prison Hospital Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Charité University Berlin, Berlin, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Athanassios Douzenis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, Greece

Reviewed by:

Georgia Kalemi, University General Hospital Attikon, Greece Märta Wallinius, Lund University, Sweden Maria Samakouri, Democritus University of Thrace, Greece

> *Correspondence: Alexander Voulgaris alexander.voulgaris@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 May 2018 Accepted: 08 August 2018 Published: 28 August 2018

Citation:

Voulgaris A, Kose N, Konrad N and Opitz-Welke A (2018) Prison Suicide in Comparison to Suicide Events in Forensic Psychiatric Hospitals in Germany. Front. Psychiatry 9:398. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00398 **Background:** There is limited international as well as national research on suicide events in prisons and in forensic psychiatric hospitals. This retrospective study compares completed suicide events within these two high-risk populations in state institutions over a time period of 5 years from 2000 to 2004.

Material and Methods: Data was collected through a nationwide survey: all forensic psychiatric hospitals within Germany were contacted via postal mail and received a questionnaire concerning the suicide events from 2000 to 2004. All federal lands of Germany were similarly assessed by a survey endorsed by the respective federal ministries of justice. All prison institutions (100%) participated in the survey, while 84% (53 units) of the forensic psychiatric hospitals nationwide contributed. A comparative statistical analysis was conducted using Fisher's exact test or the Mann-Whitney U-test (age). A multivariate logistic regression analysis was done to assess adjusted effects. For the Kaplan-Meier analysis, the months until suicide were analyzed followed by a Cox-regression analysis.

Results: There was no statistically significant difference between the mean suicide rate in forensic psychiatric hospitals (123/100.000, 95% confidence interval: [0.00103, 0.00147]) and in the prison system (130/100.000, 95% confidence interval: [0.00109, 0.00154]). Patients who committed suicide in the forensic hospitals were, in comparison to the prison system, more likely to have committed a violent offense and have had a prior history of suicide attempts. The duration from admission into the institution to the suicide event was significantly shorter in the prison group. Also, younger people commited suicide earlier during their stay in a forensic psychiatric hospital or prison.

Conclusions: While the results suggest a necessity to optimize data collection in the prison system (prior suicide events and history of mental disorder), it is important to discuss the current discharge arrangements within the forensic hospitals.

Keywords: suicide events, prison, forensic psychiatry, schizophrenia, mental disorder, substance abuse disorder

18

INTRODUCTION

All European legislations recognize the concept of criminal responsibility as a prerequisite for punishment. Most European countries require some degree of reduced responsibility for the crime committed for entry into the forensic psychiatric system, while offenders with full responsibility can be subject to a prison sentence. In the UK, access to forensic psychiatric care is determined only on the basis of the mental condition at the time of assessment (1). Regarding the duration of stay, most countries allow detention of mentally disordered offenders beyond the length of the prison sentence their offense would have attracted had they been imprisoned (Sampson et al., submitted). In Croatia, Portugal, and Italy, the time of psychiatric detention is limited to the prison sentence the individual would have received without a mental disorder. In Germany, the longer the detention in a forensic psychiatric hospital, the more important the considerations are regarding the proportionality of the patient's right to freedom against any risk he or she may pose (2).

Although specialized forensic institutions exist in many countries, most offenders with mental disorders are found in prison settings (1). The international literature suggests an increased prevalence of mental disorders in prison inmates (3-6). Fazel and Seewald found a pooled prevalence of psychosis of 3.6% in male prisoners (3.9% in female prisoners) and for major depression, the prevalence was 10.2% in male prisoners (14.1% in female prisoners) (3). The rates for comorbidity ranged from 20.4 to 43.5% in those with any mental disorder who had comorbid substance misuse (3). The study by Fazel and Danesh that included nearly 23,000 prisoners from 12 countries showed similar results for schizophrenia and depression. Personality disorders were detectable in 65% of the male and 42% of the female detainees (4). In a German study, 88.2% of the subjects in a prison in Bielefeld were diagnosed with at least one mental disorder (7). Similar research among 80 randomly selected Greek prisoners yielded a prevalence of mental disorders of 78.7% among the participants and of 37.5% each for anxiety disorder and antisocial personality disorder (8).

In correctional settings, suicide is often the single most common cause of death (9, 10). Suicide prevention and the treatment of mentally disordered people with a higher risk of committing suicide are central aspects of the clinical work for psychiatrists and psychotherapists (11). It is well known that suicidality is a multifactorial conditioned phenomenon with general risk factors being mental disorder, hopelessness, impulsivity, former suicide attempts, age, gender, ethnicity, relationship status, and a positive family history with suicide events (12). Males are more likely than females to die by suicide, and middle-aged adults as well as elderly people, especially elderly males, are described as high risk groups for suicide (10, 13, 14). While major depression is the most common mental disorder in the general population and most often associated with suicide risk (15), another group at higher risk consists of young schizophrenic patients (16, 17). According to the findings of a Swedish study group (18), patients with a schizophrenia who were once treated because of suicidality committed suicide more frequently in the course of time in comparison to patients with other mental disorders. Apart from psychiatric disorders, there are indications that troubling "life events" lead to an increase in suicide risk (19) and it seems comprehensible that imprisonment, as well as admittance into a forensic institution, may be considered as such a life event (1, 20).

Suicide rates per 100,000 prisoners have been found to range from 58 to 147 in a review of 12 studies from Western countries compared to figures of 16 to 31 in the general population (21) and prisoners with psychosis, depression or substance abuse disorder are at an even greater risk (22). In Europe, the rate of prison suicide events correlated with the number of mentally disordered prisoners (23), and in 72% of prison suicide events, mental disorders were found in the specific medical history (24). A more recent German study by Opitz-Welke et al. (25) identified a mean suicide rate of 105.8 per 100,000 in male prisoners and 54.7 per 100,000 in female prisoners, with specific risk factors being the special situation (imprisonment), the separation of loved ones, pre-trial detention, small prisons, a single cell/isolation, (expectance of) a long sentence, former suicide attempts, and the arrest for a violent crime (26).

In a comparative study, Otte et al. (27) demonstrated that the level of mental distress measured via the Symptom Checklist-90-Revised and Brief Symptom Inventory was as high in longterm detainees as in patients of a general psychiatric hospital and even higher than in patients of forensic psychiatric institutions. The lowest level of mental distress was described in short-term detainees.

Although it is known that over the course of time, the number of patients in the forensic psychiatric system has increased significantly not only in Germany (28, 29) but in many Western European countries (30), literature on suicide events in these institutions is still very limited compared to prison suicide.

AIM OF THE STUDY

This study compares completed suicide events in two high-risk groups: the group of prison inmates and of the patients in the forensic psychiatric institutions in Germany (2000–2004). Due to the immense lack of information on suicide events in forensic psychiatric hospitals we want to determine a suicide rate for this specific setting. In our opinion, it is important to understand the impact of institutionalization on suicidality in forensic hospitals as well as in the prison system.

Our first hypothesis is that the rate of completed suicide events in forensic psychiatric hospitals is higher than that in prison. All patients in these settings suffer from a mental disorder and are exposed to the same general and specific risk factors as the prisoners are. Furthermore, in Germany, the duration of stay in a forensic hospital is potentially unlimited in comparison to a prison sentence. Considering this, we also hypothesize that in forensic hospitals, the time from admission to suicide is longer than in the prison system. This could lead to a new direction in suicide prevention in forensic hospitals pointing to the duration of stay in comparison to prison suicide, where literature suggests a higher risk in the first weeks of admittance. In addition, our aim is to describe the potential differences and similarities between the two high-risk groups.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Forensic psychiatric hospitals in Germany consist of two departments. According to §63 StGB (penal code), the duration of stay depends on the treatment prognosis. If the patient is no longer "dangerous" to the public, the institutionalization may be suspended on probation. According to §64 StGB, offenders with a leading psychotropic drug dependence syndrome and sufficiently concrete therapeutic prospects are confined to special detoxification centers in forensic psychiatric hospitals. Here, the duration of stay is generally limited to 2 years. In this study, patients of both departments were included.

Data was collected through a nationwide survey: all forensic psychiatric hospitals within Germany were contacted via postal mail and received a questionnaire concerning the completed suicide events from 2000 to 2004 in their hospitals. Attempted suicide events were not considered in this study. The questionnaires were sent directly to the head of the department of each forensic hospital. They were then completed directly by the medical staff of the forensic hospital and sent back to us via postal mail. This questionnaire was not standardized, and it asked for specific information regarding the patients who committed suicide: gender, age, nationality, relationship status, date of admittance to the hospital, date of suicide, school degree, legal status (pre-trial or sentenced), type of offense, mental disorder, former detention, and former suicide events. The type of offense was categorized as violent offense and non-violent offense. Violent offenses included homicide, murder, manslaughter, aggravated battery, arson, rape, and sexual violence. Mental disorders were defined by the medical staff of the forensic hospitals, on the basis of the Tenth Revision of the International Classification of Diseases for the classification of mental and behavioral disorders.

The numbers of prison suicide events on all federal lands of Germany were assessed by a survey endorsed by the respective federal ministries of justice. Data on the prison suicide events was collected through the use of a specific questionnaire. The respective federal lands rated the questionnaires. Information was attained using the reports on exceptional events from the routine documentation ("Generalakten"). Official data on occupancy rates in both institutions on a yearly reference date was used as a basis for the calculations of the mean suicide rates (28, 31). For the calculation of the confidence intervals, the method suggested by Agresti-Coull was used (32). Comparative statistical analysis was conducted using Fisher's exact test or the Mann-Whitney U-test (age). A multivariate logistic regression analysis was done to assess adjusted effects for the dependent (prison and forensic group) and the independent variables (see Table 1). We added the confidence intervals for the estimated odds ratios of the variables that were found statistically significant. The variable mental disorder was underreported and not considered for the multivariate logistic regression analysis. For the Kaplan-Meier analysis, the time in months until the **TABLE 1** | Suicide events in prisons and in forensic hospitals in Germany (univariate analysis).

	Prisor	n 2000–2	2004	Fo	orensic hosp 2000-2004	ital	
Total		479			40		
Male		475	99%		37	93%	
Female		4	1%		3	7%	p = 0.012
Age (mean $\pm so$		6.2 ± 11.	9		38.9 ± 13.1		p = 0.342
Non- german		114	24%		5	13%	p = 0.118
Pre-trial		256	53%		7	18%	p < 0.001
Violent crime		248	52%		28	70%	р = 0.032
Mental disorder		32	7%		40	100%	p < 0.0001
Former detention	N = 314	120	38%	N = 35	9	26%	р = 0.195
Former suicide attempt		70	15%		19	48%	p < 0.0001

suicide events were analyzed. Censored cases did not occur. Cox regression models were subsequently defined with the time to suicide as the dependent variable and the two groups (forensic hospital, prison) as independent variables. For all analyses referring to the time until suicide, an adjustment for age was done. For that, the whole population was divided into two groups of equal size (median-split). All analyses were performed with the R statistical software, Version 3.5 and the "survival" and "survminer" packages.

RESULTS

A total of 53 from 63 (84%) forensic institutions completed the questionnaire, while all German prisons (100%) participated in the survey. In total, the sample consisted of 519 completed suicide events: 479 prison suicides and 40 suicides in forensic psychiatric hospitals (see Table 1). The mean age of the group was 36.4 \pm 12.0. Men committed 99% of the suicides, 23% were of non-German nationality, 51% were in an early stage of confinement, and 53% were in prison or in a forensic hospital because of a violent crime. In only 14% of the cases was a mental disorder detectable, and in 17% of the cases, former suicide attempts were documented. Thirty-seven percent of the people who died by suicide were in prison or in a forensic hospital before: thus, 63% were in prison or a forensic hospital for the first time. There was no statistical difference regarding mean age and the nationality in the two institutional settings. In prison, 53% of the suicide events occurred during pre-trial status, yet this was the case in (only) 18% of the suicide events in the forensic psychiatric hospitals (p < 0.0001). In 52% of the suicide events in prison, the reason for detention was a violent offense, while this was the case in 70% of the suicide events in the forensic psychiatric hospitals.

While all patients were diagnosed with at least one mental disorder (e.g., schizophrenia, personality disorder, substance

abuse disorder) in the forensic psychiatric hospital, this was reported in only 7% in the group of prison suicides. In addition, former suicide attempts in the prison group were documented for 15% of the inmates who committed suicide, while this was known for 48% of the patients who committed suicide in the forensic setting. There was no statistical difference regarding the item of "former detention".

The multivariate logistic regression analysis found significant effects for gender (p = 0.005, 95% confidence interval: [1.984,

140.583]), pre-trial status (p < 0.001, 95% confidence interval: [2.168, 17.374]), and former suicide attempt (p < 0.001, 95% confidence interval: [2.440, 11.892]).

The duration from admission into the institution to the suicide event was statistically significantly (p < 0.0001) shorter in the prison group in comparison to the forensic hospital group (see **Figure 1**).

After adjusting the time-to-event analysis for the age categories, we still found a significant difference between the two





groups (p < 0.001) and a significant effect for age (p < 0.001), indicating that younger people tend to commit suicide earlier during their stay in a forensic psychiatric hospital or prison (see **Figures 2, 3**).

The mean suicide rate in the forensic psychiatric hospitals was 123/100,000 patients per year (95% confidence interval: [0.00103, 0.00147]). In comparison, the rate in the prison system was 130/100,000 prisoners per year (95% confidence interval: [0.00109, 0.00154]). This difference is not statistically significant (p = 0.706) (see Table 2).

DISCUSSION

When we compared suicide events in the German institutional penal systems, we found that the mean suicide rates in the prison system and in the forensic hospitals did not differ statistically significant. Our hypothesis that a possible accumulation of general and specific risk factors in forensic psychiatric patients, as mentioned above, may lead to a higher rate of suicide events compared to the group of prisoners did not stand ground. However, an accumulation of general and specific risk factors were identified in the suicide events in the forensic hospitals: in all cases, a mental disorder was diagnosed, in 70% of the events, the patient was institutionalized due to a violent (including sexual) offense and in 48% of the events, former suicide attempts were known.

It is not surprising that most of the cases of reported suicide events in our study were committed by men. First, the male gender is an established risk factor (33), and second, in both institutional systems, the total populations consisted of a significantly higher proportion of men. There was no age difference in the groups nationwide. How the mean age differed from the total populations in both systems was not recorded.

In both groups, then majority of suicide events were commited by German citizens. Compared to the prison group, the proportion of non-German patients who committed suicide in forensic psychiatric hospitals was smaller, but this difference was not statistically significant. We didn't find comparable data regarding suicidality in forensic psychiatric settings, specifically regarding nationality.

It is interesting that the proportion of suicide events during pre-trial detention was significantly higher in the prison group (53 vs. 18%), which matches the findings of Bennefeld-Kersten (26) that pre-trial detention is a specific risk factor for prison suicide. In contrast, in the forensic psychiatric hospital, the pretrial status of the patient seemed to be of lesser significance for suicidality. It seems understandable that in a specialized psychiatric setting, such as in the German forensic hospitals, suicide prevention is a routine task and due to professionally trained personnel (medical doctors/psychotherapists), treatment is optimized in comparison to a prison system.

The duration of stay from the admission to the suicide event differed significantly in both groups. Suicide events occurred earlier in prison than in forensic hospitals. In addition, in both institutions, the younger inmates and patients committed suicide earlier than older ones. Thus, young age could be understood as a

	Prisons		Forensic hospitals	
	Total pop.	Suicides	Total pop.	Suicides
2000	70.252	117	5.617	4
2001	70.203	107	5.903	11
2002	70.977	77	6.587	7
2003	79.153	83	6.959	10
2004	79.452	95	7.278	8
Mean rate	130/100.000		123/10	0.000



potential risk factor for early suicide in forensic hospitals and in prison. It may be discussed if the later onset of suicide events in the forensic hospitals correlates with the distribution of diagnoses in the groups. Suicide risk in men with schizophrenia increases with the number of admissions to a hospital and thus over the course of time (34), while in patients with depression the suicidal risk decreases over the course of time, and suicide attempts are committed instead at the beginning of a depressive episode (35, 36). Another reason for the difference in time from the admission until the committed suicide could be the potentially unlimited duration of stay in German forensic psychiatric hospitals. The missing prospect of a final date of dismissal may lead to a feeling of hopelessness that could increase in the course of past (unsuccessful) years of therapy. Lack of hope has been described as a general risk factor for suicidality (12). To what extent the amendment of the German penal code for institutionalization in a forensic hospital will improve the prospects of patients within a forensic institution remains to be seen. These amendments from April 2016 included a higher frequency of external expert witness reports and a stronger focus on proportionality between the committed offense, the duration of stay and the probability of severe violent offenses in the future.

There was a small amount of information available on potential mental disorders in the group of prison suicide events; in only 7% of the cases was a psychiatric disorder registered. This is in stark contrast to the international literature (3, 4, 22) that indicated a higher prevalence of mental disorders in prison in general and in suicide events specifically, such as depressive episodes and adjustment disorders (6). In addition, the information on "former suicide attempts" was documented in only 15% of the prison group in comparison to 48% of the forensic hospital group. It seems that these two items in the prison group were underreported and thus must be considered a major limitation of this study. However, this may indicate an expression of a lack of standardized psychiatric assessments and suggest an optimization of the information collection process regarding suicide prevention. Data on former suicide attempts in prisoners is especially significant since this risk factor is (even) more important than socio-demographic data and mental disorders (37).

In summary, institutional suicide events can be considered multifactorial in nature. While in a prison setting, suicide events tend to occur at an earlier stage of the secure confinement, it is important to consider the influence of specific life events as "imprisonment" and "conviction" on suicidal thoughts and impulses. The use of a specific screening tool for suicidality at the beginning of imprisonment, as well as during critical landmarks

REFERENCES

- Völlm B, Clarke M, Herrando VT, Seppänen AO, Gosek P, Heitzman J, Bulten E. European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on forensic psychiatry: evidence based assessment and treatment of mentally disordered offenders. *Eur Psychiat.* (2018) 51:58–73. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.12.007
- Edworthy R, Sampson S, Völlm B. Inpatient forensic-psychiatric care: legal frameworks and service provision in three European countries. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2016) 47:18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.027

(verdict, trial days) consequently seems recommendable. Mental health in general, as well as the specific former psychiatric history, should be frequently addressed and documented by the personnel in charge. In forensic psychiatric hospitals, because of the plentitude of patients with schizophrenia, the natural (and often chronic and complicated) course of the disorder must be considered when interpreting the results. Apart from the higher suicide risk within this disorder itself, a possible lack of future prospects due to the uncertain duration of stay may relate to a higher suicide rate and later onset of suicide events in forensic psychiatric institutions. This should be a possible starting point for further research activities aiming for an optimization of suicide prevention in forensic institutions.

Our study has a number of significant limitations. It was not possible to compare our findings with the total numbers within each institution separately, as this data was not obtainable. In addition, the presented numbers in the groups were very small and, in respect to certain items, incomplete ("former detention"). The data concerning mental disorders in prison seemed to be vastly underreported, which makes a comparison with inmates of a forensic psychiatric hospital, where every patient has a mental disorder, especially difficult.

ETHICS STATEMENT

According to current legal regulation, no approval from the local ethics committee was required for the current study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AV and AO-W designed the study. AV, NaK, and AO-W collected the data. AV, NK, and AO-W analyzed and interpreted the data. AV and AO-W wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. AV and AO-W had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. All authors have contributed to, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors declare that, except for income received from their primary employer, no financial support or compensation has been received from any individual or corporate entity over the past 12 months for research or professional service related to this study and there are no personal financial holdings that could be perceived as constituting a potential conflict of interest.

- Fazel S, Seewald K. Severe mental illness in 33,588 prisoners worldwide: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2012) 200:364–73. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.096370
- 4. Fazel S, Danesh J. Serious mental disorder in 23,000 prisoners: a systematic review of 62 surveys. *Lancet* (2002) 359: 545–50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07740-1
- Blaauw E, Roesch R, Kerkhof A. Mental disorders in European prison systems. Int J Law Psychiatry (2000) 23:649–63. doi: 10.1016/S0160-2527(00)00 050-9

- Missoni L, Utting FM, Konrad N. Psychi(atri)sche Störungen bei Untersuchungsgefangenen. Ergebnisse und Probleme einer epidemiologischen Studie. Zeitschrift für Strafvollzug und Straffälligenhilfe (2003) 6:323–32.
- Von Schönfeld C, Schneider F, Schröder T, Widmann B, Botthof U, Driessen M. Prävalenz psychischer Störungen, Psychopathologie und Behandlungsbedarf bei weiblichen und männlichen Gefangenen. *Der Nervenarzt* (2006) 77:830–41. doi: 10.1007/s00115-005-1946-1
- Fotiadou M, Livaditis M, Manou I, Kaniotou E, Xenitidis K. Prevalence of mental disorders and deliberate self-harm in Greek male prisoners. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2006) 29:68–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2004. 06.009
- Dahle KP, Lohner JC, Konrad N. Suicide prevention in penal institutions: validation and optimization of a screening tool for early identification of highrisk inmates in pretrial detention. *Int J Forensic Ment Health* (2005) 4:53–62. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2005.10471212
- 10. World Health Organization. *Preventing Suicide in Jails and Prisons*. WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data (2007)
- Wolfersdorf M, Vogel R, Vogl R, Grebner M, Keller F, Purucker M, et al. Suizid im psychiatrischen Krankenhaus. *Nervenarzt* (2016) 87:474–82. doi: 10.1007/s00115-016-0111-3
- 12. Schreiber J, Culpepper L. Suicidal Ideation and Behavior in Adults (2015). Available online at: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/suicidal-ideationand-behavior-in-adults
- Bozzay ML, Liu RT, Kleiman EM. Gender and age differences in suicide mortality in the context of violent death: findings from a multi-state population-based surveillance system. *Comp Psychiatry* (2014) 55:1077–84. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.03.017
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Suicide Facts at a Glance 2015. Available online at: http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/ suicidedatasheet-a.PDF2010
- Schneider B. Risikofaktoren f
 ür Suizid. Regensburg: Roderer Verlag (2003). p. 214.
- Neher F, Wolfersdorf M. Der Suizid schizophrener Patienten. Regensburg: Roderer Verlag (1999).
- Meltzer H. Suicidality in schizophrenia: a review of the evidence for risk factors and treatment options. *Cur Psychiatry Rep.* (2002) 4:279–83. doi: 10.1007/s11920-996-0047-6
- Tidemalm D, Langstrom N, Lichtenstein P, Runeson B. Risk of suicide after suicide attempt according to coexisting psychiatric disorder: Swedish cohort study with long term follow-up. *BMJ* (2008) 337:a2205. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a2205
- Foster T, Gillespie K, Mc ClellandR, Patterson C. Risk factors for suicide independent of DSM-III-R Axis 1 disorder. Case-control psychological autopsy study in Northern Ireland. Br J Psychiatry (1999) 175:175–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.175.2.175
- 20. Sykes GM. *The Society of Captives. A Study of a Maximum Security Prison.* Princeton: Princeton University Press (1958).
- Fazel S, Grann M, Kling B, Hawton K. Prison suicide in 12 countries: an ecological study of 861 suicides during 2003–2007. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2011) 46:191–5. doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0184-4
- 22. Fazel S, Baillargeon J. The health of prisoners. Lancet (2011) 377:956–65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7
- Konrad N. Prison suicide European developments including the situation in Switzerland. Swiss Arch Neurol Psychiatr. (2002) 153:131-6.

- Shaw J, Baker D, Hunt IM, Moloney A, Appleby L. Suicide by prisoners. National clinical survey. Br J Psychiatry (2004) 184:263–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.184.3.263
- Opitz-Welke A, Bennefeld-Kersten K, Konrad N. Prison suicides in Germany from 2000 to 2011. Int J Law Psychiatry (2013) 36:386–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.06.018
- 26. Bennefeld-Kersten K. Ausgeschieden durch Suizid. Selbsttötungen im Gefängnis. Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers (2009).
- Otte S, Vasic C, Nigel S, Streb J, Ross T, Spitzer C, Grabe HJ, Dudeck M. Different yet similar? Prisoners versus psychiatric patients – A comparison of their mental health. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 44:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.04.006
- 28. Statistisches Bundesamt (2015) Strafvollzugsstatistik 2013/2014: Im psychiatrischen Krankenhaus und der in Entziehungsanstalt strafrichterlicher aufgrund Anordnung Untergebrachte(Maßregelvollzug). Available online at: https://www.destatis. de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/Rechtspflege/StrafverfolgungVollzug/ KrankenhausMassregelvollzug5243202149004.pdf?__blob=publicationFile
- Priebe S, Badesconyi A, Fioritti A, Hansson L, Kilian R, Torres-Gonzales F, et al. Reinstitutionalisation in mental health care: comparison of data on service provision from six European countries. *Br Med J.* (2005) 330:123–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38296.611215.AE
- Chow WS, Priebe S. How has the extent of institutional mental healthcare changed in Western Europe? Analysis of data since 1990. BMJ Open (2016) 6:e010188. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010188
- 31. Statistisches Bundesamt (2014). Rechtspflege. Bestand der Gefangenen und Verwahrten in den Deutschen Justizvollzugsanstalten Nach Ihrer Unterbringung auf Haftplätzen des Geschlossenen und Offenen Vollzugs Jeweils zu den Stichtagen 31. März, 31. August und 30. November eines Jahres. Available online at: https://www.destatis.de/ DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/Rechtspflege/StrafverfolgungVollzug/ BestandGefangeneVerwahrte5243201139004.pdf?__blob=publicationFile
- Agresti A, Coull BA. Approximate is better than "exact" for interval estimation of binomial proportions. Am Statist (1998) 52:119–26.
- Bilsker D, White J. The silent epidemic of male suicide. BCMJ (2011) 53:529–34.
- Wolfersdorf M. Suizid bei stationären psychiatrischen Patienten. Regensburg: Roderer Verlag (1989).
- Bowers L, Banda T, Nijman H. Suicide inside: a systematic review of inpatient suicides. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2010) 198:315–28. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181da47e2
- Crona L, Mossberg A, Bradvic L. Suicidal career in severe depression among long-term survivors. *Depress Res Treat.* (2013) 2013:610245. doi: 10.1155/2013/610245
- 37. Bronisch T. Der Suizid. Ursachen Warnsignale Prävention, 5th Aufl. München: Beck (2007).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Voulgaris, Kose, Konrad and Opitz-Welke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Criminalization Through Transinstitutionalization: A Critical Review of the Penrose Hypothesis in the Context of Compensation Imprisonment

Sebastian Schildbach* and Carola Schildbach

Praxisgemeinschaft für Psychosomatik, Gais, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Elmar Habermeyer, Psychiatrische Universitätsklinik Zürich, Switzerland Kolja Schiltz, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany

*Correspondence: Sebastian Schildbach praxis.sebastian.schildbach@hin.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 06 July 2018 Accepted: 08 October 2018 Published: 25 October 2018

Citation:

Schildbach S and Schildbach C (2018) Criminalization Through Transinstitutionalization: A Critical Review of the Penrose Hypothesis in the Context of Compensation Imprisonment. Front. Psychiatry 9:534. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00534 In 1939, the Penrose hypothesis suggested that the number of psychiatric hospital beds was inversely related to the size of prison populations. Central to a causal interpretation of the Penrose hypothesis is the idea that a small proportion of any population requires institutional mental care. Several studies re-examining longitudinal and cross-sectional data found that a fall in available psychiatric hospital beds occurred over the same period as a rise in prisoner numbers. The observed inverse relationship was mostly interpreted as being the consequence of a lack of compassion for the disadvantaged in society, while other studies concluded that the correlation was spurious and determined by confounders. In Germany, Austria, and Switzerland, lawbreakers who are unwilling or unable to pay a fine for committing a petty crime such can face compensation imprisonment. Every tenth German detainee serves compensation imprisonment with an average incarceration time of 2-3 months. We analyzed the social-economic backgrounds and the levels of mental disorders in four populations of compensation prisoners, consisting of 100 participants each, in the German capital Berlin in 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017. Largely, the compensation prisoners were homeless, single, and unemployed, exhibited a high degree of substance abuse and showed an extraordinary high prevalence of mental disorders. Unfortunately, as the average stay in prison is short, there are no decisive concepts for social rehabilitation after imprisonment. In addition to a lack of resocialization, potential job loss, and social stigmatization, the newly acquired subcultural contacts facilitate reoffending. This study aims to give an overview of the medical, sociologic, and psychopathologic examinations on compensation prisoners. By analyzing trends in the prevalence of mental disorders, we will discuss the medical appropriateness and sociologic sense of compensation imprisonment with respect to the Penrose hypothesis. Thereby, we aim at shedding light on the question whether compensation imprisonment is an indispensable tool for law enforcement or if it is a punishment of the poor or mentally ill, which further deteriorates their unfavorable socio-economic situation. Finally, we will propose measures to reduce the number of reoffenders and to enable the compensation detainees to reintegrate successfully into society.

Keywords: compensation imprisonment, mental disorders, penrose hypothesis, transinstitutionalization, DIA-X

INTRODUCTION

In 1939, the English scientist Lionel Penrose found an inverse correlation between the size of psychiatric inpatient clinics and the number of detainees based on cross-sectional data from diverse European countries (1). His assumption that the number of psychiatric hospital beds was inversely related to the size of prison populations was later termed the "Penrose hypothesis." A common expression summarizing Penrose's findings is "transinstitutionalization," which refers to a process where mentally ill individuals, who are discharged from, or no longer admitted to, mental hospitals, are frequently found in prisons (2–4).

Even 80 years after its formulation, the Penrose hypothesis has neither been rejected nor confirmed. Despite repeated observations of transinstitutionalization, and an increase of the numbers of imprisoners, it is still unclear whether there is an association between capacities in psychiatric clinics and prison sizes (5).

In 2004, a meta-analysis on data from 158 countries found the opposite relationship compared to Penrose, namely that in low-and-middle-income countries, prison, and psychiatric populations were positively correlated (6). However, similar to the preceding study by Penrose, this meta-analysis used crosssectional data.

Longitudinal data on treatment histories of U.S. prisoners revealed that the decrease in the number of psychiatric hospital beds accounted only for a small proportion of the expanding prison populations between 1968 and 1978 (7). Longitudinal data from Europe indicated that psychiatric care might have reached a phase of transinstitutionalization (8, 9), in which the numbers of mental health care beds might further decline, and that at the same time, capacities in prisons might extend (10). Still, none of these studies provided undisputable evidence for a direct correlation between decreasing capacities of mental health care institutions beds and increasing prison populations (11, 12). Another study suggested that both the numbers of mental health care beds and the numbers of detainees might be influenced by economic factors (13). However, none of the published studies have thus far sufficiently disproved Penrose's direct inverse association theory (14).

A recent longitudinal study found that since 1990, capacities of mental health care institutions were considerably cut down in South America, while prison populations boosted despite a strong economic growth (15). The observed developments appear to support the Penrose hypothesis, because the numbers of psychiatric beds decreased more substantially when and where the number of imprisoners increased (15). Comparable conclusions of a decline of mental health care beds and a simultaneous rise in numbers of detainees were documented in Ireland and Norway (16, 17).

In Germany, Austria, and Switzerland, the penalty system includes a certain type of punishment termed "compensation imprisonment." If a convicted person refuses to pay the fine for a crime, he or she must go to jail instead for a short period. This compensation imprisonment is regulated under section 43 of the German Penal Code and is conceived to ensure the effectiveness of the penalty system (18, 19). The proportion of compensation prisoners amounts for $\sim 10\%$ of all inmates in Germany (20). For nearly two decades, the meaningfulness of compensation imprisonment has been discussed (21–23). Because of the fact that the mean period of imprisonment is short, there are no meaningful approaches for social rehabilitation after imprisonment. As a consequence of this lack of resocialization, the detainees have to face potential job loss and social stigmatization, and the newly achieved contacts with other criminals facilitate reoffending (24).

In our previous longitudinal study from 1999 to 2017 on the prevalence of mental diseases in compensation prisoners, we found that 72.75% of these special clientele suffered from alcoholinduced mental and behavioral disorders, 45.5% suffered from mental and behavioral disorders due to use of illegal drugs, 35% exhibited phobic anxiety disorders, and 26.25% showed signs of depressive disorders (25). In addition, somatoform disorders and dysthymia were found at frequencies between 10 and 20% (25).

Therefore, our hypothesis is that compensation imprisonment is a punishment of the poor and mentally ill. With respect to the Penrose hypothesis, we suggest that the proposed process of transinstitutionalization can most likely be observed in compensation prisoners, as these detainees would most likely benefit from a mental health care treatment, while they are put into prison instead. Thereby, compensation imprisonment increases inequality and poverty among people at the edge of society.

STUDY POPULATION AND METHODS

Study Population

The process of data acquisition and diagnosis of mental disorders was described before (25). In total, four study populations of randomly selected compensation prisoners were collected in the years 1999 (26), 2004 (27), 2010 and 2017 (25). As all study participants were diagnosed with the same diagnostic system DIA-X, the data were pooled for inferring the prevalence of diverse mental disorders in compensation prisoners.

Diagnostic System DIA-X

For diagnosing psychiatric disorders, the long form of the computer-aided expert system DIA-X was used (28). DIA-X supports the user reliably and efficiently with the diagnosis of about 100 mental disorders according to ICD-10 (International Classification of Diseases) and DSM-IV (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders) (29). The long version of DIA-X is a standardized interview for measuring mental disorders in the last 12 months. The modular structure and the possibilities of branching ensure that despite the standardization only the symptom constellation important for the respective subject is placed in the center of the interview. DIA-X was applied as computer version. For the DIA-X standardized interview, the interrater agreement was reported to range between 97 and 100% for the most common mental disorders, and the interrater kappa was reported to range between 0.67 (somatization disorder) and 0.99 (agoraphobia) (28).

Additionally, selected social and demographic characteristics basic data were collected. Each session lasted between 90 and 120 min, on average 105 min (25).

Data Sources

In order to compare compensation prisoners with general prisoners and with the general population in terms of the prevalence of the diverse mental disorders, a literature search was performed to assess the prevalence rates of the mental illnesses. For mental diseases in general prisoners, the following articles were consulted: (30–34).

The prevalence of mental diseases in the general population were extracted from Angst (35), Martin (36), Bloomfield et al. (37), Hilderink et al. (38), Patra and Sarkar (39), Qian et al. (40), Grant et al. (41), Chang et al. (42), Vandeleur et al. (43), and Leutgeb et al. (44).

In order to assess the percentage of compensation prisoners in all detainees and to be able to determine a temporal trend, we used data from the German Federal Statistical Office. The Federal Statistical Office publishes at regular intervals the stock of prisoners in the German prisons with respect to their regional placement and with respect to the form of imprisonment on the deadlines March 31, August 31, and November 30 of each year. For this study, the total number of inmates and the number of compensation prisoners were taken from the collections on November 30 each year starting from 2009 to 2017 (45, 46).

Statistical Analyses

A simple linear regression analysis was used for modeling the relationship between the percentage of compensation prisoners on all prisoners (dependent variable) and the time in years since 2009 (independent variable).

RESULTS

Mental Disorders in Detainees, Compensation Detainees, and General Population Samples

Table 1 gives an overview of the prevalence of variousmental illnesses among prisoners and the general population.Furthermore, a distinction was made between detainees ingeneral and compensation prisoners.

The first striking feature of this statistic is that the prevalence of mental illness due to the use of alcohol among compensation prisoners was 72.75%, while prisoners in general exhibited prevalence rates of 21–47%. In the normal population, the prevalence of alcohol-related mental illnesses was only around 3– 5%. Compensation prisoners were therefore three times as likely to suffer from alcohol-related mental illness as average prisoners were and 10–20 times as likely to be troubled by alcohol-related mental illness as the average population.

Mental illness caused by substance abuse was found to have a prevalence of 50.25% among compensation prisoners, while its prevalence varied between 21 and 38% among general inmates and lay at only 10% in the general population. In hypomania and depressive disorders, there were no deviations in the prevalence in compensation prisoners. Dysthymia affected 11.5% of compensation prisoners but only 2.1–5.2% of average prisoners and 2.0–3.3% of the norm population. With regard to dysthymia, the prevalence of compensation prisoners was thus threefold higher than that of the average population.

Phobic anxiety disorders were detected in 35% of compensation prisoners, but the prevalence in the normal population was only 6.2%. The difference in adjustment disorders was particularly pronounced: with a prevalence of 7% for compensation prisoners and 1.9–4.6% for general detainees and only 0.9% for the norm population, the presence of adjustment disorders among compensation inmates exceeded the norm many times over.

Another eye-catching finding was that 16% of compensation inmates were diagnosed with somatoform disorders, while only 1.7% of other inmates and only 1.5–21.0% of the general population suffered from somatoform disorders.

On average, about 1% of the population suffers from eating disorders, with women being significantly more affected than men are. In prisons, on average, 0.3% of men and 2.0% of women suffered from eating disorders. Therefore, it was conspicuous that our study population of compensation prisoners, which consisted exclusively of men, had an eating disorder rate of 2.25%.

Temporal Development of Numbers of Prisoners in Germany

Table 2 presents the development of the numbers of all detainees and of compensation detainees in Germany from 2009 to 2017. The number of inmates in Germany has declined considerably in recent years. From the beginning of available records in 2003 until 2009, the number of inmates exceeded 70,000 every yearly cut-off date (45). The number of inmates was below 70,000 for the first time in 2010 (45), and since then the numbers have been decreasing constantly (46). On the other hand, the numbers of compensation prisoners remained constant or increased steadily since 2009, both in absolute terms and in percentage terms.

To sum up, the number of compensation prisoners in Germany, who were in jail by the end of November in each year, increased nationwide from 3,868 detainees in 2009 to 4,580 detainees in 2017, with a simultaneous decrease in the total number of prisoners. While 5.5% of all inmates were compensation prisoners in 2009, in 2017 the amount of compensation prisoners increased to 7.1% of all prisoners. More concretely, this finding in relative terms meant that the total number of detainees decreased by 9.1% from 2009 to 2017, while the number of compensation prisoners increased by 18.4% between 2009 and 2017.

A simple linear regression analysis with the time in years as independent factor and the percentage of compensation prisoners on all prisoners as dependent variable explained a large amount of variance in the data ($R^2 = 0.871$). Every year, the proportion of compensation prisoners on all prisoners

TABLE 1 Overview of the average prevalence of mental	disorders compensation prisoners depera	I prisoners and in the general population
TABLE I Overview of the average prevalence of mental	uisoruers compensation prisoriers, genera	i prisoriers anu in the general population.

ICD-10	Diagnosis	Prevalence in compensation prisoners (%)	Prevalence in general prisoners (References)	Prevalence in general population (References
F10	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol	72.75	21-46.7% (31, 33, 34)	3–5% (37)
F11-16	Mental and behavioral disorders due to drug abuse	50.25	21-38% (30-34)	9.9% (41)
F20-F29	Schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other non-mood psychotic disorders	3.75	0.3–3.4% (30, 31, 47)	1.25–1.5% (36, 42)
F30	Hypomania	3.0	0.5% (32)	5.5% (35)
F32-F33	Depressive disorders	26.25	3.3-26.2% (31, 34, 47)	16.8–19.2% (43)
F34.1	Dysthymia	11.5	2.1-5.2% (32)	2.0-3.3% (36, 43)
F40	Phobic anxiety disorders	35	2.4-7.3% (32, 47)	6.2% (36)
F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders	7.0	1.9-4.6% (30, 31)	0.9% (39)
F45	Somatoform disorders	16	1.7% (47)	1.5–21.0% (38, 44)
F50	Eating disorders	2.25	0.3-2.0% (31)	1.01% (40)

TABLE 2 | Number of prisoners in Germany.

Year	Total number of prisoners	Compensation prisoners
2009	70,817	3,868 (5.5 %)
2010	69,385	3,776 (5.4 %)
2011	68,099	3,802 (5.6 %)
2012	65,902	3,936 (6.0 %)
2013	62,632	3,968 (6.3 %)
2014	61,872	4,460 (7.2 %)
2015	61,737	4,135 (6.7 %)
2016	62,865	4,487 (7.1 %)
2017	64,351	4,580 (7.1 %)

The numbers were collected at the end of November in each year.

increased by 0.253%, and the association was highly significant (p < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Mental Disorders in Compensation Detainees

Convicts who cannot pay the fine for committing a petty crime like fare evasion have to serve compensation imprisonment. The risk of compensation imprisonment is therefore many times greater for poor people than for financially well-off people.

The comparison of the prevalence of mental disease in compensation prisoners with population samples from general prisons and from the general population yielded a clear result: compensation prisoners are many more times more prone to suffer from mental diseases induced by alcohol and drug abuse than the normal population. Even in comparison with population samples from worldwide prisons, the prevalence of alcohol-and drug-abuse related disorders was extraordinarily high. Our finding that 72.75% of compensation prisoners suffered from mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol is in line with the findings of Konrad and Opitz-Welke, who reported that 77% of their study population consisting of compensation and investigation prisoners were diagnosed with alcohol abuse (48)

In addition, dysthymia, phobic anxiety disorders, adjustment disorders, somatoform disorders, and eating disorders occurred at frequencies wide above the standard levels. The exceptionally high prevalence of adjustment disorders could reflect immediate negative reactions to incarceration (49).

One explanation for this observation could be an interaction between being poor and being mentally ill. Indeed, several studies could demonstrate that people who live in poverty appear to be at higher risk for mental illnesses (50–52). However, the association between poverty and mental disorders is complex and bidirectional. On the one hand, besides genetics, adverse life events or substance abuse, poverty can be a main factor causing mental illness. On the other hand, mental illness may lead people down a road to poverty, because of disability, stigma or the need to spend extra money on health care (50, 51). Lund and colleagues suggest that poverty more often leads to depression while disorders like schizophrenia more often lead to poverty (50, 51).

Therefore, the conversion of the monetary fine for committing a petty crime into imprisonment primarily affects the socially marginalized, the poor, and the mentally ill. Consequently, compensation imprisonment may constitute the backbone of the sanction system, but it seems dysfunctional to our subjects.

Results in Relation the Penrose Hypothesis

The longitudinal analysis of prisoner numbers in Germany yielded a clear trend: while the number of people in jail is constantly decreasing, the number of compensation prisoners is constantly increasing. As social-demographic study on compensation prisoners demonstrated that these people were mainly homeless, unemployed, and had hardly any sustaining family background (25). The finding that compensation prisoners suffered from a wide spectrum of mental disorders, which exceeded the standard population by a magnitude, underscored the hypothesis that these people are in fact victims of a transinstitutionalization process.

If prisons in fact could be a substitute for mental health care clinics, then the question arises to what these facilities could offer to the many inmates with serious mental disorders. One modality that jails offer is structure, which is implemented in the form of a protected setting and of employees who can hold back improper and destructive behavior, and conceive a personalized psychiatric treatment regime. However, for those people with serious mental disorders and who serve compensation imprisonment, this structured setting is not sufficient, as their stay in prison is generally very short and standard treatment plans are not being carried out for reasons of time. For this clientele, psychiatric inpatient treatment and drug and alcohol withdrawal would be preferable to incarceration into a prison.

It is broadly accepted that numerous people with genuine psychological problems, who have been criminalized, could be dealt with effectively in the community, if there were sufficient and available treatment facilities (53). However, in Eastern Germany, after the political change, the number of general psychiatric beds fell by 61% and the prisoners' rate dropped by 77%, so that within a few years the rates between East and West Germany converged. In both parts of Germany, capacities were built up in the execution of sentences, assisted living and rehabilitation facilities. In West Germany, the number of psychiatric beds fell by 40% between 1989 and 2003 (54). However, at the same time, forensic psychiatric bed numbers increased in most countries, especially in East Germany (12). Consistent with the Penrose hypothesis, it seemed that the extensive decline in general mental health care beds might have partly been compensated by a rise in forensic mental health care beds. Although the reduction of general psychiatric beds may not have caused a growth of prison populations, available data do not allow excluding a possible transinstitutionalization of people with mental disorders from psychiatric hospitals to prisons (12).

Lamentably, the deficient treatment of mentally challenged people during compensation imprisonment and the inadequate number of clinic beds (acute, intermediate, and long term) for the individuals who require them are some of the realities of transinstitutionalization that have set the stage for criminalization (55).

The Penrose hypothesis has been a valuable reference point for investigations into the intricate relationship between the mental health care system and the legal enforcement system for more nearly 80 years (53). Our results do not prove that validity of the Penrose hypothesis, but in the special setting of compensation imprisonment, our observations support the idea of a transinstitutionalization process. This transinstitutionalization process could possibly lead to an unintentional stigmatization of socially marginalized, poor and mentally ill persons as criminals (56, 57).

However, it is important to emphasize that within the context of this study, the Penrose hypothesis was used as an analogy and that our results were purely descriptive. Therefore, our implications and conclusions are of speculative nature and cannot be confirmed by the descriptive data.

Limitations

One limitation of the study is that was not possible to diagnose personality orders with the diagnostic system DIA-X. However, antisocial, borderline, and paranoid personality disorders were associated strongly with substance-use disorders (58–60). Therefore, determining the prevalence of personality disorders would provide interesting insights into the mental

health of this particular study population, which has an extremely high rate of substance abuse. The diagnosis of personality disorders could be a relevant factor especially for compensation prisoners minimize recidivism among those in legally supervised treatment (61).

Another limitation of using the diagnostic system DIA-X is constituted by a potential underestimation of more chronic forms of schizophrenia that are dominated by negative symptoms in compensation prisoners.

Finally, we cannot validate whether the reduction of mental health care beds in Germany concerned mostly chronic diseases like schizophrenia or mental disabilities, as there are no statistical reports on this issue. However, this information would be a prerequisite in order to prove that substance abusers were especially affected by the reduction of psychiatric hospital beds.

Recommendations

The German law already offers an alternative to compensation imprisonment, which is community service. People sentenced to serve compensation imprisonment can apply for serving voluntary community work instead (19). This seems very meaningful, as imprisonment would further deteriorate their precarious financial and social situation and would further impair their fragile state of mental health. If these people are put to jail and released again without support, they will find themselves in a vicious circle without the hope of ever escaping their compromising situation.

Given that a large proportion of the compensation prisoners suffered from mental illness, we believe that it is advisable to first psychologically diagnose anyone convicted of compensation imprisonment. This could be achieved with the DIA-X diagnostic system, for example. Then a therapy should take place accompanying the voluntary work, which should deal with the respective problems of the individual. For serious mental illness, a transfer to a psychiatric hospital would be worth considering. In any case, nothing should be left unturned to integrate the convict into a functioning social environment.

CONCLUSIONS

Our studies add weight to claims that compensation imprisonment leads to an ethically questionable and clinically inappropriate transinstitutionalization and further criminalization of poor or mentally ill people from the edge of society into prisons, which are poorly set up to treat and support them. Policymakers should therefore consider the current limits of compensation imprisonment.

ETHICS STATEMENT

In January 2016, a comprehensive research proposal was submitted to the criminal services of the penal institutions in Berlin and to the social services of the penal institution Plötzensee, which were both approved in February 2016. In addition, the prison management of the penal institution Plötzensee approved the study in April 2016. Finally, the Berlin Commissioner for Data Protection issued a clearance certificate in May 2016.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CS conducted the literature search, collected and evaluated the data, performed the statistical analyses, and supported SS

REFERENCES

- Penrose LS. Mental disease and crime: outline of a comparative study of European statistics. Br J Med Psychol. (1939) 18:1–15. doi: 10.11111/j.2044-8341.1939.tb00704.x
- Palermo GB. Transinstitutionalization and an overburdened judicial system. Med Law (1998) 17:77–82.
- Slovenko R. The transinstitutionalization of the mentally ill. Ohio North Univ Law Rev. (2003) 29:641–60.
- Prins SJ. Does transinstitutionalization explain the overrepresentation of people with serious mental illnesses in the criminal justice system? *Commun Ment Health J.* (2011) 47:716–22. doi: 10.1007/s10597-011-9420-y
- Tsai AC, Venkataramani AS. A more robust test of the penrose hypothesis. JAMA Psychiatry (2015) 72:735–6. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0212
- Large MM, Nielssen O. The Penrose hypothesis in 2004: patient and prisoner numbers are positively correlated in low-and-middle income countries but are unrelated in high-income countries. *Psychol Psychother*. (2009) 82:113–9. doi: 10.1348/147608308X320099
- Severson ME. The impact of a state hospital closure on local jails: the Kansas experience. *Commun Ment Health J.* (2000) 36:571–87. doi: 10.1023/A:1001982118380
- Priebe S, Turner T. Reinstitutionalisation in mental health care. *BMJ* (2003) 326:175. doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.7382.175
- Topor A, Andersson G, Bulow P, Stefansson CG, Denhov A. After the Asylum? N Instit Landsc Commun Ment Health J. (2016) 52:731–7. doi: 10.1007/s10597-015-9928-7
- Priebe S, Badesconyi A, Fioritti A, Hansson L, Kilian R, Torres-Gonzales F, et al. Reinstitutionalisation in mental health care: comparison of data on service provision from six European countries. *BMJ* (2005) 330:123–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.38296.611215.AE
- Priebe S, Frottier P, Gaddini A, Kilian R, Lauber C, Martinez-Leal R, et al. Mental health care institutions in nine European countries, 2002 to 2006. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2008) 59:570–3. doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.59.5.570
- Mundt AP, Franciskovic T, Gurovich I, Heinz A, Ignatyev Y, Ismayilov F, et al. Changes in the provision of institutionalized mental health care in post-communist countries. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e38490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038490
- Ceccherini-Nelli A, Priebe S. Economic factors and psychiatric hospital beds – an analysis of historical trends. *Int J Soc Econ.* (2007) 34:788–810. doi: 10.1108/03068290710826396
- Toynbee M. The Penrose hypothesis in the 21st century: revisiting the asylum. Evid Based Ment Health (2015) 18:76. doi: 10.1136/eb-2015-102115
- Mundt AP, Chow WS, Arduino M, Barrionuevo H, Fritsch R, Girala N, et al. Psychiatric hospital beds and prison populations in South America since 1990: does the Penrose hypothesis apply? *JAMA Psychiatry* (2015) 72:112–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2433
- 16. Kelly BD. Penrose's Law in Ireland: an ecological analysis of psychiatric inpatients and prisoners. *Ir Med J.* (2007) 100:373–4.
- Hartvig P, Kjelsberg E. Penrose's law revisited: the relationship between mental institution beds, prison population and crime rate. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2009) 63:51–6. doi: 10.1080/08039480802298697
- Strafgesetzbuch St GB. § 43 Ersatzfreiheitsstrafe. (1997) Available online at: https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/stgb/\43.html (Accessed October 2, 2017).
- Albrecht H-J. Commentary on §§40-43 [Kommentar zu §§40-43]. In: Kindhäuser, U, Neumann, U, Paeffgen H-U. editors. NOMOS Commentary: Criminal Code [NOMOS Kommentar: Strafgesetzbuch]. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft (2013). p. 1723–56.
- Villmow B. Short imprisonment, compensation imprisonment and charitable work [Kurze Freiheitsstrafe, Ersatzfreiheitsstrafe und gemeinnützige Arbeit].

with writing the article wrote the article. SS conceived and prepared the study, wrote the research proposal, communicated with the authorities, recruited the patients, organized the data collection, and wrote the article.

In: Albrecht H-J. editor. International Perspectives in Criminology and Criminal Law. Commemorative publication for Günther Kaiser's 70th birthday [Internationale Perspektiven in Kriminologie und Strafrecht. Festschrift für Günther Kaiser zum 70. Geburtstag]. Berlin: Duncker & Humbold Verlag (1999). p. 1708.

- Dünkel F. The German Prison System in the International Comparison [Der Deutsche Strafvollzug im Internationalen Vergleich] (2003). Available online at: http://www.thomasfeltes.de/beijing/Strafvollzug%20BRD.pdf (Accessed October 3, 2017).
- Matt E. Detention and no alternative? On the situation of compensation prisoners on the example of Bremen [Haft und keine Alternative? Zur Situation von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen-Verbüßern am Beispiel von Bremen]. Monatssch Kriminol. (2005) 88:339–50.
- 23. Bögelein N, Ernst A, Neubacher F. How can the avoidance of substitutional penalties succeed? On the life situation of the convicted and the cooperation of state and non-governmental organizations. [Wie kann die Vermeidung von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen gelingen? Zur Lebenssituation der Verurteilten und zur Zusammenarbeit staatlicher und nichtstaatlicher Organisationen.]. Bewährungshilfe (2014) 61:282–94.
- Dolde G. Enforcement of compensation imprisonment a significant proportion in short-term execution [Vollzug von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen - ein wesentlicher Anteil im Kurzstrafenvollzug]. Zeitschrift für Strafvollzug und Straffälligenhilfe (1999) 48:330–5.
- Schildbach S, Schildbach C. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in detainees serving imprisonment as an alternative punishment for failure to pay penalty fees: a longitudinal study. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2018) 58:105–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2018.03.006
- Dubielczyk R. Prevalence of Mental Disorders in Compensation Prisoners [Prävalenz psychischer Störungen bei Ersatzfreiheitsstrafern]. Dissertation. Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin (2002).
- Müller-Foti G, Robertz FJ, Schildbach S, Wickenhäuser R. Punishing the disoriented? Medical and criminological implications of incarcerating patients with mental disorders for failing to pay a fine. *Int J Prisoner Health* (2007) 3:87–97. doi: 10.1080/17449200701321365
- Wittchen HU, Perkonigg A. DIA-X: Diagnostic Expert System for Mental Disorders [DIA-X: Diagnostisches Expertensystem für PSYCHISCHE STÖRUNGEN] Göttingen: Hogrefe Verlag (1997).
- Hasin D, Hatzenbuehler ML, Keyes K, Ogburn E. Substance use disorders: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fourth edition (DSM-IV) and international classification of diseases, tenth edition (ICD-10). Addiction (2006) 101(Suppl. 1):59–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006. 01584.x
- Gunn J, Maden A, Swinton M. Treatment needs of prisoners with psychiatric disorders. *BMJ* (1991) 303:338–41.
- Watzke S, Ullrich S, Marneros A. Gender- and violence-related prevalence of mental disorders in prisoners. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 256:414–21. doi: 10.1007/s00406-006-0656-4
- Andreoli SB, Dos Santos MM, Quintana MI, Ribeiro WS, Blay SL, Taborda JG, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders among prisoners in the state of Sao Paulo, Brazil. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e88836. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088836
- Fazel S, Yoon IA, Hayes AJ. Substance use disorders in prisoners: an updated systematic review and meta-regression analysis in recently incarcerated men and women. *Addiction* (2017) 112:1725–39. doi: 10.1111/add.13877
- 34. Yi Y, Turney K, Wildeman C. Mental health among jail and prison inmates. Am J Mens Health (2017) 11:900-9. doi: 10.1177/15579883166 81339
- Angst J. The emerging epidemiology of hypomania and bipolar II disorder. J Affect Disord. (1998) 50:143–51. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(98)00142-6
- Martin P. The epidemiology of anxiety disorders: a review. Dialog Clin Neurosci. (2003) 5:281–98.

- Bloomfield K, Kraus L, Soyka M. Alcohol consumption and alcohol-related disorders [Alkoholkonsum und alkoholbezogene Störungen]. Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes (2008) 40:3–30. doi: 10.1024/2008.07.05
- Hilderink PH, Collard R, Rosmalen JG, Oude Voshaar RC. Prevalence of somatoform disorders and medically unexplained symptoms in old age populations in comparison with younger age groups: a systematic review. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2013) 12:151–6. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2012.04.004
- Patra BN, Sarkar S. Adjustment disorder: current diagnostic status. Indian J Psychol Med. (2013) 35:4–9. doi: 10.4103/0253-7176.112193
- Qian J, Hu Q, Wan Y, Li T, Wu M, Ren Z, et al. Prevalence of eating disorders in the general population: a systematic review. *Shanghai Arch Psychiatry* (2013) 25:212–23. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2013.04.003
- Grant BF, Saha TD, Ruan WJ, Goldstein RB, Chou SP, Jung J, et al. Epidemiology of DSM-5 drug use disorder: results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions-III. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2016) 73:39–47. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2132
- 42. Chang WC, Wong CSM, Chen EYH, Lam LCW, Chan WC, Ng RMK, et al. Lifetime prevalence and correlates of schizophrenia-spectrum, affective, and other non-affective psychotic disorders in the chinese adult population. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:1280–90. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx056
- Vandeleur CL, Fassassi S, Castelao E, Glaus J, Strippoli MF, Lasserre AM, et al. Prevalence and correlates of DSM-5 major depressive and related disorders in the community. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 250:50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.060
- 44. Leutgeb R, Berger S, Szecsenyi J, Laux G. Patients with somatoform disorders: more frequent attendance and higher utilization in primary Out-of-Hours care? *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0202546. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202546
- 45. Statistisches Bundesamt SB. Number of Prisoners in German Prisons from 2003 - 2013 [Bestand der Gefangenen und Verwahrten in den Deutschen Justizvollzugsanstalten nach Ihrer Unterbringung auf Haftplätzen des Geschlossenen und Offenen Vollzugs jeweils zu den Stichtagen 31. März, 31. August und 30. November eines Jahres. Stichtag 31. März 2003 bis 30. November 2013]. (2014) Available online at: https://www.destatis. de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/Rechtspflege/StrafverfolgungVollzug/ BestandGefangeneVerwahrte5243201139004.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (Accessed July 3, 2018).
- 46. Statistisches Bundesamt SB. Number of prisoners in German prisons from 2014 - 2017 [Bestand der Gefangenen und Verwahrten in den deutschen Justizvollzugsanstalten nach ihrer Unterbringung auf Haftplätzen des geschlossenen und offenen Vollzugs jeweils zu den Stichtagen 31. März, 31. August und 30. November eines Jahres. Stichtag 30. November 2017] (2018). Available online at: https://www.destatis.de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/ Rechtspflege/StrafverfolgungVollzug/BestandGefangeneVerwahrtePDF_ 5243201.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (Accessed July 3, 2018).
- Kumar V, Daria U. Psychiatric morbidity in prisoners. Indian J Psychiatry (2013) 55:366–70. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.120562
- Konrad N, Opitz-Welke A. Psychiatric problems in prison [Psychiatrische Probleme im Justizvollzug]. In: Dreßing H, Habermeyer E, editors. Psychiatric Assessment (Sixth Edition) [Psychiatrische Begutachtung (Sechste Ausgabe)]. München: Elsevier (2015). p. 351–62.
- Kocalevent RD, Mierke A, Danzer G, Klapp BF. Adjustment disorders as a stress-related disorder: a longitudinal study of the associations among stress, resources, and mental health. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e97303. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097303

- Lund C, Breen A, Flisher AJ, Kakuma R, Corrigall J, Joska JA, et al. Poverty and common mental disorders in low and middle income countries: a systematic review. Soc Sci Med. (2010) 71:517–28. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010. 04.027
- Lund C, De Silva M, Plagerson S, Cooper S, Chisholm D, Das J, et al. Poverty and mental disorders: breaking the cycle in low-income and middleincome countries. *Lancet* (2011) 378:1502–14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11) 60754-X
- 52. Lepiece B, Reynaert C, Jacques D, Zdanowicz N. Poverty and mental health: what should we know as mental health professionals? *Psychiatr Danub*. (2015) 27(Suppl. 1):S92–6.
- Lamb HR. Does deinstitutionalization cause criminalization? The penrose hypothesis. JAMA Psychiatry (2015) 72:105–6. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2444
- 54. Mir J, Priebe S, Mundt AP. Mentally ill people in East and West Germany: indicators of institutionalization since the political change [Psychisch Kranke in Ost- und Westdeutschland: Indikatoren der Institutionalisierung seit der politischen Wende]. Der Nervenarzt (2013) 84:844–50. doi: 10.1007/s00115-012-3657-8
- Lamb HR, Bachrach LL. Some perspectives on deinstitutionalization. Psychiatr Serv. (2001) 52:1039–45. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.52.8.1039
- Crisp AH, Gelder MG, Rix S, Meltzer HI, Rowlands OJ. Stigmatisation of people with mental illnesses. Br J Psychiatry (2000) 177:4–7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.177.1.4
- Sartorius N, Gaebel W, Cleveland HR, Stuart H, Akiyama T, Arboleda-Florez J, et al. WPA guidance on how to combat stigmatization of psychiatry and psychiatrists. *World Psychiatry* (2010) 9:131–44. doi: 10.1002/j.2051-5545.2010.tb00296.x
- Kienast T, Stoffers J, Bermpohl F, Lieb K. Borderline personality disorder and comorbid addiction: epidemiology and treatment. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2014) 111:280–6. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2014.0280
- Gillespie NA, Aggen SH, Neale MC, Knudsen GP, Krueger RF, South SC, et al. Associations between personality disorders and cannabis use and cannabis use disorder: a population-based twin study. *Addiction* (2018) 113:1488–98. doi: 10.1111/add.14209
- Habersaat S, Ramain J, Mantzouranis G, Palix J, Boonman C, Fegert JM, et al. Substance-use disorders, personality traits, and sex differences in institutionalized adolescents. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse* (2018) 44:686–94. doi: 10.1080/00952990.2018.1491587
- 61. Carr WA. The impact of personality disorders on legally supervised community treatment: a systematic literature review. *Commun Ment Health J.* (2014) 50:664–72. doi: 10.1007/s10597-013-9649-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Schildbach and Schildbach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Yield and Efficiency of Mental Disorder Screening at Intake to Prison: A Comparison of DIA-X Short- and Long-Screening-Protocols in Compensation Prisoners

Carola Schildbach and Sebastian Schildbach*

Praxisgemeinschaft für Psychosomatik, Gais, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annette Opitz-Welke, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Thomas Ross, Universitätsklinikum Ulm, Germany Erik Søndenaa, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway

*Correspondence: Sebastian Schildbach praxis.sebastian.schildbach@hin.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 07 May 2018 Accepted: 10 October 2018 Published: 26 October 2018

Citation:

Schildbach C and Schildbach S (2018) Yield and Efficiency of Mental Disorder Screening at Intake to Prison: A Comparison of DIA-X Short- and Long-Screening-Protocols in Compensation Prisoners. Front. Psychiatry 9:538. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00538 **Background:** Inmates are several times more likely to suffer from mental disorders than the general population. In order to take appropriate curative or preventive measures, a precise psychiatric diagnosis at detention start would therefore be imperative, but is frequently not carried out for reasons of time. The computer-aided expert system DIA-X enables a rapid and reliable diagnosis of psychiatric disorders. DIA-X is available as a short screening questionnaire with a processing time of a few minutes and as a standardized interview, which takes ~ 1 h to complete.

Objective: The aim of this study was to assess the efficiency and accuracy of the DIA-X short screening questionnaire.

Methods: One hundred detainees were recruited randomly from compensation prisoners, who were imprisoned because they were unwilling or unable to pay a fine for committing a criminal offence, from the penal institution Berlin-Plötzensee in 2017. Both the short screening questionnaire and the standardized interview from the DIA-X expert system were used for diagnosing mental disorders. Based on the results of the standardized interview from four study populations of compensation prisoners from 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017, the sensitivity, specificity and the predictive values of the screening form were inferred.

Results: More than half of the compensation prisoners suffered from mental and behavioral disorders caused by the abuse of alcohol or psychoactive substances. Phobic anxiety disorders were detected in one out of ten compensation prisoners and two out of ten compensation prisoners suffered from major depressive disorders. The DIA-X screening questionnaire was able to detect all mental illnesses with a sensitivity of 100%. However, specificities were low for nicotine dependency, drug and alcohol abuse. High specificities and high predictive values were obtained for psychoses and anxiety disorders.

Conclusions: As the main test quality criteria of the DIA-X screening forms were so low, we cannot recommend the application of the DIA-X screening form for obtaining a valid diagnosis. Therefore, we explicitly recommend using the long form DIA-X for the detection of the most serious cases of mental illness. Then, these prisoners could receive either therapy or special social training.

Keywords: compensation imprisonment, mental disorder screening, DIA-X, sensitivity and specificity, predictive values

INTRODUCTION

At present, there are between 9 and 10 million people in prisons worldwide (1), and an even larger number of former prisoners live in society (2). Therefore, determining the physical and mental health status of current and former inmates is an important issue in public health.

In Germany, approximately 80% of all penalties are imposed as monetary fines. If a convict is unwilling or unable to pay the fine for committing a criminal offense, he or she can face compensation imprisonment instead, as regulated under Section 43 of the German Penal Code (3, 4).

Thus, compensation imprisonment ensures the effectiveness of the penalty system. Despite small variations between the different federal provinces, the proportion of compensation prisoners amounts for $\sim 10\%$ of all inmates in Germany (5).

The duration of the compensation imprisonment corresponds to the number of daily rates that an offender was sentenced to pay. The number of daily rates corresponds to the severity of the crime, and if for example the court sanctioned a fine of 30 daily rates, then the convicted person faces a 30-day compensation imprisonment. At the same time, a compensation imprisonment can be averted by paying the fine or by completing community service (4).

However, the application of compensation imprisonment is subject to an ongoing discussion in Germany (6–8). As the average stay in prison is short, there are no decisive concepts for social rehabilitation after imprisonment. In addition to a lack of resocialization, potential job loss and social stigmatization, the newly acquired subcultural contacts facilitate reoffending (9).

Numerous epidemiologic studies demonstrated that prisoners are more likely to suffer from mental disorders than the average population (1, 10–12). In addition to the observation that the majority of prison inmates (81%) were male, 3.7% of male, and 4% of female inmates experienced psychotic disorders, 10% of males and 12% of female inmates showed signs of depression and 65% of the male and 42% of female inmates were diagnosed with personality disorders (1).

In comparison to the American or British average population of the same age (13, 14), prisoners suffered from psychotic illnesses, severe depression and dissocial personality disorders 2–10 times more frequently (1, 15, 16).

As compensation imprisonment only exists in Germany, Austria and Switzerland, there are only a few representative medical studies on the prevalence of mental disorders of compensation prisoners. Four consecutive studies from 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017, each consisting of 100 prisoners of the penal institution Berlin-Plötzensee, found a high rate of mental and behavioral disorders in compensation prisoners, mainly due to the abuse of alcohol and drugs (17–19).

In order to support the detainees during their detention and after their release to reintegrate into society, it is necessary to make a precise diagnosis of pre-existing mental illnesses. To this end, computer-assisted diagnostic systems are available for a standardized, independent, and reliable diagnosis. Unfortunately, a precise psychiatric diagnosis at detention start is often not carried out for reasons of time. The frequently used psycho-diagnostic system DIA-X exists as a long version that takes an hour to answer, and as a short version that can be answered within a few minutes.

The aim of this study was to assess the sensitivity and specificity of the short version of DIA-X using the results of the long version of DIA-X in a study population of 100 compensation prisoners.

STUDY POPULATION AND METHODS

Study Population

The study population consisted of 100 randomly selected inmates of the penal institution Plötzensee in Berlin, who served compensation imprisonment in spring 2017. The only inclusion criterion was a good knowledge of the German language. All study participants gave their informed consent to participate in this study.

Table 1 shows the sociodemographic characteristics of the study population. The inmates were exclusively male, on average 37.2 years old, mostly single and unemployed. Half of the inmates were convicted of fare evasion. The average number of daily rates was 106. The average penalty fee was1659 €. Thirty-eight inmates said they did not have a permanent home, and 41 inmates did not have any vocational training.

Study Approval

In January 2016, a comprehensive research proposal was submitted to the criminal services of the penal institutions in Berlin and to the social services of the penal institution Plötzensee, which were both approved in February 2016. In addition, the prison management of the penal institution Plötzensee approved the study in April 2016. Finally, the Berlin Commissioner for Data Protection issued a clearance certificate in May 2016. **TABLE 1** Demographic characteristics of the study population in 2017 (n = 100).

Demographic parameter	Frequency
Mean age in years	37.2
Proportion of singles	92%
Proportion of inmates with no fixed address or in residential facilities	38%
Inmates without a school-leaving qualification	30%
Inmates without a vocational training	41%
Unemployment rate	85%
Convicted for fare evasion	49%
Convicted for other petty crimes	15%
Convicted for property crimes	21%
Convicted for personal injuries	7%
Convicted for road traffic offences	5%
Convicted for insulting others	3%
Nicotine dependency	58%
Cannabis abuse	33%
Opioid abuse	30%
Cocaine abuse	21%
Other stimulant abuse	20%
Hallucinogen abuse	12%
Sedative, hypnotic or anxiolytic-related abuse	6%

Diagnostic System DIA-X

For diagnosing psychiatric disorders, the computer-aided expert system DIA-X was used (20). DIA-X supports the user reliably and efficiently with the diagnosis according to ICD-10 (International Classification of Diseases) and DSM-IV (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders) (21).

For this investigation, we used to different versions of DIA-X:

- 1. A screening procedure, which captures fear, depression or mental disorders in general. The screening procedures are short questionnaires that either confirm or deny with high sensitivity and good specificity either the presence of any mental disorder (DIA-SSQ), anxiety disorder (DIA-ASQ), or depression (DIA-DSQ). If the suspicion of a mental disorder is confirmed, the structured interview should be used for further clarification. In addition, the screening questionnaires can also be used to measure change. The DIA-SSQ questionnaire has 17 questions, the other two 15 questions each. Each question is binary, i.e., it can only be answered with yes or no.
- 2. A standardized interview for measuring mental disorders in the last 12 months. The interview is available in two different versions: one to record the longitudinal symptoms (over the entire lifetime), the other centered on the crosssectional symptoms (the last 12 months). Both versions are fully standardized and provide diagnoses of about 100 mental disorders according to ICD-10 and DSM IV. The modular structure and the possibilities of branching ensure that despite the standardization only the symptom constellation important for the respective subject is placed in the center of the interview becomes. In addition, some complexes

can be selected. There is a supplementary booklet to the actual interview booklet, in which the examined person gives information on the symptoms, which are deepened in the interview. The information in the supplement also serves as a reminder.

Both variants of DIA-X were applied as computer versions. While it usually takes no more than 2 min to answer the screening questionnaires, the standardized interview takes about an hour to complete. In addition to the DIA-X components, the detainees were also asked questions of demographic nature.

The interviews were conducted by a general practitioner (in 1999), a criminologist (in 2004), a psychologist (in 2010), and by a social pedagogue (in 2017) (19).

Statistical Data Analysis

The recorded data were instantly anonymized and encoded. The prison did not receive any information whatsoever concerning data related to individual prisoners.

By comparing the two DIA-X versions—the short screening questionnaire vs. the long detailed standardized interview—the sensitivity and specificity of the DIA-X screening questionnaire were calculated for the individual diagnoses. The diagnoses obtained with the standardized interview were considered as gold standard.

The sensitivity of the screening questionnaire for a particular mental illness was the proportion of inmates, which were tested positive for this particular mental illness and that really suffered from that particular mental illness, of all the inmates that were actually diagnosed with a particular mental disorder. Sensitivity = $\frac{TP}{TP+FN}$, where TP, true positive; FN, false negative.

The specificity of the screening questionnaire for a particular mental illness was the proportion of inmates, which were tested negative for this particular mental illness and that really did not suffer from that particular mental illness, of all the inmates that were actually free of a particular mental disorder. *Specificity* = $\frac{TN}{TN+FP}$, where TP, true negative; FN, false positive.

Including the prevalence of diverse mental disorders in the study population as assessed with the long form of DIA-X, the positive and negative predictive values were calculated. To this end, the average prevalence of each mental illness was calculated from the frequencies of mental disorders in four study populations of 100 compensation prisoners each collected in the penal institution Plötzensee in 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017 (19).

The positive predictive value (PPV) is the probability that detainees with a positive DIA-X screening test truly have the specific mental disease.

$$PPV = \frac{Sensitivity \cdot Prevalence}{\{Sensitivity \cdot Prevalence + (1 - Specificity) \cdot (1 - Prevalence)\}}$$

The negative predictive value (NPV) is the probability that detainees with a negative DIA-X screening test truly don't have the disease.

$$NPV = \frac{Specificity \cdot (1 - Prevalence)}{\{[Specificity \cdot (1 - Prevalence)] + [(1 - Sensitivity) \cdot Prevalence]\}}$$

RESULTS

Mental Disorders

Table 2 summarizes the average prevalence of mental disorders in four study populations, each consisting of 100 compensation imprisoners, from the years 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017. Nearly half (45.5%) of the study population suffered from mental and behavioral disorders caused by the use of various drugs (**Table 2**). In fact, abuse of various psychotropic substances was detected in a large proportion of inmates (**Table 1**).

Nearly three-quarters (72.75%) of the inmates had mental health problems and behavioral problems initiated by alcohol abuse. Every third detainee who served compensation imprisonment suffered from phobic disturbances. In addition, depressive, somatoform, delusional and bipolar affective disorders as well as eating disorders and dysthymia were frequent diagnoses.

Sensitivity and Specificity of the DIA-X Short Form

Table 3 indicates the sensitivities and specificities of the DIA-X screening questionnaire as compared to the long form (interview form) of this diagnostic system. All mental disorders were detected with a sensitivity of 100%, i.e., all inmates suffering from a particular mental disorder were correctly classified as ill.

Low specificities were noted for nicotine addiction (23%), drug abuse (26%), and alcohol abuse (50%). However, since nicotine addiction as well as drug abuse and alcohol abuse occurred with high prevalence in compensation prisoners (**Tables 1, 2**), the respective scales of the DIA-X screening method tended to overestimate.

TABLE 2 Overview of the average prevalence of mental disorders in four study populations of compensation imprisoners from the years 1999, 2004, 2010, and 2017 (n = 400). Multiple answers with respect to mental disorders were possible.

ICD-10	Diagnosis	Prevalence (%)
F10	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol	72.75
F11, F12, F14–16	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of opioids, cannabinoids, cocaine, or hallucinogens	45.5
F13	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics	5.25
F17.2	Nicotine dependency	65.75
F20-F29	Schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other non-mood psychotic disorders	3.75
F30	Hypomania	3
F32-F33	Depressive disorders	26.25
F34.1	Dysthymia	11.5
F40	Phobic anxiety disorders	35
F41	Other anxiety disorders	5.75
F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders	7
F45	Somatoform disorders	16
F50	Eating disorders	2.25

High specificities (above 90%) were achieved for psychotic disorders, somatoform disorders, phobic anxiety disorders, and eating disorders. For these mental disorders, the ability to actually categorize healthy inmates as healthy was high.

Moderate specificities (between 56 and 87%) were achieved for hypomania, other anxiety disorders, post-traumatic disorders, mental and behavioral disorders due to the use of sedatives or hypnotics, dysthymia, and depression.

Negative and Positive Predictive Values

Table 4 shows the negative predictive values and the positive predictive values of the short form of DIA-X depending on the prevalence of the diagnosed mental illnesses. The positive predictive values varied between 60 and 80%, indicating that only 60–80% of inmates that were diagnosed with a specific mental disorder indeed suffered from this mental illness.

For nicotine addiction and drug dependence, the negative predictive values were \sim 20%. Thus, only 20% of those inmates who, according to the short form of DIA-X, had neither dependency, were actually free of these addictions.

DISCUSSION

Mental Disorders

In this particular study population of compensation prisoners, the prevalence of mental disorders was well above that of the average population.

The average lifetime prevalence of alcohol-related mental illnesses in compensation prisoners ranges around 75% (18, 19), while Germany's general population shows a lifetime prevalence of 3-5% (22–26). For schizophrenia, the estimated lifetime

TABLE 3 | Sensitivity and specificity of the DIA-X short form as obtained by comparing its diagnostic results to those received from the DIA-X long form (n = 100).

ICD-10	Diagnosis	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
F10	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol	100	50
F11, F12, F14–16	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of opioids, cannabinoids, cocaine, or hallucinogens	100	26
F13	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics	100	81
F17.2	Nicotine dependency	100	23
F20-F29	Schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other non-mood psychotic disorders	100	99
F30	Hypomania	100	76
F32-F33	Depressive disorders	100	56
F34.1	Dysthymia	100	69
F40	Phobic anxiety disorders	100	91
F41	Other anxiety disorders	100	87
F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders	100	82
F45	Somatoform disorders	100	96
F50	Eating disorders	100	95
TABLE 4 | Negative predictive value (NPV) and positive predictive value (PPV) of the DIA-X short form, based on the average prevalence of the respective mental disorder in compensation prisoners (n = 100).

ICD-10	Diagnosis	NPV (%)	PPV (%)
F10	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of alcohol	33.2	67.4
F11, F12, F14–16	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of opioids, cannabinoids, cocaine, or hallucinogens	20.4	80.4
F13	Mental and behavioral disorders due to use of sedatives or hypnotics	39.8	60.7
F17.2	Nicotine dependency	18.6	82.2
F20-F29	Schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other non-mood psychotic disorders	42.3	58.2
F30	Hypomania	33.9	66.7
F32-F33	Depressive disorders	35.2	65.4
F34.1	Dysthymia	38.9	61.7
F40	Phobic anxiety disorders	47.2	53.4
F41	Other anxiety disorders	42.1	58.5
F43	Reaction to severe stress, and adjustment disorders	41.5	59.0
F45	Somatoform disorders	47.6	52.9
F50	Eating disorders	34.8	65.7

prevalence for compensation prisoners was 4% (18), while in the German general population a lifetime prevalence of only 1.25% was observed (27). Similarly, dysthymia has been observed much more frequently in compensation prisoners (17, 18) than in the general population (28). The lifetime prevalence of bipolar disorder in the general population was also 0.5–5.0% (29), which was significantly lower than that of compensation prisoners (17– 19). Only in the prevalence of depression did the compensation prisoners lie in the population average (28).

Apart from the work mentioned above (17–19), there is only a very sparse international data on mental illness among compensation prisoners due to the special legal situation in Germany, which otherwise exists only in Austria and Switzerland.

In the light of these results, it can be argued that compensation imprisonment is a punishment of the poor and mentally ill. Instead of enforcing the law, it rather deteriorates the situation of people at the edge of society. Therefore, a precise diagnosis of mental disorders at detention start could offer the possibility to treat the detainees as patients, and not just as criminals. With an appropriate treatment, the recurrence rate could be lowered and compensation imprisonment would indeed have an effect: a curative one, not an educative one.

Sensitivity and Specificity of the DIA-X Short Form

For the DIA-X screening questionnaire, a sensitivity of 86% was reported for screening for mental disorders, a sensitivity of 95% for screening for depression and a sensitivity of 96% for screening for anxiety disorders (20). In our study population, sensitivities for all ascertainable mental disorders were 100%.

For the DIA-X screening questionnaire, a specificity of 75% for screening for mental disorders, a specificity of 84% for screening for depression and a specificity of 82% for screening for anxiety disorders were published (20). In our study population, the specificities were much lower than the reported values.

Negative and Positive Predictive Values

For a physician performing a diagnostic test on a particular patient clientele, the sensitivity, and specificity of the test are less of a concern than the negative and positive predictive values, which are influenced by the prevalence of the disorder in a particular patient clientele. Since in detainees serving a compensation imprisonment, the prevalence of mental illnesses was significantly higher than that of the general population, the determination of the positive and negative predictive values was of great interest.

For nicotine addiction and drug dependence, the negative predictive values were \sim 20%. Thus, only 20% of inmates in who, according to the short form of the DIA-X, neither dependency was present, were indeed free from these addictions. This value was surprisingly low at first glance, as the prevalence of addiction in the study population was very high. However, the short forms of DIA-X were not explicitly designed for the detection of these diseases, so that the low discrimination power of the short form of DIA-X is not surprising.

For depressive episodes, dysthymia, hypochondria, alcohol disorders, somatoform disorders, specific phobias, drug abuse, or dependence and social phobia, the negative predictive values were \sim 30%. Thus, only 30% of inmates who, according to the short form of DIA-X, did not have any of the mental illnesses listed were actually healthy with respect to these conditions. The low discrimination power for depression is alarming, as this serious disease involves numerous compensation prisoners, which would not be detected correctly with the screening version of DIA-X.

Limitations

This study suffers from several limitations. First, we used the full version of the diagnostic system DIA-X as gold standard. However, the gold standard should be a diagnostic procedure, which in the given case represents the most proven and best solution. For psychiatric diagnosis, the gold standard is a consensus diagnosis involving all therapists, all available sources of information and interaction observations, as well as multiple interviews. Therefore, the use of a single measurement as gold standard can certainly be regarded a limitation. However, the long interview version of DIA-X has been used in many other studies assessing mental disorders (30–32) and it has been applied as validity criterion and even gold standard for evaluating newly developed diagnostic tools for mental health (33, 34).

In view of the numbers obtained for specificities, negative and positive predictive values, we conclude that the short version of DIA-X cannot be recommended for obtaining a quick and reliable diagnosis in compensation prisoners. Experienced diagnosticians would probably also immediately recognize those persons, who were diagnosed with DIA-X as mentally ill, because of their striking psychosis-related behavior.

CONCLUSIONS

The DIA-X's screening form proved to be highly reliable in correctly diagnosing psychosis and somatoform disorders in the special population of compensation prisoners. For depressive disorders, the specificity was 56%, so we have to assume that with regard to depression many patients would not be correctly diagnosed. Also for addictions, the predictive values were in a low range.

The main idea of our project was to evaluate the applicability of a simple and fast diagnostic screening tool for obtaining a rough, but reliable diagnosis of mental disorders in compensation prisoners. However, the main test quality criteria were so low, that we cannot recommend the application of the DIA-X screening form for obtaining a valid diagnosis.

However, as the brief imprisonment promotes social stigmatization and further threatens the basis of existence of this particular clientele, compensation prisoners need support to integrate well into society after detention. To this end, the use of the long form DIA-X would lead to the detection of the most serious cases of mental illness. Then,

REFERENCES

- 1. Fazel S, Danesh J. Serious mental disorder in 23000 prisoners: a systematic review of 62 surveys. *Lancet* (2002) 359:545–50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07740-1
- Chang Z, Larsson H, Lichtenstein P, Fazel S. Psychiatric disorders and violent reoffending: a national cohort study of convicted prisoners in Sweden. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:891–900. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00234-5
- Strafgesetzbuch St GB. § 43 Ersatzfreiheitsstrafe. (1997) Available online at: https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/stgb/__43.html (Accessed October 2017).
- Albrecht H-J. Commentary on §\$40-43 [Kommentar zu §\$40-43]. In: Kindhäuser U, Neumann U, Paeffgen H-U, editors. NOMOS Commentary: Criminal Code [NOMOS Kommentar: Strafgesetzbuch]. Baden-Baden: Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft (2013). p. 1723–56.
- 5. Villmow B. Short imprisonment, compensation imprisonment and charitable work [Kurze Freiheitsstrafe, Ersatzfreiheitsstrafe und gemeinnützige Arbeit]. In: Albrecht H-J, editor. International Perspectives in Criminology and Criminal Law. Commemorative Publication for Günther Kaiser's 70th Birthday [Internationale Perspektiven in Kriminologie und Strafrecht. Festschrift für Günther Kaiser zum 70. Geburtstag]. Berlin: Duncker & Humbold Verlag (1999). p. 1708.
- Dünkel F. The German Prison System in the International Comparison [Der Deutsche Strafvollzug im Internationalen Vergleich]. (2003) Available online at: http://www.thomasfeltes.de/beijing/Strafvollzug%20BRD.pdf (Accessed October 2017).
- Matt E. Detention and no alternative? On the situation of compensation prisoners on the example of Bremen [Haft und keine Alternative? Zur Situation von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen-Verbüßern am Beispiel von Bremen]. Monatssch Kriminol. (2005) 88:339–50.
- Bögelein N, Ernst A, Neubacher F. How can the avoidance of substitutional penalties succeed? On the life situation of the convicted and the cooperation of state and non-governmental organizations. [Wie kann die Vermeidung von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen gelingen? Zur Lebenssituation der Verurteilten und zur Zusammenarbeit staatlicher und nichtstaatlicher Organisationen.]. Bewährungshilfe (2014) 61:282–94.
- Dolde G. Enforcement of compensation imprisonment a significant proportion in short-term execution [Vollzug von Ersatzfreiheitsstrafen - ein wesentlicher Anteil im Kurzstrafenvollzug]. Zeitschrift für Strafvollzug und Straffälligenhilfe (1999) 48:330–5.

these prisoners could receive either therapy or special social training.

Based on the results of the epidemiological studies, which showed an extremely high prevalence of mental illnesses in compensation prisoners, and with respect to the low discrimination power of DIA-X screening form, we recommend a regular application of the DIA- X interview version in compensation prisoners. Although the use of the interview form of the DIA-X is time-consuming, it seems obligatory both for ethical reasons as well as for security reasons, since the society has a vital interest in a successful integration of compensation prisoners into a functioning social system.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CS conducted the literature search, collected and evaluated the data, performed the statistical analyses and wrote the article. SS conceived and prepared the study, wrote the research proposal, communicated with the authorities, recruited the patients, organized the data collection and supported CS with statistical analyses and writing the article.

- Alevizopoulos G, Igoumenou A. Psychiatric disorders and criminal history in male prisoners in Greece. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2016) 47:171–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.04.003
- 11. White LM, Lau KS, Aalsma MC. Detained adolescents: mental health needs, treatment use, and recidivism. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law (2016) 44:200–12.
- Daquin JC, Daigle LE. Mental disorder and victimisation in prison: examining the role of mental health treatment. *Crim Behav Ment Health* (2018) 28:141– 51. doi: 10.1002/cbm.2056
- Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, Nelson CB, Hughes M, Eshleman S, et al. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (1994) 51:8–19. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950010008002
- 14. Jenkins R, Lewis G, Bebbington P, Brugha T, Farrell M, Gill B, et al. The national psychiatric morbidity surveys of great britain-initial findings from the household survey. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2003) 15:29–42. doi: 10.1080/0954026021000045921
- Brinded PM, Simpson AI, Laidlaw TM, Fairley N, Malcolm F. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in New Zealand prisons: a national study. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2001) 35:166–73. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00885.x
- Duhamel A, Renard JM, Nuttens MC, Devos P, Beuscart R, Archer E. Social and health status of arrivals in a French prison: a consecutive case study from 1989 to 1995. *Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique* (2001) 49:229–38.
- Dubielczyk R. Prevalence of Mental disorders in Compensation Prisoners [Prävalenz Psychischer Störungen bei Ersatzfreiheitsstrafern]. Dissertation. Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin (2002).
- Müller-Foti G, Robertz FJ, Schildbach S, Wickenhäuser R. Punishing the disoriented? Medical and criminological implications of incarcerating patients with mental disorders for failing to pay a fine. *Int J Prisoner Health* (2007) 3:87–97. doi: 10.1080/17449200701321365
- Schildbach S, Schildbach C. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders in detainees serving imprisonment as an alternative punishment for failure to pay penalty fees: a longitudinal study. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2018) 58:105–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2018.03.006
- Wittchen HU, Perkonigg A. DIA-X: Diagnostic Expert System for Mental Disorders [DIA-X: Diagnostisches Expertensystem f
 ür Psychische St
 örungen] G
 öttingen: Hogrefe Verlag (1997).
- Hasin D, Hatzenbuehler ML, Keyes K, Ogburn E. Substance use disorders: diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fourth edition (DSM-IV) and International Classification of Diseases, tenth edition (ICD-10). *Addiction* (2006) 101(Suppl. 1):59–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01584.x

- Bloomfield K, Kraus L, Soyka M. Alcohol consumption and alcohol-related disorders [Alkoholkonsum und alkoholbezogene Störungen]. Gesundheitsberichterstattung des Bundes (2008) 40:3–30. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00047.x
- Bergmann MM, Rehm J, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H, Schutze M, Drogan D, et al. The association of pattern of lifetime alcohol use and cause of death in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:1772–90. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt154
- Soyka M. Epidemiology and treatment of alcohol dependence [Epidemiologie und Behandlung der Alkoholabhängigkeit]. *NeuroTransmitter* (2013) 24:40–3.
- Ferrari P, Licaj I, Muller DC, Kragh Andersen P, Johansson M, Boeing H, et al. Lifetime alcohol use and overall and cause-specific mortality in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. *BMJ Open* (2014) 4:e005245. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005245
- Naudin S, Li K, Jaouen T, Assi N, Kyro C, Tjonneland A, et al. Lifetime and baseline alcohol intakes and risk of pancreatic cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition study. *Int J Cancer* (2018) 143:801–12. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31367
- Chang WC, Wong CSM, Chen EYH, Lam LCW, Chan WC, Ng RMK, et al. Lifetime prevalence and correlates of schizophrenia-spectrum, affective, and other non-affective psychotic disorders in the chinese adult population. *Schizophr Bull*.(2017) 43:1280–90. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx056
- Vandeleur CL, Fassassi S, Castelao E, Glaus J, Strippoli MF, Lasserre AM, et al. Prevalence and correlates of DSM-5 major depressive and related disorders in the community. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 250:50–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.01.060
- Clemente AS, Diniz BS, Nicolato R, Kapczinski FP, Soares JC, Firmo JO, et al. Bipolar disorder prevalence: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. *Rev Bras Psiquiatr.* (2015) 37:155–61. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2012-1693

- Behrendt S, Buhringer G, Hofler M, Lieb R, Beesdo-Baum K. Prediction of incidence and stability of alcohol use disorders by latent internalizing psychopathology risk profiles in adolescence and young adulthood. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. (2017) 179:32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.06.006
- Asselmann E, Beesdo-Baum K, Hamm A, Schmidt CO, Hertel J, Grabe HJ, et al. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence estimates for mental disorders in northeastern Germany: findings from the Study of Health in Pomerania. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2018). doi: 10.1007/s00406-018-0911-5. [Epub ahead of print].
- Asselmann E, Wittchen HU, Lieb R, Perkonigg A, Beesdo-Baum K. Incident mental disorders in the aftermath of traumatic events: a prospective-longitudinal community study. J Affect Disord. (2018) 227:82–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.004
- Liwowsky I, Kramer D, Mergl R, Bramesfeld A, Allgaier AK, Poppel E, et al. Screening for depression in the older long-term unemployed. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2009) 44:622–7. doi: 10.1007/s00127-008-0478-y
- 34. Dingoyan D, Mosko M, Imamoglu Y, von Wolff A, Strehle J, Wittchen HU, et al. Development and feasibility of the computerized Turkish edition of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview [DIA-X/CIDI version 2.8(TR)]. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* (2017) 26:e1533. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1533

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Schildbach and Schildbach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Beyond the Walls: An Evaluation of a Pre-Release Planning (PReP) Programme for Sentenced Mentally Disordered Offenders

Damian Smith^{1,2}, Susan Harnett¹, Aisling Flanagan¹, Sarah Hennessy^{1,2}, Pauline Gill¹, Niamh Quigley¹, Cornelia Carey¹, Michael McGhee¹, Aoife McManus¹, Mary Kennedy³, Enda Kelly³, Jean Carey³, Ann Concannon¹, Harry G. Kennedy^{1,2} and Damian Mohan^{1,2*}

¹ National Forensic Mental Health Service, Central Mental Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ² Department of Psychiatry, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland, ³ Irish Prison Service, Dublin, Ireland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Manuela Dudeck, Universität Ulm, Germany Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Rostock, Germany Stelios Panagiotis Kympouropoulos, University General Hospital Attikon, Greece

> *Correspondence: Damian Mohan dmohan@tcd.ie

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 11 July 2018 Accepted: 12 October 2018 Published: 02 November 2018

Citation:

Smith D, Harnett S, Flanagan A, Hennessy S, Gill P, Quigley N, Carey C, McGhee M, McManus A, Kennedy M, Kelly E, Carey J, Concannon A, Kennedy HG and Mohan D (2018) Beyond the Walls: An Evaluation of a Pre-Release Planning (PReP) Programme for Sentenced Mentally Disordered Offenders. Front. Psychiatry 9:549. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00549 **Background:** Prison mental health services have tended to focus on improving the quality of care provided to mentally disordered offenders at the initial point of contact with the prison system and within the prison environment itself. When these individuals reach the end of their sentence and return to the community, there is an increased risk of morbidity, mortality, homelessness and re-imprisonment. New models of care have been developed to minimize these risks.

Objectives: The objective of this project was to establish a Pre-Release Planning (PReP) Programme with social work expertise, to enhance interagency collaboration and improve continuity of care for mentally disordered offenders upon their release. We aimed to evaluate the first 2 years of the programme by measuring its success at improving the level of mental health support and the security and quality of accommodation achieved by participants upon release in comparison to that reported at time of imprisonment. Additionally, we aimed to explore the impact of these outcomes on rates of re-imprisonment.

Methods: A process of participatory action research was used to develop and evaluate the first 2 years of the programme. This was a naturalistic prospective observational whole cohort study.

Results: The PReP Programme supported 43 mentally disordered offenders, representing 13.7%, (43/313) of all new assessments by the prison's inreach mental health service during the 2 years study period. When compared with that reported at time of reception at the prison, gains were achieved in level of mental health support (FET p < 0.001) and security and quality of accommodation (FET p < 0.001) upon release. Of those participants seen by the PReP Programme, 20 (46.5%, 20/43) were returned to prison during the 2-years study period. There was no significant relationship between re-imprisonment and gains made in mental health support (FET p = 0.23) or accommodation (FET p = 0.23).

Conclusions: We have shown that compared to that reported at time of reception at prison, the level of mental health support and the security of tenure and quality of accommodation both improved upon release following the intervention of the programme. Improved mental health support and accommodation were not associated with lower rates of re-imprisonment.

Keywords: prison, mental health, homeless, continuity of care, transition, participatory action research

INTRODUCTION

Prevalence rates for severe and enduring mental illnesses are significantly higher among sentenced prisoners than their peers in the general population (1-3). Mentally disordered offenders tend to have more complex health and social needs than non-mentally disordered offenders (4, 5).

Over the last decade, our service has developed a number of initiatives aimed at addressing the needs of mentally disordered offenders in remand (6, 7) and sentenced (8) prisons. These projects have been successful in improving the quality of care provided to these individuals at the initial point of contact with the prison system and within the prison environment itself.

The immediate post-release period however, is a time which poses increased risks for all prisoners, but especially those with a history of mental illness (9), including an increased risk of morbidity, mortality and homelessness (10–12). Moreover, in the context of the current homeless and housing crisis (13, 14) this vulnerable group are likely to be further marginalized and exposed to these adverse outcomes. Rates of re-imprisonment are high for all offenders both in Ireland (15) and worldwide (16). In relation to those offenders with a mental illness, rates of re-imprisonment are increased when compared with non-mentally disordered offenders (17).

When prisoners near the end of their sentence, a number of potential supports are available to them both internal and external to the prison. These are provided by the criminal justice and public health systems, as well as non-governmental organizations and the person's family network. These supports however, are typically fragmented and independent of one another, risking the individual falling through the gaps between services upon their release (18).

The World Health Organization has outlined a framework for patient-centered, integrated healthcare provision (19). This model emphasizes the need for collaboration between agencies and disciplines to improve patient outcomes and experiences, particularly for those with complex needs. These principles have been embedded in healthcare policy across the UK (20) and Ireland (21). Despite their complex healthcare needs, programmes for prison populations are conspicuous by their absence in these clinical strategies. It has been suggested that enhanced coordination between medical and mental health

teams, and early identification of needs prior to release, can promote involvement of community based supports and assist in achieving continuity of care (22-24). These recommendations are echoed in Human Rights legislation. Of particular relevance is Rule 107 of the United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (The Nelson Mandela Rules), which highlights the importance of maintaining or establishing "relations with persons or agencies outside the prison as may promote the prisoner's rehabilitation" (25). However, efforts to establish and maintain relations with "persons or agencies outside the prison" can be challenging. The double stigma of being mentally ill and a convicted offender, along with high rates of substance misuse and homelessness (5, 26), can act as barriers to engagement with community based healthcare. It could also be argued that due to the complex social needs of mentally disordered offenders, that coordination of robust and holistic care plans should routinely be incorporated into prison inreach mental health services (27).

Various models have been proposed to overcome these challenges, most of which involve case management in the preand post- release periods for varying amounts of time (24). Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) has been utilized to provide intensive case management for up to 1 year in the postrelease period (28). This intervention tends to be expensive and therefore more time limited approaches have been developed. Mckenna et al. have shown that a time limited intervention in the pre-release period based on the principles of ACT can improve engagement with community mental health services in the post-release period (29).

Critical Time Intervention (CTI) is a holistic approach to case management in the pre- and post-release period, which has demonstrated benefits in assisting mentally disordered offenders to engage with healthcare supports in the post-release period (22, 30, 31). CTI case managers aim to establish effective and trusting relationships with service users prior to their release from an institution in order to identify and ameliorate potential barriers to community reintegration (32, 33). Thereafter, they provide a time-limited period of support in the post-release period to help achieve transfer of care. In a randomized control trial of CTI within a prison setting, Jarrett et al. reported that the majority of the case manager's work in establishing support systems was performed within the prison, prior to the prisoner's release. Jarrett et al. also suggested that social workers may be best placed to fulfill the role of case manager due to the complex social problems faced by these individuals and the knowledge of local services and agencies needed to engage community supports (22).

Abbreviations: PReP, pre-release planning; CMHT, community mental health team; GP, general practitioner; CTI, critical time intervention; ACT, assertive community treatment.

The objective of this project was to establish a new Pre-Release Planning (PReP) programme involving case management by mental health social workers, to enhance interagency collaboration and improve continuity of care for sentenced mentally disordered offenders as they transition from prison to the community.

We aimed to evaluate the first 2 years of the PReP Programme by measuring its success at improving health and social outcomes for released mentally disordered offenders. In particular we aimed to explore for gains achieved in the level of mental health support and the security and quality of accommodation achieved by participants upon release in comparison to that reported at time of imprisonment. Finally, we aimed to explore the impact of these outcomes on rates of re-imprisonment.

METHODS

Setting

This study took place in Ireland's oldest penal institution, Mountjoy Prison, which was opened in 1850. Mountjoy Prison is a closed, medium secure prison for adult males, and is the main committal prison for sentenced prisoners in Dublin city and county. It has capacity for 630 prisoners. The prison complex consists of the main prison, a training unit and a 10-bed High Support Unit (8).

Study Design

A process of participatory action research was chosen to design and develop the PReP Programme. Action research is described as a process involving a spiral of steps, each of which is composed of a cycle of planning, action and critical reflection (34). This process can result in organizational change and development. The authors have previously used this method to develop prison inreach mental health services (7, 8).

The initial "planning" step involved a literature review and was followed by an iterative process of identifying and consulting stakeholders then drafting and re-drafting the new model of care until there was sufficient support for the change process to proceed. Stakeholders included managers from the National Forensic Mental Health Service (a specialist tertiary mental health service funded and managed by the state health service), the Irish Prison Service, Probation Services, community based homeless support agencies, service users (prisoners availing of the support of the existing prison inreach mental health service) and their families. This series of stakeholder meetings and consultations led to the interactive development of a protocol for case finding and engagement, multi-agency liaison and interventions including the need for an integrated approach to release planning for mentally disordered offenders. Given the complex mental health and social needs of these individuals, social work expertise was identified as a vital, yet missing component of the exisiting inreach mental health service.

Subsequently, in March 2015, a social worker was redeployed from inpatient services at the National Forensic Mental Health Service, and the PReP Programme was established. A second social worker was added in November 2015 providing a 1.5 full time equivalent resource. Although case management was led by social workers, the PReP programme was supplemented by other members of the existing Mountjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service, which included two full time community forensic mental health nurses, a visiting consultant forensic psychiatrist, and 1–2 visiting psychiatric trainees.

This was a naturalistic prospective observational whole cohort study. The intervention of the programme was provided to all individuals on the inreach mental health service caseload within 12 months of their earliest date of release. Since its inception, the key interventions of the programme have evolved based upon feedback received from service users and family members at prerelease planning (PReP) meetings held prior to an individual's release. In addition stakeholders were afforded the opportunity to participate in critical reflection at weekly multiagency meetings.

Interventions of the PReP Programme:

1. Establishing trusting professional relationships with mentally disordered offenders in the pre-release period.

2. Liaison with mental health and other support agencies— Establishing or maintaining relationships with community based mental health teams and other support agencies including: general practitioners, addiction services, intellectual disability services, accommodation providers, homeless support agencies and vocational programmes.

3. Advocacy—Addressing queries and concerns raised by community based mental health teams and other support agencies. In addition the programme advocated on behalf of participants to ensure social welfare payments and medical payment schemes were in place upon their release.

4. Family support—Providing information regarding diagnosis, treatment needs and relapse prevention. Exploring risks concerning the person on their return to the community including child protection issues and suitability of accommodation. This was of particular relevance for participants who planned to live with a family member on their release.

5. Release planning—Coordinating robust, holistic care plans prior to the person's release from custody. In most cases release plans were informed by multiagency, multidisciplinary pre-release planning (PReP) meetings held within 1 month of the person's release from prison. Figure 1 displays examples of the various stakeholders invited to attend PReP meetings. There was no statutory requirement for any stakeholder to attend pre-release meetings. Written release plans containing details of all relevant supports, contact details of key persons in the community, and accommodation arrangements were provided to all participants supported by the programme.

6. Post-release support—Providing time limited telephone support for service users, family members and receiving services, to ensure adequate handover and aid transition of care.

7. Service evaluation through data collection and analysis.

Referral Process and Participants

During the study period, referrals to the Moutjoy Inreach Mental Health Service were received through multiple sources.



Upon reception at the prison, all newly received prisoners were screened by prison general nursing staff for a history of mental illness, active signs of mental illness and risk of harm to self or others. If a need for increased levels of observation was identified, the prisoner could be placed directly in the high support unit. In the event of a prisoner being placed in the high support unit, members of the Moutjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service aimed to assess them on the following working day.

All new committals were assessed by a prison general practitioner (GP) within 24 h of reception, and a referral generated to the Moutjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service if deemed necessary. Referrals were also received from other sentenced or remand prisons in the event of a prisoner with identified mental health needs being transferred to Moutjoy Prison.

Additionally, referrals of prisoners already allocated within the prison were received at weekly multiagency meetings chaired by the visiting consultant forensic psychiatrist and attended by the healthcare prison governor, the prison chief nurse officer, general prison nursing staff, probation services, prison psychology, prison general practitioner, and chaplaincy. Finally, family members and prisoners themselves also initiated referrals.

In the first instance all new referrals were assessed by the inreach mental health service's community forensic mental health nurses then triaged at weekly multi-agency meetings and appropriate follow up arranged.

As the PReP Programme social workers were an integral part of the Moutjoy Inreach Mental Health Service no formal referral was required. They engaged with any patient on the inreach team's caseload within 12 months of their earliest date of release. Participants on the programme were all those individuals on the Moutjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service caseload who were released to the community within the 2 years study period from 1st March 2015 to 28th February 2017.

Variables, Data Sources and Measurements

For all participants demographic and clinical information was routinely collected by members of the PReP Programme based on assessment and information gathered from electronic prison medical records and collateral sources. Binary measures were used when possible to aid with data analysis. Variables included age, nationality, offense type, homeless status, accommodation at time of reception to the prison, prior engagement with community mental health teams, lifetime history of self-harm, lifetime history of polysubstance abuse, lifetime history of psychosis, active psychosis at time of first assessment and ICD-10 (35) diagnosis at time of release. Diagnoses were documented by the Mountjoy Inreach Mental Health Service and PReP Programme based on serial clinical interviews and review of past medical and psychiatric case records from prison and community sources. All diagnoses were validated by a Consultant Forensic Psychiatrist.

Offense type related to the most serious index offense on reception at the prison and was classified as violent or nonviolent. A violent offense was defined as an act of physical violence on a person and included homicide, assault, robbery, aggravated burglary, contact sexual offenses, false imprisonment, driving offenses involving injury to others and arson where there was a possibility of injury to others.

Homelessness was defined as rough sleeping or residence in homeless shelters reported at the time of committal. Rough sleeping was defined as sleeping outside on the street or in other open spaces. Those individuals staying with family or friends, or in long term placements were not included in the definition of homelessness for the purposes of this study. More detailed information about the security of tenure and quality of accommodation at time of reception and upon release was also captured.

Regarding outcome measures, the mental health/healthcare support and accommodation achieved on day of release was recorded. This information was gathered from interviews, collateral sources, electronic prison medical records and correspondence with receiving community based supports. In order to explore whether or not gains had been achieved following the intervention of the PReP Programme, in terms of level of mental health support and security of tenure and quality of accommodation, these outcomes were compared before and after the period of imprisonment. If a participant of the programme was re-imprisoned within the 2 years study period this was identified and recorded.

The DUNDRUM Toolkit (36) was used to assess the risk-appropriateness (whether transfer to a particular level of therapeutic security is necessary) of the mental health outcomes achieved upon release. DUNDRUM-1 (37) assesses level of security required. The DUNDRUM-2 (38) rates urgency of need for admission. The sum score of the DUNDRUM-1 is divided by the number of items to provide a mean score which is always between zero and four. A mean DUNDRUM-1 score >3 would guide a need for high therapeutic security, between 2 and 3 would guide toward medium therapeutic security and between 1 and 2 would guide toward acute low therapeutic security, often referred to as Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit. Scores lower than one indicate an open hospital ward or community setting would be appropriate. These scores are not binding but assist the clinical decision maker for individual cases. The mean scores for groups are useful guides to the appropriateness of patient placement from a risk-need appropriateness perspective to ensure proportionality and safety. The DUNDRUM-1 and DUNDRUM-2 have previously been used for this purpose in a remand prison setting (7).

DUNDRUM-1 and DUNDRUM-2 mean scores were calculated by members of the Moutjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service for all participants in the week prior to their release from custody.

Ethical Approval

The study protocol was approved by the National Forensic Mental Health Service Research, Audit, Ethics and Effectiveness Committee and by the Irish Prison Service Research Ethics Committee as a service evaluation project (39). In accordance with internationally recognized ethical principles, service evaluation studies do not require signed informed individual consent for all patients assessed and participating. Service evaluation is an ethical obligation in order to ensure appropriate use of resources, appropriate quality and standards for patients and continuous learning at the systems level. All patients therefore benefit. Nonetheless all participants gave written informed consent to participate in the programme. No randomization procedure was used for allocation to the PReP Programme. All data collected were anonymized and no individual patient data have been presented.

Data Analysis

Anonymized data were analyzed using IBM SPSS version 24. We used Chi-square tests to explore the relationship between categorical variables. A Fisher Exact test was used when there was an expected count of <5 in any of the groups. We used *t*-tests to compare continuous variable means between two groups and a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) when comparing means between multiple groups.

RESULTS

Figure 2 displays the pathway from point of reception at the prison to mental health outcome on day of release for all 3,010 committals to Mountjoy Prison, from 1st March 2015 to 28th February 2017. Of these, 2,697 committals (89.6%, 2697/3010) were deemed not to require psychiatric assessment following screening of referrals by the Mountjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service. The remaining 313 (10.4%, 313/3010) committals were taken onto the caseload; 43 (13.7%, 43/313) of whom were subsequently supported by the PReP Programme as they were expected to be released within 12 months. This represented 40 individuals as one participant was imprisoned at Mountjoy Prison twice and another three times, during the study period.

For this group, the median duration from date of initial reception at any prison during the relevant committal episode to date of release was 516 days (N = 43, mean 672.9 days SD 772.0), and from date of committal to Mountjoy Prison to date of release was 259 days (N = 43, mean 534.6 days SD 722.7). The median duration from date of committal at Mountjoy Prison to date of first assessment by the Inreach Mental Health Service was 6 days (N = 43, mean 54.8 days SD 164.7). The median duration from



2001, Mental Health Act 2001.

date of committal at Mountjoy Prison to date of first assessment by the PReP Programme was 124.0 days (N = 43, mean 380.1 days SD 696.3). The median duration from date first seen by the PReP Programme to date of release was 123 days (N = 43, mean 154.4 days SD 149.2).

Mental health outcomes for the eight individuals on the caseload who were released before being seen by the PReP programme are also displayed in **Figure 2**. For this group the median duration from date of committal to Mountjoy Prison to date of first assessment by the Mountjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service was 2.5 days (N = 8, mean 3.9 days SD 4.5). These

individuals had a median duration in Mountjoy Prison of 5.5 days (mean 15.9 days SD 18.1). Despite spending only a brief period in Mountjoy Prison the majority (87.5%, 7/8) of this group were referred for healthcare follow up upon release by the inreach mental health service.

A pre-release planning (PReP) meeting was convened prior to release for 32 of those availing of the support of the programme (74.4%, 32/43). Ten (31.3%, 10/32) of these meetings were attended by community mental health teams, 17 (53.1%, 17/32) were attended by a family member/spouse, and nine (28.1%, 9/32) were attended by the patient themselves.

A meeting was not convened for the remaining 11 committals for the following reasons: a release plan had already been agreed by all parties (N = 7); the patient was unexpectedly released (N =2); no severe mental illness (defined as major depressive disorder, hypomania, bipolar disorder and/or any form of psychosis including schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder and any other non-affective, non-organic psychosis) was identified following serial assessments by the team (N = 2). The mental health outcomes for these 11 patients are shown in **Figure 2**. Ten of these individuals had healthcare support arranged on the day of their release despite no formal meeting having been held. No healthcare input was arranged for the remaining individual as they were found not to meet criteria for a severe mental illness.

All 43 committals seen by the PreP Programme were issued with a written release plan, the contents of which are described in the methods section of this article. In the event of healthcare follow up being arranged a written release plan was also forwarded to the receiving healthcare provider.

Case Description

Demographic, legal and clinical characteristics for those who availed of the support of the PReP Programme (N = 43) and those who did not (N = 8) are displayed in **Table 1**. Participants and non-participants did no differ significantly in relation to age, nationality, homeless status at time of reception or clinical variables. Participants however, were more likely to have been charged with a violent offense, to have been transferred from another prison and to have had a previous admission to a secure forensic psychiatric hospital.

Demographics

Of the 43 committals seen by the PReP Programme, all were male, and 41 (95.3%, 41/43) identified themselves as Irish, with the remaining two individuals identifying as Non-Irish Europeans. The mean age at time of first assessment by the Mountjoy Prison Inreach Mental Health Service was 36 years (SD 8.0, range 21–63).

Offense Type

Regarding the nature of the most serious index offense, of those seen by the PReP Programme 48.8% (21/43) were charged with a violent offense, that is one involving physical violence to another person. The remaining 51.2% (22/43) were charged with non-violent offenses. Thirty-one (31/43, 72.1%) of those supported by the PReP Programme were transferred from another remand or sentenced prison to Mountjoy Prison. Two were re-patriated from prisons abroad.

Contact With Children and Child Protection Issues

Sixteen of the 43 committals seen by the PReP Programme reported having children. Of these, 14.0% (6/43) reported that they had contact with their children prior to reception at prison.

 TABLE 1 | Comparison of demographic, legal and clinical characteristics of participants and non-participants of the PReP Programme.

	Participants (N = 43)		Non-Participants (<i>N</i> = 8)		Statistical test of difference	<i>p</i> -value
	N (%)	Mean (SD)	N (%)	Mean (SD)		
Age		35.67 (8.02)		32.88 (7.75)	<i>t</i> = 0.91	0.37
NATIONAL	.ITY					
Irish	41 (95)		6 (75)		FET	0.11
Non-Irish	2 (5)		2 (25)			
HOMELES	S ON RE	CEPTION				
Yes	21 (49)		2 (25)		FET	0.27
No	22 (51)		6 (75)			
OFFENSE	TYPE					
Violent	22 (51)		0 (100)		FET	0.02
Non-violent	21 (49)		8 (0)			
TRANSFE	RRED FR		R PRISC	N		
Yes	31 (72)		0 (0)		FET	<0.001
No	12 (28)		8 (100)			
PREVIOUS		SION TO SEC	URE HO	SPITAL		
Yes	18 (42)		0 (0)		FET	0.04
No	25 (58)		8 (100)			
PSYCHOT	IC AT FIF	RST ASSESS	MENT			
Yes	16 (37)		5 (62)		FET	0.25
No	27 (63)		3 (38)			
LIFETIME	PSYCHO	SIS				
Yes	33 (77)		6 (75)		FET	1.00
No	10 (23)		2 (25)			
HISTORY	OF PSA					
Yes	39 (91)		7 (88)		FET	1.00
No	4 (9)		1 (12)			
HISTORY	OF SELF	-HARM				
Yes	26 (60)		4 (50)		FET	0.70
No	17 (40)		4 (50)			
PREVIOUS	CONTA	ст with см	НТ			
Yes	30 (70)		7 (88)			0.42
No	13 (30)		1 (12)		FET	

PSA, polysubstance abuse; CMHT, Community Mental Health Team; FET, Fisher's exact test.

As a result of concerns regarding risk posed to children in the event of release, a total of seven referrals were made to Tusla, Ireland's Child and Family Agency, by members of the PReP Programme in keeping with their obligations under Ireland's child protection legislation.

CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS

Primary ICD-10 Diagnoses, Active and Lifetime Psychosis

Table 2 displays the primary ICD-10 diagnosis at the time of release for all those seen by the PReP Programme. Almost two thirds of those seen had primary ICD-10 diagnoses of Schizophrenia, Schizotypal and Delusional Disorders (58.1%, 25/43) or Bipolar Affective Disorder (2.3%, 1/43). An additional 16.3% (7/43) had a primary diagnosis of a drug induced psychotic episode. At the time of initial assessment by the Mountjoy Prison

Inreach Mental Health Service, 37.2% (16/43) of those seen following screening and referral were assessed as being actively psychotic. Based on information from interview and collateral sources, just over three quarters of individuals seen by the PReP Programme had a lifetime history of a psychotic illness (76.7%, 33/43).

Co-morbidity and Self-Harm History

Almost all individuals supported by the programme had a lifetime history of polysubstance abuse (90.7%, 39/43). Based upon collateral information, one quarter (25.6%, 11/43) had a co-morbid diagnosis of a personality disorder. Of all those seen, 60.5% (26/43) had a lifetime history of deliberate self-harm.

Previous Contact and Engagement With Community Mental Health Teams and Other Healthcare Supports

The majority of those seen by the PReP Programme (69.8%, 30/43) reported prior contact with a community mental health team at some point before their reception at the prison. Eighteen individuals (41.9%, 18/43) had previously been admitted to the Central Mental Hospital, the Republic of Ireland's only secure forensic hospital.

Regarding level of engagement with mental health supports prior to reception, 14 (32.6%, 14/43) had no contact with any mental health supports; six (14.0%, 6/43) were attending a general practitioner alone; 20 (47%, 20/43) were attending outpatient services (community mental health team, addiction services or intellectual disability services), one was in hospital (2.3%, 1/43)

TABLE 2 Primary ICD-10 diagnosis at time of release for all those seen by the	
PReP Programme ($N = 43$).	

	Primary ICD-10 diagnosis	N	%
F00-09	Organic disorders	1	2.3
	- Alcohol related dementia		
F10-19	Substance use disorder		
	- Drug induced psychosis	7	16.3
	- Polysubstance abuse only	1	2.3
F20-29	Schizophreniform disorders		
	- Schizophrenia	18	41.9
	- Schizoaffective disorder	5	11.6
	- Delusional disorder	2	4.7
F30-39	Mood disorder		
	- Manic episode	1	2.3
	- Depressive episode	3	7.0
F60-69	Personality disorder		
	- Emotionally unstable personality disorder	3	7.0
F70-79	Mild intellectual disability	2	4.7
	Total	43	100

ICD-10, International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision.

and two had been repatriated from international prisons (4.7%, 2/43).

Regarding compliance with prescribed psychiatric medications, of the 25 (58.1%, 25/43) committals prescribed such treatment prior to their imprisonment, 14 reported being fully compliant (56.0%, 14/25), seven (28.0%, 7/25) reported being partially compliant and four reported being non-compliant (16.0%, 4/25).

Outcomes Following the Intervention of the PReP Programme:

1. Mental health outcomes:

Mental health supports arranged on day of release for all those seen by the PReP Programme are displayed in **Figure 2**.

Of the 43 committals seen by the programme, 35 (81.4%, 35/43) were referred for community mental health team follow up upon release, of which 82.9% (29/35) were accepted. Fifteen (51.7%%, 15/29) of these accepted referrals, were initially declined. In these cases further efforts were made by the PReP Programme to liaise with the receiving service to address their concerns so that the referral process could be completed.

Table 3 displays a comparison between the level of healthcare support at time of reception at prison compared with that arranged on day of release following the intervention of the PReP Programme. A Fisher Exact Test indicated that the level of mental health support significantly improved upon release from prison, following the intervention of the programme (FET p < 0.001).

Regarding post-release engagement with arranged mental health supports, the PReP Programme confirmed that 89.7% of those accepted by community mental health teams (26/29) attended their first appointment in the post-release period. Of these, 27.6% (8/29) were admitted involuntarily to a general psychiatric hospital under the Mental Health Act 2001.

Receiving mental health services were then contacted in the post-release period to confirm if the referred individual remained engaged following attendance at their first appointment. The median duration of post-release follow up was 20.5 days (mean 61.31 days, SD 104.09). At time of

TABLE 3 Comparison of level of healthcare support at time of reception to prison with that on day of release, following the intervention of the PReP Programme (N = 43).

			Healthcare suppo	ort		Total
	None	GP	Outpatient services (CMHT, Addiction services, ID services)	Prison	Hospital	
Prior to reception at prison (N)	14	6	20	2	1	43
On day of release (N)	2	11	22	0	8	43

CMHT, Community Mental Health Team; ID, intellectual disability; GP, general practitioner.

follow up, 20 individuals (76.9%, 20/26) remained engaged with community mental health teams, of whom four were inpatients, and none had returned to prison.

Risk-appropriateness of arranged mental health supports:

Mean DUNDRUM-1 triage security and DUNDRUM-2 triage urgency scores for those seen by the PReP Programme (N = 43) released to community inpatient (N = 8), outpatient services (community mental health team, addiction services, intellectual disability services) (N = 22), general practitioner (N = 11) and no healthcare follow up (N = 2) are summarized in **Table 4**.

Mean DUNDRUM-1 triage security scores (ANOVA F = 1.99, between groups df = 3, within groups df = 39, p = 0.13) and DUNDRUM-2 triage urgency scores (ANOVA F = 1.87, between groups df = 3, within groups df = 39, p = 0.15), although not significant, tended to be higher for those transferred to higher levels of mental health support.

2. Accommodation outcomes:

Twenty one (48.8%, 21/43) committals seen by the PReP Programme were homeless at the time of their reception to prison. This included five (23.8%, 5/21) who reported rough sleeping, 13 (61.9%, 13/21) who reported staying in emergency "night to night" homeless shelters and two (9.5%, 2/21) who reported staying in short term, "week to week" homeless shelters. The remaining individual (4.8%, 1/21) was an inpatient in a general psychiatric hospital prior to reception at prison, but had no regular accommodation before this and reported staying in emergency homeless shelters. Twenty-one participants (48.8%, 21/43) continued to meet the definition of homelessness at the time of release. No individuals were released to rough sleeping.

Table 5 displays a comparison between accommodation at time of reception at prison compared with that achieved on day of release following the intervention of the PReP Programme. A Fisher Exact Test indicated that the security of

TABLE 4 | Risk-appropriateness of mental health outcomes for all those seen by PReP Programme (N = 43).

	N (%)	D-1 tria security s	•	D-2 tria urgency s	•
		Mean (SD)	95% CI	Mean (SD)	95% CI
Psychiatric admission	8 (19)	2.11 (0.60)	1.61–2.62	2.05 (0.71)	1.46–2.64
Outpatient Services (CMHT, Addiction services, ID services)	22 (51)	1.64 (0.84)	1.27–2.01	1.45 (1.00)	1.01–1.89
GP	11 (25)	1.54 (0.80)	1.00-2.07	1.32 (1.16)	0.54–2.10
No healthcare follow-up	2 (5)	0.70 (0.57)	-4.38-5.78	0.35 (0.21)	-1.56-2.26

D-1, DUNDRUM-1; D-2, DUNDRUM-2; SD, standard deviation; 95% CI, 95% confidence interval; CMHT, Community Mental Health Team; ID, intellectual disability; GP, general practitioner.

tenure and quality of accommodation significantly improved upon release from prison following the intervention of the PReP Programme (FET p < 0.001).

3. Re-imprisonment:

Of those participants seen by the PReP Programme, 20 (46.5%, 20/43) were returned to prison during the 2-years study period. The median duration from date of release to end of the study period was 274.0 days (mean 314.0 days SD 185.9 days). Fifteen individuals (34.9%, 15/43) were under the supervision of probation services when initially released, 7 (46.7%, 7/15) of who were re-imprisoned during the 2-years study period.

Table 6 displays rates of re-imprisonment for all those supported by the PReP Programme according to the level of mental health support and accommodation achieved on day of release. There was no significant relationship between re-imprisonment and gains made in level of mental health support (FET p = 0.23) or accommodation (FET p = 0.23) following the support of the PReP Programme, however the duration of follow up was relatively short (median 274.0 days).

Secondary Analysis

For the reasons outlined above, eleven participants availed of the support of the PReP Programme but did not have a pre-release planning (PReP) meeting prior to their release. A secondary analysis was performed to explore if a meeting was associated with any difference in outcome measures. There was no significant difference found between those who had a meeting (N = 32) and those who did not (N = 11) in relation to mental health outcomes (FET p = 0.24), security of tenure and quality of accommodation achieved upon release (FET p = 0.74) and rates of re-imprisonment ($X^2 = 0.38$, df = 2, p = 0.72).

DISCUSSION

We have followed a participatory action research design to introduce a new service for mentally disordered offenders as they transition from prison to the community. We have completed an evaluation of the first 2 years of the project to examine whether the goals of the service were achieved. In particular whether those referred to the PReP Programme had improved levels of mental health support and improved security of tenure and quality of accommodation upon their release in comparison to that reported at time of imprisonment. During the period of this study, there were no other major changes in the organization, management or delivery of prison in-reach services nor was there any major change in the organization, management or delivery of prison and criminal justice services.

Summary of Findings

We have shown that compared to that reported at time of imprisonment, the level of mental health support and the security of tenure and quality of accommodation both improved following the intervention of the PReP Programme. In the absence of a control group we cannot show that the PReP programme caused this effect, but we believe this is so. Higher levels of mental health support and improved accommodation were not associated with lower rates of re-imprisonment within

TABLE 5 Comparison of accommodation at time of reception to prison with that on day of release, following the intervention of the PReP Programme (N =	≥ (N = 43).
---	-------------

	Accommodation					
	Rough sleeping	Emergency/Short term hostel	Long term hostel, secure tenancy, living with family	Hospital	Prison	
Prior to reception at prison (N)	5	15	20	1	2	43
On day of release (N)	0	16	19	8	0	43

Emergency Hostel Accommodation, in a homeless shelter booked on a nightly basis; Short Term Hostel, accommodation in a homeless shelter booked on a weekly basis; Long Term Hostel, accommodation in a homeless shelter booked for 6 months or longer; Secure Tenancy, private rented accommodation or own home.

TABLE 6 | Impact of level of mental health support and accommodation outcomes on rates of re-imprisonment, following the intervention of the PReP Programme (N = 43).

Re-imprisoned?	Healthcare support on day of release				
	None	GP	Outpatient Services (CMHT, Addiction services, ID Services)	Involuntary Hospital admission under MHA 2001	
Yes (N)	2	4	12	2	20
No (<i>N</i>)	0	7	10	6	23
		A	ccommodation on day of release		
	Rough sleeping	Emergency/ short term hostel	Long term hostel, secure tenancy, living with family	Involuntary hospital admission under MHA 2001	
Yes (N)	0	10	8	2	20
No (N)	0	6	11	6	23

MHA 2001, Mental Health Act 2001; CMHT, Community Mental Health Team; ID, intellectual disability; GP, general practitioner.

the 2 years study period however the follow up period was relatively short. We were not able to further analyse relationships between variables and outcomes owing to lack of statistical power.

Strengths and Limitations

This project, the first of its kind in Ireland, embodies the principles of integrated and multidisciplinary healthcare provision. Post-release mental health and accommodation outcomes were mapped for all those seen by the PReP programme. Healthcare outcomes were also mapped and presented for eight patients on the inreach mental health team's caseload who were released prior to availing of the support of the PReP programme.

Prior to the development of the PReP Programme, release planning in the prison studied was performed by a medically focused inreach mental health service comprised of doctors and nurses. The addition of mental health social work expertise enhanced the ability of the team to develop robust release plans in collaboration with community based supports. As suggested by Jarrett et al. (22) social workers might be best placed to coordinate such care plans given their knowledge of local services and support agencies. The social workers of the Pre-Release Planning (PReP) Programme were based within the prison as part of the inreach mental health team. This allowed them to build trusting relationships with mentally disordered offenders in the pre-release period. Practical supports offered by the programme, including liaison with family members and assistance in accessing accommodation and social welfare may have acted as incentives for engagement before and after release. This may have been reflected by the high rates of engagement with arranged mental health appointments immediately after release (89.7%, 26/29).

The main focus of the programme was to improve prerelease planning and manage transfer of care to community based supports. Social workers from the programme subsequently offered time limited telephone support to service users, family members and receiving services. This correspondence revealed that the majority of those receiving mental health follow up from community mental health services remained engaged at a median duration of 3 weeks following their release (76.9%, 20/26). Unlike Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) and Critical Time Intervention (CTI), the programme did not provide case management in the post-release period. Although this may be viewed as a limitation of the PReP Programme, previous studies (22, 29, 40) and a recent systematic review (24), have highlighted the importance of pre-release planning in any intervention to aid the transition for mentally disordered offenders. We acknowledge that the less intense follow up provided by our programme results in difficulty determining the quality of engagement with mental health and other supports in the postrelease period. Future projects will focus on assessing whether or not the achievements of the PReP programme translate into long term sustained improvements in engagement with mental health supports, accommodation and legal outcomes.

Homelessness is one of the greatest challenges facing released prisoners (23) and may act as an impediment to engaging with healthcare supports (41). These individuals may be further marginalized losing out on available accommodation to family's and non-mentally ill persons experiencing homelessness. Although rates of broadly defined homelessness were not reduced following the intervention of the programme (N = 21 on reception vs. N = 21 on day of release), there was evidence of improvements in the security of tenure and quality of accommodation obtained upon release. Moreover, the fact that more individuals were not released to homelessness may represent an improved outcome, given that previous studies have highlighted an increased risk of homelessness and unstable housing upon release from prison (42). Despite improvements in both the level of healthcare support and accommodation achieved following imprisonment and the intervention of the PReP Programme, 46.5% (20/43) of those supported by the intervention were re-imprisoned within the 2 years study period. Although disappointing, this rate of re-imprisonment is consistent with that reported for general prison populations in our jurisdiction (15). Gains made in healthcare and accommodation outcomes were not associated with reduced rates of re-imprisonment during a relatively short follow up period. This finding may not be surprising as a number of more intensive post-release case management models have found an association with increased rates of re-imprisonment through the increased level of monitoring provided by these interventions in the post-release period (24). Regrettably, information was not available regarding the status of participant's mental illness and level of engagement with community mental health supports at the time of reimprisonment.

A process of participatory action research was used to design, develop and evaluate the PReP programme. This design meant that the programme could be implemented without delay following the identification of a need by stakeholders within the prison. Although this creates practical advantages for service development, it may result in difficulty identifying the specific variables associated with achieved outcomes.

At the planning stage of the project, a multidisciplinary, multiagency pre-release planning (PReP) meeting was envisaged to be a central component of the intervention provided by the PReP Programme. Despite this not all of those supported by the programme had a pre-release planning meeting. We have outlined reasons why meetings were not convened for eleven of the forty-three participants. We also performed a secondary analysis to explore if a meeting was associated with improved outcomes and found that it was not. We believe this is an interesting observation. It implies that the networking and liaison work carried out by PReP team members is as effective as a meeting arranged in addition to that liaison work, at least from a quantitative, outcomes point of view. It remains possible that better qualitative outcomes and experiences would result from the addition of a meeting as outlined in previous studies of this kind (40). This may be a focus of future research by our service.

In the event of a pre-release planning meeting being held, attendance by community mental health teams, families and service users was relatively poor. In Ireland, as in many developed countries, there is no statutory requirement for any agency to attend pre-release planning meetings. Unfortunately community mental health teams were often unable to attend due to scheduling problems and on occasion due to reluctance to accept the individual until late in the prisoner's sentence. Despite having the support of prison authorities it often proved difficult to transfer prisoners from their location in the prison to the site of pre-release planning meetings. This occurred mainly due to prison officer shortages or because the prisoner was too unwell to attend.

All mentally disordered offenders on the inreach mental health services' caseload released within the period studied were eligible for support by the programme. This inclusive approach did not permit the creation of a comparable control group, which would have allowed for more rigorous analysis regarding the effectiveness of the intervention. Additionally, the service has been operational for 2 years, therefore we were not able to further analyse relationships between variables and outcomes owing to a lack of statistical power. Also, the inclusive and real-world nature of this project resulted in some participants availing of the support of the programme despite not meeting criteria for a mental illness at the time of release.

This project was set in an all male sentenced prison and its findings may not be transferable to female prison populations. Future plans by our service include the establishment of a similar social work-led PReP Programmes in a number of Ireland's other sentenced prisons, including its main female prison.

CONCLUSIONS

We have shown that compared to that reported at time of imprisonment, the level of mental health support and the security of tenure and quality of accommodation both improved at time of release, following the intervention of the PReP Programme. Higher levels of mental health support and improved accommodation were not associated with lower rates of re-imprisonment within the 2 years study period.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DS completed the first and revised drafts of the manuscript, which were then edited by SHa, AF, SHe,

NQ, CC, DM and HK who also assisted with data analysis. The intervention was designed and developed by DM, SHa, AF, SHe and PG, with assistance from all stakeholders including prisoners and their families. All authors contributed to the participatory action research process. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge and thank the clinical and custodial staff of Mountjoy Prison. In addition, we'd like to thank the prisoners, family members, prison services and community based support agencies that engaged with the Pre-Release Planning Programme.

REFERENCES

- Duffy D, Linehan S, Kennedy HG. Psychiatric morbidity in the male sentenced Irish prisons population. *Irish J Psychol Med.* (2006) 23:54–62. doi: 10.1017/S0790966700009587
- Curtin K, Monks S, Wright B, Duffy D, Linehan S, Kennedy HG. Psychiatric morbidity in male remanded and sentenced committals to Irish prisons. *Irish* J Psychol Med. (2014) 26:169–173. doi: 10.1017/S079096670000063X
- Fazel S, Seewald K. Severe mental illness in 33,588 prisoners worldwide: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2012) 200:364–73. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.096370
- Maden T. Psychiatric morbidity among prisoners in england and wales: Brit. J. Psychiatry (2000) 176:503–503. doi: 10.1192/bjp.176.5.503
- 5. Durcan G. From the Inside: Experiences of Prison Mental Health Care. Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health (2008).
- McInerney C, Davoren M, Flynn G, Mullins D, Fitzpatrick M, Caddow M, Caddow F, et al. Implementing a court diversion and liaison scheme in a remand prison by systematic screening of new receptions: a 6 year participatory action research study of 20,084 consecutive male remands. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2013) 7:18. doi: 10.1186/1752-4458-7-18
- O'Neill C, Smith D, Caddow M, Duffy F, Hickey P, Fitzpatrick M, et al. STRESS-testing clinical activity and outcomes for a combined prison in-reach and court liaison service: a 3-year observational study of 6177 consecutive male remands. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2016) 10:67. doi: 10.1186/s13033-016-0097-z
- Giblin Y, Kelly A, Kelly E, Kennedy HG, Mohan D. Reducing the use of seclusion for mental disorder in a prison: implementing a high support unit in a prison using participant action research. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2012) 6:2. doi: 10.1186/1752-4458-6-2
- Pratt D, Appleby L, Piper M, Webb R, Shaw J. Suicide in recently released prisoners: a case-control study. *Psychol Med.* (2009) 40:827–35. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709991048
- Pratt D, Piper M, Appleby L, Webb R, Shaw J. Suicide in recently released prisoners: a population-based cohort study. *Lancet* (2006) 368:119–23. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69002-8
- Farrell M, Marsden J. Acute risk of drug-related death among newly released prisoners in England and Wales. *Addiction* (2008) 103:251–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.02081.x
- Lennox C, Senior J, King C, Hassan L, Clayton R, Thornicroft G, Shaw J. The management of released prisoners with severe and enduring mental illness. *J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol.* (2012) 23:67–75. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2011.634921
- McMahon A. Homeless crisis. *Irish Times* (2017) Available online at: https:// www.irishtimes.com/news/social-affairs/homeless-crisis-nearly-9-000destitute-in-november-1.3333124
- Butler P. One in every 200 people in UK are homeless, according to Shelter. *The Guardian* (2017). Available online at: https://www.theguardian. com/society/2017/nov/08/one-in-every-200-people-in-uk-are-homelessaccording-to-shelter
- 15. Central Statistics Office. Prison Recidivism: 2008 Cohort. Dublin (2013).
- Fazel S, Wolf A. A systematic review of criminal recidivism rates worldwide: current difficulties and recommendations for best practice. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0130390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0130390
- Fazel S, Yu R. Psychotic disorders and repeat offending: systematic review and meta-analysis. Schizophr Bull. (2011) 37:800–10. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp135

- Till A, Exworthy T, Forrester A. Integration and offender mental health. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. (2014) 26:11–21. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2014.960440
- 19. World Health Organisation (WHO). Framework on Integrated, People-Centred Health Services (2016).
- 20. Department of Health UK. NHS Outcomes Framework 2016 to 2017 (2016).
- 21. Department of Health Ireland. Statement of Strategy 2016-2019 (2016).
- 22. Jarrett M, Thornicroft G, Forrester A, Harty M, Senior J, King C, et al. Continuity of care for recently released prisoners with mental illness: a pilot randomised controlled trial testing the feasibility of a critical time intervention. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2012) 21:187–93. doi: 10.1017/S2045796011000783
- Binswanger IA, Nowels C, Corsi KF, Long J, Booth RE, Kutner J, et al. From the prison door right to the sidewalk, everything went downhill a qualitative study of the health experiences of recently released inmates. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2011) 34:249–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2011.07.002
- Hopkin G, Evans-Lacko S, Forrester A, Shaw J, Thornicroft G. interventions at the transition from prison to the community for prisoners with mental illness: a systematic review. *Adm Policy Ment Health* (2018) 45:623–34. doi: 10.1007/s10488-018-0848-z
- 25. Assembly UG. UN General Assembly, United Nations Standard Minimum Rules for the Treatment of Prisoners (the Nelson Mandela Rules). (2016). Available online at: http://www.refworld.org/docid/5698a3a44.html
- Seymour M, Costello L. A Study of the Number, Profile and Progression Routes of Homeless Persons before the Court and in Custody. Research Report Commissioned by the Department of Justice, Equality and Law Reform. (2015).
- Fazel S, Hayes AJ, Bartellas K, Clerici M, Trestman R. Mental health of prisoners: prevalence, adverse outcomes, and interventions. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2016) 3:871–81. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30142-0
- Solomon P, Draine J. One-year outcomes of a randomized trial of case management with seriously mentally ill clients leaving jail. *Eval Rev.* (2016) 19:256–73. doi: 10.1177/0193841X9501900302
- 29. McKenna B, Skipworth J, Tapsell R, Madell D, Pillai K, Simpson A, et al. A prison mental health in-reach model informed by assertive community treatment principles: evaluation of its impact on planning during the prerelease period, community mental health service engagement and reoffending. *Criminal Behav Mental Health* (2015) 25:429–39. doi: 10.1002/cbm.1942
- Draine J, Herman DB. Critical time intervention for reentry from prison for persons with mental illness. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2007) 58:1577–81. doi: 10.1176/ps.2007.58.12.1577
- Shaw J, Conover S, Herman D, Jarrett M, Leese M, McCrone P, et al. Critical time Intervention for Severely mentally ill Prisoners (CrISP): a randomised controlled trial. *Health Serv Deliv Res.* (2017) 5:1–138. doi: 10.3310/hsdr05080
- Herman DB. transitional support for adults with severe mental illness: critical time intervention and its roots in assertive community treatment. *Res Social Work Pract.* (2014) 24:556–63. doi: 10.1177/1049731513510976
- Chen F-P, Ogden L. A Working relationship model that reduces homelessness among people with mental illness. *Qualitat Health Res.* (2011) 22:373–83. doi: 10.1177/1049732311421180
- Lewin K. Action research and minority problems. J Social Issues (1946) 2:34–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.1946.tb02295.x
- World Health Organisation (WHO). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision (ICD-10). Geneva (1992).
- Kennedy HG, O'Neill C, Flynn G, Gill P. Dangerousness Understanding, Recovery and Urgency Manual (The Dundrum Quartet). 1st ed. (2010). Available online at: http://www.tara.tcd.ie/bitstream/handle/2262/39131/

THE%20DUNDRUM%20TOOLKIT%20V1%200%2021%201304101.pdf? sequence=1&isAllowed=y

- Flynn G, O'Neill C, McInerney C, Kennedy HG. The Dundrum-1 structured professional judgment for triage to appropriate levels of therapeutic security: retrospective-cohort validation study. *BMC Psychiatry* (2011) 11:43. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-11-43
- Flynn G, O'Neill C, Kennedy HG. Dundrum-2: Prospective validation of a structured professional judgment instrument assessing priority for admission from the waiting list for a forensic mental health hospital. *BMC Res Notes* (2011) 4:230. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-4-230
- 39. NHS HRA. Defining Research (2013).
- Hancock N, Smith-Merry J, Mckenzie K. Facilitating people living with severe and persistent mental illness to transition from prison to community: a qualitative exploration of staff experiences. *Int J Mental Health Syst.* (2018) 12:361. doi: 10.1186/s13033-018-0225-z
- Tobin Tyler L, Brockmann B. Returning home: incarceration, reentry, stigma and the perpetuation of racial and socioeconomic health inequity. J Law Medicine Ethics. (2018) 45:545–57. doi: 10.1177/1073110517750595

42. Metraux Culhane DP. Homeless shelter S, use and reincarceration following prison release. Criminol Public Policy (2004)3:139-60. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9133.2004.tb0 0031.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Smith, Harnett, Flanagan, Hennessy, Gill, Quigley, Carey, McGhee, McManus, Kennedy, Kelly, Carey, Concannon, Kennedy and Mohan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Conflicting Priorities Between Risk Management and Treatment of Schizophrenia in Swiss Forensic Services—A Case Report

Sarah Steinau^{1,2*}, Nathalie Brackmann¹, Ulf Sternemann¹, Nikola Biller-Andorno² and Elmar Habermeyer¹

¹ Department of Forensic Psychiatry, University Hospital of Psychiatry, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Institute of Biomedical Ethics and Medical History, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

The Swiss Criminal Code provides measures for mentally-ill offenders focusing on their need for treatment. This may lead to the deprivation of the patient's liberty up to several years. Under certain circumstances the mentally-ill offender can be sentenced to an indefinite incarceration. This case presentation we will describe a forensic psychiatric patient diagnosed with schizophrenia who was ordered an indefinite incarceration in Switzerland after he had been sentenced to 8 years of imprisonment for a deliberate killing. Initial presentation of symptomatology included formal thought disorders and negative symptoms such as affective flattening and alogia. Due to a scarcity of adequate treatment sites in the 90s and lack of scope for risk assessment and management, the patient could only be treated within highly regiment prison environments in the past. There, the patient's treatment concept primarily focused on short-term psychiatric care instead of providing an adequate treatment plan that would have been essential for the patient's improvement of chronic symptoms. This case description aims to present some of the fundamental issues observed in the forensic mental health system, where strong efforts are made to balance risk management and the treatment of severe mental health disorders. We will put the patient's own course of treatment and his progress within the penal system into context with ethical challenges in the forensic and correctional services and will provide potential recommendations for future research in the field of forensic psychiatry.

Keywords: forensic psychiatry, deprivation of liberty, ethics, therapeutic measures, incarceration, correctional psychiatry

INTRODUCTION

The treatment of delinquent patients with schizophrenia is a challenging endeavor at the interface of the health and justice system (1). There is an increased risk for violent behavior in schizophrenic patients (2–4) requiring a secure treatment setting that neither psychiatric institutions nor prison environments could ensure in the past. This has led to significant changes within national treatment services in Switzerland, improving in-patient care for forensic psychiatric patients by allowing disorder-specific therapy of offenders in a high-secure setting (e.g., center for Forensic Psychiatry Rheinau).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Märta Wallinius, Lund University, Sweden Florian Steger, University of Ulm, Germany

> *Correspondence: Sarah Steinau sarah.steinau@uzh.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 September 2018 Accepted: 23 November 2018 Published: 06 December 2018

Citation:

Steinau S, Brackmann N, Sternemann U, Biller-Andorno N and Habermeyer E (2018) Conflicting Priorities Between Risk Management and Treatment of Schizophrenia in Swiss Forensic Services—A Case Report. Front. Psychiatry 9:680. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00680

52

In conformity with the Swiss Criminal Code (CC), an offender can be sentenced to a therapeutic measure by the Swiss court. This presupposes that the offender suffers from a mental health disorder associated with the committed felony and that further risks of such offenses can be prevented or reduced by the treatment itself [article 59 CC; (5)]. Release on parole, lasting between 2 and 5 years, can be ordered as soon as a decreased risk for violent or delinquent behavior at liberty is expected. After the expiry of the probationary period the offender is granted final release. If the treatment in accordance with article 59 [CC; (5)] does not promise significant treatment results and if the dangerousness of the mentally disordered offender is evaluated as too high a risk for others, an indefinite incarceration can be executed [article 64 CC; (5)], given that the offender carries a maximum sentence of 5 or more years. If during the execution of the indefinite incarceration the offender fulfills the requirements for an inpatient therapeutic measure, the sanction can be retrospectively modified and converted into a therapeutic measure [article 65 CC; (5)].

Here, we describe the case of a 56-year old forensic psychiatric patient who was initially sentenced to 8 years of imprisonment. On the basis of a severe schizophrenia and difficulties in the management of his security risk, he was sentenced to an indefinite incarceration in the 90s. After a duration of approximately 15 years, the patient's sanction was modified into an in-patient therapeutic measure according to article 59 [CC; (5)]. In this case presentation his course of treatment is analyzed and discussed. In addition, the patient's experiences within the penal system are put into context with ethical challenges within the forensic mental health system and prison environment.

CASE DESCRIPTION

With the verdict of a Swiss court in the late 1980s, the patient was sentenced to 8 years of imprisonment for a deliberate killing at the age of 26. Shortly after, his custodial sentence was partially suspended in order to take sufficient account of his culpability [article 43 CC; (5)]. According to a first forensic expert evaluation in 1989, the patient had been evaluated as impaired in terms of legal culpability due to a schizophrenic episode. Recommendations given included immediate in-patient treatment prior to the court trial.

After the patient had tried to escape multiple times and initial treatment attempts did not show any significant effects, the patient was ordered an indefinite imprisonment according to article 64 [CC; (5)], primarily for safeguarding purposes. This was accompanied by basic psychopharmacological and delinquency-oriented psychotherapeutic care.

In the late 2000s, the patient's sanction was modified [article 65 CC; (5)] and retrospectively converted into an in-patient therapeutic measure according to article 59 [CC; (5)] by the former court. Up to the conversion of the indefinite detention into a therapeutic measure, the patient had been receiving indefinite incarceration in various prison environments for more than 15 years. He was ordered another 8 years of sanction under

article 59 [CC; (5)] and eventually received conditional release status for a probationary period of 5 years, until 2020.

Diagnoses and Course of Treatment

Our patient had grown up under socio-economically beneficial conditions. He was described as a quiet and self-effacing child with an above-average intelligence. At the young age of nine, he intentionally raised fire; further smaller offenses included simple thefts. Around his early twenties, he prematurely terminated his apprenticeship in Switzerland, showing initial psychopathological symptoms of a schizophrenic prodrome. A few years later he was admitted to a psychiatric unit with depressive symptoms, anxiety and comorbid substance abuse, just days prior to the index offense. According to the forensic expert evaluation at the time of the trial, the patient presented formal thought disorders, such as poverty of speech, illogicality and neologism. Furthermore, he showed early signs of negative symptoms including asociality, alogia, and affective flattening. The patient was diagnosed with a paranoid schizophrenia (ICD-10 F20.0) according to the International Classification of Diseases [(6); corresponding to schizophrenia, paranoid type, DSM-IV-TR 295.30 (7)] and comorbid substance use disorder, particularly alcohol abuse (ICD-10 F10.1; DSM-IV-TR 305.00) and cannabis abuse (ICD-10 F12.1; DSM-IV-TR 305.20) prior to the offense. There were no signs of dependence and substances were successfully withdrawn when the patient was first sentenced to prison without any known drug relapse.

In the initial course of the mental illness, the patient presented himself malcompliant. He irregularly refused psychopharmacological treatment and tried to escape multiple times. It was not until some years later, that he adapted his behavior while at the same time showing a progressing chronification of the illness around 1995. The complex psychopathological symptomatology was then dominated by the patient's negative symptoms and a drug-induced parkinsonism. This consequently led to the patient's severely impaired mimic and gestural expressiveness, reduced and quiet speech, limited eye contact and a reduced psychosocial level of functioning. Hence, psychotherapeutic approaches and psychosocial treatment and support did only show limited success, leading to aggravated treatment conditions. After the implementation of the therapeutic measure according to article 59 [CC; (5)], the therapeutic approach solely included the patient's physical and psychiatric support as well as relief in the management of daily challenges. After having spent almost 30 years in prisons and psychiatric institutions for interventional purposes, the patient did not have any relevant social contacts or relationships. In 2018, he passed away at the age of 56 from the consequences of a severe physical condition.

Evaluation of Therapeutic Efficacy

Despite the administration of therapeutics, the course of treatment only showed partial success. Due to the side effects caused by the long-term intake of conventional antipsychotic agents, the patient was significantly hindered in coping with everyday challenges. Initial attempts to escape and the associated higher risk of violence led to the execution of an indefinite incarceration in 1990. Positive symptoms or malcompliance were no longer observed after 1995 and had been fully replaced with a negative symptomatology. This was interpreted in the context of the severe chronification of his mental illness with a poorer physical and mental state compared to the preceding years.

DISCUSSION

The present case describes a forensic psychiatric patient who spent almost 30 years under institutional control. The course of the indefinite incarceration and its subsequent conversion into an in-patient therapeutic measure was characterized and dominated by a severe chronic schizophrenia with a negative symptomatology and drug-induced parkinsonism. Due to his mental health disorder, the patient's character and behavior reflected the loss of normal functions such as losing interest, not being able to experience pleasure, and reduced social drive or action. Additionally, the patient was severely restricted in his movements due to extrapyramidal symptoms causing dyskinesia and symptoms similar to a Parkinson's syndrome.

In Switzerland, the court may sentence someone who committed a serious crime, such as murder, to indefinite incarceration [article 64 CC; (5)]. This sanction can be ordered, if the treatment of the offender is hardly accompanied by relevant success or if he is deemed untreatable. Another reason may be the protection of society from criminals with a high risk of relapse for further severe offenses. This poses noteworthy challenges to legal decision makers. Of utmost interest for the outlined case are the considerations pertaining to the dilemma of ensuring a suitable psychiatric and specialized treatment concept on the one hand while guaranteeing the safety of the public on the other hand. According to an early medical report by a psychiatric institution in 1993, the patient's case already then caused a "dilemma" to psychiatrists, because medical professionals recommended an in-patient treatment setting that could at that time not be implemented due to the suspected high risks. This resulted in the fact that our patient spent most of his past life years in correctional institutions, rather than receiving an adequate treatment concept in the management of a severe and chronic mental health disorder, such as schizophrenia. Thus instead of receiving a treatment according to the risk-need-responsivity model (8), the patient was merely incarcerated and only received little interventions that would have further reduced his risk to recidivate. This may have then allowed the patient to be released earlier or to be granted the opportunity for probation, respectively.

Although community and correctional facilities share similar mental health services, correctional settings tend to be more restrictive in terms of bureaucratic obstacles, to have less well instructed or trained employees and to show a slower execution of therapeutic steps in the management of a psychiatric crisis or psychotic episodes. Criminals sentenced under the aforementioned statute only receive scarce psychiatric care that does not focus on the treatment of the mental illness. It therefore remains unclear how continuous the treatment and intake of therapeutic antipsychotic agents was in the 1990s and how strong an effect it would have had on the patient's treatment course and outcome had it been administered in a professional clinical setting. Hence, a remitted psychopathological mental state may have led to a sooner release status due to adequate risk management. This could have prevented the patient from spending up to almost 30 years in the executional system of penal sentences and justice, compared to his initial sanction of 8 years of imprisonment.

These considerations lead to one of the fundamental problems that can be observed in forensic psychiatry, namely a scarcity of adequate treatment sites. The former lack of scope for managing the treatment of mentally ill and potentially violent offenders could only be combatted by falling back on prison environments. This "shifting" of delinquent patients with high treatment demands into regimented settings may have failed to prioritize effective mental health services. Prison environments bear defining difficulties for patients who may lack social competences and show deficient abilities to cope with the stresses of being imprisoned. Additionally, prison rules and regulations usually apply to all inmates equally, with treatment being subordinated to security procedures. Hence, the patient's treatment concept may only focus on the management of short-term psychiatric care in emergency situations, losing sight of long-term treatment outcomes within prison environments. In the patient's case his physical and psychopathological state in terms of a proceeded negative symptomatology should have generally led to an earlier relocation from the prison environment to an adequate psychiatric institution. If the patient had shown e.g., delusional symptoms or signs of verbal or physical aggression, one might have been more aware of his needs. Instead, the patient-due to his psychopathological symptoms such as psychomotor retardation and affective flattening-had shown a rather imperceptible behavior in contrast to other inmates that might have just not been perceived as a disturbing or "pathological" behavior. Hence, one of the reasons for the patient's long-lasting incarceration could be that he had simply been forgotten within the prison environments. Yet, personal data on experiences of mentally ill offenders in prisons are scarce and disadvantageous conditions only assumed, lacking the scientific information about what may generally and specifically matter to imprisoned patients dealing with mental health disorders.

Another ethical issue concerns whether or not our patient could really have been released earlier, reducing his deprived years of liberty. According to medical and legal documentation, the patient did not show any significant aggressive or impulsive behavior, especially after 1995. Then again, his mental health status was discussed to be an important key factor for not granting release. Additionally, the patient suffered from comorbid multiple substance abuse, affecting the threshold of aggression (9). Clearly, the patient's risk for relapse was high and so was the higher risk for associated violent behavior (10). Taking the manifestation of the patient's mental health disorder and the severity of his crime into account, this clearly shows how strongly the forensic mental health system suffers from balancing treatment on the one and security on the other hand. Risk factors, such as a criminal record, severe mental health disorder and substance abuse, are essential for the determination of re-offense rates (11). Yet, the individual likelihood of reoffending should not be lost out of focus. In the case presented the assumption of a comparable risk compared to that observed re-offense rate in a research sample may have not met the patient's needs. In that case, the missing of an established and appropriate psychiatric institution might have contributed to the aggravation of negative symptoms and manifestation of the chronic illness, respectively.

Furthermore, risk evaluations are mainly required by others in order to serve their wishes for protection from the patient. The patient himself has little or no say at all in the outcome of the assessments that take place. When directly asked about it in a psychiatric evaluation in 2011, the patient stated, over a total of 25 years, that it was the justice system not having left any other possibilities open. In addition, the medical staff may morally justify the decision made, e.g., to restrict the autonomy of the patient because past events have clearly demonstrated the patient's competency to place his own needs ahead of those of others—as could be seen by the patient's index offense in the late 1980s. Hence, psychiatrists could be seen to be acting more in the service of their institutions.

Our case may stress the importance to comprehensively understand individual's needs for diagnostic and therapeutic options as well as the assessment of violence risk in the context of incarceration. Although our patient had not been in a state of torture, he had clearly been deprived of his liberty as well as from a continuous and appropriate psychiatric treatment, as formerly stated and suggested by psychiatrists in the early 1990s. This might only be justified by the lack of appropriate psychiatric institutions at that time, ensuring adequate and specialized in-patient treatment for schizophrenic patients and trained employees while at the same guaranteeing high security standards.

This former "shifting" of treatment places has experienced an improved infrastructural organization within the recent years. Yet, adequate treatment sites for offenders with mental health disorders are still scarce. Sustainable results in terms of a just distribution of treatment options and quality demand specialized care and the availability of appropriate treatment sites or psychiatric institutions with high security standards, respectively. In accordance with that, the offender's treatability should be assessed more regularly to avoid malpractice and improve the patient's mental health and physical status, potentially minimizing the time spent in a deprived setting. This may be implemented by allowing therapeutic measures to be less restrictive in terms of creating more broadly based regulatory options within the system of penal sentences and justice. Whereas, treatment in general psychiatry strives to ensure individualized therapy that goes beyond common guidelines, its subspecialty may even suffer to guarantee sufficient treatment standards for mentally ill offenders, most of whom are being treated for severe and chronic mental health disorders. Therefore, it seems essential to expand treatment availability in terms of capacity, positively contributing to a better treatment concept that meets today's medical and individual challenges in the therapy of e.g., chronic schizophrenia in a cohort of delinquent patients. Furthermore, it may be worth assessing patient experiences in both prison environments and adequate psychiatric institutions, as done scientifically for various health conditions with qualitative studies of people's experiences (12) in the UK (13) or Germany (14). Listening to patients' voices is accompanied by a growing recognition of personal experiences as a relevant source of information for both ethics in the health care system and policy debates. Obtaining narrative accounts and getting an insight into personal front row experiences, especially narratives of those patients living under regimented conditions, may enable a better responding to the needs of patients within the forensic mental health services and prospective outcomes. This, in turn, may serve to improve risk management and to reduce the number of cases in which mentally ill prisoners are merely incarcerated without adequate treatment options.

Limitations

The present case description tries to highlight potential issues that arise from the interface of forensic services and the penal system with special emphasis on ethical concerns. Yet, a challenge in evaluating old case files poses the varying degrees of documentation due to outdated quality assurance guidelines. The information given in the present case files, especially on therapeutic strategies, was sometimes vague and limited. Only occasionally, therapeutic concepts, such as the execution of a delinquency-oriented therapeutic approach, were mentioned, but more specific information about duration, content or adherence was missing. It therefore remains unclear to what extent psychotherapeutic concepts were actually implemented into the treatment plan, though it can be assumed that, at least, the initial treatment did not successfully target the patient's needs.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained prior to the publication of this case report by a senior physician, who clinically assessed the patient's capacity to consent to participation. The patient then gave written consent on the basis that disclosed material would be anonymised and unidentifiable. Identifying details have therefore been removed from the report where necessary.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SS and NB contributed equally to the design and concept of the work, data analysis, interpretation, and drafted the manuscript. SS collected the data. US and NB-A contributed expertise and critical revision of the final manuscript. EH contributed to the concept of the work, the drafting of the article and revision of the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

- de Tribolet-Hardy F, Habermeyer E. Schizophrenic patients between general and forensic psychiatry. *Front Public Health* (2016) 4:135. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00135
- Brennan PA, Mednick SA, Hodgins S. Major mental disorders and criminal violence in a Danish birth cohort. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2000) 57:494–500. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.57.5.494
- Fazel S, Gulati G, Linsell L, Geddes JR, Grann M. Schizophrenia and violence: systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2009) 6:e1000120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000120
- Hodgins S, Piatosa MJ, Schiffer B. Violence among people with schizophrenia: phenotypes and neurobiology. *Curr Top Behav Neurosci.* (2014) 17:329–68. doi: 10.1007/7854_2013_259
- Swiss Criminal Code, 21st of December. (1937). Available online at: https:// www.admin.ch/opc/en/classified-compilation/19370083201803010000/311. 0.pdf (Accessed March 1, 2018).
- Dilling, H. Internationale Klassifikation psychischer Störungen: ICD-10 Kapitel V (F); klinisch-diagnostische Leitlinien (8., überarb. Aufl.). Bern: Huber (2011).
- 7. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 4th ed. text rev.* Washington, DC (2000).
- 8. Bonta J, Andrews DA. Risk-need-responsivity model for offender assessment and rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation* (2007) 6:1–22.
- Stompe T, Ritter K, Schanda H. Patterns of substance abuse in offenders with schizophrenia- illness-related or criminal life-style? *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:233. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00233

- Tiihonen J, Isohanni M, Räsänen P, Koiranen M, Moring J. Specific major mental disorders and criminality: a 26-year prospective study of the 1966 northern Finland birth cohort. *Am J Psychiatry* (1997) 154:840–5. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.6.840
- 11. Quinsey V, Harris G, Rice M, Cormier C. Violent offenders: appraising and managing risk. Washington DC: American Psychological Association (1998).
- 12. Available online at: http://www.dipexinternational.org/about-us/
- Herxheimer A, Ziebland S. DIPEx: collecting personal experiences to help other patients and educate pro- fessionals. In: Hurwitz B, Greenhalgh T, Skultans V, editors. Narrative Research in Health and Illness. London: BMJ Books (2004). p. 115–31.
- Breuning M, Lucius-Hoene G, Burbaum C, Himmel W, Bengel J. [Patient experiences and patient centeredness: the website project DIPEx Germany]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. (2017) 60:453–61. doi: 10.1007/s00103-017-2524-y

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Steinau, Brackmann, Sternemann, Biller-Andorno and Habermeyer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Predicting Offenders' Institutional Misconduct and Recidivism: The Utility of Behavioral Ratings by Prison Officers

Joscha Hausam^{1*}, Robert J. B. Lehmann² and Klaus-Peter Dahle^{1,3}

¹ Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, Medical School Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany

Measures of current behavior are rarely incorporated into risk assessment. Therefore, the current study used a behavior rating scale to assess prison officers' observations of inmates prison behavior and examined the contribution of these ratings for risk assessment. Prison officers rated 272 sexual and violent offenders in three different correctional treatment facilities in Berlin, Germany. Factor analysis revealed three psychologically meaningful factors measuring externalizing, internalizing and adaptive prison behavior. The construct validity of the three factors was established through correlational analyses with standardized risk assessment instruments. Externalizing and internalizing behaviors were significant predictors of violent recidivism after release. In addition, externalizing was a significant predictor of institutional misconduct, whereas adaptive and internalizing behavior predicted whether an inmate was granted privileges (e.g., minimum-security confinement). Logistic regression analyses indicated that externalizing behavior ratings added incrementally to the Level of Service Inventory-Revised for the prediction of institutional misconduct and violent recidivism. The results indicate that prison officers observe important prison behaviors and that behavioral ratings can improve risk assessment.

Keywords: behavior rating scale, SWAP-200, prison behavior, behavioral observation, risk assessment, correctional treatment, prison officers

INTRODUCTION

Forensic risk assessment requires collecting diverse information. Although the value of behavioral assessment has been recognized (1, 2), only few attempts have been made to systematically incorporate measures of current behavior into risk assessment. This paper investigates the validity of a behavior rating scale assessed by prison officers. The greater goal of this research question is to use these ratings to improve risk assessment in correctional treatment services.

Informed risk assessment should focus on individual risk factors that are theoretically and empirically linked to recidivism [e.g., (3)]. Risk factors have often been classified as either static (i.e., generally unchangeable) or dynamic (i.e., amenable to change). Mann et al. (4) proposed to adopt the concept of psychologically meaningful risk factors instead. Both static (e.g., criminal history) and dynamic risk factors (e.g., criminal attitudes) predict recidivism, because they are markers for the same underlying individual propensities (e.g., antisocial orientation). Propensities

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Rostock, Germany

Reviewed by:

Martin Rettenberger, Centre for Criminology (Kriminologische Zentralstelle, KrimZ), Germany Kolja Schiltz, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

> *Correspondence: Joscha Hausam joscha.hausam@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 September 2018 Accepted: 23 November 2018 Published: 10 December 2018

Citation:

Hausam J, Lehmann RJB and Dahle KP (2018) Predicting Offenders' Institutional Misconduct and Recidivism: The Utility of Behavioral Ratings by Prison Officers. Front. Psychiatry 9:679. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00679

57

are considered—like personality traits—to be relatively enduring offender characteristics that "may or may not manifest during any particular time period" [(4) p. 194]. Behavioral consistency is more likely to occur across situations when similar psychological characteristics are triggered (5).

Jones (2004)(6) recently introduced the framework of offense paralleling behavior (OPB) to identify risk-related current behavior. The central assumption is to identify behavioral patterns or sequences that share functional similarity to prior offense behavior. It has been suggested that propensities may reveal themselves through observations of offense paralleling behavior (7). Using a qualitative approach, Atkinson and Mann (8) found strong congruence between prison officers' observations (e.g., resistance to rules and supervision) and empirically established risk factors (e.g., antiauthority). The authors conclude that "these types of observations could, if utilized appropriately, improve the process of forensic psychological risk assessment; specifically in relation to focusing on current functioning to complement traditional forensic methods which tend to focus on past behavior" [(8), p. 152]. Consequently, it should be possible to identify risk-related behavior in prison with a rating scale assessed by prison officers.

Behavior rating scales are one of the most frequently used assessment measures in psychological research and practice. They provide a quick and reliable account of specific behaviors for diagnostic and intervention planning purposes. Behavior rating scales are considered objective measures with many advantages when administered to an informant who is familiar with the subject [see Merrell (9)]. For the purpose of the present study, we outline two specific advantages of behavior ratings scales for the use with incarcerated offenders. First, behavior rating scales can be used to address behavioral or personality characteristics of offenders who cannot (e.g., lack of insight) or do not want (e.g., impression management or malingering) to provide valid information about themselves. In this context, external ratings are not susceptible to "selfserving cognitive distortions" (10), which are considered as risk factors themselves for general (11) and sexual recidivism (4). For example, Milton et al. (12) compared staff and self-report ratings of interpersonal functioning and reported that, compared to staff ratings, offenders tended to underestimate their dominance and coerciveness, and overestimated their nurturance. Second, rating scales offer standardized means to what degree a specific behavior is present and allow for a "statistical aggregation of standardized clinical observations" [(13); p. 598]. Unlike checklists, behavior ratings scales assess the frequency of observed behavior on a Likert-type scale (e.g., never, sometimes, always). Therefore, they provide quantifiable and normative data, which can be used to compare ratings of different groups or across settings (14). They can also be used to track individual behavioral changes over the course of time, e.g., following treatment. Concerning offender treatment, observable changes of risk-relevant behaviors may serve as an indicator for reductions in reoffending.

Prison officers have the greatest amount of daily interaction with inmates and therefore know them quite well. They are more readily available than therapeutic staff and constitute important agents in crisis intervention and treatment delivery (15). Furthermore, Atkinson and Mann (8) proposed that prison officers are experienced behavioral observers and are a valuable but untapped source for risk assessment purposes. Few attempts have been made to examine observer ratings in offender populations. Quay (16) developed the Adult Internal Management System (AIMS) for internal classification to effectively deal with different types of prisoners. The system attempts to identify five different types of prisoners based on historical information and behavioral ratings by correctional officers: the aggressive-psychopathic, the manipulative, the normal (situational), the inadequatedependent, and the neurotic-anxious prisoner. However, studies only found three distinct groups, the aggressive-manipulative, the normal, and the weak prisoner (17, 18). Subsequently, Cooke (19) developed the Prison Behavior Rating Scale (PBRS) to assess psychological features of disturbed behavior in prison. The PBRS consists of 36 items and 3 subscales: Antiauthority (e.g., aggressive toward staff), Anxious-Depressed (e.g., frightened of other inmates), and Dull-Confused (e.g., appeared sluggish and drowsy). While the evidence for the latter two scales was less compelling, the Antiauthority scale showed utility in the prediction of institutional misconduct (20).

The Chart of Interpersonal Reactions in Closed Living Environments [CIRCLE; (1)] is a staff rating scale (e.g., nurses in forensic hospitals) developed to assess an individual's social behavior according to the interpersonal circumplex (IPC). Briefly summarized, the IPC assumes that two orthogonal dimensions, status (dominance vs. submission) and affiliation (hostility vs. nurturance), define interpersonal behavior (21). The CIRCLE assesses eight interpersonal styles and is the most widely used behavior rating scale in offender samples. It is reported to have satisfactory psychometric and circumplex properties (22). Previous research with offenders has highlighted the theoretical and empirical importance of the interpersonal patterns denoted as dominant, coercive, and hostile. Specifically, these CIRCLE scales were predictive of institutional misconduct and violence in mentally disordered offenders in forensic hospitals (23-25) and prison (26). It was also suggested that the dominant, coercive, and hostile scales of the CIRCLE are linked to cluster B personality disorders, such as antisocial, histrionic, and narcissistic (27).

Only recently, Hausam et al. (28) reported preliminary results on behavioral ratings by prison officers in a small juvenile sample (N = 62). The scales were developed based on theoretical considerations and showed acceptable values of internal consistency and inter-rater reliability. Correlational analyses using different indexes (e.g., age and violent behavior in prison) and risk assessment instruments (e.g., HCR-20) attested to the construct validity of the scales. Furthermore, correctional officers' ratings were predictive of treatment attrition. For a smaller subsample, ratings at two time points (after 1 year) were available. Results indicated that prison officers are generally able to track positive and negative behavioral changes during treatment. The current study extends these findings taking the extensive research of the Shedler-Westen Assessment Procedure [SWAP-200; (29)] into account. The SWAP-200 allows for a comprehensive assessment of personality and personality pathology in psychiatric (30) and forensic populations (31). Recent studies have shown that the SWAP-200 assessment is associated with institutional (mis-) behavior (as measured with the CIRCLE) in psychiatric patients (32) and personality-disordered offenders (27). The SWAP-200 was modestly predictive of inpatient violence (31).

We propose that prison officers with special training for correctional treatment are experienced observers and are likely to be a valuable supplement for forensic assessment. In Germany, correctional treatment units mostly follow a therapeutic community-based approach of rehabilitation. The prison officers are part of the therapeutic community to surveil, supervise, and support inmates on a daily basis. Consequently, prison officers' experiences and knowledge of inmates' behavior is often embedded in regular case management routines (e.g., parole release decisions). However, the units often use unsystematic behavioral checklists or rely on experience reports, which must be considered critical for two reasons. First, prison officers do observe risk-relevant behavior that may not be reported (8). Second, clinical observations are more beneficial if used systematically (13).

Purpose of Study

The aim of the present study was to investigate the applicability and validity of the SWAP rating scale (SWAP-RS) in three different correctional treatment samples. First, factor structure of the SWAP-RS will be examined. This is considered the most important step to establish construct validity (33). We hypothesized to find a factor structure similar to the factors of the SWAP-200 (34). Second, the construct validity of the factors thus identified will be tested by examining associations with standardized risk assessment instruments. Third, the predictive validity of behavioral ratings by prison officers will be investigated. Fourth, the incremental validity of the ratings in predicting institutional (mis-) conduct and recidivism beyond risk assessment instruments will be tested.

METHODS

Sample

The sample was composed of N = 272 male offenders of three different correctional treatment units in Berlin, Germany. Specifically, the subsamples were collected from socialtherapeutic units for adults (n = 145) and juveniles (n = 75), as well as a preventive detention unit (n = 52). These units generally follow a group-based approach of rehabilitation and encompass a mix of individual and group therapy, social skills training, and educational or vocational training. Apart from therapeutic staff, specifically trained prison officers are part of these units to surveil, supervise, and support prisoners. Therefore, they largely define the field of social experience, know their inmates quite well, and are experienced observers of offender behavior in prison. At the point of rating, the inmates were 37.52 years old (SD = 14.70; Range = 16.91-81.97) and incarcerated for 59.36 months (SD = 59.74; Range = 1.64-364.32). N = 30inmates (11%) were convicted of murder or manslaughter, n = 99(36.4%) of robbery or assault, n = 60 (22.1%) of rape, n = 71(26.1%) of sexual abuse, and n = 12 (4.5%) of other offenses. The inmates had an average sentence length¹ of 6.18 years (SD = 4.56; Range = 1.5–25) and on average six prior convictions (SD = 5.62; Range = 0–34).

Procedure

Data was collected between 2014 and 2016 as part of an ongoing evaluation project. The evaluation project was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Senate for Justice, Consumer Protection and Anti-Discrimination of Berlin, Germany. Ethical approval for the study was sought and granted by the Ethics Committee of Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin (EA4/131/18). All participants gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Official Data Protection Officer of Charité— Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

Prison officers were asked to rate all inmates admitted to one of the three units during that time (response rate: 80.1%). Group meetings with the prison officers at several time points during data collection were arranged to communicate general information about the study (e.g., that inmates should be rated by prison officers who are familiar with them, anonymization procedure, etc.). The officers did not receive special training in the assessment of the rating scale. A total of 76 prison officers rated on average three inmates (M = 3.32, SD = 2.37, Range = 1–12) they have known for M = 18.76 months (SD = 23.03, Range = 1–156).

Measures

SWAP Rating Scale

Inmate behavior was assessed using the SWAP rating scale (SWAP-RS). The SWAP-RS is a shortened adaptation of the items of the Shedler-Westen Assessment Procedure-200 [SWAP-200; (29); German version: (35)]. The SWAP-200 is a valid tool for personality assessment and consists of 200 personalitydescriptive statements. It is a clinician-rated instrument with items that are suitable for external rating. The items are written in clear and jargon free language designed to assess, quantify, and compare clinical observations (29). The procedure allows for a categorical diagnosis based on the Q-sort method and a dimensional measurement of 12 factors based on a numeric value [see (34)]. A 5-point Likert-type scale was chosen to assess frequency of observed behavior (never, rarely, occasionally, frequently, and very frequently observed; scored 0 to 4). Prison officers were instructed to rate an inmates' behavior according to their observations. As mentioned before, we sought to assess risk-related propensities that manifest in current behavior. Based on empirical [i.e., factor loadings; (34)] and theoretical considerations (i.e., appropriateness for prison context), we included five items each of the following factors: Psychopathy²,

¹Eight offenders served a life sentence. In line with the International Criminal Court in the Hague, Netherlands, life sentences were generally coded as 25 years. In Germany, in 2015 n = 59 offenders serving a life sentence were released after M = 19.3 years (Range = 14.8 – 49.8).

²The authors termed this factor psychopathy and described it as a combination of antisocial personality disorder and psychopathy characteristics (34). Importantly, the SWAP-200 factor psychopathy is not eligible to assess the clinical construct of psychopathy (36).

hostility, narcissism, emotional dysregulation, dysphoria, and schizoid orientation. In addition, 10 items of the psychological health factor were included as well. The factors psychopathy (e.g., reckless and unlawful behavior), hostility (e.g., chronic anger and mistrust), narcissism (e.g, self-importance and arrogance), and emotional dysregulation (e.g., emotions tend to change rapidly and unpredictably) seem to be associated with the risk-related propensity of antisocial orientation [e.g., (11, 37)]. The factors dysphoria (e.g., feeling inadequate, avoids social situations) and schizoid orientation (e.g., lacks close relations and social skills) are composed of internalizing characteristics. Some of these features were identified being risk-relevant for general [e.g., (38)] and sexual recidivism [e.g., (4)]. Finally, the factor psychological health includes strengths and resources, or stated differently, they may refer to positive behaviors in prison (6). They may be considered as protective factors. A growing body of research emphasizes the complementary use of risk and protective factors in risk assessment (39).

Risk Assessment

Professionally trained psychologists independent of the treatment units completed ratings on the Level of Service Inventory—Revised [LSI-R; (38); German version: (40)] the Historical-Clinical-Risk Scheme [HCR-20; (41); German version: (42)], and the Psychopathy Checklist—Revised [PCL-R; (36)] based on file review. The LSI-R was selected as a measure of general risk of recidivism, the HCR-20 as a measure of risk of violent recidivism, and the PCL-R as measure of the psychopathy construct, which has shown to be a robust predictor of persistent delinquency. Predictive validity of the measures is well documented, also in German speaking samples [e.g., (43)].

Institutional Behavior

A follow-up review of inmate files was conducted after M = 17.69 months (SD = 10.71, Range = 3.65–57.53) by the members of the research group to collect data on different outcome measures of institutional behavior. These included the absence/ presence of violent (e.g., physical aggression) and non-violent disciplinary misconduct (e.g., possession of prohibited items). In addition, we assessed whether an inmate was granted privileges, such as temporary release, outside employment, or minimum-security confinement. Frequencies were 38% (n = 102), 59% (n = 161), and 39% (n = 103), respectively.

Recidivism

We obtained post-release recidivism rates for a smaller subsample of the juvenile and adult units (n = 116) based on police records. Six cases with a follow-up lower than 6 months were excluded, n = 110 offenders remained in the analyses with an average time at risk of M = 22.34 months (SD = 7.72, Range = 7.92–34.83). These records capture whether the police accused a person being a strong suspect of a crime. Therefore, they have a lower threshold compared to convictions of a criminal record. In addition, the records only cover crime accusations in Berlin, but not for the whole Germany. The research group coded whether a participant was accused of a non-violent crime (e.g., thievery, drug offenses, violations of

instructions, or driving without a license), a violent crime (e.g., robbery, assault, or manslaughter), and a sexual crime (e.g., sexual abuse or rape). Recidivism rates were 38% (n = 42) for non-violent and 13% (n = 14) for violent recidivism. Due to the low recidivism rate of 4% (n = 4) sexual recidivism was excluded from further analyses.

Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 22 for Windows. Sample size was acceptable to perform factor analysis (44). Beforehand, parallel analysis (45) was employed to determine the appropriate number of factors to extract. The procedure is based on Monte Carlo simulations and has been proven to be accurate in determining the threshold for significant factors (46). The items were then subjected to principal axis factor analysis with oblique rotation. Common factor procedures with intercorrelated factors are preferably used to identify psychological meaningful constructs (47). Items were retained when primary factor loadings exceeded.32 and cross-loading differences were <0.20 (48). Bivariate Pearson correlations were calculated to examine associations with risk assessment instruments. Predictive validity of the SWAP-RS was examined using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis. The use of the area under the curve (AUC) is the preferred measure of predictive accuracy in forensic assessment, and AUCs of 0.56, 0.64, 0.71 indicate small, moderate, and large effects, respectively (49). Finally, hierarchical block-wise logistic regressions were used to investigate incremental validity of the SWAP-RS. Unless otherwise stated alpha level was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Factor Analysis

Parallel analysis indicated that three factors should be retained. The 40 items were subjected to principal axis factoring with oblique rotation. Both the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure (KMO = 0.93; values for individual items ranged from 0.81to 0.97) and Bartlett's test of sphericity ($\chi^2_{(780)} = 7077.88$, p < 0.001) verified sampling adequacy for the analysis. The three factors accounted for a substantial amount of variance (54.55%). Table 1 presents factor loadings after rotation, eigenvalues, and percentage of variance for each factor. All the 40 items could be retained. The first factor accounted for 32.07% of the total variance and seems to represent all the items of the SWAP-200 factors psychopathy, hostility, narcissism, and emotional dysregulation. Noteworthy, the item "lacks social skills," which represents a feature of schizoid orientation according to the SWAP-200, showed highest loadings on the first factor. All these items are considered problematic behaviors that are directed toward the external environment. Therefore, the factor was labeled "Externalizing Prison Behavior" (EPB). The second factor accounted for 12.16% of total variance, corresponds to all the psychological health items of the SWAP-200, and was therefore labeled "Adaptive Prison Behavior" (APB). We defined adaptive behavior as a collection of social and emotional coping strategies to function in the prison environment, however, we do not refer to the extensive research field of mental

TABLE 1 | Summary of factor analysis of the SWAP-RS items; factor loadings after rotation (N = 272).

	I	II	III
Seeks to be the center of attention	0.85		
Has an exaggerated sense of self-importance	0.84		
Appears to feel privileged and entitled, expects preferential treatment	0.82		
Tends to be arrogant, haughty, or dismissive	0.79		
Seems to treat others primarily as an audience to witness own importance and brilliance	0.78		
Tends to hold grudges, may dwell on insults or slights for long periods	0.78		
Takes advantage of others, is out for number one, has minimal investment in moral values	0.78		
Tends to express intense and inappropriate anger that is out of proportion to the situation at hand	0.75		
Tends to be critical of others	0.75		
Expresses emotion in exaggerated and theatrical ways	0.75		
Tends to be hostile	0.74		
Emotions tend to change rapidly and unpredictably	0.71		
Tends to be deceitful, tends to lie or mislead	0.70		
Appears to experience no remorse for harm or injury caused to others	0.68		
Tends to become irrational when strong emotions are stirred up	0.65		0.33
Tends to show reckless disregard for the rights, property, or safety of others	0.64		
Tends to assume that others have bad and malevolent intentions	0.61		
Emotions tend to spiral out of control, leading to extremes of anxiety, sadness, rage, excitement, etc.	0.60		0.33
Lacks social skills; tends to be socially awkward or inappropriate	0.56		0.34
s unable to soothe or comfort self when distressed, requires involvement of another person to help regulate affect	0.54		
Tends to be unreliable and irresponsible	0.46		
s able to find meaning and satisfaction in the pursuit of long-term goals and ambitions		0.74	
Enjoys challenges, takes pleasure in accomplishing things		0.73	
s capable of sustaining a meaningful love relationship characterized by genuine intimacy and caring		0.68	
Is capable of hearing information that is emotionally threatening		0.65	
s empathic, is sensitive and responsive to other peoples' needs and feelings		0.64	
s able to use his talents, abilities, and energy effectively and productively		0.63	
Tends to be conscientious and responsible		0.63	
Appears comfortable and at ease in social situations		0.49	
Appreciates and responds to humor		0.49	
s able to assert himself effectively and appropriately when necessary		0.36	
Tends to feel he is inadequate, inferior, or a failure			0.83
Tends to feel empty or bored			0.74
Appears to find little or no pleasure, satisfaction, or enjoyment in life's activities			0.74
Tends to feel life has no meaning			0.74
Tends to feel like an outcast or outsider, feels as if he does not truly belong			0.73
Tends to feel listless, fatigued, or lacking in energy			0.53
Lacks close friendships and relationships			0.51
Fends to be shy or reserved in social situations.			0.51
Appears to have little need for human company or contact, is genuinely indifferent to the presence of others			0.45
Eigenvalue	12.83	4.87	2.90
% of variance	32.07	12.16	7.25

Factor loadings <0.32 are not displayed.

retardation. Finally, the third factor accounted for 7.25% of the total variance and was comprised of the items assigned to the dysphoria and schizoid orientation factors of the SWAP-200. Accordingly, it was labeled "Internalizing Prison Behavior" (IPB).

Internal consistencies (as indicated by Cronbach's alpha) of the factors EPB, APB, and IPB were 0.96, 0.87, and 0.89, respectively. Nunnally (50) suggested internal consistencies of

0.90 as the minimum in applied settings, which was (almost) achieved by the three factors. Corrected item-total correlations of the factors ranged from 0.54–0.79, 0.41–0.71, to 0.47–0.76, respectively. Interrater reliability of the ratings was examined in a subsample randomly selected from the juvenile unit. Two prison officers independently rated n = 23 inmates within M = 1.02 months (SD = 0.81; Range = 0–2.60). Significant agreement was found for the factor EPB, single measure intraclass correlation

coefficient (ICC) was.48, p < 0.01, 95% confidence interval (95% CI) [0.09, 0.74], and APB, ICC = 0.55, p < 0.01, 95% CI [0.18, 0.78], indicating moderate rater agreement (51). However, this was not the case for IPB, ICC = 0.33, p = 0.059, 95% CI [0.09, 0.65]. The SWAP-RS factors showed moderate intercorrelations. As expected, APB was negatively associated with EPB and IPB, and EPB was positively associated with IPB. **Table 2** summarizes the psychometric properties of the SWAP-RS factors. Unitweighted mean scores were calculated for each factor for further analyses.

Construct Validity

To examine construct validity correlations were calculated between the SWAP-RS factors and a risk measure for general recidivism (LSI-R), a measure for violence risk assessment (HCR-20), and a rating scale for the clinical construct of psychopathy (PCL-R; see Table 3). As hypothesized, the convergent validity of EPB was evidenced by small significant relationships with the total scores of the LSI-R (r = 0.23, p < 0.01), HCR-20 (r = 0.23, p < 0.01), PCL-R (r = 0.24, p < 0.01). A more differentiated analysis of the LSI-R revealed significant associations between EPB and the scales Criminal History (r = 0.13, p < 0.05), Education and Employment (r = 0.13, p < 0.05)p < 0.05), Financial (r = 0.17, p < 0.01), Leisure and Recreation (r = 0.12, p < 0.05), Companions (r = 0.12, p < 0.05), Emotional and Personal (r = 0.14, p < 0.05), and Attitudes and Orientation (r = 0.22, p < 0.001). Correlations between EPB and HCR-20 subscales were highest for the Clinical subscale (r = 0.24, p < 0.01). Regarding the PCL-R, EPB showed stronger correlations with Factor 2 (r = 0.25, p < 0.01) than with Factor 1 (r = 0.16, p < 0.05). In contrast, the APB scale did not show any relationships with the total scores of the risk measures. However, as expected, all the (non-significant) relationships had a negative trend. Only PCL-R Factor 2 was negatively related to APB (r = -0.14, p < 0.05). The IPB scale did not show any significant relationships with the total scores. However, on a scale level IPB was associated with the LSI-R subscales Financial (r = 0.17, p < 0.01), Family and Marital (r = 0.20, p < 0.01), and Emotional and Personal (r = 0.24, p < 0.001). Furthermore, there was a small positive association between IPB and the risk management subscale of the HCR-20 (r = 0.14, p < 0.05)

	EPB	APB	IPB
Externalizing Prison Behavior (EPB)	-		
Adaptive Prison Behavior (APB)	-0.25**	-	
Internalizing Prison Behavior (IPB)	0.45**	-0.39**	-
Mean (SD)	1.11 (0.84)	1.70 (0.68)	1.24 (0.75)
Range	0–3.52	0-3.40	0–3.90
# items	21	10	9
Internal consistency ¹	0.96	0.87	0.89
Interrater reliability ²	0.48**	0.55**	0.33

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01; ¹Crohnbach's alpha; ²Intraclass correlation coefficient.

Predictive Validity

The area under the curve (AUC) values of the SWAP-RS factors are presented in Table 4. EPB was predictive of violent recidivism (0.78), as well as violent and non-violent institutional misconduct (both 0.62). APB and IPB were significant predictors of granted privileges (0.64 and 0.61). Importantly, the correlation between IPB and granted privilege was negative (r = -0.18, p < 0.01), therefore the value of the state variable in the ROC analysis was set to 0. This means that inmates with high ratings of internalizing behavior were less likely to receive privileges. Finally, IPB was a significant predictor of violent recidivism (0.69). In comparison, for example, the AUCs of the LSI-R for violent misconduct, non-violent misconduct, violent and non-violent recidivism were 0.63 (95% CI [0.56, 0.70]),0.64 (95% CI [0.57, 0.71]),0.71 (95% CI [0.58, 0.85]), and 0.66 (95% CI [57, 0.78]), respectively. AUCs of the HCR-20 and PCL-R were predominantly significant but somewhat lower with values between 0.48-0.60 and 0.50-0.56, respectively.

Incremental Validity

To test incremental validity of the SWAP-RS hierarchical blockwise logistic regression was used. For each regression analysis, the LSI-R, HCR-20, and PCL-R were entered into the first block of the model. To test which SWAP-RS factor added incremental validity to the risk measures, if any, a forward-method (i.e., likelihood ratio method) was employed for block 2. In block 1 of the hierarchical regression model for violent misconduct $(\chi^{2}_{(3)} = 15.76, p < 0.01)$, accounting for 8% (Nagelkerke) of the variance, the LSI-R was a significant predictor (B = 0.06, p < 0.05; see **Table 5**). In block 2, EPB was the only predictor (B = 0.50, p < 0.01) to add incremental validity to the model $(\chi^{2}_{(4)} = 25.52, p < 0.001)$. The latter model accounted for 12% of the variance, which is a significant increase from block 1 $(\chi^2_{(1)} = 9.77, p < 0.01)$. The AUC for block 1 was 0.64 (95%) CI [0.57, 0.71]), and 0.67 (95% CI [0.61, 0.74] after adding EPB in block 2.

The logistic regression model predicting non-violent misconduct was found to be significant in block 1 ($\chi^2_{(3)} = 17.28$, p < 0.01), accounting for 8% (Nagelkerke) of the variance (see **Table 5**). Again, the LSI-R was a significant predictor (B = 0.09, p < 0.001). In block 2, EPB (B = 0.62, p < 0.01) and IPB (B = -0.50, p < 0.05) were found to be significant predictors to the model ($\chi^2_{(5)} = 29.68$, p < 0.001). The final model accounted for 14% of the variance, which is a significant increase ($\chi^2_{(2)} = 12.40$, p < 0.01). The AUC for block 1 was 0.62 (95% CI [0.55, 0.69]), and 0.67 (95% CI [0.61, 0.74] after including EPB and IPB (block 2). An additional regression analysis was carried out to investigate a possible interaction between EBP and IPB. We ran the same model adding an interaction term (EBPxIPB) in block 2, however, the interaction term did not add incrementally to the model.

The logistic regression model predicting whether an inmate was granted a privilege was not significant in block 1 ($\chi^2_{(3)} = 6.37$, p = 0.10; see **Table 5**). After adding the SWAP-RS factors in block 2, a significant model was produced ($\chi^2_{(4)} = 19.65$, p < 0.01), accounting for 10% of the variance, with APB being the only single significant predictor (B = 0.72, p < 0.01). The increase was found to be significant ($\chi^2_{(1)} = 13.28$,

BLE 3 Pearson correlations between SWAP-RS factors and actuarial risk measures.
--

	LSI-R Total		HCR	-20			PCL-R	
		Total	Historical	Clinical	Risk	Total	Factor 1	Factor 2
EPB	0.23**	0.23**	0.18**	0.24**	0.15*	0.24**	0.16*	0.25**
APB	-0.08	-0.11	-0.08	-0.09	-0.08	-0.10	-0.05	-0.14*
IPB	0.05	0.10	0.05	0.10	0.14*	0.05	0.08	0.04

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. LSI-R, Level of Service Inventory—Revised; HCR-20, Historical-Clinical-Risk Scheme; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist—Revised. EPB, Externalizing Prison Behavior; ABP, Adaptive Prison Behavior; IPB, Internalizing Prison Behavior.

	Misconduct		Conduct	Recidiv	vism
	Violent	Non-violent	Privilege	Violent	Non-violent
EPB	0.62** [0.55,0.69]	0.62** [.55,0.69]	0.46 [0.39,0.53]	0.78** [0.66,0.91]	0.56 [0.44,0.67]
APB	0.44 [0.37,0.51]	0.51 [.44,0.58]	0.64*** [0.57,0.70]	0.37 [0.24,0.51]	0.52 [0.41,0.63]
IPB	0.51 [0.44,0.59]	0.49 [.42,0.56]	0.61** [0.54,0.68] ª	0.69** [0.56,0.83]	0.45 [0.34,0.56]

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. ^aThe association was negative and the state variable set to 0. AUC, Area under the curve; 95% confidence interval in brackets. EPB, Externalizing Prison Behavior; ABP, Adaptive Prison Behavior; IPB, Internalizing Prison Behavior.

p < 0.001). The AUC for the block 1 model was 0.59 (95% CI [0.52, 0.66]) and 0.66 (95% CI [0.35, 0.49]) after including APB.

The logistic regression model predicting post-release violent recidivism was found to be significant in block 1 ($\chi^2_{(3)} = 13.60$, p < 0.01), accounting for 21% (Nagelkerke) of the variance (see Table 6). The LSI-R (B = 0.22, p < 0.01) and HCR-20 (B = -0.31, p < 0.05) were significant predictors, however, the negative sign of the HCR-20 was unexpected³. In block 2, again EPB (B = 1.63, p < 0.01) added incrementally to the model ($\chi^2_{(4)} = 27.49, p < 0.001$), which was a significant increase $(\chi^{2}_{(1)} = 13.90, p < 0.001)$. The AUC of the block 1 model was 0.78 (95% CI [0.65, 0.91]) and 0.89 (95% CI [0.82, 0.96]) after including EPB. Finally, the regression model for non-violent post-release recidivism was found to be significant in block 1 $(\chi^{2}_{(3)} = 12.87, p < 0.01)$, accounting for 15% of the variance (see **Table 6**). Again, the LSI-R (B = 0.14, p < 0.01) was the only significant predictor in the model. Block 2 revealed that none of the SWAP-RS factors were found to be significant predictors. The AUC of the block 1 model was 0.70 (95% CI [0.60, 0.81]).

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to investigate the applicability and validity (construct, predictive, and incremental) of a behavior rating scale assessed by prison officers, the SWAP rating scale (SWAP-RS). The first part addressed the construct validity of

the SWAP-RS. The leading questions were (a) do prison officers observe behaviors that map onto psychologically meaningful factors, and (b) do these observations correspond to standardized risk measures. In the second part we examined predictive validity of the factors thus identified. Here, the questions of interest were (a) are ratings of observed prison behavior useful for predicting institutional (mis-) conduct and recidivism, and (b) do they incrementally improve predictive accuracy of established risk assessment procedures.

Based on empirical and theoretical considerations, a shortened set of SWAP-200 items was selected to assess prison officers' observations of inmate behavior. Factor analysis suggested a psychologically meaningful three-factor solution. The first factor (Externalizing Prison Behavior [EPB]) appears to represent behavioral characteristics related to psychopathy, hostility, narcissism, and emotional dysregulation. The second factor (Adaptive Prison Behavior [APD]) seems to represent characteristics of psychological health and resources. Finally, the third factor (Internalizing Prison Behavior [IPB]) seems to represent characteristics related to dysphoria and schizoid orientation. The factor structure strongly resembles higherorder dimensions referring to externalizing and internalizing behavior (30). For example, Westen and colleagues found that psychopathic and narcissistic characteristics form an externalizing dimension, and dysphoria and schizoid orientation an internalizing dimension. Additionally, the psychological health items were represented on a distinct dimension termed adaptive personality strengths. Krueger et al. (53) also support the notion of two broad dimensions positing externalizing and internalizing features. Krueger et al. (53) stated that externalizing behavior is linked to a lack of constraint (e.g., to engage in risky behavior, to act on impulse, to endorse non-traditional values), and internalizing to negative emotionality (e.g., to experience anxiety, alienation from others). Furthermore, externalizing

³Since there was a significant correlation between violent recidivism and the LSI-R (r = 0.21, p < 0.05), but not with the HCR-20 (r = -0.05, p = 0.56), and a strong positive relationship between the LSI-R and the HCR-20 (r = 0.70, p < 0.001), the HCR-20 appears to be a suppressor in the model [i.e., it removes irrelevant variance of the LSI-R; (52)]. A similar regression model was produced after removing the HCR-20 ($\chi^2_{(3)} = 20.33$, p < 0.001). As expected, the explained variance (Nagelkerke = 0.32) was somewhat lower, but both LSI-R (B = 0.14, p < 0.05) and EPB (B = 1.52, p < 0.01) remained significant predictors of violent recidivism.

	Violent misconduct ^a		Non-violen	Non-violent misconduct ^b		Privilege ^c	
	B (SE)	Exp b [95% CI]	B (SE)	Exp b [95% CI]	B (SE)	Exp b [95% CI]	
BLOCK 1							
Constant	-2.67 (0.56)		-0.96 (0.53)		-0.89 (0.63)		
LSI-R	0.05* (0.03)	1.05 [1.00, 1.11]	0.08** (0.03)	1.09 [1.03, 1.15]	0.01 (0.05)	1.01 [0.96, 1.06]	
HCR-20	0.06 (0.05)	1.06 [0.97, 1.16]	-0.02 (0.05)	0.98 [0.89, 1.07]	-0.05 (0.05)	0.95 [0.87, 1.04]	
PCL-R	-0.05 (0.21)	0.95 [0.88, 1.02]	-0.02 (0.04)	0.98 [0.92, 1.05]	-0.01 (0.04)	0.99 [0.92, 1.06]	
BLOCK 2							
EPB	0.50** (0.16)	1.65 [1.20, 2.28]	0.62** (0.19)	1.86 [1.28, 2.71]			
APB					0.72*** (0.20)	2.05 [1.48, 3.06]	
IPB			- 0.50* (0.20)	0.61 [0.41, 0.90]			

TABLE 5 | Incremental validity of the SWAP-RS factors in relation to actuarial risk measures predicting institutional behavior.

 $^aR^2=0.12$ (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2_{(4)}=25.52,\,p<0.001.$ Hosmer-Lemeshow test $\chi^2_{(8)}=2.04,\,ns.$

 ${}^{b}R^{2} = 0.14$ (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^{2}_{(3)} = 29.68$, p < 0.001. Hosmer-Lemeshow test $\chi^{2}_{(8)} = 6.94$, ns.

 $^{c}R^{2} = 0.10$ (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^{2}_{(3)} = 19.65$, p < 0.001. Hosmer-Lemeshow test $\chi^{2}_{(8)} = 13.16$, ns.

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. LSI-R, Level of Service Inventory—Revised; HCR-20, Historical-Clinical-Risk Scheme; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist—Revised. EPB, Externalizing Prison Behavior; ABP, Adaptive Prison Behavior; IPB, Internalizing Prison Behavior.

TABLE 6 | Incremental validity of the SWAP-RS factors in relation to actuarial risk measures predicting recidivism.

	Violent recidivism ^a		Non-violent recidivism ^b		
	B (SE)	Exp b [95% CI]	B (SE)	Exp b [95% Cl]	
BLOCK 1					
Constant	-5.23** (1.66)		-2.39** (0.92)		
LSI-R	0.23** (0.08)	1.25 [1.08, 1.45]	0.14** (0.04)	1.15 [1.06, 1.26]	
HCR-20	- 0.37* (0.16)	0.69 [0.51, 0.96]	-0.07 (0.07)	0.93 [0.82, 1.07]	
PCL-R	0.11 (0.12)	1.12 [0.89, 1.41]	-0.03 (0.06)	0.97 [0.85, 1.10]	
BLOCK 2					
EPB	1.63** (0.47)	5.09 [2.01, 12.87]			
APB					
IPB					

 ${}^{a}R^{2} = 0.42$ (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^{2}_{(4)} = 27.49$, p < 0.001. Hosmer-Lemeshow test $\chi^{2}_{(8)} = 7.97$, ns.

 ${}^{b}R^{2} = 0.14$ (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^{2}_{(3)} = 12.36$, p < 0.01. Hosmer-Lemeshow test $\chi^{2}_{(8)} = 11.06$, ns.

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. LSI-R, Level of Service Inventory—Revised; HCR-20, Historical-Clinical-Risk Scheme; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist—Revised; EPB, Externalizing Prison Behavior; ABP, Adaptive Prison Behavior; IPB, Internalizing Prison Behavior.

behavior is associated with substance dependence and antisocial behavior, whereas internalizing behavior is associated with anxiety disorders and depression [e.g., (54)]. Noteworthy, the first factor appears to capture a broad range of socially aversive behaviors (55). Only recently, a growing body of research on the so-called "Dark Triad," a constellation of psychopathic, narcissistic, and machiavellistic personality features, has highlighted the empirical overlap of these constructs in nonpathological samples (56). Although research indicates that the Dark Triad constructs are conceptually distinct, they share characteristics such as callousness, hostility, and impulsivity (57), and were found to be associated with aggressive and criminal behavior [for overview see Furnham (58)]. The EPB factor seems to tap into some features of the Dark Triad.

The psychometric properties of the SWAP-RS were generally satisfactory. Internal consistencies of the scales were appropriate for applied settings (50). In contrast, the results of interrater reliability were less strong. Whereas interrater reliability of the factors EPB and APB was moderate (51), the prison officers showed less agreement about internalizing behaviors. One explanation may be that behaviors related to the EPB and APB factors are rather directed toward the external environment, whereas items of the IPB factor are directed toward the "self" and thus harder to be externally identified. Cooke (19) further argued that prison officers may be more experienced observers of disruptive behavior because it is closely related to safety concerns and suggested to train prison officers. Training may not only lead to improved agreement, but also deepen the awareness, knowledge and acceptance of certain behaviors. Noteworthy, many prison officers commented positively on the SWAP-RS. Amongst other things, they stated that the assessment has led to more intense engagement with the prisoners and their behavior.

Differential associations with established risk assessment measures further evidenced construct validity of the SWAP-RS. As expected, the EPB factor was significantly associated with the LSI-R, HCR-R, and the PCL-R, whereas APB and IPB were

almost unrelated to the instruments. The correlations indicated that the EPB factor may capture behavioral characteristics that are associated with antisocial orientation (37). For example, EPB was significantly related to the attitudes and orientation subscale of the LSI-R. Furthermore, items such as "appears to experience no remorse," "takes advantage of others," and "has an exaggerated sense of self-importance" are reminiscent of characteristics of the construct of psychopathy (36). Accordingly, the results indicated that the EPB is correlated with the PCL-R. Interestingly, EPB ratings were stronger associated with the lifestyle antisociality dimension of the PCL-R. This may correspond to the notion that Factor 2 of the PCL-R highlights the behavioral correlates of psychopathy (36). Some research suggests that Factor 2 of the PCL-R outperforms Factor 1 in predicting institutional misconduct and recidivism [e.g., (59)]. In line with Cooke (19) these findings indicate that prison officers may be able to assess behavioral characteristics related to the psychopathy construct. Similarly, the significant associations between EPB and HCR-20, and in particular the clinical subscale show that items such as "emotions tend to change rapidly and unpredictably" and "emotions tend to spiral out of control" may tap the construct of impulsivity, which is among the strongest individual predictor of recidivism [e.g., (11, 60)].

The APB factor consists of items such as "tends to be conscientious and responsible" and "enjoys challenges and takes pleasure in accomplishing things" and refers to psychological strengths and resources (34). As expected, we found no associations between APB and the total scores of the risk assessment measures. Therefore, these behaviors may not constitute a risk factor per se. In contrast, they may rather capture individual skills and coping strategies that are needed to deal with the psychological effects of imprisonment (61). Finally, the IPB factor consists of items such as "tends to feel he is inadequate" and "tends to feel empty or bored." Correlational analyses indicated rather weak associations between internalizing behavior and the risk measures. However, construct validity of the factor was evidenced by meaningful associations with the emotional subscale of the LSI-R and the R-scale of the HCR-20. For example, the LSI-R subscale assesses an individual's ability to respond to life stressors and psychological signs of anxiety and depression (37).

Prison officers' ratings of inmate behavior were not only predictive of misconduct and conduct within the prison setting, but also of recidivism after release. Foremost, ratings of externalizing behaviors were predictive of violent and nonviolent misconduct and violent recidivism. Predictive accuracy was moderate for both criteria of misconduct in prison and large for violent recidivism after release. Notably, prison officers' ratings of externalizing behaviors predicted violent recidivism better than the LSI-R. These findings further indicate that the EPB factor taps risk-relevant behaviors. Comparable results were provided by previous research on the predictive validity of behavioral ratings by staff (20, 26, 28).

The APB factor significantly predicted whether an inmate was granted privileges or not. This finding emphasizes that it may be beneficial to assess behavioral strengths and resources in offender rehabilitation. Recent research suggested that the quality of release planning added incremental validity to the prediction of recidivism over and above standardized risk measures (62). In Germany, privileges (i.e., day release, outside employment, or minimum-security confinement) are acknowledged as central methods for treatment and prisoner reentry. Accordingly, Suhling and Rehder (63) reported that sexual offenders in minimum-security confinement have lower rates of recidivism. Therefore, it may be possible that adaptive behavior in prison has a moderator effect on future recidivism (i.e., inmates showing high levels of adaptive behavior in prison are more likely to receive privileges, which in turn has an effect on future recidivism). Clearly, future research is needed to investigate this relationship. Finally, the IPB factor was also predictive of violent recidivism. This corresponds to a large body of research suggesting that emotional distress and psychopathology (e.g., depression) are considered minor risk factors for criminality (37). Interestingly, inmates with high ratings of internalizing behaviors were less likely to receive any kind of granted privileges.

While the above findings support the predictive validity of the SWAP-RS, it would be inappropriate to use prison officers' observations alone for risk assessment purposes. As mentioned before, the rating scale is intended to be a supplement to established risk scales. To our knowledge, the present study is the first to investigate the incremental validity of a behavior rating scale assessed by prison officers. The SWAP-RS significantly improved prediction beyond standardized risk assessment instruments. Specifically, prison officers' ratings of externalizing behavior added incremental validity to the LSI-R for the prediction of violent misconduct and violent recidivism, whereas both EPB and IPB added incrementally to the LSI-R for non-violent misconduct. Especially for violent recidivism, the inclusion of the EPB factor lead to a substantial increase in predictive accuracy. These findings suggest that observations of current behavior provide information for the prediction of violent misconduct and violent recidivism, which does not seem to be captured by established risk assessment instruments. This emphasizes the importance of including measures of current risk-relevant behavior into risk assessment procedures. Noteworthy, whereas higher levels of externalizing behavior were positively associated with nonviolent misconduct, the model revealed negative associations for internalizing behavior. That may imply that inmates with high ratings of internalizing and low ratings of externalizing behaviors are less likely to show misconduct in prison. Cooke (20) reported similar findings for the prediction of institutional misconduct, suggesting improved prediction after combining the Antiauthority and Dull-Confused scales of the PRBS. However, such an interaction could not be confirmed in the present study.

Notably, prison officers' ratings on adaptive behavior remained the only significant predictor of granted privileges. This is somewhat surprising since prior research has shown that, for example, the LSI-R is a robust predictor of security-level placement in prison (38). An explanation may be that the outcome variable in the present study included too many kinds of privileges or the sample was too heterogeneous. For example, inmates under preventive detention receive usually less privileges and are therefore hardly comparable with inmates of the two correctional treatment units.

Several limitations of the present study merit consideration. The inmates were assessed by many prison officers. Therefore, a large variance is to be expected, which is particularly problematic given the weak to moderate rater agreement. To reduce variability brief training sessions are suggested in future studies. In addition, it seems important to consider the influence of prison officers' individual factors (e.g., work motivation and attitude) and personal closeness to inmates as a source of variation. In a similar manner, potential rater biases (e.g., leniency or severity effects) require investigation. The sample of the present study was quite heterogeneous regarding age and offense type. For example, the relationship between age and externalizing behavior (e.g., aggression) in prison is a consistent finding in the literature [e.g., (61)]. Therefore, future research should also investigate whether institutional factors affect prison officers' ratings (e.g., prison officers at a juvenile unit may be more habituated to aggressive behaviors and therefore have different rating thresholds). The factors showed meaningful associations with the risk assessment measures albeit the relationships were rather small. Therefore, farther construct validation with riskrelated measures (e.g., self-report) is desirable. Finally, it is important to mention that the current approach differs from the offense paralleling framework (6). One specific assumption is that offense paralleling behavior must be understood in terms of functionality, not simply appearance. For example, reckless behavior in prison may be considered as an indicator of a risk-related propensity. However, the behavior may only be triggered by the environment (e.g., as an adjustment strategy in prison) and therefore may not be indicative of such a propensity. Consequently, the framework requires a complex process of analysis that could not be realized in the current study (8).

In conclusion, there is consensus that forensic risk assessment benefits from including a variety of information, inter alia, crime scene analysis (64) and standardized risk measures which incorporate static and dynamic risk factors [e.g., (3)]. The assessment of current behavior, however, was predominantly

REFERENCES

- Blackburn R, Renwick SJ. Rating scales for measuring the interpersonal circle in forensic psychiatric patients. *Psychol. Assess.* (1996) 8:76–84. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.8.1.76
- Clark DA, Fisher MJ, McDougall C. A new methodology for assessing the level of risk in incarcerated offenders. *Br. J. Criminol.* (1993) 33:436–48. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.bjc.a048335
- Lehmann RJB, Fernandez Y, Helmus L-M. Strengths of actuarial risk assessment. In: Laws DR, O'Donohue W editors, *Treatment of Sex Offenders*. Heidelberg: Springer (2016). p. 45–81.
- Mann RE, Hanson RK, Thornton D. Assessing risk for sexual recidivism: some proposals on the nature of psychologically meaningful risk factors. Sexual Abuse (2010) 22:191–217. doi: 10.1177/10790632103 66039
- Shoda Y. A unified framework for the study of behavioral consistency: bridging person× situation interaction and the consistency paradox. *Eur. J. Pers.* (1999) 13:361–87.

disregarded for risk assessment purposes (65). In line with previous research [e.g., (20)], the present study has shown that the supplemental use of prison officers' ratings of inmate behavior can improve risk assessment. Although the validity of the EPB factor was most convincing, it may be advisable to assess various characteristics of prison behavior to fully understand behavioral changes (6). Pragmatically, the SWAP-RS allows prison officers to systematically rate inmates' behavior in a quick and reliable manner and can be easily implemented into regular case management routines. We conclude that prison officers' observations, if assessed systematically, can be a valuable complement for treatment evaluation and risk assessment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JH, RL, and K-PD contributed conception and design of the study. JH organized the database and performed the statistical analysis and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. RL wrote parts of the manuscript and revised the first draft. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: The evaluation project was funded by the Senate for Justice, Consumer Protection and Anti-Discrimination of Berlin, Germany.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the division managers and prison officers of the correctional treatment facilities for their kind assistance and our students for supporting us in data collection and encoding. We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité-Universitäsmedizin Berlin.

- Jones LF. Offence paralleling behavior (OPB) as a framework for assessment and interventions with offenders. In: Needs A, Towl G, editors, *Applying Psychology to Forensic Practice*, Oxford: BPS-Blackwell (2004). p. 34–63.
- Mann RE, Thornton D, Wakama S, Dyson M, Atkinson D. Applying the concept of offence paralleling behaviour to sex offender assessment in secure settings. In: Daffern M, Jones L, Shine J, editors, *Offence Paralleling Behavior: A Case Formulation Approach to Offender Assessment and Intervention*. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell (2010). p. 121–36.
- Atkinson DF, Mann RE. Prison officers as observers of offence paralleling behaviours: an untapped resource? J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. (2012) 23:139–55. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2012.6 68209
- 9. Merrell KW. Behavioral, Social, and Emotional Assessment of Children and Adolescents (2nd.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence-Erlbaum (2002).
- Barriga AQ, Landau JR, Stinson BL, Liau AK, Gibbs JC. Cognitive distortion and problem behaviors in adolescents. *Crim. Justice Behav.* (2000) 27:36–56. doi: 10.1177/00938548000270 01003

- Gendreau P, Little T, Goggin CE. A meta-analysis of the predictors of adult offender recidivism: what works!. *Criminology* (1996) 34:575–607. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9125.1996.tb0 1220.x
- Milton J, McCartney M, Duggan C, Evans C, Collins M, McCarthy L, et al. Beauty in the eye of the beholder? How high security hospital psychopathically-disordered patients rate their own interpersonal behaviour. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. (2005) 16:552–65. doi: 10.1080/14789940500098194
- Westen D, Weinberger J. When clinical description becomes statistical prediction. Am Psychol. (2004) 59:595–613. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.59.7.595
- McConaughy SH, Ritter DR. Best practices in multidimensional assessment of emotional or behavioral disorders. In Thomas A. and Grimes J. editors. *Best practices in school psychology*. Washington, DC: NASP. (2002). p. 865–873.
- Dvoskin JA, Spiers EM. On the role of correctional officers in prison mental health. *Psychiatr Quart.* (2004) 75:41–59. Available online at: https://link. springer.com/article/10.1023/B:PSAQ.0000007560.09475.a0
- 16. Quay HO. *Standards for Adult Correctional Institutions*. Washington, DC: Federal Bureau of Prisons (1983).
- Levinson RB. Developments in the classification process: quay's AIMS approach. Crim. Justice Behav. (1988) 15:24–38. doi: 10.1177/0093854888015001004
- Cooke DJ, Walker A, Gardiner W. Behavioral disturbance in Barlinnie Prison. Prison Serv J. (1990) 80:2–8.
- Cooke DJ. The development of the prison behavior rating scale. *Crim. Justice Behav.* (1998) 25:482–506. doi: 10.1177/0093854898025004005
- Cooke DJ. Predicting offending in prison: the predictive validity of the Prison Behaviour Rating Scales. *Legal Criminol Psychol.* (1996) 1:65–82. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8333.1996.tb00307.x
- Blackburn R. Criminality and the interpersonal circle in mentally disordered offenders. Crim. Justice Behav. (1998) 25:155–76. doi: 10.1177/0093854898025002001
- 22. Blackburn R, Glasgow DV. *Manual for the Chart of Interpersonal Reactions in Closed Living Environments (CIRCLE)*. Unpublished manuscript, University of Liverpool (2006).
- Doyle M, Dolan M. Evaluating the validity of anger regulation problems, interpersonal style, and disturbed mental state for predicting inpatient violence. *Behav Sci Law* (2006) 24:783–98. doi: 10.1002/bsl.739
- 24. Daffern M, Tonkin M, Howells K, Krishnan G, Ijomah G, Milton J. The impact of interpersonal style and perceived coercion on aggression and self-harm in personality-disordered patients admitted to a secure psychiatric hospital. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. (2010) 21:426–45. doi: 10.1080/14789940903505951
- Vernham Z, Tapp J, Moore E. Observer ratings of interpersonal behavior as predictors of aggression and self-harm in a high-security sample of male forensic inpatients. J Interpers Violence (2016) 31:1597–617. doi: 10.1177/0886260515569060
- Dolan M, Blackburn R. Interpersonal factors as predictors of disciplinary infractions in incarcerated personality disordered offenders. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2006) 40:897–907. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.10.003
- Marin-Avellan LE, McGauley G, Campbell C, Fonagy P. Using the SWAP-200 in a personality-disordered forensic population: is it valid, reliable and useful? *Crim Behav Mental Health* (2005) 15:28–45. doi: 10.1002/cbm.35
- Hausam J, Lehmann RJ, Dahle KP. Diagnostischer Nutzen einer strukturierten Erfassung von Verhaltensbeobachtungen des allgemeinen Vollzugdiensts im Jugendstrafvollzug [Diagnostic utility of structured assessment of behavioral obervations by prison warders in juvenile offender prisons]. Forensische Psychiatr Psychol Kriminol. (2017) 11:163–74. doi: 10.1007/s11757-017-0416-5
- Shedler J, Westen D. Refining the measurement of Axis II: a Q-sort procedure for assessing personality pathology. Assessment (1998) 5:335–55. doi: 10.1177/107319119800500403
- Westen D, Shedler J, Bradley B, DeFife JA. An empirically derived taxonomy for personality diagnosis: bridging science and practice in conceptualizing personality. *Am J Psychiatry* (2012) 169:273–84. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020274
- 31. Marin-Avellan LE, McGauley GA, Campbell CD, Fonagy P. The validity and clinical utility of structured diagnoses of antisocial personality

disorder with forensic patients. J Pers Disord. (2014) 28:500-17. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2014_28_129

- DeFife JA, Malone JC, DiLallo J, Westen D. Assessing adolescent personality disorders with the Shedler-Westen Assessment Procedure for Adolescents. *Clin Psychol Sci Pract.* (2013) 20:393–407. doi: 10.1111/cpsp. 12049
- Cicchetti DV. Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychol. Assess.* (1994) 6:284.
- Shedler J, Westen D. (2004). Dimensions of Personality Pathology: An Alternative to the Five-Factor Model. Am J Psychiatry 161:1743–1754. doi: 10.1176/ajp.161.10.1743
- Löffler-Stastka H, Ponocny-Seliger E, Fischer-Kern M, Rössler-Schülein H, Leithner-Dziubas K, Schuster P. Validation of the SWAP-200 for diagnosing psychostructural organization in personality disorders. *Psychopathology* (2007) 40:35–46. doi: 10.1159/000096388
- Hare RD. The Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R). Toronto, CA: MHS (2003).
- 37. Andrews DA, Bonta J. The Psychology of Criminal Conduct (5th ed.). New Providence, NJ: Lexis Nexis (2010).
- Andrews DA, Bonta J. LSI-R: The Level of Service Inventory-Revised. Toronto, CA: Multi-Health Systems (1995).
- Robbé MDV, Vogel VD, Douglas KS. Risk factors and protective factors: a two-sided dynamic approach to violence risk assessment. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol. (2013) 24:440–57. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2013. 818162
- Dahle KP, Harwardt F, Schneider-Njepel V, Andrews D, Bonta J. Inventar zur Einschätzung des Rückfallrisikos und des Betreuungs-und Behandlungsbedarfs von Straftätern (LSI-R), Manual [LSI-R: German version]. Göttingen: Hogrefe (2012).
- 41. Webster CD, Douglas KS, Eaves D, Hart SD. *HCR-20: Assessing Risk of Violence (Version 2)*. Vancouver, CA: Simon Fraser University (1997).
- Müller-Isberner R, Jöckel D, Cabeza SG. Die Vorhersage von Gewalttaten mit dem HCR-20 [The prediction of violence with the HCR-20 scheme]. Haina, GER: Institut für Forensische Psychiatrie (1998).
- Dahle KP. Strengths and limitations of actuarial prediction of criminal reoffence in a German prison sample: a comparative study of LSI-R, HCR-20 and PCL-R. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2006) 29:431–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2006.03.001
- MacCallum RC, Widaman KF, Zhang S, Hong S. Sample size in factor analysis. Psychol Methods (1999) 4:84–99.
- 45. O'connor BP. SPSS and SAS programs for determining the number of components using parallel analysis and Velicer's MAP test. *Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput.* (2000) 32:396–402. doi: 10.3758/BF03200807
- Hayton JC, Allen DG, Scarpello V. Factor retention decisions in exploratory factor analysis: a tutorial on parallel analysis. Organ Res Methods (2004) 7:191–205. doi: 10.1177/1094428104263675
- Fabrigar LR, Wegener DT. Exploratory Factor Analysis. Oxford: University Press (2011).
- Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson (2013).
- Rice ME, Harris GT. Comparing effect sizes in follow-up studies: ROC Area, Cohen's d, and r. Law Hum Behav. (2005) 29:615–20. doi: 10.1007/s10979-005-6832-7
- 50. Nunnally J. Psychometric Methods (2nd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw Hill (1978).
- 51. Fleiss JL, Levin B, Paik MC. Statistical Methods for Rates and Proportions (3rd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley and Sons (2003).
- Tzelgov J, Henik A. Suppression situations in psychological research: Definitions, implications, and applications. *Psychological Bulletin* (1991) 109:524–536. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.109.3.524
- Krueger RF, McGue M, Iacono WG. The higher-order structure of common DSM mental disorders: internalization, externalization, and their connections to personality. *Pers Individ Dif* (2001) 30:1245–59. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00106-9
- Krueger RF, Markon KE. Reinterpreting comorbidity: a model-based approach to understanding and classifying psychopathology. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2006) 2:111–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.2.022305.095213

- 55. Kowalski RM. Behaving Badly: Aversive Behaviors in Interpersonal Relationships. Washington, DC: APA (2001).
- Paulhus DL, Williams KM. The dark triad of personality: Narcissism, Machiavellianism, and psychopathy. J Res Pers. (2002) 36:556–63. doi: 10.1016/S0092-6566(02)00505-6
- Jones DN, Paulhus DL. The role of impulsivity in the Dark Triad of personality. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2011) 51:679–82. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2011.04.011
- Furnham A, Richards SC, Paulhus DL. The Dark Triad of personality: a 10 year review. Soc Personal Psychol Compass (2013) 7:199-216. doi: 10.1111/spc3.12018
- Walters GD. Predicting institutional adjustment and recidivism with the psychopathy checklist factor scores: a meta-analysis. *Law Hum. Behav.* (2003) 27:541–58. Available online at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A: 1025490207678
- Hanson RK, Morton-Bourgon KE. The characteristics of persistent sexual offenders: a meta-analysis of recidivism studies. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2005) 73:1154–63. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1154
- 61. Zamble E, Porporino FJ. *Coping, Behavior, and Adaptation in Prison Inmates.* New York, NY: Springer (2013).
- Scoones CD, Willis GM, Grace RC. Beyond static and dynamic risk factors: the incremental validity of release planning for predicting sex offender recidivism. *J Interpers Violence* (2012) 27:222–38. doi: 10.1177/0886260511416472
- 63. Suhling S, Rehder U. Zum Zusammenhang zwischen Vollzugslockerungen, Unterbringung im offenen Vollzug und Legalbewährung bei Sexualstraftätern

[On the relationship between temporary absence status, minimum security confinement, and recidivism in sexual offenders]. *Forensische Psychiatr Psychol Kriminol.* (2009) 3:37–46. doi: 10.1007/s11757-008-0107-3

- Lehmann RJB, Dahle K-P, Schmidt AF. Primer on the contribution of crime scene behavior to the forensic assessment of sexual offenders. *Eur Psychol.* (2018) 23:154–66. doi: 10.1027/1016-9040/a000324
- 65. McDougall C, Pearson D, Bowles R, Cornick J. Institutional offence behaviour monitoring as an aid to community supervision of high risk offenders: experience from multi-agency public protection arrangements. In Daffern M, Jones L, Shine J, editors, Offence Paralleling Behavior: A Case Formulation Approach to Offender Assessment and Intervention, Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell (2010). p. 185–202.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Hausam, Lehmann and Dahle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Implementation of a Suicide Risk Screening Instrument in a Remand Prison Service in Berlin

Dora Dezsö¹, Norbert Konrad¹, Katharina Seewald² and Annette Opitz-Welke^{1*}

¹ Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Charité University Hospital Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Research & Development Division, Berlin Prison & Probation Services, Berlin, Germany

In the present study, we examined the effects of implementing the suicide risk screening instrument SIRAS in a pre-trial detention facility for men in Berlin. Within a period of 3 months, all newly arriving prisoners were screened (n = 611) by social workers or prison officers. Cases of elevated suicide risk were immediately referred to a psychologist or medical staff the same day. Follow-up over a 6-month period showed that 14% of all incoming prisoners were classified as high-risk individuals. These individuals received significantly more psychological and psychiatric treatment and were significantly more likely to be accommodated in crisis intervention rooms and emergency community accommodation (shared prison cells). In addition, it was found that despite the increased amount of treatment in the high-risk group, the number of specific measures did not increase significantly compared to the pre-implementation phase (N = 1,510).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Athanassios Douzenis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, Greece

Reviewed by:

Axel Haglund, Swedish National Board of Forensic Medicine, Sweden Petros Ntounas, Athens University Medical School, "Attikon" General Hospital and the Psychiatric Hospital of Attica, Greece

*Correspondence:

Annette Opitz-Welke Annette.opitz-welke@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 September 2018 Accepted: 19 November 2018 Published: 11 December 2018

Citation:

Dezsö D, Konrad N, Seewald K and Opitz-Welke A (2018) Implementation of a Suicide Risk Screening Instrument in a Remand Prison Service in Berlin. Front. Psychiatry 9:665. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00665 Keywords: suicide prevention, suicide screening, penal institution, pre-trial detention, prison suicide

BACKGROUND

Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among prisoners is many times higher and suicide is one of the leading causes of death in prison (1-4). The exact rate of suicide varies widely according to the study design, with values most frequently reported at 2- to 10-times higher rate compared to the general population (5, 6). Different studies use different suicide-rate calculations, sometimes with major methodological problems (7, 8). Thus, for example, the presumably large number of unreported and hence unofficial numbers of suicides in the general population is not sufficiently taken into account as a comparison group whereas the number of unreported cases in prison settings is relatively low due to close monitoring. The arising problem is the difficulty to compare the suicide rates of those two groups. In addition, statistics can be distorted as well by varying definitions of suicide; some studies include the overdose of drugs or are unable to include suicidal intentions covered as traffic or household accidents (9).

Despite methodological issues, it can generally be claimed that suicide is a real problem in prison and prisoners face an elevated number of risk factors. Konrad (10) found a 6.5 times higher suicide rate among male prisoners compared to the age-and sex- matched general population (11). Lohner and Konrad (12) found that the characteristics of suicides in pre-trial detention appear relatively homogenous as opposed to detention where those risk factors are more heterogeneous.

For example, a census conducted by the criminologists in the Lower Saxony prison on 1067 cases between 2000 and 2013 (N = 1,067) shows that among detained prisoners suicide risk among prisoners increased in several age ranges, younger age groups having a higher risk as opposed to remand prisoners where high risk group prisoners were mainly in the over-40s age group. Similarly, the timing of the suicidal act showed differences between sentenced and remand prisoners (13).

It is widely known that within the prison system, suicides are more common among remand prisoners. Especially in the first days of detention, an increased suicide is generally found (5, 14). A possible explanation is the so-called "confinement shock" (2, 15–17). First incarceration experiences, social deprivation, loss of control and uncertainty characterize the period of pre-trial detention and therefore require stable and pronounced coping skills (18).

With regards to suicidal development according to Plödinger (19), 3 phases can be observed. At deliberation stage (Phase 1), suicidality is considered as a possible solution to the problem. The stage of ambivalence (Phase 2) is characterized by a struggle between life-sustaining and self-destructive impulses, direct and indirect suicide announcements can appear. At the decision-making stage (Phase 3), the decision to take one's life is already made and expressed to the environment in form of apparent relaxation and calmness and should not be misunderstood as improvement (20). Hence, the identification of individuals at risk of suicide requires a lot of attention and sensitivity and is even a greater challenge in daily routine.

One option to deal with this problem is the use of screening tools to be able to detect prisoners at high risk of suicide faster and transfer them to specialized staff accordingly. By identifying risk factors highly associated with suicide screening procedures can be used for all prisoners and detect vulnerable individuals. It is important to emphasize that screening procedures are not designed to replace a professional judgment. In fact it can facilitate to transfer high-risk prisoners for further assessments (21) since when assessing the risk of suicide not only the presence of certain risk factors must be considered but suicidality should also be clarified in a direct, empathetic and open face-to-face conversation (22).

If we want to measure the effects of suicide prevention, we face the problem of small absolute numbers in prison settings. To capture the impact of introducing a screening instrument it is therefore only possible to measure parameters that, according to established literature (1, 2, 8, 23–27) are associated with acute crises and suicidal behavior such as frequency of psychological interventions, psychiatric consultation, referral to inpatient psychiatric wards, use of antidepressant medication and other psychotropic drugs, transfer to high-secure-cells due to acute suicidal tendencies, arrangement of special observations and placement in emergency community accommodation i.e., shared prison cells.

Some of these associated parameters are well-documented in the context of the German prison system in the established literature.

In Germany, prison sentences are usually served in single accommodation. Research shows that most suicides are committed between 7:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. (28) and in single accommodation (8). Therefore, in Germany, in the case of suspected suicidality, a so-called "emergency community accommodation" is ordered as a preventive measure to reduce suicide risk. When an "emergency community accommodation" is ordered, the detainee is moved to a community cell with two detainees each. This reduces social isolation and facilitates

interpersonal exchange with a roommate. Another measure in the case of suicide suspicion is the order of special observation, in which the staff visits the detainees at regular intervals. Liebling (29) found that people preferred to share a detention room before their suicide attempt, that they experienced isolation and were more frequently in crisis intervention space. An extensive study of 423 suicides (9) found that about two-thirds of the prisoners were in solitary confinement at the time of the suicide.

Although the use of antidepressant medication in the treatment of depression and suicide prophylaxis is controversial in the literature and the media (30), it is assumed, according to status quo in medicine, that antidepressant medication counteracts feelings of tension, insomnia, and depression. Studies indicate a prevalence of 14–95% of mental illnesses in suicide cases in prisons (16, 17, 31, 32). In particular, depressive and psychotic disorders show a strong association with suicidality (33), so it can be assumed that these changes act in the sense of suicide prevention (2).

In the study we used the associated parameters mentioned in this section to follow up the usefulness of the modified suicide screening method SIRAS (11).

AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

The present study aims at examining the impact of the implementation of a suicide risk screening tool in Berlin remand detention. The study continues the work by Dahle et al. (11) using the screening instrument SIRAS and—by measuring the impact on the number of specific interventions during the study period and its targeting to the identified high-risk-group—testing the usefulness of implementing a short suicide risk screening instrument in practice. The screening was implemented with an Experimental Group (EG) of prisoners arriving to the prison facility over a certain timeframe and compared with a Comparison Group (CG) of prisoners arrived prior to the implementation. Both groups were followed up for the subsequent 6 months to test the hypothesis.

The following research hypotheses were examined:

- Hypothesis 1: The screening instrument reliably predicts suicide risk.
- Hypothesis 2: High-risk inmates receive a significantly higher amount of interventions compared to the nonhigh-risk group.
- 2.1 High-risk inmates will receive significantly more psychological interventions.
- 2.2 High-risk inmates will receive significantly more psychiatric examinations.
- 2.3 High-risk inmates will receive significantly more often psychopharmacological treatment.
- 2.4 High-risk inmates will be transferred more frequently in the Crisis Intervention Room (CIR).
- 2.5 High-risk inmates will be referred significantly more often to inpatient psychiatric treatment.
- 2.6 Specialized observations are ordered significantly more often in the case of high-risk inmates.

2.7 For high-risk inmates, emergency community accommodation (i.e., shared cells) will be ordered significantly more often in the future.

Hypothesis 3: In the Experimental Group (EG) the interventions are more targeted as in the Comparison group (CG). There is no significant difference in the number of interventions between the Experimental Group (EG) and Comparison group (CG).

Through the structured introduction of the screening, our aim was to expand the skills of employees in dealing with suicidality and thus relieve the staff.

METHODS

Materials

The suicide screening procedure (SIRAS) was used for a period of 3 months between March and May in Berlin pre-trial detention for men.

The instrument is based on the Dutch instrument Screening of Suicide Risk of Prisoners by Blaauw et al. (25). By analyzing the files of 95 detainees who died of suicide, the research group identified 8 risk factors that could be replicated both in UK and US prison settings (34).

Aiming at simplifying the application of the instrument for clinically untrained personnel in German prison settings Dahle et al. (11) conducted a retrospective file analysis of 30 prisoners who died of suicide in the Berlin pre-trial detention. The instrument was validated, optimized and translated in German. For non-clinical use, the two items "Psychosis or Axis II Disorders (DSM-IV)" and "Past Psychiatric Treatment" were removed from the original version. Although these clinical factors are of great relevance, the assessment of these items in the screening process by non-clinical staff is difficult.

In addition, the evaluation process was simplified by recoding. The new threshold of 3 points was determined using an ROC analysis (AUC 0.881, p < 0.001, 95% CI from 0.793 to 0.969). The modified version of the screening sheet had a sensitivity of 70% and a specificity of 93%. (11).

The final version of the German Scale for Initial Risk Assessment (SIRAS) contains the weighted items presented in **Table 1**: age, pre-detention, drug use, previous attempted suicide or self-harming behavior, current suicidal statements, or suicide attempts (35).

Procedure

Before the key date of the implementation, the users, namely social workers and prison officers were informed about the theoretical background of the screening and received training for the instrument.

As can be seen in **Table 1**, the data included in the screening instrument are basic data that are usually collected during the admission process. Thus, the novelty is not the collection itself but the structured form the tool been used and the obligatory presentation to a psychologist or medical staff when a certain cutoff (3 or more points) is reached. From 01.03.2016 to 31.05.2016 the screening was carried out with each new arrival to the prison facility. A group of prisoners who entered the

TABLE 1 | Description of screening items and rating.

Items	Description	Yes	No
Age 40+	Aged 40 years or more	1	0
No permanent residency	No permanent residency prior to incarceration	1	0
None or one previous incarceration	None or one previous incarceration	1	0
Multiple misuse of drugs	Biographical consumption of serious drugs (at least one a week) combined with regular consumption of weaker drugs and/or consumption of a greater amount of alcohol and/or medication.	1	0
Known previous suicide attempts or self-harming behavior	Biographical suicidal attempts or intentional self-harming behavior (cuts, intoxication, etc.) are known.	1	0
Suicidal expressions or suicide attempt	Suicidal ideation is expressed during current incarceration or suicide attempts have taken place already.	3	0
Sum			

Jann

With a sum score of three or more the individual should immediately be transferred to a psychologist or medical staff.

prison during the 3 months prior the study period (01.12.2015–29.02.2016) served as comparison group. Both groups were followed up for the subsequent 6 months. The experimental group was additionally divided according to the screening results into a high-risk group (sum of 3 or more) and the non-high-risk group.

In the Berlin pre-trial detention each newly admitted person goes through a reception routine. As part of a regular admission interview which is carried out by a social worker or prison officer when prisoners arrive outside of office hours, the SIRAS sheet was completed and the result recorded in the digital documentation system. In the case of a positive screening result of three points or more, the person had to be presented to a psychologist or medical staff the same day, who would initiate adequate interventions in case of indication.

Participants

The sample consisted of all arrivals to Berlin remand prison between March and May 2016. Two exclusion criteria were defined (1) transport prisoners were excluded who, because of their status, did not undergo the routine procedure of pre-trial detention and probably spend only a short time in the prison; (2) those detainees who had been admitted prior to the study period but were temporarily transferred to the prison hospital for health reasons.

The final sample included data from 1,510 male volunteers, the mean age in the comparison and experimental group was 35 years. All the subjects participating were admitted and located in remand prison. Majority were in remand although some of the inmates were already convicted. **Table 2** shows descriptive results. The majority of subjects were accused of theft (40.07%), drug offenses (15.43%), and fraud (13.77%).
TABLE 2 | Descriptive of study sample.

Variable	Study	N	Remand	Age	Mean
	period		custody	min-max	age
Comparison group	01.12.15–29.02.16	899	70%	20–97	35.2
Experimental group	01.03.16–31.05.16	611	69%	21–73	35.3

Data Analysis

Data entry and analysis was performed by the first author who was not associated to the prison but present on-site as a point of contact every week during the study period. The analysis was carried out using SPSS (36). The variables were tested for normal distribution using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. In the absence of a normal distribution, non-parametric methods (Kruskal– Wallis test and Chi-squared test) were used, which do not have the assumption of a normal distribution or a similarly large group size. The significance level was set at 5%.

RESULTS

During the implementation phase, n = 834 detainees were admitted to the remand prison facility. In n = 223 cases data on suicide screening was missing, resulting in a total sample of n = 611 collected screening data, of which n = 605 were reliably completed and could be considered in the evaluation. In order to avoid any damage, the questionnaires which were not completely filled out but reached a sum score above three (crucial cut off) were considered for inclusion into the high-risk group, leading to a sample of n = 611.

Sum score ranged from 0 to 7 point, mean score was 1.56, standard deviation was 1.10. The overall result is that 14.21% (n = 86) of the subjects met the screening criteria as a person at high-risk of suicide. Thus, 14.21% (n = 86) of newly arrested detainees were presented to a psychologist or medical staff on the day of arrival. Looking at the scores in detail (**Figure 1**), it can be noted that 9.32% (n = 56) of the experimental group reached a score of 3 points, 2.50% (n = 15) a score of 4 points, 1.33% (n = 8) a score of 5 points and <1% reached 6–7 points (n = 3, n = 2) (37).

No clear pattern can be identified when comparing the SIRAS score to allegedly committed offense. It can however be established that 39% (n = 22) of the detainees with a SIRAS score of 3 and 33% (n = 5) of the detainees with a SIRAS score of 4 were detained for alleged theft, while 38% (n = 3) of the detainees with a SIRAS score of 5 were detained for alleged drug offenses. Detainees with a SIRAS score of 6 were detained in equal ratios either for alleged causing of bodily injuries, drug offenses, or theft (33% each, n = 3). Detainees with a SIRAS score of 7 were detained in equal parts for alleged sexual assault or theft (50% each, n = 2).

Hypothesis 1. During the study period, there was no suicide reported in the facility. In n = 4 individuals enforceable arrangement was documented (e.g., emergency community accommodation, special observation, crisis intervention room).

Hypothesis 2.1. There were significant differences in the number of psychological interventions (N = 605, Kruskal–Wallis test, $p \le 0.01$) between the high-risk group and the non-high-risk group. There were no psychological interventions in 31.4% (n = 27) high-risk prisoners, instead they received medical attention, potentially because they were admitted after 5 p.m. In 45.30% (n = 39), a single psychological intervention was conducted. Two or more psychological interventions were conducted with 23.20% (n = 20), with 2 and 4 interviews being most frequent (n = 5, n = 7) (**Figure 2**). Looking at the non-high-risk group, it can be observed that 86.30% (n = 448) did not receive a single psychological interventions (**Figure 2**).

Furthermore, significant differences in the frequency of the psychiatric consultation (N = 605, Kruskal–Wallis test, $p \le 0.01$) were observed (Hypothesis 2.2).

Looking closer at the psychopharmacological treatment, 40.70% (n = 35) of the high-risk group and 20.62% (n = 107) of the non-high-risk group did receive any type of psychopharmacological medication. 22.09% (n = 19) of the high-risk group and 8.67% (n = 45) of the non-high-risk group received neuroleptic or sedative medication. 23.26% (n = 20) of the high-risk group and only 12.91% (n = 67) of the non-high-risk group received antidepressant medication.

Data confirms significantly more prisoners in the high-risk group received antidepressant medication (hypothesis 2.3) as opposed to the non-high-risk group (N = 605, Pearson chi-squared test = 6.414, p < 0.05).

Hypothesis 2.4 could also be confirmed, high-risk individuals were placed significantly more often in the crisis intervention rooms (N = 605, Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.000) (**Table 3**).

Differences between the high-risk and non-high-risk groups regarding admission to inpatient psychiatric treatment (Hypothesis 2.5) did not exist (N = 605, Pearson chi-squared test = 4.229, Exact p = 0.099).

Hypotheses 2.6 and 2.7 could be confirmed. The number of special observations (N = 605, Kruskal–Wallis test, p < 0.01) and emergency community accommodation (N = 605, Kruskal–Wallis test, p < 0.01) were significantly different between the high-risk group and the non-high risk-group.

Following section presents retrospective analysis of the comparison group (admission between 01.12.2015 and 29.02.2016) to the experimental group. Results confirm Hypothesis 3:

Overall, there were no significant differences given the frequency of psychological interventions (N = 1,510, Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.185) and psychiatric consultations (N = 1,510, Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.881).

Also, there were no significant differences (N = 1,510, Pearson chi-squared test = 6.414, p = 0.880) in the antidepressant drug prescription. 14.68% (n = 132) of the subjects in the comparison group and 14.40% (n = 88) in the experimental group received antidepressant medication. 11.34% (n = 102) of the subjects in the comparison group and 10.47% (n = 64) in the experimental group received neuroleptic or sedative medication.





Significant difference (N = 1,510, Pearson chi-squared test = 13.844, p < 0.01) was found with regards to admission to inpatient psychiatric treatment. In the comparison group, n = 33out of N = 899 people (3.7%) and in the experimental group, n = 4 out of N = 611 people (0.6%) required inpatient treatment. There were no significant differences in the arrangements of emergency community accommodation

1,510, Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.747) and

specific observations (N = 1,510, Kruskal–Wallis test, p = 0.280).

DISCUSSION

By introducing the screening, our aim was to implement a structured course of action for the deliberate handling of

(N =

TABLE 3 | Rank mean scores of accommodation in crisis intervention cell.

Variable	Ν	Mean rank
Non-high-risk group	519	299.19
High-risk group	86	325.97

suicidality in the remand prison system, without generating a significant, unreasonable additional effort.

In order to test effectiveness of suicide handling we set up the study to analyze the number of suicide related treatments between the risk groups. The dimension of additional effort was analyzed comparing the overall number of treatments before and after the implementation phase of the screening tool.

14.21% (n = 86) of the experimental group scored with 3 points or more and were thus classified as high-risk individuals. The comparison of the experimental (EG) and comparison group (CG) showed that there was no significant additional effort during the study period compared to the period before introducing the new screening tool. However, a significant effect was the shift in focus of interventions in favor of the high-risk group. This indicates a more effective use of resources after implementation of the screening tool.

Most interesting is the distribution of the need of psychological interventions and antidepressant medication. It is assumed that a psychologist is able to assess the function and the limits of a screening tool and examine the indication for further intervention. Significantly more subjects in the high-risk group received 2 or more psychological interventions on the basis of clinical criteria and not only because of an elevated screening score. The results from analyzing the experimental group and the comparison group support this hypothesis, since the general number of interventions in the implementation phase (study period) did not increase significantly. One possible explanation for this result is that individuals who were actively requesting psychological interventions or who were very vocal and exposed are often screened before the screening. However, this approach often overlooks individuals who are at risk of suicide. It is probable that the introduction of the screening tool enabled the psychologists to address another clientele, the silent endangered (38).

It was found that high-risk individuals were more likely to be accommodated in an emergency community, crisis intervention cell or to receive specific observations. The accommodation in the crisis intervention room is sometimes necessary to isolate individuals from external stimuli. However, it is also critical to note here that isolation in a phase of acute suicidal tendencies does not always work in the sense of suicide prevention and is sometimes used as a disciplinary measure even for prisoners with pronounced behavioral problems (38). It can only be claimed that it is an indicator that the detainee has become exposed in any way. Nevertheless, the comparison of the comparisonand the experimental group showed that before implementing the screening, more frequent accommodation in the crisis intervention room and in-patient psychiatric accommodation were necessary. One possible explanation could be the early receipt of psychological and psychopharmacological support during the study period of implementing the new tool.

This supported by the results showing that antidepressant drug prescription and other psychopharmacological medications were increased in the high-risk group, but generally no more prescriptions were recorded during the implementation period compared to the period before implementation.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Suicide in jail is influenced by the combination of individual and institutional risk factors (1). Since specific prisons differ widely in terms of various aspects affecting suicidality (type of detention, level of overcrowding, number of professionals, structural conditions, management style, etc.) it is important to emphasize that any transformation or modification of the screening sheet should be accompanied in advance by statistical knowledge. Lohner (39) propose that each institution should set up a risk profile with regards to its individual circumstances or, in view of the scarcity of resources, use at least one screening instrument which, in the developmental sample, resembles that of its own institution.

Future studies should also consider the salutogenic model by Antonovsky (40), and include the nature and the relation of stressors and risk factors and generalized resistance resources (protective factors) in the risk assessment of suicidality.

Also, since the inclusion of interpreters on the day of admission seems to be relatively difficult future studies should target how conducting a suicide screening with non-Germanspeaking prisoners can be managed.

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The main advantage of the study is the prospective design. Collecting pre-defined variables tailored to the requirements of the study is less prone to bias errors and uncovers additional knowledge as opposed to a retrospective design studies (18).

An additional strength of the study is the large sample size and the nature of the sample as a cohort of admissions.

Most research in suicide prevention follows a retrospective design and can thus measure suicidality with fixed outcome events (8). The key limitation of this study comes from the use of associated parameters to measure the risk of suicide. As we opted to gain additional knowledge in comparison to the various retrospective file analyzes (18), the prospective design of this study lacked focus on the outcome event of suicide. In the future, further validation of the suicide screening tool using outcome measures of suicide should be undertaken.

Another limitation of the study comes from its naturalistic design. Some factors (e.g., staffing and prison regimen) are hard to keep stable during the length of the study.

CONCLUSION

Finally, with implementing a simple and short screening, various changes in the handling of suicidality in remand prison system were noticeable. There has been a shift in specific interventions toward the high-risk group, while the number of interventions in the period before and during the implementation phase did not significantly increase. In addition, it can be stated with reservations that fewer psychiatric decompensation levels were recorded during the implementation of the tool. Through a structured process, the psychologists were more involved in the admission procedure and could use its expertise more effectively. The screening fulfilled the goal of establishing a structured and cost-efficient course of suicide prevention and thus can support staff in the long run.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Charité's Ethics Committee (Berlin) and in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Since the study relied on basic data already collected by the

REFERENCES

- Fazel S, Ramesh T, Hawton K. Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2017) 4:946–52. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30430-3
- Favril L, Vander Laenen F, Vandeviver C, Audenaert K. Suicidal ideation while incarcerated: Prevalence and correlates in a large sample of male prisoners in Flanders, Belgium. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2017) 55:19–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2017.10.005
- Fazel S, Ballargeon J. The health of prisoners. *Lancet* (2011) 377:956–65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7
- Hall B, Gabor P. Peer suicide prevention in prison. J Crisis Intervent Suicide Prev. (2004) 25:19–26. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910.25.1.19
- Ayhan G, Arnal R, Basurko C, About V, Pastre A, Pinganaud E, et al. Suicide risk among prisoners in French Guiana: prevalence and predictive factors. *BMC Psychiatry* (2017) 17:156. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1320-4
- Fazel S, Grann M, Kling B, Hawton K. Prison suicide in 12 countries: an ecological study of 861 suicides during 2003-2007. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2011) 46:191–5. doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0184-4
- Suto I, Arnaut GLY. Suicide in prison: a qualitative study. Prison J. (2010) 90:288–312. doi: 10.1177/0032885510373499
- Daniel AE. Preventing suicide in prison: a collaborative responsibility of administrative, custodial, and clinical staff. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law (2006) 34:165–75.
- Bennefeld-Kersten K. Ausgeschieden Durch Suizid Selbsttötungen im Gefängnis. Zahlen, Fakten, Interpretationen. Lengede: Pabst Verlag (2009).
- Konrad, N. Suizid in haft-europähische entwicklungen unter berücksichtigung der situation in der schweiz. Schweiz. Arch. Neurol. Psychiatr. (2002) 153:131–6. doi: 10.4414/sanp.2002.01268
- Dahle KP, Lohner JC, Konrad N. Suicide prevention in penal institutions: validation and optimization of a screening tool for early identification of high-risk inmates in pretrial detention. *Int J Forensic Health* (2005) 4:53–62. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2005.10471212
- 12. Lohner J, Konrad N. Preventing suicide in penal institutions. *Direct Psychiatry* (2009) 29:39–49.
- Bennefeld-Kersten K, Lohner J, Pecher W. Freitod? Selbst Mord? Bilanz Suizid? Wenn Gefangene sich das Leben nehmen. Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers (2015).
- 14. Bogue J, Power K. Suicide in Scottish prisons, 197-1993. J Forensic Psychiatry (1995) 6:527–40. doi: 10.1080/09585189508410781
- Cox JF, Morschauser PC. A solution of the problem of jail suicide. Crisis J Crisis Intervent Suicide Prev. (1997) 18:178–84. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910.18.4.178
- Gupta A, Girdhar NK. Risk factors of suicide in prisoners. *Delhi Psychiatry J.* (2012) 15:45–9.

institution, no separate written consent was necessary by the subjects. The study was conducted in full compliance with the predefined terms of and under the prior approval of the Ethics Commitee of the Charité University Hospital Berlin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DD, AO-W, and NK designed the study. DD collected the data. DD, AO-W, and NK analyzed and interpreted the data. DD and AO-W wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. DD and AO-W had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. KS translated and proof read the manuscript. All authors have contributed to read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Blaauw E, Kerkthof AJFM, Hayes LM. Identification of Suicide vulnerability in inmates on the basis of demographic and criminal characteristics and indicators of psychiatric problems. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2005) 35:63–75. doi: 10.1521/suli.35.1.63.59268
- Dye MH. Deprivation, importation, and prison suicide: combined effects of institutional conditions and inmate composition. J Crim Justice (2010) 38:796–806. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2010.05.007
- 19. Pödinger W. Die Abschätzung der Suizidalität. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber (1968).
- Meischner-Al-Mousawi M. Fortbildung-Suizidprävention für Bedienstete der Justiz. 279-292. In: Bennefeld-Kersten K, Lohner J, and Pecher W, editors. *Freitod? Selbst Mord? Bilanz Suizid? Wenn Gefangene sich das Leben nehmen*. Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers (2015) 279–292.
- Zalsman G, Hawton K, Wasserman D, Heeringen K, Arensman E, Sarchiapone M, et al. Suicide prevention strategies revisited: 10-year systematic review. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2016) 3:646–59. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30030-X
- Wolfersdorf M, Franke C, König F. Einschätzung von Suizidgefahr. Notfall Rettungsmedizin (2002) 5:96–101. doi: 10.1007/s10049-001-0412-2
- Nock MK, Hwang I, Sampson NA, Kessler RC. Mental disorders, comorbidity and suicidal behavior: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Mol Psychiatry* (2010) 15:868–76. doi: 10.1038/mp.2009.29
- Huey M, McNulty TL. Institutional conditions and prison suicide: conditional effects of deprivation and overcrowding. *Prison J.* (2005) 85:490–514. doi: 10.1177/0032885505282258
- Blaauw E, Kerkhof AJFM, Winkel FW, Sheridan L. Identifying suicide risk in penal institutions in the Netherlands. *Br J Forensic Prac.* (2001) 3:22–8. doi: 10.1108/14636646200100024
- Fazel S, Cartwright J, Norman-Nott A, Hawton D. Suicide in prisoners: a systematic review of risk factors. J Clin Psychiatriy (2008) 69:1721–31. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n1107
- Hawton K, van Heeringen K. Suicide. Lancet (2009) 373:1372–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60372-X
- He XY, Felthous AR, Holzer CE, Nathan P, Veasey S. Factors in prison suicide: one year study in Texas. J Forensic Sci (2001) 46:896–901. doi: 10.1520/JFS15065J
- Liebling A. Prison suicide and prisoner coping. In: Tonry M, and Petersilia J, editors. *Crime and Justice* Chicago, IL: The University of Chicago Press (1999). p. 283–359. doi: 10.1086/449299
- Menke A, Domschke K, Czamara D, Klengel T, Hennings J, Lucae S, et al. Genome-wide association study of antidepressant treatmentemergent suicidal ideation. *Neuropsychopharmacology* (2012) 37:797–807. doi: 10.1038/npp.2011.257
- Baillargeon J, Penn JV, Thomas CR, Temple JR, Baillargeon G, Murray OJ. Psychiatric disorders and suicide in the nation's largest state prison system. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law (2009) 37:188–93.

- Frühwald S, Frottier P, Benda N, Eher R, König F, Matschnig T. Psychosoziale Charakteristika von Suizidopfern in Gefängnissen. Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift (2002) 114:691–6.
- Frühwald S, Eher R, Frottier P. What was the relevance of previous suicidal behaviour in prison suicides? *Can J Psychiatry* (2001) 46:763. doi: 10.1177/070674370104600818
- Blaauw E, Kerkhof AJFM, Hayes LM. Identification of suicide vulnerability in inmates on the basis of demographic and criminal characteristics and indicators of psychiatric problems. Unpublished.
- Lohner J. Suizidversuche und selbstschädigendes Verhalten im Justizvollzug. Kovac Verlag (2008).
- IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. Version 23.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp (2015).
- Dezsö D, Opitz-Welke A. Einsatz von Suizid Screening Instrumenten im Berliner Strafvollzug als Option zur Verhinderung von Gefängnis – Suizid? In: Lindemann E, editor. *Recht und Psychiatrie, Schwerpunktheft: Haftpsychiatrie*, Bielefeld: Psychiatrie Verlag (2018). p. 21–6
- Liebling A, Tait S, Durie L, Stiles A, Harvey J. An Evaluation of the Safer Locals Programme- Final Report. Cambridge Institute of Criminology, Prisons Research Centre (2005).

- Lohner J. Screening. In: Bennefeld-Kersten K, Lohner J, and Pecher W, editors. Freitod? Selbst Mord? Bilanz Suizid? Wenn Gefangene sich das Leben Nehmen, Teil III, Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers (2015). p. 293-300.
- Antonovsky A. Gesundheitsforschung versus Krankheitsforschung. In: Franke A, and Broda M, editors. *Psychosomatische Gesundheit Versuch einer Abkehr vom Pathogenese-Konzept*, Tübingen: DGVT-Verlag (1993). p. 3–14.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Dezsö, Konrad, Seewald and Opitz-Welke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Costs of Healthcare in Prison and Custody: Systematic Review of Current Estimates and Proposed Guidelines for Future Reporting

Shivpriya Sridhar¹, Robert Cornish² and Seena Fazel^{3*}

¹ College of Arts and Sciences, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ² Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust, Oxford, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Forensic Psychiatry, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Aims: We aimed to review prison healthcare expenditure internationally.

Objectives: To systematically review healthcare spending on prisoners worldwide, examine comparability between countries, and develop guidelines to improve reporting.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Nilsson, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Annette Opitz-Welke, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany Peter Andiné, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

*Correspondence:

Seena Fazel seena.fazel@psych.ox.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 October 2018 Accepted: 06 December 2018 Published: 20 December 2018

Citation:

Sridhar S, Cornish R and Fazel S (2018) The Costs of Healthcare in Prison and Custody: Systematic Review of Current Estimates and Proposed Guidelines for Future Reporting. Front. Psychiatry 9:716. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00716 **Methods:** Five bibliographic indexes (International Monetary Fund, ProQuest: Statistical Abstracts of the World, PubMed, Google Scholar, and JSTOR) were searched for the costs of prison and prison healthcare, supplemented with country-specific searches for the 20 countries with the highest prison populations. Information on overall healthcare costs, their breakdown by categories, and their proportion to overall prison expenditure was extracted. PRISMA guidelines were followed.

Results: Prison healthcare expenditure data was identified for 10 countries, and overall operating costs were reported for 12 countries. The most commonly reported healthcare cost was for primary medical care. Healthcare costs reporting varied widely, and few countries were comparable. We developed a set of guidelines for consistent and transparent reporting of healthcare costs.

Conclusions: Few countries report the costs of healthcare services in prison. When reported, there is a lack of clarity and consistency as to what is included. Using the proposed reporting guidelines would enable national trends and international comparisons to be investigated, and any recommended benchmarks to be monitored.

Keywords: prison, custody, detention, costs, expenditure, guidelines, healthcare services

INTRODUCTION

Healthcare in prison varies widely across countries, and differences in service provision contribute to morbidity and mortality outcomes inside custody (1) and on release (2). Many studies have examined disease prevalence rates, and prevention, care, and treatment in prison (3, 4), but the current evidence base lacks information on the costs of healthcare services. Combined with information on the prevalence of healthcare problems, international comparisons of prison health expenditure could better inform decisions on the levels of appropriate funding, enable benchmarks to be monitored, and allow for planning of service provision.

Information on the costs of operating prisons have been published since the 1950s (5), including a 2004 report of international costs (6). However, no review of prison healthcare costs across countries currently exists. Government and other reports of healthcare costs in prisons have been published, but it is not clear in reporting what particular services are included, which examine variously "medical care" (7), "prison hospitals" (8), or "prisoner health" (9). Furthermore, what is included within these categories is not clear. Scotland, for instance, lists mental health and dental care as prison healthcare expenditures (10), while Australia provides only a single overarching figure for prisoner health (9).

In this systematic review, we have aimed to provide an international overview of the annual costs of prisoner healthcare, what healthcare services are included in the identified reports, and calculate the proportion of overall prison operating budgets allocated to health. In addition, we develop and propose reporting guidelines.

METHODS

Search Strategy

We searched IMF, ProQuest: Statistical Abstracts of the World, Google Scholar, JSTOR, and PubMed databases. We performed non-country specific searches, with a combination of keywords: "prison" OR "justice," AND "expenditure," "spending," OR "costs" (Table 1 for details). Then, additional targeted searches on Google Web and government databases (e.g., Statistics Canada) were conducted for the 20 countries with the largest prison population (11) and countries included in a previous review of recidivism rates (12), with a combination of keywords: country name AND "prison healthcare cost," country name AND "ministry of justice," country name AND "prison" AND "expenditure" OR "service." No language or publication date restrictions were set, and the most recent and relevant cost report was identified. When necessary, correctional services were contacted to clarify data. A review protocol [CRD42018102534] was submitted and published on the PROSPERO register of systematic review during data extraction.

Per-prisoner estimates for each country were calculated as follows:

- 1) Identifying total expenditures from the included reports (excluding the US and Germany, which reported per-prisoner expenditure based on all state prison populations)
- 2) Calculation of per-prisoner cost (using the prison population from World Prison Brief statistics) (13). If the prison population was not available for the same year as the cost report, the following year's prison population was used;
- 3) Conversion of per-prisoner cost estimate into inflationadjusted 2016 International US dollars (using "CCEMG-EPPI-Center Cost Converter" external database). Stage 1 and 2 computational values (GDP deflator and PPP) of the validated conversion tool were obtained from IMF World Economic Outlook Database. Costs were first adjusted for inflation within original economy [using GDP deflator values], and then to purchasing power parity/price level between countries (14).

TABLE 1 | Database Search Strategies.

Database	Search terms	Additional criteria
IMF datasets	"prison" AND "expenditure" OR "prison" AND "costs"	Time series datasets (no Filters used) (classified as "Budgetary Central Government" OR "Extrabudgetary Central Government" OR "General Government" OR "Local Governments" OR "Social Security Funds" OR "State Governments" OR "Central Government" + in "Domestic Currency" OR "Percent of GDP" + "Expenditure on Prisons"
ProQuest: Statistical Abstracts of the World	"prison" AND "expenditure" OR "justice" AND "expenditure" OR "prison" AND "health"	No Applied Filters
JSTOR	"prison spending" OR "prison expenditure" OR "prison costs"	No restrictions
Google Scholar	"prison expenditure" OR "prison service spending"	No restrictions
PubMed	("prisons"[MeSH Terms] OR "prisons"[All Fields] OR "prison"[All Fields]) AND ("health expenditures"[MeSH Terms] OR ("health"[All Fields] AND "expenditures"[All Fields]) OR "health expenditures"[All Fields]) OR "expenditure"[All Fields])	No restrictions

The cost conversions in this review may be limited by using purchasing power parities for Gross Domestic Product, which cover a broader array of goods and services than contextspecific purchasing power parities (e.g., healthcare or technology purchasing power parities). However, based on the heterogeneity of costs and inventories reported by countries, purchasing power parities for Gross Domestic Product appeared to be more fitting for this review than context-specific conversion factors (14).

Study Design Geographical

Official national and regional data were extracted from search engines. Unofficial regional data was found for one country (15), but was not included.

Data Items

The measurements and descriptions of economic costs were limited to direct prison operating costs and/or healthcare costs. Studies reporting indirect costs to prisoners (e.g., productivity loss) were excluded. The most recent information was used. Most countries presented financial accounts for the 2015–16 or



2016–17 periods, so all cost outcomes were indexed to 2016 International US dollars.

Data Sources

Financial reports on prisons/correctional services solely were included. Datasets which did not specify relevant outcome measurements (i.e., prison operations, healthcare) or the population (i.e., whole country, adult prisoners) were excluded. Expenditure reporting on police, courts, or other services affiliated with Ministries of Justice was excluded, as were assessments of prisoner health services separate from expenditure data (16). Governments typically separate prison expenditures into capital and operating costs. Capital costs refer to fixed, one-time investments on buildings, equipment, or land. Operating costs of prisons refer to day-to-day running costs, accommodation-related costs, and staff costs (17). Ideally, prison healthcare broadly refers to the services in place to address health needs and reduce health risks. It can include primary and psychiatric care, and specialized services. Information for two other countries (Greece and Switzerland) were available but not used. They were not from official governmental sources, did not specify constituent elements of costs, and are likely to be underestimates (7, 15). Costs for Sweden did not include infrastructure costs and were also not included (18).

Data Extraction

One of the authors (SS) screened and extracted the data, excluding publications and data points that did not report costs, and determined the remit of the data (e.g., national, regional).

TABLE 2 | Country reports.

Country	Publisher	Source	Year of reporting	Expenditure category	Sample
Sri Lanka	Ministry of Health, Nutrition and Indigenous Medicine	National Health Accounts	2013	Health	National prison hospitals (central government-financed)
Romania	Ministry of Justice	Ministry of Justice	2016	Health	National Penitentiary System
India	Ministry of Home Affairs	National Crime Records Bureau State/UT Prison Headquarters	2015	Health and Operating	State Prisons/Jails ("prisons" and "jails" used interchangeably)
South Africa	Department of Correctional Services (DCS)	Annual Report of Department of Correctional Services	2016–17	Health and Operating	DCS National Facilities
Ireland	Irish Prison Service	Irish Prison Service	2013	Health	National - All prisons (open, closed, and high security), including pre-trial detainees
	Irish Prison Service	Irish Prison Service	2015	Operating	National - All prisons (open, closed, and high security), including pre-trial detainees
Belgium	Belgian Health Care Knowledge Centre (KCE)	KCE Report 293Cs	2015	Health	National - All Belgian prisons (35 prisons recorded in 2015)
Australia	Productivity Commission	Productivity Commission for the Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision	2015–16	Health and Operating	National - Department of Correctional Services
UK: Scotland	The Scottish Parliament	Health and Sport Committee	2016–17	Health	National - Scottish Prison Service (15 prisons)
	Scottish Prison Service	Audit Scotland	2015–16	Operating	National - Scottish Prison Service (15 prisons)
United States	PEW Charitable Trusts	PEW, Vera Institute of Justice, and state officials	2015	Health	State prisons (and jail populations of five states)
	Bureau of Justice Statistics	Department of Justice	2001	Operating	State Prisons
UK: England and Wales	National Audit Office	Comptroller and Auditor General	2016–17	Health	National
	Ministry of Justice	Ministry of Justice and HM Prison and Probation Services	2016–17	Operating/Direct	National
France	Ministry of Justice	Directorate of Prison Administration	2015	Operating	National
Singapore	Ministry of Home Affairs	Ministry of Home Affairs	2016 FY	Operating	National
Canada	Statistics Canada	Statistics Canada	2016-17	Operating	Provinces and Territories
Germany	The Berlin Senate Department for Justice and Consumer Protection	The Berlin Senate Department for Justice and Consumer Protection	2013	Operating	All German States
New Zealand	Department of Corrections	Department of Corrections	2015–16	Operating	National
UK: Northern Ireland	Northern Ireland Prison Service (NIPS)	NIPS	2016–17	Operating	National

Data Analysis

Meta-analysis was not conducted due to heterogeneity in definition and measurement of cost outcomes.

Subgroup Comparison

We compared healthcare cost descriptions by country to account for differences in categorization of expenses. Descriptions for the most recent period are included. PRISMA guidelines were followed (**Table S1**, **Figure 1**). SS and SF assessed primary outcome measures of healthcare service costs and summary descriptions.

RESULTS

We identified official country reports of prison healthcare costs for 10 countries (**Table 2**).

Annual healthcare expenditures per prisoner ranged from approximately \$34 per year to \$6,714 per year (**Table 3**). There

was also wide variation in the percentage of operating costs attributable to healthcare, ranging from 2 to 18% (**Table 4**).

Seven countries described the constituent elements of healthcare spending, but these were not comparable (**Table 5**). The most commonly reported cost outcome was "primary medical care," followed together by "medical supplies" (mostly medication) and "mental health services." In the three countries (Sri Lanka, Ireland, Australia) that did not clarify expenditures, categorization varied from "curative care" (8) to "medical care" (22) to "prisoner health costs" (9). Most countries did not clarify how expenditure was allocated across services.

DISCUSSION

In this systematic review, we identified 10 countries that have reported healthcare costs in prisons. In addition, we were able to calculate the proportion of overall operating expenditure

TABLE 3 | Reported annual healthcare expenditure per prisoner.

• •		
Country	Per prisoner cost (2016 US\$)	Year of reporting
Sri Lanka (8)	\$34	2013
Romania (19)	\$103	2016
India (20)	\$109	2015–16
South Africa (21)	\$1,001	2016-17
Ireland (22)	\$2,932	2013
Belgium (23)	\$4,748	2015
Australia (9]	\$5,096	2015–16
UK: Scotland (10)	\$5,288	2016–17
United States (24)	\$5,720	2015
UK: England and Wales (25)	\$6,714	2016–17

TABLE 4 | Annual overall prison operating costs and healthcare expenditure as percentage of operating expenditures.

Country	Annual operating expenditure per prisoner (indexed to 2016)	Healthcare expenditure as % of operating expenditure
India (20)	\$5,900	2%
South Africa (21)	\$22,412	4%
United States [State Prisons] (24, 26)	\$29,978	18%
France (27)	\$44,410	N/A
Singapore (28)	\$48,406	N/A
Canada [Provincial, State, Territorial] (29)	\$49,251	N/A
UK: England and Wales (25, 30)	\$50,675	13%
Australia (9)	\$56,786	9%
Germany (31)	\$57,380	N/A
UK: Scotland (10, 32)	\$60,943	9%
New Zealand (17)	\$65,336	N/A
Ireland (22, 33)	\$68,019	4%
Northern Ireland (34)	\$76,516	N/A

allocated to healthcare in 7 countries. Among the 20 countries with the highest prison populations (11), only 4 reported operating and healthcare expenditures on prisoners (20, 21, 24, 25). There were large variations in how healthcare costs were defined across countries, and consistency and transparency is required to enable international comparison. We have sought to address this by developing guidelines for future reporting.

One other finding was that only two countries reported spending more than 10% of their overall prison operating budgets on prison health (24, 25). Additionally, we did not find any clear links between overall spending and the proportion on healthcare. Notably, Ireland had the highest overall operating expenditure per prisoner among the countries reporting healthcare costs, but only 4% of its budget was allocated toward healthcare, which put it among the countries with the lowest proportion (22, 33).

Seven of the 10 countries that reported on healthcare expenditure provided specific detail on the services provided.

	Care	medical supplies (incl. medicines)	Mental Health services (incl. visiting psychologists/ psychiatrist)	Staff (incl. doctors, nurses, pharmacists)	Diagnostic Tests (incl. lab services and screening)	Dental	Substance abuse treatment	Consultants (incl. External psychiatric, gynecological, dental, optical)	Nursing care	Nursing Hygiene care	Other*
Sri Lanka (8)											×
Romania (19)		×								×	×
India (28)	×		×	×	×						×
South Africa (21)	×	×			×					×	×
Ireland (22)											
Belgium (23)	×	×	×	×		×		×	×		×
UK: Scotland (10)	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×		
Australia (9)											×
United States (24)	×	×	×	×		×	×				×
UK: England & Wales (25)	×		×				×				

TABLE 5 | Healthcare expenditure descriptions.

 TABLE 6 | Prison healthcare expenditure reporting checklist.

COUNTRY		
Time Period:	-For which financial year(s) are you reporting?	
Prisons Operating Expenditure:	-Does this include depreciation, financial payments on capital assets, <i>exclude these costs)</i>	fixed assets, and/or transfers/subsidies? (Recommendation:
Prisons Health Expenditure:	-What was the annual expenditure on physical and mental healthcare	?
% Operating Budget allocated to Medical Care:	-What percentage of the overall budget allocated to prisons went tow	rard prisoner medical/healthcare?
PRISONER POPULATION		
I. Context/Demographics:		Guidelines
a. Geographical	Are you reporting prison expenditures for the whole country, or a particular region?	Report whole country
b. Sample size	Which prison population(s) are being sampled and accounted for in expenditure reporting?	Include all adult (18 and older) private, public, and remand /detainees/unconvicted prisoners Include federal and provincial/regional prison institutions
c. Characteristics	Age, gender, ethnicity, health insurance status	Report age distribution in 10-year increments, natal gender, white vs. non-white ethnicity and health insurance status of incarcerated persons
d. Length of current sentence	Distribution of offense types and sentence length (35)	Categories: violence (including robbery), sex offense (contact vs. non-contact), burglary/theft, drug offense, other Report sentence length in following bands: <1 year, 1–3 years, 4–9 years, >10 years, life sentence
II. Exclusion Criteria		
a. Other samples	Which samples are not included in financial accounting?	Exclude prisoners under 18 years of age, and those in immigration detention centers and police custody, and persons in <i>external</i> secure mental health facilities
COST OUTCOMES		
I. Priority Areas		Guidelines
a. Medical Supplies	How much money was allocated to medical supplies for prisoners? List goods included.	Include expenditures on pharmaceuticals/drugs, disability aids, vaccines, and equipment <i>maintenance</i> (separately if possible)
b. Healthcare Personnel	How much was spent on payroll services?	Report total amount spent on salaries of doctors, nurses, pharmacists, and technicians
	How much was spent on non-payroll services?	Report expenditures on visiting psychiatrists and external consultants
c. Diagnostic: Screenings and Tests	How much was spent on screenings for diseases in prisons? What types of diagnostic tests are offered?	Report expenditures on TB/AIDS/other screenings and laboratory/imaging tests separately
d. Primary Care	How much was spent on primary care services for prisons?	Report expenditures on GP Medical care and Nursing care separately
e. Psychiatric	How much money was allocated to psychiatric services in prisons?	Report expenditure on mental health programs and services
f. Rehabilitation	Is rehabilitative <i>healthcare</i> included in prison expenditure? If yes, how much was spent?	Report expenditure on substance abuse treatment only
g. Dental	Are dental services included in prison expenditure? If yes, how much was spent?	Report expenditure on dental services (e.g., general cleaning, orthodontics)
h. Optical	Are optical services included in prison expenditure? If yes, how much was spent?	Report expenditure on optical services (e.g., eye exams, glasses)
i. Maternal and Child	Are maternal and child health services included in prison expenditure? If yes, what services are provided and how much was spent?	Report expenditure on maternal and child health services (e.g., nutrition)
j. Surgical Procedures	Are any surgical procedures included in prison expenditure? If yes, how much was spent?	Report expenditures on any surgical procedures
k. Specialized Services	Are any other specialized <i>on-site</i> services included in prison expenditure? If yes, how much was spent?	Report expenditures on Gynecological, Palliative, Physiotherapy, Chemotherapy/Radiation, Occupational health services (if offered in prison)

(Continued)

TABLE 6 | Continued

II. Exclusion Criteria		Guidelines
a. Capital Costs	Medical Equipment, Depreciation, Payments on assets	Example: How much was spent on procedural equipment, lab/imaging equipment, or payments on assets?
b. Social Services	Spiritual and social work services	Example: Religious ministry
c. Transport	Transport costs	Exclude ambulatory stay costs (i.e. emergency hospital stay following use of an ambulance)
d. Off-Site	Specialized outpatient care	Exclude care unavailable on-site
e. Other	Are there any other costs excluded from calculation?	
FUNDING SOURCES		
I. Funding Agencies		
a. National Prison Service/Department of Justice	What amount or percent of healthcare expenditures in prisons is	allocated by prison services/justice departments?
b. National Health Services	What amount or percent of healthcare expenditures in prisons is	allocated by national health services?
c. Other	Are there any other systems of financing prison healthcare in you	ir country (e.g., private insurance)?

The breakdown of these services varied between countries. It was not clear in some cases whether staff expenses included salaries of allied health professionals such as pharmacists, technicians, dentists, and visiting doctors (23), or whether "medical supplies" included medicines and medical equipment (21). Dental services lacked sufficient detail (10, 24), and mental health services were defined inconsistently across countries, with some countries integrating addiction care into mental health services (10, 24, 25), but another not (20).

One main implication of these findings is that international comparisons of healthcare expenditures on prisoners are currently not possible due to lack of consistency and transparency in reporting. To address this, we have developed a brief checklist covering definitions, inclusion, and exclusion criteria, and sources of funding that contribute to prison healthcare (such as national health services or ministry of justice) (Table 6). This checklist follows the structure of existing national financial audits, and is based on examples of good practice based on the current review, those categories that appear to be most consistently reported, and previous context-specific reporting guidelines (12, 15, 24, 36). The current proposed checklist would enable international comparison of overall healthcare expenditure in prisons, and provide country specific breakdowns as to how resources are allocated. Consistent international reporting would assist in monitoring whether countries meet basic standards for prisoner health, and allow for examination of links between adverse health outcomes in prisoners and variation in services provided. It would also help to develop and monitor recommended levels of appropriate funding. Different governments are likely to have competing additional priorities of healthcare need (20, 21), which will be reflected in how resources are spent and be reported in this checklist. Systematic reporting of expenditure may lead to improved health outcomes for prisoners by, for example, targeting specific areas of need in future service provision. They could also lead to increased efficiency and a greater focus on prevention. We recommend that prison services include the checklist information in annual accounts, where expenditures are often separated by service category and funding source (37). We have sought to streamline these guidelines to assist in feasibility of completion, standardization, and integration into national financial audits.

LIMITATIONS

Using percentage allocations of overall operating expenditure allocated to healthcare does not necessarily allow for crosscountry comparison. For example, Australia and Scotland made similar allocations, of $\sim 9\%$ (9, 10). However, due to the different descriptions of services provided, it is unclear whether the two countries provide equivalent healthcare services for prisoners. Some country estimates were based on limited data. For example, calculations for the US and Canada were limited by exclusion of federal prisons, constituting 19.9% of Canadian adult institutions and 7.9% of combined American state and federal institutions (13). There were variations in American prisons with regard to sources of funding, which may have underestimated costs in some states. For example, inpatient hospitalization costs were being met by insurance companies in some cases, but borne by the prison directly in others. Similarly, in some states, community mental health services covered some of the cost of prisoner treatment (24).

There are additional sources of information on healthcare services provided in prisons which we have not included in this review, as they do not provide detail on expenditure (16). Future work may look at such reviews of prison healthcare (for nonfinancial purposes) to provide a more detailed assessment of what services are provided, in conjunction with examining financial reporting.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SF and SS conceived and designed the experiments. SF and SS performed the experiments. SS analyzed the data. SF, SS, and RC wrote the paper. SF supervised the project.

FUNDING

SF is funded by the Wellcome Trust (202836/Z/16/Z) and RC is supported by the Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust.

REFERENCES

- Raimer BG, Stobo JD. Health care delivery in the Texas prison system: the role of academic medicine. *JAMA* (2004) 292:485–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.29 2.4.485
- Young JT, Arnold-Reed D, Preen D, Bulsara M, Lennox N, Kinner SA. Early primary care physician contact and health service utilization in a large sample of recently released ex-prisoners in Australia: prospective cohort study. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5:1–11. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008021
- Fazel S, Baillargeon J. The health of prisoners. Lancet (2011) 377:956–65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61053-7
- Fazel S, Ramesh T, Hawton K. Suicide in prisons: an international study of prevalence and contributory factors. *Lancet Psychiatr.* (2017) 4:946–52. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30430-3
- Alexander ME. Do our prisons cost too much? Ann Am Acad Polit Soc Sci. (1954) 293:35–41. doi: 10.1177/000271625429300106
- Farrell G, Clark K. What Does the World Spend on Criminal Justice? Helsinki European United Nations Institute for Crime Prevention and Control (2004).
- Lambropoulou E. Greek Prisons' Expenditures. Athens: Institute for Regulatory Policy Research (2015). Available online at: http://www.inerp.gr/en/blog/184greek-prisons-expenditures.html (Accessed May 24, 2018).
- Sri Lanka National Health Accounts 2013. Colombo: Ministry of Health, Health Economics Cell. (2016). Avaialble online at: http://www.health.gov.lk/ enWeb/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=621&Itemid=533 (Accessed May 24, 2018).
- Report on Government Services Volume C: Justice 2017. Canberra: Productivity Commission for the Steering Committee for the Review of Government Service Provision (2017). Available online at: https://www.pc. gov.au/research/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2017/justice/rogs-2017-volumec.pdf (Accessed May 21, 2018).
- Healthcare in Prisons. Scottish Parliament: Health and Sport Committee (2017). Available online at: https://sp-bpr-en-prod-cdnep.azureedge.net/ published/HS/2017/5/10/Healthcare-in-Prisons/5threport.pdf (Accessed June 4, 2018).
- Institute for Criminal Policy Research. World Prison Brief. Highest to Lowest

 Prison Population Total. London: Kings College (2017). Available online
 at: http://www.prisonstudies.org/highest-to-lowest/prison-population-total?
 field_region_taxonomy_tid=All
- Fazel S, Wolf A. A systematic review of criminal recidivism rates worldwide: current difficulties and recommendations for best practice. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0130390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 30390
- 13. Institute for Criminal Policy Research. *World Prison Brief Data Prison population trend [by country]*. London: Kings College. Available online at: http://www.prisonstudies.org/world-prison-brief-data
- Shemilt I, Thomas J, Morciano M. A web-based tool for adjusting costs to a specific target currency and price year. *Evid Policy* (2010) 6:51–9. doi: 10.1332/174426410X482999
- Moschetti K, Zabrodina V, Wangmo T, Holly A, Wasserfallen J-B, Elger BS, et al. The determinants of individual health care expenditures in prison: evidence from Switzerland. BMC Health Serv Res. (2018) 18:160. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2962-8
- Irish Prison Service. *Health Care Standards*. Dublin: Irish Prison Service (2011). Available online at: http://www.irishprisons.ie/wp-content/uploads/ documents/hc_standards_2011.pdf (Accessed June 6, 2018).
- 17. Department of Corrections. Annual Financial Statements, Annual Report Part C. Wellington: Department of Corrections (2016). Available online at:

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2018.00716/full#supplementary-material

http://www.corrections.govt.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/857742/Annual_ Report_201516_Part_C.pdf (Accessed June 7, 2018).

- Swedish Prison and Probation Service. Annual Budget 2017. Norrokoping: Swedish Prison and Probation Service (2017). Available online at: https://www.kriminalvarden.se/globalassets/publikationer/ekonomi/ kriminalvardens-arsredovisning-2017.pdf (Accessed July 18, 2018).
- Dragomir M, Ignat L. Budget of the National Administration of Penitentiaries. National Penitentiary Administration (2016). Available online at: http://anp. gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/rapoarte/buget%202016%20final.pdf (Accessed July 2, 2018).
- National Crime Records Bureau. *Prison Statistics* 2015. New Delhi: Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India (2016). Available online at: http:// ncrb.gov.in/StatPublications/PSI/Prison2015/Full/PSI-2015-_18-11-2016. pdf (Accessed June 4, 2018).
- Department of Correctional Services. Annual Report 2016/17. Pretoria: Correctional Services, Republic of South Africa (2017). Available online at: http://www.dcs.gov.za/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/DCS-AR-2016_17-. pdf (Accessed June 5, 2018).
- Irish Prison Service. Public Spending Code Quality Assurance Report for 2013. Dublin: Irish Prison Service, Department of Justice and Equality (2014). 16 Available online at: http://www.irishprisons.ie/images/pdf/pscr_2013.pdf (Accessed June 6, 2018).
- 23. Mistiaen P, Dauvrin M, Eyssen M, Roberfroid D, San Miguel L, Vinck I. Health Care in Belgian Prisons: Current Situation and Scenarios for the Future. Belgian Health Care Knowledge Center (KCE) (2017): Report 293Cs. Available online at: https://kce.fgov.be/sites/default/files/atoms/files/ KCE_293Cs_Prisons_health_care_Synthese_1.pdf (Accessed June 7, 2018).
- Huh K, Boucher A, McGaffey F, McKillop M, Schiff M. Prison Health Care Costs and Quality. Philadelphia, PA: Pew Charitable Trusts (2017). Available online at: http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2017/ 10/prison-health-care-costs-and-quality (Accessed May 16, 2018).
- Morse A. Mental Health in Prisons. London: National Audit Office, Her Majesty's Prison & Probation Service (2017). Available online at: https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Mental-health-inprisons.pdf (Accessed June 1, 2018).
- Stephan JJ. State Prison Expenditures, 2001. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics (2004). Available online at: https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/spe01.pdf (Accessed May 16, 2018).
- Ministry of Justice. Key Figures Prison Administration. France Ministry of Justice, Directorate of Prison Administration (2015). Available online at: http://www.justice.gouv.fr/art_pix/chiffres_cles_2015_UK.pdf(Accessed May 26, 2018)
- Ministry of Home Affairs. Budget 2016 Revenue and Expenditure Estimates. Singapore Government: Ministry of Home Affairs (2016). Available online at: https://www.singaporebudget.gov.sg/data/budget_2016/download/ 3%20MHA%202016.pdf MHA 2016.pdf (Accessed May 25, 2018).
- Statistics Canada. Operating Expenditures for Adult Correctional Services. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada (2018). Available online at: http://www5. statcan.gc.ca/cansim/a26?lang=eng&retrLang=eng&id=2510018&& pattern=&stByVal=1&p1=1&p2=31&tabMode=dataTable&csid= (Accessed May 19, 2018).
- Ministry of Justice. Prison Performance Statistics 2016 to 2017. London: Ministry of Justice (2017). Available online at: https://www.gov. uk/government/statistics/prison-performance-statistics-2016-to-2017 (Accessed 16 May 2018).
- 31. Berlin Senate Department for Justice and Consumer Protection. The Prison System in Berlin. Berlin: State Department for Justice and

Consumer Protection (2015). https://www.berlin.de/justizvollzug/_assets/ senjustv/sonstiges/broschuere-justizvollzug-englisch.pdf (Accessed June 12, 2018).

- Scottish Prison Service. SPS Annual Report and Accounts 2015-2016. Edinburgh: Scottish Prison Service (2016). Available online at: http://www. irishprisons.ie/wp-content/uploads/documents_pdf/2015_prisonspace_cost-1.pdf (Accessed June 4, 2018).
- Irish Prison Service. Financial Reports: Cost of Prison Space 2015. Dublin: Irish Prison Service (2018). Available online at: http://www.irishprisons. ie/wp-content/uploads/documents/hc_standards_2011.pdf (Accessed June 6, 2018).
- Northern Ireland Prison Service. Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17. Belfast: Northern Ireland Prison Service (2017). Available online at: https:// www.justice-ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/publications/justice/northernireland-prison-service-annual-report-and-accounts-2016-17.PDF (Accessed June 6, 2018).
- Singleton N, Meltzer H, Gatward R. Psychiatric Morbidity Among Prisoners: Summary Report. London: Office for National Statistics. (1998).

- Aebi MF, Tiago MM, Burkhardt C. SPACE I-Council of Europe Annual Penal Statistics: Prison Populations. Survey 2014. Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- Marshall T, Simpson S, Stevens A. *Health Care in Prisons*. Department of Health and the Directorate of Health Care of the Prison Service in England and Wales (1998-99). Available online at: https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/ Documents/college-mds/haps/projects/HCNA/11HCNA3D3.pdf

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Sridhar, Cornish and Fazel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Oxytocin in Antisocial Personality Disorders: A Systematic Review of the Literature

Trevor Gedeon¹, Joanne Parry² and Birgit Völlm^{3*}

¹ NHSHSW Rampton High Secure Hospital, Retford, United Kingdom, ² Wathwood Hospital, Rotherham, United Kingdom, ³ Klinik und Poliklinik für Forensische Psychiatrie, Universitätsmedizin Rostock, Rostock, Germany

Background and aims: Antisocial personality disorder is an enduring mental disorder associated with significant disease burden and treatment difficulties. This is apparent within forensic populations. There is growing evidence to suggest that treatment with oxytocin could have some benefit in treating a range of psychiatric disorders. There are no reviews studying the use of oxytocin for patients with ASPD. We aim to present the first literature review on the use of oxytocin in patients with ASPD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Katarina Howner, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Märta Wallinius, Lund University, Sweden Katja Bertsch, Universität Heidelberg, Germany

*Correspondence: Birgit Völlm birgit.voellm@med.uni-rostock.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 November 2018 Accepted: 04 February 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

Gedeon T, Parry J and Völlm B (2019) The Role of Oxytocin in Antisocial Personality Disorders: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Front. Psychiatry 10:76. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00076 **Method:** We searched relevant databases for original research on effect of oxytocin upon persons with a diagnosis of ASPD or healthy participants with symptoms seen in ASPD. Studies were included if they included healthy participants that evaluated the effect of oxytocin on symptoms relevant to ASPD, including empathy, inhibitory control, compliance, conformity, aggression, violence, and moral responsibility.

Results: Thirty-six studies were included. There were a range of study designs, including randomized controlled trials, double blinded, single blinded, and unblinded controlled trials. The sample sizes in studies ranged from 20 to 259 participants. Studies looked at participants with a diagnosis of ASPD and participants with symptoms relevant to ASPD, including empathy, inhibitory control, compliance, conformity, aggression, violence, and moral responsibility. Oxytocin was found to demonstrate diversified effects, in most cases being associated with socially positive or non-criminogenic behaviors. However, some studies found opposite, and non-desirable, effects, e.g., an increase in violent inclinations to partners. The two studies looking at participants with ASPD had a number of limitations and had conflicting results on the impact that OT has on aggression in ASPD.

Conclusions: This is the first systematic literature review exploring the potential use of oxytocin in managing ASPD and the symptoms of ASPD. It is apparent that there is a body of evidence addressing related symptoms in healthy individuals. There were diversified effects with oxytocin showing some benefits in promoting positive effects on symptoms of ASPD, but there were also studies showing non-desirable effects. It is difficult to draw any direct inferences from healthy control studies. Further high quality large sample studies are required to explore the effects of oxytocin in those with ASPD

Keywords: antisocial, ASPD, dissocial, antisocial personality disorder, personality, personality disorder, oxytocin

INTRODUCTION

Personality disorders are a group of enduring mental disorders characterized by maladaptive patterns of behavior, cognition, and inner experience. These traits are relatively stable across time and situations (1).

Personality disorders are relatively common mental disorders. An epidemiological study of the prevalence of personality disorders in a random sample of 626 British households found that the prevalence of any personality disorder was 4.4% (2). In treatment settings, both primary care and general psychiatric settings, the prevalence of personality disorders is significantly higher. In a sample of 859 psychiatric outpatients in America 31.7% had a diagnosis of a personality disorder (3). A systematic literature review identified that the prevalence of personality disorder in community secondary psychiatric care in Europe was between 40 and 92% (4).

Personality disorders are a source of distress and suffering for patients and those around them. People with personality disorders have been found to use mental health services more than those with major depressive disorders (5). In addition, patients with personality disorders have been found to have greater social dysfunction than those with many other mental disorders (6). In addition, the costs of personality disorders are high. An economic study of patients with personality disorders in the Netherlands found that treatment-seeking patients with personality disorders pose a high economic burden on society at a mean cost of $\in 11,126$ per year (7). A study in England found that the cost to the NHS and prison service of those with a personality disorder before treatment was £13,966 per year (8).

Individuals with antisocial personality disorder (ASPD) are of particular concern as they may cause harm to others. Symptoms include a failure to conform to social norms, repeated deceitfulness, impulsivity, irritability, and aggression, consistent irresponsibility, disregard for their own safety or the safety of others and a lack of remorse (1). The prevalence of ASPD in the community has been estimated at 0.6% (2). In a study of psychiatric inpatients aged between 18 and 37 in the UK, the prevalence of ASPD was 14% (9). An Office of National Statistics (ONS) survey of prisoners in England and Wales found a prevalence of any personality disorder of 78% for male remand, 64% for male sentenced, and 50% for female prisoners, the majority of which accounted for by ASPD (10). A review of the international literature found a prevalence of ASPD within custodial settings of 47% (11).

There are a number of theories on the etiology of ASPD. These include genetic, neurobiological and environmental models (12). More recently studies have also looked at specific neurobiological factors, such as the role of the hormone oxytocin and polymorphisms in the oxytocin receptor gene (13).

Oxytocin is a neuropeptide produced in the supraoptic and paraventricular nuclei of the hypothalamus. It is involved in a wide range of bodily reactions via interactions with sex organs and hormones and the Hypothalamic Pituitary Axis (HPA). As such Oxytocin is involved in a range of physiological processes including sexual activity, pregnancy, lactation, social bonding, pain regulation, and maternal behavior (14, 15). Oxytocin is also central to various aspects of human behavior such as social cognition, affectivity, stress response, affiliation, and prosocial behavior (15, 16). Manipulation of oxytocin levels has been shown to alter social cognition in healthy individuals, e.g., increase social interaction, empathy and trust, and reduce stress (17). In a double blind placebo controlled crossover trial of intranasal oxytocin, those given oxytocin performed better on a fear recognition task compared with those given placebo (18); they also demonstrated more positive communication and had lower salivary cortisol levels in response to conflict (19).

Due to these attributes oxytocin and its potential clinical applications have been studied in relation to a number of mental disorders, including autistic spectrum disorders, schizophrenia, depression, and anxiety. In a randomized controlled double blind placebo controlled trial of 33 adult men with high functioning autism subjects were given intranasal oxytocin and their performance on a social psychological task was assessed. The authors concluded that oxytocin has a beneficial effect on the socio-communicational deficits in autism, as patients were able to make non-verbal judgments more quickly compared with those in the placebo condition (20).

A double-blind placebo-controlled crossover study of 21 patients with schizophrenia found an improvement in emotional facial recognition following administration of intranasal oxytocin (21). In another randomized control trial, 20 patients with schizophrenia demonstrated a significant reduction in Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANNS) scores and an improvement in several social cognition measures (22).

The potential application in personality disorders of oxytocin have not yet been explored. The current guidance on the treatment of ASPD highlights that the evidence base for both pharmacological and psychological interventions is limited and recommends that "Pharmacological interventions should not be routinely used for the treatment of antisocial personality disorder or associated behaviors of aggression, anger and impulsivity" (23). A Cochrane systematic review on the use of psychological and pharmacological interventions in ASPD also highlight the limited evidence base and insufficient evidence to support either pharmacological or psychological therapies (24).

As noted above, individuals with ASPD display a number of symptoms, which, based on the evidence in healthy controls as well as individuals with other disorders, may be positively affected by oxytocin. These symptoms include lack of empathy, one of the diagnostic features for a diagnosis of ASPD. Whilst deficits in empathy can be present in a number of psychiatric disorders, including other personality disorders, psychotic disorders, and autistic spectrum disorders, these deficits do not form part of the diagnostic criteria in any other condition. Other potential target symptoms include lack of conformity and compliance and lack of moral reasoning (1, 25).

The aim of this review is therefore to provide an overview of the literature on the use of oxytocin in ASPD as well as targeting key symptoms of the disorder.

METHOD

In conducting this review, we have followed the PRISMA guidelines for reporting systematic reviews (26).



Search Strategy

We undertook a systematic literature search of publications up until March 2018. The search was undertaken with the assistance of an information specialist of the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust Library Service and included the electronic databases MEDLINE, EMBASE, PsycINFO CINAHL, Cochrane Library, ASSIA, Sociological Abstracts, BIOSIS, Web of science. In addition, the EU Clinical Trials Register (www.clinicaltrialsregister.eu), the clinical trials register of the U.S National Institute of Health (www.clinicaltrials.gov) and dissertation abstracts were searched for any ongoing trials relevant to our review. The search terms used related to the DSM V classification for ASPD and various terms relating to oxytocin. The full search strategy is included in **Appendix 1** in Supplementary Material.

Results of the searches were reviewed independently by authors JP and TG for suitability for inclusion in the review against the criteria set out below. This was initially undertaken through inspection of titles and abstracts. A second review appraising the full papers was then undertaken as required. In the event of a difference of opinion over a paper's suitability for inclusion a third author (BV) was consulted. Additionally, authors JP and TG searched reference lists from both included and excluded studies for further suitable papers for inclusion.

In- and Ex-clusion Criteria

Studies of any type of design were included if they met the following criteria:

- Original research
- Studies where oxytocin was administered as the primary intervention
- Studies where participants had a diagnosis of ASPD
- Studies with healthy participants that evaluated the effect of oxytocin on symptoms relevant to ASPD, including empathy, inhibitory control, compliance, conformity, aggression, violence, and moral responsibility
- Human participants over the age of 18
- Male and female participants
- All study sizes
- Studies in all languages and from all countries
- Studies were excluded if participants had a comorbid major mental illness due to the potential for the confounding impact that these disorders may have upon any treatment effect. This was defined as having any presence of any comorbid mental

disorder, specifically; organic, developmental, addictive, neurotic, affective or psychotic disorders as categorized by DSM V.

RESULTS

Search Results

The initial searches returned 2,317 potentially relevant titles. Following inspection of titles and abstracts 186 full text papers were obtained and assessed against our inclusion criteria of which 36 were deemed relevant and were included in this review. A flow chart of search results is set out in **Figure 1**. Details of the studies are shown in **Table 1**.

Study Design

All studies were placebo controlled trials. Twenty five of the included studies were randomized (27, 29–37, 39, 41, 45–53, 57–59, 61). Thirty one studies were double blinded (27, 29–37, 39–42, 44–49, 51–56, 58–62). In addition there were two single blinded studies (28, 43). Three studies were not blinded (38, 50, 57).

Sample Size

The total number of participants in all of the included studies was 2,615 with study sizes ranging from 6 (28) to 259 participants (54).

Participants

Fourteen of the studies included male and female participants (27, 29, 33, 37, 40–42, 46, 48, 54, 56, 59, 60, 62). Two studies included only female participants (31, 47). The remaining 20 trials only included male participants (28, 30, 32, 34–36, 38, 39, 43-45, 49-53, 55, 57, 58, 61).

Oxytocin Administration

All study participants received a single dose of either intranasal (IN) OT or placebo except for one study in which participants were given three doses of intranasal OT at 5-min intervals (54). Doses ranged from 12 to 48 IU per dose.

Outcome Measures

Included studies used a variety of experiments to assess for different outcomes. These outcome measures included: intuitions about free will and moral responsibility, compliance, memory, social conformity, empathy, facial empathic recognition, inhibitory control, in-group favoritism, aggression, and violence. The experimental paradigms and means of measuring these outcomes varied between studies. These are detailed in **Table 1**.

STUDIES IN PARTICIPANTS WITH ASPD

There were two studies that looked at the effects of OT in participants with ASPD (27, 28).

Timmerman and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo crossover trial. They included 22 adults with ASPD (14 males, 8 females) and 29 healthy controls (11 females, 18 males) in the study. Both before and after IN OT and placebo participants were shown images of faces showing various emotions and assessed on their ability to accurately identify the emotion displayed and the time delay for this. The study found that there were relative deficits in the ASPD group recognizing fearful and happy faces. It was found that following OT administration these effects were no longer observable (27).

Alcorn and colleagues conducted a single blind placebo controlled trial with 6 male participants with ASPD in a community setting. Participants took part in the PSAP (point subtraction aggression paradigm). This is a well-established a validated laboratory measure of state human aggression. Participants were informed that they were anonymously paired with another (fictitious) individual. In their pairs they had a choice to press one of 3 buttons which corresponded to monetary reinforced, aggressive and escape responses. The purpose was for participants to earn as much money as possible. Participants were observed for shifts in their response times on the aggressive response options when having had IN oxytocin or placebo. This study found that there were no specific effect of OT on the aggressive responding. However, there effects were impacted upon by some significant individual differences in responses. There were some individuals who demonstrated a large increases in aggressive responses to the PSAP when given OT but some who demonstrated the opposite effects. The authors concluded that the effects were also not systematically related to dose and that there were no trends between OT and aggressive responses (28).

STUDIES IN HEALTHY PARTICIPANTS

There was a great degree of heterogeneity in the studies in healthy participants. There were differences in which aspects of the outcome measures were being assessed and how these were assessed. For convenience we have grouped these studies together under the outcome measures highlighted above.

Description of Study Findings by Outcome Measure

Studies in Empathy

Thirteen studies looked at the effect of OT on empathy (29, 30, 32–42). Empathy was assessed using a variety of tasks.

Hubble and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial with 40 healthy males. Participants completed questionnaires which provided empathy scores after being shown video clips that were designed to elicit emotional responses. In addition the eye tracking of the participants was assessed. OT was associated with an increase in time spent fixating upon the eye region of the protagonist's face across emotions. OT also selectively enhanced self-reported affective empathy for fear but not for other emotions. There was no positive relationship between eye gaze patterns and affective empathy (30).

Human and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial with 116 healthy participants (46 men 70 women). Participants were randomized to receive either IN OT or placebo and completed a series of tasks either with the help from a computer or a confederate human

Delerences	orady type	Participants	Intervention	Outcome measures	Findings
STUDIES IN PARTICIPANTS WITH ASPD	ANTS WITH ASPD				
Timmerman et al. (27)	Randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo crossover trial	22 adults with ASPD (14 males 8 females) and 29 healthy controls (11	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants were shown images of faces showing various emotions and assessed on their ability to accurately identify the emotion	Relative deficits in the ASPD group recognizing fearful and happy faces were no longer observable under OT
Alcorn et al. (28)	Single blind placebo controlled trial	females, 18 males) 6 male participants with ASPD	IN OT (12, 24, 48 IU) or placebo	displayed and the time delay for this Performance on a validated laboratory task of human aggression (point subtraction	There were few differences between those on placebo and those with OT in performance on
				aggression paradigm—PSAP)	the PSAP
STUDIES IN HEALI HY PARTICIPANTS Studies in empathy	L PARTICIPANTS				
Human et al. (29)	Randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial	116 healthy participants	IN OT (40 IU) or placebo	Following being helped on a task participants affect and social perceptions were rated	In the context of being helped by a stranger oxytocin fostered more positive affective and social responses
Hubble et al. (30)	Randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial	40 healthy males	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants completed questionnaires which provided empatry scores after being shown emotion eliciting video clips. In addition the eye tracking of the participants was assessed	OT was associated with an increase in time spent fixating upon the eye region of the protagonists face across emotions. OT selectively enhanced self-reported affective empathy for fear but not other emotions. There was no positive relationship between eye gaze patterns and affective empathy
Hecht et al. (31)	Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled trial	28 healthy females	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Neural responses on fMRI to participants being shown animations of geometric shapes depicting social interactions	Lower social processing at baseline at baseline predicts a more positive response to OT
Li et al. (32)	Randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial	30 healthy fathers of 1-2 year old children	IN OT (24 IU) or IN AVP (20 IU) followed by placebo	Brain function was measured with fMRI with the participants viewing images of their children, unknown children and unknown adults as they listened to a crying stimulus	OT but not AVP increased the participants responses to images of their own children
Luo et al. (33)	Randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial.	86 healthy participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Brain function was measured with fMRI with the participants viewing a range of images of emotional faces	Oxytocin produces sex dependent effects even at the early stages of social processing
Strang et al. (34)	Randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial	132 healthy male participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance on a social discounting task as a measure of generosity	The effect of oxytocin on generous behavior is modulated by trait empathy. In those who were administered oxytocin there was a positive correlation between trait empathy and their generosity
Hi et al. (35)	Randomized double bind cross over study	41 healthy males	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance on the "HelPun" task to examine the altruistic decision making of participants to help or punish others in the task. fMRI scanning before and after OT or placebo administration	In the OT group there was a trend to accelerate altruistic decision making. In the OT group there was enhanced activity in the left temporo parietal junction during observation of others being helped by the computer. These results indicated that OT enhances prosocial revelant perception by increasing theory of mind related neural activities
Korb et al. (36)	Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled, between subject trial	60 healthy male participants	IN OT 24 IU or placebo	Performance on the Offset and Intensity facial mimicry tests as assessed compared with baseline facial EMG	Facial mimicry was increased in the OT group. These effects were strongest for angry infant faces

TABLE 1 | Summary table of included studies.

References	Study type	Participants	Intervention	Outcome measures	Findings
Palgi et al. (37)	Double blind, within subject placebo randomized controlled trial	30 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants listened to recording of mixed gender protagonists describing distressing emotional conflicts and were then asked to provide compassionate advice	In male and female participants OT enhanced compassion toward females but not males
Perry et al. (38)	Randomized double blind placebo controlled trial	54 male participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Online questionnaire assessing empathy Experiment involved participants indicating their preferred interpersonal distance	Among highly empathetic individuals OT promoted choice of closer interpersonal distances while the opposite effect was found in individuals with low empathetic traits
Gallup and Church (39)	Randomized double blind placebo control trial	60 male healthy participants	Single dose IN OT (30 IU) or placebo	Exposure to a continuous yawning video	OT did not increase contagious yawning but modulated expression indicative of awareness of social stigma associated with this behavior
Abu-Akel et al. (40)	Double blind placebo controlled crossover trial	29 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Self-perspective empathy vs. other perspective empathy in painful and non-painful situations	OT but not placebo, increased other perspective empathy
Cardoso et al. (41)	Randomized double blind placebo control trial	82 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (241U) or placebo	Perceiving and understanding emotion components of MSCEIT.=	OT led to participants rating emotion in facial stimuli as expressing greater emotional intensity than those on placebo. Accurate identification of type of emotion in faces impaired in OT group. =
Fischer-Shofty et al. (42)	Double blind placebo controlled crossover trial	62 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Interpersonal perception task	OT improved accurate perception of social interactions. OT also had sex specific impacts – improved kinship recognition within women but not men; performance of males was only improved on competition recognition
Studies in inhibitory control Hirosawa et al. (43) Singl contr	iontrol Single blind placebo controlled crossover study	20 male participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Paradigm 1: Facial cognition. Paradigm 2: attentional-inhibitory control using a modification of the speeded flanker task.	No significant behavioral effects of OT. However, the enhancement of attentional inhibitory control after OT administration significantly correlated to the positively valenced effects of the interpretation of
Ma et al. (44)	Double blind placebo controlled between subject design	150 Male participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Task of in-group favoritism where cognitive processing was experimentally manipulated. Participants were also assessed for intuition or reflection in daily life	uncertain tacial cognition OT increased in-group favoritism in intuitive participants but decreased it in those who rely on reflective style
Studies in compliance and conformity Aydogan et al. (45) Randomized, dc placebo controll	e and conformity Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled trial	120 healthy males	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance on a competitive and noncompetitive coin tossing task, where participants would self-report in order to win a monetary prize. This task was to measure conformity to the widely accepted norm of honesty under the pressure of competition in the OT group compared with the placebo group	Conformity was enhanced by oxytocin and this enhancement had a detrimental effect on honesty in a competitive environment but not in a noncompetitive environment

References	Study type	Participants	Intervention	Outcome measures	Findings
Gross and De Dreu (46)	Randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial	139 healthy participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance on a test of conformity to instructions. In the test, participants had a binary choice and were given an arbitrary rule that would mean that they would receive a lesser financial benefit	Under oxytocin participants violated the rule more often. This was most apparent in individuals who had a high need for structure
Lambert et al. (47)	Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled trial	30 healthy females	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants performance on 2 social dilemma games was measured whilst participants were also shown social cues in the form of pictures of neutral or angry faces. During the tasks, an fMRI scan was conducted	OT significantly increased the activation of the nucleus accumbens during an assurance game that rewards mutual cooperation. OT significantly attenuates the amygdala
Ten Velden et al. (48)	Randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial	65 healthy female participants	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants were placed in groups and given tasks to test the levels of cooperation with the in-group. The task involved the group deciding to make an within group contribution or a between group contribution, Prior to the decision to contribute participants undertook a Stroop Interference task that was either cognitively taxing or not	Participants receiving placebo contributed more to the within group when they were cognitively taxed. The OT group contributed to the within group regardless of cognitive taxation
Hertz et al. (49)	Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled trial	90 healthy male participants IN OT (40 IU) or placebo	IN OT (40 IU) or placebo	Performance in paired dyads on a visual search task	Compared to the placebo group there was a greater collective benefit over time in the OT group. In the OT group, the more competent member of each dyad was less likely to change his mind during disagreements
Edelson et al. (50)	Within subject randomized control cross over design	92 male healthy participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Overt compliance Lasting changes to memory	OT enhanced compliance with erroneous opinions of others, and decreased influence of others on long term memories
Huang et al. (51)	Randomized double blind placebo controlled trial	85 male participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Facial attractiveness judgment scale rating unfamiliar Chinese female faces; subsequently participants were informed of ratings given by peers from an in-group (Chinese) and out-group (Japanese) simultaneously and then were asked to re-rate the same faces	OT increased conformity to both in and out group opinions.
Lane et al. (52)	Two double blind randomized control trials	1 st trial95 male participants 2nd trial61 male participants	Single dose IN OT (32 IU) or placebo	Both trials employed an envelope task exploring trust, compassion and openness	There was no significant effect of in either of the trials
Ruissen et al. (53)	Randomized double blind between subject controlled trial	63 healthy male participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance individually and on joint completion of the Simon task and EEG recordings during individual and joint performance on the Simon task	There was an enhanced Simon effect in the social context after administration of OT. Oxytocin enhanced self other integration compared with placebo on the N2 component of the EEG

Declereck et al. (54)					
	Double blind control trial	259 male and female participants	3 doses, at 5 minute intervals of IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants played a range of mixed emotive games (prisoners dilemma); one group was subject to a social cue prior to completion	OT and social cues interact to alter the behaviors of individuals with a pro self-value orientation; after prior contact with the game partner, OT enhances cooperative behavior compared to anonymous conditions where it exacerbates intrinsic self-interest behavior
Shalvi and De Drue (55)	Double blind placebo controlled trial	60 male participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Coin toss prediction task; participants were able to report their performance levels dishonestly to benefit their group	Healthy males in OT group lied more to benefit their group and did so faster than placebo group. Treatment effects emerged when lying had financial consequence
Yao et al. (56)	Double blind between subject placebo controlled trial	104 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Revised version of a trust game with 5 players (1 truster, 4 trustees). The participant was always the truster and the trustees were not real	Although OT had no effect on modulating trust restoration, it did have a gender specific effect, with females showing less evidence for trust repair in OT vs. placebo groups
Israel et al. (57)	Randomized placebo control trial	84 male participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Clips using an adaptation of the prisoner's dilemma task. Participants' financial awards were contingent on their own and their partner's decisions	OT participants were less accurate than those on placebo at predicting participants' decisions
Riling et al. (58)	Randomized double blind placebo control trial.	91 male participants	IN OT (24 IU) or Placebo or IN vasopression (140 IU)	Iterative prisoners dilemma game looking at behavioral and fMRI responses.	MRI results showed that OT, relative to both vasopressin, and placebo increased caudate nucleus response to reciprocated cooperation and left amygdala activation to reciprocated cooperation. Behaviorally OT was associated with increased rates of cooperation
Studies in aggression and violence Ne'eman et al. (59) Randomized placebo cont subject trial	and violence Randomized, double blind, placebo controlled within subject trial	48 healthy adults participants (28 men and 20 women)	IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Performance on a Social Orientation Paradigm (SOP) to measure for real time aggressive behavior in response to provocation	In those naive to the SOP, oxytocin increased the aggressive response in comparison with placebo
DeWall et al. (60)	Double blind placebo controlled between subject experiment	93 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Participants took part in 2 provocation tasks with participants rating the probability that they would engage in various aggressive behaviors with an intimate partner	OT increased interpersonal violence inclinations but this effect was limited to participants prone to physical aggression
Studies in moral responsibility	nsibility				
Goodyear et al. (61)	Randomized double blind placebo controlled, between subject design	84 male healthy participants	Single dose IN OT (40 IU) or placebo	Intuitions about free will and moral responsibility using ratings of vignettes in deterministic and indeterministic universes	Placebo group held offender more morally responsible compared to OT group
Scheele et al. (62)	Counter balanced, within subject double blind trial	157 male and female participants	Single dose IN OT (24 IU) or placebo	Rating of intensity of own emotional arousal to pictures of faces during fMRI scanning.	OT facilitated cortical micline responses during the self processing of disgust and selectively promoted self interest moral judgments in men. In women OT increased the reaction time difference between accepted and rejected moral dilemmas.

TABLE 1 | Continued

interaction partner. Prior to the main task, the participants undertook a help manipulation task. This was a "tedious" task where participants had to sort letter strings as words or non-words as quickly as possible. During the task, the computer needed fixing and the help manipulation group received input from a technician. Following this help manipulation, the participants undertook two interactive, cooperative tasks. One was a "touch task" (a designed tactile American Sign Language task) which was developed in order to facilitate interpersonal closeness between participants. The second task was a "taboo game" which was similar to an executive functioning tasks that requires response inhibition. The affect and social perception of participants was assessed using a PANAS and participants were asked to rate themselves and their partners. OT administration buffered against the negative subject responses to receiving help that were seen in the placebo group. Those who received oxytocin also expressed greater happiness and gratitude in response to receiving help (29).

Hecht and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial with 28 healthy female participants. Participants were randomized to receive either 24 IU of intranasal OT or placebo. Participants were then shown animations of geometric shapes depicting social interactions such as playing, chasing, fighting or random movements. Their responses as to whether the shapes represented "friends" or "not friends" were measured, as were their neural responses on fMRI. OT reduced activation in early visual cortex and dorsalstream motion processing regions. The authors concluded that this indicated that reduced activity was related to social attention. OT also reduced endorsements that shapes were "friends" or "not friends," and this significantly correlated with reduction in neural activation. Furthermore, participants who perceived fewer social relationships at baseline were more likely to show OT induced increases in a broad network of regions involved in social perception and social cognition, suggesting that lower social processing at baseline may predict more positive neural responses to OT (31).

Li and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind, placebo within subject trial with 30 healthy fathers of 1–2 year old children. Participants were randomized to receive IN OT, vasopression, or placebo. Participants were shown photographic stimuli of emotional faces of adults and children. In addition they were exposed to a cry stimulus. Neural responses were examined through fMRI. The study found that OT significantly increased the BOLD fMRI response to viewing pictures of participants' own children in brain regions involved in reward, empathy, and attention in human fathers (32).

Luo and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial with 86 healthy participants (43 males, 43 females). Participants were randomized to have intranasal OT or placebo and were then shown a range of images of emotional faces. Their brain function was measured with fMRI scans as participants viewed the images. In response to seeing a threatening facial stimuli, in males, OT suppressed the inferior frontal gyrus, dorsal anterior cingulate, and anterior insula responses. In females OT led to an increased response in these areas. The authors concluded that oxytocin produces sex dependent effects in social emotional processing and may have different therapeutic effects on men and women (33).

Strang and colleagues conducted a randomized, controlled, double blind placebo controlled trial with 132 healthy male participants. Following administration of OT or placebo, participants' performance on a task where they could decide how to give of their endowment to a person at a specific social distance. In those who received OT there was a positive correlation between individual trait empathy and the generosity toward others (34).

Hi and colleagues conducted a double blind, randomized cross over trial with 41 healthy male participants. Following administration of OT or placebo, participants took part in a "HelPun" task. In this task participants transfer money from their own endowment to either help a victim or punish a norm violator. Participants' behavior and fMRI scan results were observed. Under OT, participants showed a trend to accelerate altruistic decisions. The enhancement of prosocialrelevant perception was also supported by findings from the fMRI scans, which showed an increase in neural activations in Theory of Mind related neural areas such as the left temporoparietal junction during observations of others being helped (35).

Korb and colleagues conducted a double blind, randomized, placebo controlled, between subject trial with 60 healthy male participants. Following administration of OT or placebo participants were shown a number of stimuli in the form of pictures of expressive faces. The faces gradually changed the expressions between happy, angry, and neutral expressions. Participants were asked to identify when the expression changed. Participants were also asked to rate the intensity of the expression shown. Participants were also instructed to smile or frown in response to instructions on a screen which was assessed using facial EMG. Facial mimicry was increased in the OT group but the effects were strongest in response to angry infant faces. Assessment of the impact of the intensity of the facial expression showed that OT did not modulate facial mimicry in the intensity task (36).

Palgi and colleagues conducted a double blind, within subject placebo randomized controlled trial with 30 male and female participants. Following administration of OT or placebo, participants listened to an audio recording of protagonists of both genders describing distressing emotional conflicts. They were then asked to provide compassionate advice. Two clinical psychologists listened to their recorded responses and then rated their responses for levels of compassion. In both male and female participants OT enhanced compassion toward females but not males (37).

Perry and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled trial with 54 males. Participants were given an online questionnaire which investigated their reactivity to others in order to assess for the participants' global concept of empathy. They then took part in two experiments. The first experiment looked at preferred interpersonal distance with a number of hypothetical protagonists (a friend, a stranger, an authority figure, and a rolling ball). The second experiment involved participants deciding which room they would like to be in depending on different characteristics of the rooms relating to interpersonal distance. The authors found that amongst highly empathetic individuals (as identified by the pre experiment questionnaire) OT promoted a choice of closer interpersonal distances. However, the opposite effect was found with individuals with low empathetic traits. The authors infer from these results that that OT may not have generalized positive effects on individuals with social disorder (38).

Gallup and colleagues conducted a double blind randomized control trial of 60 male healthy participants. Participants were shown a "contagious yawning" video stimulus, and were observed for contagious yawning and other behaviors. Intranasal OT did not increase contagious yawning but modulated expressions that were indicative of awareness of the social stigma associated with this behavior. Those who received OT were more likely to conceal their yawns and were less likely to display overt cues associated with this behavior (39).

Abu-Akel and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo controlled crossover trial of 29 male and female participants. Participants were shown pictures of people with their limbs in various painful situations and were asked to imagine themselves and others in these same painful situations and to give empathetic responses. It was found that OT increased empathy when imagining others compared with imagining oneself in pain; this difference was not found in the placebo group (40).

Cardoso and colleagues conducted a double blind randomized control trial of 82 male and female participants. Participants were asked to complete the perceiving and understanding emotion components of Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT). This looked at the effect of oxytocin on perceiving and understanding emotion, on accurate perception of emotions on the Faces Task, and on intensity rating of facial emotions. Participants treated with OT rated the emotion in facial stimuli with greater intensity than those treated with placebo. However, accuracy of emotion identification in faces was impaired in the OT group relative to placebo for all emotions (41).

Fischer-Shofty and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo controlled trial of 62 male and female participants. Participants completed an interpersonal perception task. The authors found that OT improved accuracy of perception of social interactions. In addition OT improved kinship recognition in women but not men. The performance of males was only improved on competition recognition (42).

Studies in Inhibitory Control

Two studies looked at the effect of OT on inhibitory control (43, 44).

Hirosawa and colleagues conducted a single blind placebo controlled crossover study of 20 male participants. Two paradigms were used: Paradigm 1 investigated the effects of OT on interpretation of facial cognition. Paradigm 2 investigated the effect of OT on attentional-inhibitory control using a modification of the speeded flanker task. OT did not show any effect on either of these tasks. However, the enhancement of attentional-inhibitory control after OT administration significantly correlated with the positively valenced effects of the interpretation of uncertain facial cognition (i.e., neutral and ambiguous facial expressions). That is to say, in those who exhibited a positive beneficial effect of OT on attentional inhibitory control, OT was associated with a tendency to interpret uncertain facial cognitions as being less hostile (43).

Ma and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo controlled between subject experiment with 150 male participants exploring the effects of OT on in-group favoritism where cognitive processing was experimentally manipulated. In addition, individual differences in participants' inclination toward intuition or reflection in daily life were examined. The study's results demonstrated the distinct functional roles of OT when different cognitive styles are promoted during group social cooperation. OT increased in-group favoritism in intuitive participants. However, decreased in-group favoritism was found in those who rely on a reflective style (44).

Studies in Compliance and Conformity

There were 14 studies that looked at the effect of OT on compliance and conformity; these were assessed through a number of tasks as described below (45-58).

Aygodan and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled trial with 120 healthy male participants. Participants received either intranasal OT or placebo and their performance on a competitive and noncompetitive coin tossing task, where participants had to self-report in order to win a monetary prize, was assessed. This task was to measure conformity to the widely accepted norm of honesty under the pressure of competition in the OT group compared with the placebo group. The study found that conformity was enhanced by OT. In the competitive task OT's positive effect on conformity was associated with a reduction in honesty. In the noncompetitive task the opposite was found (45).

Gross and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled within subject trial with 139 healthy participants. Participants received either intranasal OT or placebo and were given a test of conformity to instructions. In the test, participants had a binary choice and were given an arbitrary rule that would mean that they would receive a lesser financial benefit. Under OT participants violated the rule more often. This was most apparent in individuals who had a high need for structure (46).

Lambert and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled trial with 30 healthy females. Participants received either intranasal OT or placebo and their performance on two social dilemma games was measured. At the same time, participants were shown social cues in the form of pictures of neutral or angry faces and also underwent fMRI scanning. The study found that OT significantly increased the activation of the nucleus accumbens during an assurance game that rewards mutual cooperation but significantly attenuated amygdala signal (47).

Ten Velden and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled within subject trial with 65 healthy males and 129 healthy female participants. Participants were placed in groups and given tasks to test the levels of cooperation within the in-group. The task involved the group deciding to make a within group contribution or a between group contribution. Prior to the decision to contribute participants undertook a Stroop Interference task that was either cognitively taxing or not. The study found that participants receiving placebo contributed more to the within group when they were cognitively taxed. The OT group contributed to the within group regardless of cognitive taxation (48).

Hertz and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled trial of 90 healthy male participants. Participants were randomized to receive either placebo or intranasal OT and performed a visual search task in paired dyads. Compared to the placebo group there was a greater collective benefit over time in the OT group. In addition, in the OT group, the more competent member of each dyad was less likely to change their mind during disagreements (49).

Edelson and colleagues conducted a within subject randomized placebo controlled cross over study of 92 male healthy participants. Participants were exposed to erroneous information in various forms as individuals and as a group. Their memory of the events was then assessed in the context of manipulation and no manipulation, with an attempt to induce conformity with peer pressure. It was found that OT enhanced compliance to erroneous opinions of others, and decreased the influence of others' opinions on longer term memories (50).

Huang and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo randomized controlled trial of 85 male participants. They were asked to rate the attractiveness of unfamiliar Chinese faces (from the same ethnicity of the participants); subsequently participants were informed of the ratings of their peers from an ethnic in group (Chinese) and an ethnic out group (Japanese) before being asked to re-rate the initial faces for attractiveness. Results demonstrated that OT promoted conformity regardless of membership of social group when social pressure was applied (51).

Lane and colleagues considered the role of OT administration upon trusting behaviors. This was based upon a previous successful study by Kostfield et al. (63), which demonstrated an increase in trusting behavior with OT. Two double blind randomized controlled trials were conducted with 95 and 61 male participants, respectively. In the first trial participants were given OT or placebo and then asked to complete an "envelope task." Participants were asked to complete a questionnaire which had questions about the experimenter and intimate questions about the participant. Trust was assessed by the degree of openness of an envelope containing a participant's confidential information. In the second trial participants were given OT or placebo and were then assessed for compassion and openness of responses in a further envelope task. No effects were found on either of these tasks (52).

Ruissen and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled between subject trial of 63 healthy male participants. Following placebo or oxytocin, the performance of participants individually and jointly on completion of the Simon task (a test to investigate modulation of the self-other integration process during joint task performance) were assessed. EEG recordings were also taken. The study found that there was an enhanced Simon effect (positive response to the Simon task measure of self-other integration) in the social context after administration of OT. OT enhanced self-other integration (the ability to integrate of one's own and others actions) compared with placebo. This was apparent on behavioral measures and was also evident in the electrophysiological measures on the EEG (53).

Declereck and colleagues conducted a double blind control trial of 259 male and female participants. Participants played a range of mixed emotive games (prisoner's dilemmas) and one group had a manipulated social cue prior to completion of the task. OT and social cues interacted to alter the behaviors of individuals with a pro self-value orientation. After prior contact with the game partner, OT enhanced cooperative behavior compared to anonymous conditions where it increased intrinsic self-interest behavior (54).

Shalvi and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo controlled trial of 60 male participants. Participants worked in groups and completed a single coin toss prediction task. They were able to dishonestly report their performance levels to benefit their group. Healthy males in the OT group lied more to benefit their group and did so faster than those receiving placebo. These treatment effects were more apparent when lying had financial consequences though lying did not correlate with expected reciprocal dishonesty (55).

Yao and colleagues conducted a double blind between subject placebo controlled trial of 104 male and female participants. Participants took part in a revised version of a trust game with 5 players (1 truster, 4 trustees). The participant was always the truster and the trustees were not real. Although OT had no effect on modulating trust restoration, it did have a gender specific effect, with females showing less evidence of trust repair in the OT vs. the placebo group. The gender specific effect was more evident in the context of attempted trust repair using financial compensation (56).

Israel and colleagues conducted a randomized placebo controlled trial of 84 male participants. Participants were paired and asked to watch clips in an adaptation of the prisoner's dilemma task. Participants' financial awards were contingent on their own and their partner's decisions. People who had been given OT were less accurate than those on placebo at predicting their partner's decisions. The authors concluded that OT appears to impede the accurate assessment of trustworthiness in risky social exchanges (57).

Rilling and colleagues conducted a double blind randomized placebo control trial in 91 male participants. Subjects were given either intranasal OT (24 IU) or intranasal vasopression (140 IU) and both arms had a placebo group. The task used was an iterated prisoners' dilemma game during which the impact of intranasal OT and vasopressin on behavior and brain activity was assessed. fMRI results showed that OT, relative to both vasopressin and placebo, increased responses in the caudate nucleus and left amygdala to reciprocated cooperation. Behaviorally, OT was associated with; increased rates of cooperation, increased facilitation of reward of reciprocated cooperation, increased facilitation of learning that another person can be trusted (58).

Studies in Aggression and Violence

Two studies looked at the effect of OT on aggression and violence (59, 60).

Ne'eman and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled within subject trial with 28 healthy men and 20 healthy women. Participants were administered OT or placebo before performance on a Social Orientation Paradigm (SOP) to measure for real time aggressive behavior in response to provocation. OT increased the aggressive response in comparison with placebo (59).

DeWall and colleagues conducted a double blind placebo controlled between subject experiment with 93 male and female participants. Participants took part in two provocation tasks rating the probability that they would engage in various aggressive behaviors with an intimate partner. In those given OT there were increased interpersonal violence inclinations but this effect was limited to participants prone to physical aggression in the first place (60).

Studies in Moral Responsibility

There were two studies that looked at the effect of OT on moral responsibility (61, 62).

Goodyear and colleagues conducted a randomized double blind placebo controlled, between subject study of 84 male healthy participants. Participants were assessed for intuitions about free will and moral responsibility by asking them to rate hypothetical vignettes from deterministic and indeterministic universes. Vignettes related to the moral responsibility of a hypothetical offender. The placebo group held offenders more morally responsible whereas in the OT group participants had greater leniency and assigned less moral responsibility to the offender (61).

Scheele and colleagues conducted a counter balanced, within subject double blind placebo controlled trial of 157 male and female participants. During fMRI scanning, participants rated the intensity of their emotional arousal to a set of pictures of faces. Participants were presented with moral dilemma scenarios and asked how they would respond in these scenarios. It was found that OT facilitated cortical midline responses during the processing of disgust when exposed to pictures of faces. OT was also found to selectively promote self-interested moral judgments in men. In women, OT increased the reaction time in performing on the moral dilemma scenarios (62).

DISCUSSION

We have conducted a systematic review to examine the effects oxytocin may have in persons with ASPD. After an extensive systematic literature search we found only two studies using oxytocin in participants with ASPD. The lack of research in this area indicates that this is a novel and interesting area that may be the focus of research in the future.

The findings from the studies that have participants with ASPD look specifically at human aggression using the PSAP (28), and the ability to process and interpret emotional faces (27). What we know from these studies is that OT administration in participants with ASPD, corrected the relative deficits in recognizing fearful or happy faces (27). The effect of OT on human aggression, as assessed by the PSAP was found to be not systematically related to dose and there were no trends between OT and aggressive responses. Both of the ASPD studies

highlight a number of limitations of their studies, including small sample size and confounding factors such as criminal and drug use histories. Future studies would need to have larger numbers to ensure that they are sufficiently powered in order for the results to be meaningful. It is impressive that in both of the studies there were no drop outs. It would perhaps be expected by the very nature of participants having ASPD, that they may be more likely to drop out. A sufficient number of participants recruited to future studies would help with this. Future studies therefore need to recruit sufficient participant numbers to allow for meaningful control of confounding factors. The ASPD population is a diverse group which can have large numbers of comorbid mental disorders and substance use disorders (2). This is something that would need to be screened for carefully and having such comorbidities could be part of the exclusion criteria for participants. Furthermore, the impact of other complex factors such as criminality and social factors should be accounted for and controlled for to manage the risk of confounding the primary outcome measures. Future studies in participants with ASPD would also need to carefully consider the potential risks associated with a complex ASPD group of participants receiving an intervention. In particular risks of worsening symptoms and causing an increase in the risk related aspects of their presentation.

With a limited number of studies that looked at the use of OT in ASPD we widened our search to include studies that looked at the effects of OT in modulating function in healthy controls that are relevant to the symptomatology of ASPD. We found 34 studies that met our inclusion criteria. All studies were placebo controlled and all but three (38, 50, 57) were randomized and/or double-blinded. This suggests that for most of the included studies there were robust study designs.

The 13 studies that examined the effect of oxytocin on empathy all demonstrated that oxytocin significantly improves empathy. However, the tasks used to assess this were very different. These results show promise for a population with ASPD who inherently have deficits with empathy. However, there are some potential areas of concerns regarding the use of OT in ASPD based on the limited literature described here. For example, one study found that OT worsened the accuracy of interpreting emotions (41). In the ASPD population, which is known to lack empathy as well as impulse control, such an effect would be counterproductive and potentially risky.

There were only two studies that looked at the effect of OT on inhibitory control, an area central to the risks associated with ASPD. Unfortunately, only one of the studies found that OT helped to control inhibition (44). However, even these results highlighted that outcomes were dependent upon individual's baseline traits—highly reflective individuals responded better to OT compared to those with intuitive personality styles. The evidence for using OT in improving inhibitory control is therefore limited. This again highlights the importance of future studies in participants with ASPD controlling for the effects of the individual's baseline traits.

Fourteen studies investigated compliance and conformity out of which seven found improvements in compliance and conformity following OT administration. The tasks used varied between studies and included; competitive and non-competitive coin tossing tasks (45), social dilemma tasks (47), Stroop Interference task (48), tasks with monetary involvement, a visual search task (49), memory under peer pressure (50), judgements of attractiveness between in and out groups (51), envelope task (52), the Simon Task (53), and the prisoners dilemma (54). Whilst it would at first glance seem to hold some promise in managing patients with ASPD a more detailed analysis of the findings raises some concerns. Particularly, in a number of studies compliance and conformity was greater within an "in group." This would suggest that whilst OT increases compliance it could also increase a person's vulnerability to peer pressure. For patients with ASPD living in institutions with similarly antisocial individuals this would be an undesired effect.

Only one study explored the effect of OT on aggression and violence and results raise further concerns regarding the potential use of OT in this patient group as it appeared to increase inclinations toward aggression and violence in those already prone to violence (60). When compared with the study by Alcorn et al. (28) this raises additional concerns and would indicate a need for future studies to explore this difference in more detail.

The two studies on moral judgement likewise do not show promise; on the contrary OT appears to result in a greater degree of leniency toward offenders, the opposite of a desired effect in ASPD (61). Whilst we are not aware of what the effect it would have in an ASPD cohort, this would be a significant concern and could raise an increase in risks to others. It would indicate that future studies need to manage this risk carefully and assess for the effect of OT on "moral judgement" in the ASPD participants.

Across all the studies one of the challenges is that whilst there are a number of studies in both healthy and ASPD participants which show the effects that OT have there is no consistent evidence that OT has a single and reproducible effect on any one function of human behavior. Some studies looking at the same functions show that OT enhances functions but others looking at the same functions show that OT has the opposite effect. One of the limitations in trying to draw inferences from a wide range of studies is that the populations are heterogenous and this in itself may have a significant impact upon findings and results between studies that investigate the same functions. Our findings are also limited by the absence of studies in the actual target condition, ASPD. Instead we had to rely on proxy evidence using studies investigating the effect of OT on relevant functions in healthy individuals. It is not possible to know, on the basis of the available evidence to date, whether findings from healthy groups

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edn.* Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Coid J, Yang M, Tyrer P, Roberts A, Ullrich S. Prevalence and correlates of personality disorder in Great Britain. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2006) 188:423–31. doi: 10.1192/bjp.188.5.423
- Zimmermen M, Rothschild L, Chelminski I. The prevalence of DSM-IV personality disorders in psychiatric outpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2005) 162:1911–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.10.1911

can be extrapolated to personality disordered individuals. Even within healthy individuals, in each of the symptom groups there was little uniformity between studies in terms of the tasks or outcome measures used. This is perhaps not surprising as the symptoms groups are complex to define and assess. Furthermore, whilst the studies only included healthy adults, in the absence of personality assessments in the included participants, one cannot rule out the possibility of confounding effects in the findings.

CONCLUSION

This is the first systematic literature review exploring the potential use of oxytocin in managing the symptoms of ASPD. It is apparent that there is a reasonable body of evidence addressing related symptoms in healthy individuals, but only two studies including participants with ASPD. The majority of studies were large sample, randomized controlled trials exploring a range of functions, including interpersonal relationships, compliance, empathy, emotional processing, moral judgment, deceitfulness, and conformity. Findings were highly dependent upon context and the participants' premorbid states. OT has been shown to demonstrate diversified effects, in most cases being associated with socially positive or non-criminogenic behaviors. However, some studies found opposite, and non-desirable, effects, e.g., an increase in violent inclinations. It is also of note that ASPD symptoms do not occur in isolation and there is likely to be a complex interplay between symptoms. It is difficult therefore to draw any direct inferences from healthy control studies. Further high quality large sample studies are required to explore the benefits of oxytocin in a population with an established diagnosis of ASPD. Studies should also rigorously control for potential confounding effects.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to this paper including the planning, development of a search strategy, reviewing the papers, and writing the article.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2019.00076/full#supplementary-material

- Beckwith H, Moran PF, Reilly J. Personality disorder prevalence in psychiatric outpatients: A systematic literature review. *Pers Mental Health*. (2014) 8:91– 101. doi: 10.1002/pmh.1252
- Bender DS, Skodol AE, Pagano ME, Dyck IR, Grilo CM, Tracie Shea M, et al. Prospective assessment if treatment use by patients with personality disorders. *Psychiatr Services*. (2006) 57:254–57. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.5 7.2.254
- Newton-Howes G, Tyrer P, Weaver T. Social functioning of patients with personality disorder in secondary care. *Psychiatr Services*. (2008) 59:1033–7. doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.5 9.9.1033

- Soeteman DI, Hakkaart-van Roijen L, Verheul R, Busschbach JV. The economic burden of personality disorders in mental health care. J Clin Psychiatry. (2008) 69:259–65. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n0212
- Dolan BM, Warren FM, Menzies D. Cost-offset following specialist treatment of severe personality disorders. *Psychiatr Bull.* (1996) 20:413–7. doi: 10.1192/pb.20.7.413
- Grilo CM, McGlashan TH, Quinlan DM, Walker ML, Greenfeld D, Edell WS. Frequency of personality disorders in two age cohorts of psychiatric inpatients. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1998) 155:140–2. doi: 10.1176/ajp.155.1.140
- Singleton N, Meltzer H, Gatwards R, Coid J, Deasy D. Psychiatric Morbidity Among Prisoners in England and Wales. London: The Stationary Office (1998).
- 11. Fazel S, Danesh J. Serious mental disorder in 23000 prisoners: a systematic review of 62 surveys. *Lancet.* (2002) 359:545–50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)07740-1
- Coid JW. Aetiological risk factors for personality disorders. Br J Psychiatry. (1999) 174:530–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.6.530
- Dadds MR, Moul C, Cauchi A, Dobson-Stone C, Hawes DJ, Brennan J, et al. Polymorphisms in the oxytocin receptor gene are associated with the development of psychopathy. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2014) 26:21–31. doi: 10.1017/S0954579413000485
- Viero C, Shibuya I, Kitamura N, Verkhratsky A, Fujihara H, Katoh A, et al. Oxytocin: crossing the bridge between basic science and pharmacotherapy. CNS Neurosci Therap. (2010) 16:138–56. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-5949.2010.00185.x
- Bethlehem RAI, Van Honk J, Auyeung B, Baron-Cohen S. Oxytocin, brain physiology, and functional connectivity: A review of intranasal oxytocin fMRI studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2013) 38:962–74. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.10.011
- Bartz JA, Hollander E. The neuroscience of affiliation: forging links between basic and clinical research on neuropeptides and social behaviour. *Horm Behav.* (2006) 50:518–28. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.018
- Veening JG, Olivier B. Intranasal administration of oxytocin: behavioural and clinical effects. A review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:1445–65. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.012
- Fischer-Shofty M, Shamay-Tsoory SG, Harari H, Levkovitz Y. The effect of intranasal administration of oxytocin on fear recognition. *Neuropsychologia*. (2010) 48:179–84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.09.003
- Ditzen B, Schaer M, Gabriel B, Bodenmann G, Ehlert U, Heinrichs M. Intranasal oxytocin increases positive communication and reduces cortisol levels during couple conflict. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2008) 65:728–31. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.10.011
- Wantanabe T, Abe O, Kuwabara H, Yahata N, Takano Y, Iwashiro N, et al. Mitigation of sociocommunicational deficits of autism through oxytocin induced recovery of medial prefrontal activity. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2013) 71:166–75. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.3181
- Averbeck BB, Bobin T, Evans S, Shergill SS. Emotion recognition and oxytocin in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:259–66. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711001413
- Pederson CA, Gibson CM, Rau SW, Salimi K, Smedley KL, Casey LM, et al. Intranasal oxytocin reduces psychotic symptoms and improves Theory of Mind and social perception in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2011) 132:50–3. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.07.027
- NICE. Antisocial Personality Disorder: Treatment, Management and Prevention. NICE Clinical Guideline 77. (2009). Available online at: www.nice. org.uk/CG77 [NICE guideline].
- Gibbon S, Duggan C, Stoffers J, Hubbard N, Vollm BA, Ferriter M, et al. Psychological interventions for antisocial personality disorder. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2010) 16:CD007668. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007668.pub2
- Raine A, Yang Y. Neural Foundations to moral reasoning and antisocial behaviour. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2006) 1:203–13. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsl033
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Althman DG, The PRISMA Group. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis: The PRISMA Statement. J Clin Epidemiol. (2009) 62:1006–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.005
- 27. Timmermann M, Jeung H, Schmitt R, Boll S, Freitag CM, Bertsch K, et al. Oxytocin improves facial emotion recognition in young adults with

antisocial personality disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2017) 85:158-64. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.07.483

- Alcorn JL, Rathnayaka N, Swann AC, Moeller FG, Lane SD. Effects of intranasal oxytocin on aggressive responding in antisocial personality disorder. *Psychol Rec.* (2015) 65:691–703. doi: 10.1007/s40732-015-0139-y
- Human LJ, Wooley JD, Mendes WB. Effects of oxytocin administration on receiving help. *Emotion*. (2017) 18:980–8. doi: 10.1037/emo0000369
- Hubble K, Daughters K, Manstead ASR, Rees A, Thapar A. Oxytocin increased attention to eyes and selectively enhances self reported affective empathy for fear. *Neuropsychologica*. (2017) 106:350–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.10.019
- Hecht EE, Robins DL, Gautam P, King TZ. Intranasal oxytocin reduced social perception in women: Neural activation and individual variation. *Neuroimage*. (2017) 147:314–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.12.046
- Li T, Chen X, Mascaro J, Haroon E, Rilling JK. Intranasal oxytocin but not vasopressin augments neural response to toddlers in human fathers. *Horm Behav*. (2017) 93:193–202. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.01.006
- Luo L, Becker B, Geng Y, Zhao Z, Gao Z, Zhao W, et al. Sex-dependent neural effect of oxytocin during subliminal processing of negative emotion faces. *Neuroimage*. (2017) 162:127–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.08.079
- 34. Strang S, Gerhardt H, Marsh N, Artigas SO, Hu Y, Hurlemann R, et al. A matter of distance – The effect of oxytocin on social discounting is empathy-dependent. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2017) 78:229–32. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.01.031
- Hi Y, Scheele D, Becker B, Voos G, David B, Hurlemann R, et al. The effect of oxytocin on third party alturistic decisions in unfair situations: an fMRI study. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:20236. doi: 10.1038/srep20236
- Korb S, Malsert J, Strathearn L, Vuilleumier P, Niedenthal P. Sniff and mimic Intranasal oxytocin increases facial mimicry in a sample of men. *Horm Behav.* (2016) 84:64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.06.003
- Palgi S, Klein E, Shamey-Tsoory SG. Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases compassion toward women. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2015) 10:311–7. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu040
- Perry A, Mankuta D, Shamay-Tsoory SG. OT promotes closer interpersonal distance among highly empathetic individuals. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2015) 10:3–9. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu017
- Gallup AC, Church AM. The effects of intranasal oxytocin on contagious yawning. *Neurosci Lett.* (2015) 607:13–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.09.007
- Abu-Akel A, Palgi S, Klein E, Decety J, Shamay-Tsoory SG. Oxytocin increases empathy to pain when adopting the other but not the selfperspective. *Soc Neurosci.* (2015) 10:7–15. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2014.9 48637
- Cardoso C, Ellenbogen MA, Linnen A. The effect of intranasal oxytocin on perceiving and understanding emotion on the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT). *Emotion*. (2014) 14:43–50. doi: 10.1037/a0034314
- Fischer-Shofty M, Levkovitz Y, Shamay-Tsoory SG. Oxytocin facilitates accurate perception of competition in men and kinship in women. Soc Cogn Affect Neurisci. (2013) 8:313–7. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsr100
- Hirosawa T, Kikuchi M, Okumura E, Yoshimura Y, Hirashi H, Munesue T, et al. Attentional control and interpretation of facial expression after oxytocin administration to typically developed male adults. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0116918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116918
- Ma Y, Rand DG, Han S. Opposing oxytocin effects on intergroup cooperative behaviour in intuitive and reflective minds. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2015) 40:2379–87. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.87
- Aydogan G, Jobst A, D'Ardenne K, Muller N, Kocher MG. The detrimental effects of oxytocin-induced conformity on dishonesty in competition. *Psychol Sci.* (2017) 28:751–9. doi: 10.1177/0956797617695100
- Gross J, De Dreu CKW. Oxytocin conditions trait based rule adherence. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2017) 12:427–35. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw138
- Lambert B, Declerck CH, Boone C, Parizel PM. A functional MRI study on how oxytocin affects decision making in social dilemmas: cooperate as long as it pays off, aggress only when you think you can win. *Horm Behav.* (2017) 94:145–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.06.011
- Ten Velden FS, Daughters K, De Dreu CKW. Oxytocin promotes intuitive rather than deliberated cooperation with the in-group. *Horm Behav.* (2017) 92:164–71. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.06.005

- Hertz U, Kelly M, Rutledge RB, Winston J, Wright N, Dolan EJ, et al. Oxytocin effect on collective decision making: a randomized placebo controlled study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0153352. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153352
- Edelson MG, Shemesh M, Weizman A, Yariv S, Sharot T, Dudai Y. Opposing effects of oxytocin on overt compliance and lasting changes to memory. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2015) 40:966–73. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.273
- Huang Y, Kendrick KM, Zheng H, Yu R. Oxytocin enhances implicit social conformity to both in-group and outgroup opinions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2015) 60:114–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.06.003
- Lane A, Mikolajczak M, Treinen E, Samson D, Corneille O, de Timary P, et al. Failed Replication of Oxytocin effects on trust: the envelope task case. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0137000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137000
- Ruissen MI, de Bruijn ERA. Is it me or is it you? Behavioural and electrophysiological effects of oxytocin administration on self-other integration during joint task performance. *Cortex.* (2015) 70:146–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2015.04.017
- Declereck CH, Boone C, Kiyonari T. The effect of oxytocin on cooperation in a prisoner's dilemma depends on the social context and a person's social value orientation. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2014) 9:802–9. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst040
- Shalvi S, De Drue CKW. Oxytocin promotes group serving dishonesty. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:5503-7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.14007 24111
- Yao S, Zhao W, Cheng R, Yayuan G, Luo L, Kendrick KM. Oxytocin makes females, but not males, less forgiving following betrayal of trust. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014) 17:1785–92. doi: 10.1017/S1461145714 00090X
- Israel S, Hart E, Winter E. Oxytocin decreases accuracy in the perception of social deception. *Psychol Sci.* (2013) 25:293–5. doi: 10.1177/0956797613500794

- Rilling J, DeMarco AC, Hackett PD, Thompson R, Ditzen B, Patel R, et al. Effects of intranasal Oxytocin and vasopressin on cooperative behaviour and associated brain activity in men. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2011) 37:447–61. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2011.07.013
- Ne'eman R, Perach-Barzilay N, Fischer-Shofty A, Shamay-Tsoory SG. Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases human aggressive behavior. *Horm Behav.* (2016) 80:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.01.015
- DeWall CN, Gillath O, Pressman SD, Black LL, Bartz JA, Moskovitz J, et al. When the love hormone leads to violence: oxytocin increases intimate partner violence inclinations among high trait aggressive people. *Soc Psychol Pers Sci.* (2014) 5:691–7. doi: 10.1177/1948550613516876
- Goodyear K, Lee MR, O'Hara M, Chernyak S, Walter H, Parasuraman R, et al. Oxytocin influences intuitions about the relationship between belief in free will and moral responsibility. *Soc Neurosci.* (2015) 11:88–96. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2015.1037463
- Scheele D, Streipens N, Kendrick KM, Schwering C, Noelle J, Wille A, et al. Opposing effects of oxytocin on moral judgment in males and females. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2014) 35:6067–76. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22605
- 63. Kosfeld M, Heinrichs M, Zak PJ, Fischbacher U, Fehr E. Oxytocin increases trust in humans. *Nature*. (2005) 435:673–76. doi: 10.1038/nature03701

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gedeon, Parry and Völlm. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Determinants of Dropout From Correctional Offender Treatment

Franziska Brunner^{1*†}, Insa Neumann^{1†}, Dahlnym Yoon², Martin Rettenberger^{3,4}, Elisabeth Stück¹ and Peer Briken¹

¹ Institute for Sex Research and Forensic Psychiatry, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ² Institute of Psychology, FemUniversität in Hagen, Hagen, Germany, ³ Centre for Criminology (Kriminologische Zentralstelle – KrimZ), Wiesbaden, Germany, ⁴ Department of Psychology, Johannes Gutenberg-University (JGU), Mainz, Germany

Research indicates that approximately one third of offenders admitted to social-therapeutic correctional facilities in Germany fail to complete treatment and that treatment dropout is linked to higher recidivism in both sexual and violent offenders. The purpose of this study was to examine determinants of treatment dropout in a social-therapeutic correctional facility in Germany. The sample consisted of 205 incarcerated adult male offenders (49.8% sexual, 38.1% non-sexual violent) admitted to correctional treatment. Completers and dropouts were compared on variables pertaining to demographics, offense type, substance abuse, psychopathy, risk, and protective factors. Univariate analyses showed that treatment dropouts demonstrated significantly higher scores on measures of risk and psychopathy and lower scores on protective factors. Logistic regression analyses identified unemployment, non-sexual violent index offense, higher risk scores (HCR-20), and Facet 1 (interpersonal deficits) of the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R) as significant predictors of treatment dropout. Surprisingly, substance abuse disorder was a negative predictor of dropout. With the exception of substance abuse, the results support the notion that treatment dropouts represent a group of high-risk offenders with particular treatment needs. Practical implications and suggestions for further research are discussed.

Keywords: dropout, sexual offender, violent offender, correctional treatment, risk factor, protective factor, psychopathy

In Germany, legislation regulates that social therapy represents the primary form of correctional treatment in prisons for sexual offenders whose sentencing is for more than two years (German Federal Penal Execution Law §9). Additionally, non-sexual offenders can apply for social therapy. Previous research indicates that approximately one third of offenders admitted to social-therapeutic correctional facilities in Germany fail to complete treatment (1). Comparable results were noted in an international meta-analysis by Olver et al. (2), who reported an overall attrition rate of 27.6% in sexual offender programs (k = 34, n = 12,878) and 26.9% in non-sexual violent offender programs (k = 9, n = 1,238). These numbers for several reasons raise concerns. First, those who do not complete treatment are unlikely to derive its benefits, posing a potential risk to public safety. In fact, research has shown that treatment dropout is linked to higher recidivism risk in both sexual and violent offenders (2–4). In a systematic review, McMurran and Theodosi (4) presented evidence that program dropout might even

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Klaus-Peter Dahle, University of Hildesheim, Germany Silvia Pellegrini, University of Pisa, Italy

> *Correspondence: Franziska Brunner

> f.brunner@uke.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 18 September 2018 Accepted: 26 February 2019 Published: 22 March 2019

Citation:

Brunner F, Neumann I, Yoon D, Rettenberger M, Stück E and Briken P (2019) Determinants of Dropout From Correctional Offender Treatment. Front. Psychiatry 10:142. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00142

increase the risk of reoffending compared to receiving no treatment at all. Second, research has repeatedly shown that especially high-risk high-need offenders [in terms of the risk, need, responsivity model by Bonta and Andrews (5)] are those who are less likely to complete treatment, calling for effective interventions to retain these individuals in treatment (2, 6). Third, treatment dropout has negative economic implications if resources are misallocated to participants who are unlikely to gain from the program and waitlisted offenders remain untreated (7). Fourth, dropout poses a problem for evaluation studies assessing the effectiveness of treatment programs. Excluding treatment dropouts from these studies, as it is common practice, can lead to potential overestimations of treatment effects, demonstrating the need for more elaborate research designs to permit more accurate evaluation of program effects including dropouts (8-10). Given its possible detrimental effects, research is required to identify factors associated with treatment dropout and to develop measures as well as therapeutic techniques to promote treatment completion.

Research identifying predictors associated with treatment dropout has yielded inconsistent results. In part, the outcomes are so divergent that Larochelle et al. (11) concluded that "it is difficult to draw unequivocal conclusions about the variables related to the phenomenon (p. 554)". Nevertheless, meta-analytic reviews identified numerous variables associated with treatment dropout across different treatment programs: With regard to demographic variables, higher rates of treatment dropout were associated with single marital status, lower educational attainment, higher unemployment rates, lower income, younger age, and ethnic minority status (2, 12). Moreover, dropouts tend to have higher rates of prior offenses and incarcerations and shorter sentence lengths; prior violent offenses were more strongly related to treatment attrition than prior non-violent offenses when compared across different treatment programs (2, 12). Static risk assessment instruments, which base their prediction predominantly on offense-related variables, predicted treatment dropout across different treatment programs, particularly in sexual offenders (2, 6, 13). Evidence on clinical variables suggests that substance abuse is linked to treatment dropout. However, results differ with regard to offender groups. Whereas a significant association between treatment dropout and substance abuse was found for domestic violence programs (2, 12, 14), no relationship was reported for sexual offender treatment (2). Moreover, higher rates of psychopathy have repeatedly been linked to higher treatment dropout rates, and in turn to higher rates of violent recidivism (15-17).

Whereas there is a strong evidence base linking risk factors to treatment dropout and recidivism risk, protective factors, which could retain individuals in treatment, have received less scholarly attention. A review in the field of domestic violence treatment suggested that programs designed to enhance motivation for changes and to address individual needs, such as personality traits, could decrease treatment attrition (18). A small body of empirical research has additionally shown that absent substance abuse, employment, and intimate relationship were positively related to treatment

completion [i.e., (19)]. Recent studies have found that a decrease in dynamic risk and an increase in protective factors during treatment predicted reductions in recidivism (20, 21). Therefore, evaluating both risk and protective factors in the course of treatment could enhance treatment completion and outcomes (22, 23).

Social-Therapeutic Treatment in Germany

Admission to social-therapeutic correctional facilities is regulated by Art. 9 of the German Federal Penal Execution Code (StVollzG; Strafvollzugsgesetz). For sexual offenders who serve a minimum 2-year prison sentence, admission to a social-therapeutic correctional facility is mandatory. Sexual offenders shall only be transferred back to a general correctional facility if the purpose of the treatment cannot be achieved for reasons inherent in the person of the prisoner. Non-sexual offenders may apply for admission to the social-therapeutic correctional facility on their own initiative. Their admission requires the approval of the management. According to the federal law, admission should be granted if the institution's special therapeutic means and social assistance are appropriate for their resocialization. The therapeutic concept of the socialtherapeutic institution of the federal state Hamburg suggests that, in addition to the need for treatment, responsivity factors (such as sufficient German language skills or introspection capability) and the motivation of the offender are decisive for the selection of the non-sexual offenders. In practice, however, there may be deviations due to the occupancy situation in Hamburg prisons and non-sexual offenders may be admitted who do not fully meet these criteria. Social-therapeutic treatment has no fixed length. Legislation allows a transfer to general prison if an offender is unlikely to generate treatment gains. Social therapy is characterized by a progressive transfer of responsibility to the client and the promotion of social learning within the community. Integrative social therapy follows three core principles (24): (1) consideration and inclusion of the offenders' living environment within and outside the socialtherapeutic correctional facility until release; (2) development of opportunities and relationships within the social-therapeutic correctional facility in terms of a therapeutic community; (3) modification and integration of approaches based in psychotherapy, pedagogy, and occupational therapy. Within the program, participants receive the opportunity to take part in a variety of offers, such as vocational training, education, work opportunities, or individual and group psychotherapy.

Nationwide, social-therapeutic correctional facilities display heterogeneity regarding the kinds of interventions they offer (25). Besides psychodynamic-oriented milieu therapy, the socialtherapeutic correctional facility in the present study offered both offense-specific group therapy, such as the Sex Offender Treatment Program [SOTP; (26–28)], strength-based approaches for sexual offender rehabilitation (29), and general and offenseunspecific group treatments, covering topics such as substance abuse and addiction. Additionally, participants can receive individual therapy sessions, special interventions, and support for release planning.

Study Aim

The purpose of the present study was twofold. First, it sought to identify relevant variables related to treatment dropout among offenders in a social-therapeutic correctional facility in Germany. The variables under study pertained to demographic and offense characteristics, recidivism risk, psychopathy, and protective factors. Based on the findings reviewed above, it was expected that treatment dropouts would more likely be single (never married), less educated (no secondary school diploma), unemployed, non-German, younger, and non-sexual violent offenders. They would suffer from substance abuse, demonstrate higher levels of risk and psychopathy, and score lower on protective factors than those who completed treatment. Second, the study explored whether any of the empirical-driven variables were predictive of treatment dropout. The rationale behind this was the creation of a model allowing the identification of offenders at increased risk of dropping out of the specialized treatment for sexual and violent offenders in a social-therapeutic correctional facility.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedure

This study was part of a large research project "Evaluation of the Social-Therapeutic Correctional Facility Hamburg" (30), which was authorized and funded by the Ministry of Justice of the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg. The ongoing research project is being conducted by the Institute for Sex Research and Forensic Psychiatry at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf (UKE) since 2010. The study was approved by the ethical committee of the Hamburg chamber of psychotherapists. Participants were informed about the purpose of the research project and gave their written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The aim was a complete survey of all offenders (only men) serving sentences at the social-therapeutic correctional facility of the Hamburg correctional services (SothA-HH). In the survey period from 2010 to 2018, all new entrants were informed about the study. Thirty-eight announced inmates (18.5%) refused to participate.

Data of the present study was based on pretreatment ratings and collected on site within the first weeks after the participants' admission to the SothA-HH. All data were derived from case file information (e.g., criminal record, court files, or psychological reports) and from semi-structured interviews, which lasted approximately 2 hours per participant. Information about treatment dropout was provided by the SothA-HH administration. All data were collected by trained psychologists.

Participants

The participants were N = 205 male offenders serving sentences at SothA-HH between the years 2010 and 2018. Socialtherapeutic correctional treatment had been indicated and had started for all included participants. *Completion* was defined as either (a) having participated in treatment programs of the socialtherapeutic correctional facility for at least three years or (b) having been released or (c) having been regularly transferred to another facility. Participants who did not complete socialtherapeutic treatment and were consequently transferred back to general prison were classified as *dropouts*. Dropout status was determined irrespective of whether the dropout was initiated by the offender himself or SothA-HH staff. Offender type was determined based on the index offenses the participants were currently detained for. The "other" group refers to offenders who committed neither sexual nor non-sexual violent offenses but other crimes (e.g., fraud or theft). A more in-depth analysis of the criminological and risk assessment characteristics of the sample can be found in Brunner et al. (30).

Measures

Demographic and Offense Variables

Demographic variables in the study were marital status (ever married vs. never married), education (secondary school diploma vs. no secondary school diploma), employment prior to incarceration (employed or student/trainee vs. neither employed nor student/trainee), nationality (German vs. non-German), and age at time of the data collection. Offense type (sexual vs. non-sexual violent vs. other) was defined based on the index offense participants were currently detained for. Substance abuse (yes vs. no) was defined as lifetime mental and behavioral disorder due to psychoactive substance use [ICD-10 criteria for harmful use or dependency syndrome; (31)]. Index offense sentence length (months) was ascertained by court files. In case of accompanying sentences, only the index offense sentence was taken into account, unless a court has formed an overall penalty for several single convictions. Lifetime sentences were counted as 300 months. Preventive detentions were not considered in this variable.

Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)

The PCL-R (32, 33) is a 20-item measure of psychopathic personality traits. The instrument was designed with two interrelated factors, which are further divided into two facets each. The facets subsumed under Factor 1 describe interpersonal (Facet 1) and affective deficits (Facet 2). Factor 2 pertains to chronic antisocial behavior, and its facets are impulsive lifestyle (Facet 3) and antisocial behavior (Facet 4). Each variable is scored on a 3-point scale (0–2) with total scores ranging from 0 to 40. Based on Hare (33), scores on the PCL-R can be categorized into three levels, with values between 0 and 16 indicating a low score, values between 17 and 24 indicating a medium score, and values above 24 indicating a high score on the construct. The reliability, concurrent and predictive validity of the PCL-R have been supported by a substantial body of literature (33–37). In case of omitted items, prorated scores were used.

Historical Clinical Risk Management-20 (HCR-20)

The HCR-20 [(38); German version: (39)] is a widely used structured professional judgment (SPJ) instrument for the assessment of risk for violent (including sexual violent) behavior. The tool comprises 20 static and dynamic variables, divided into ten historical (e.g., previous violence, young age at first violent incident, employment problems), five clinical (e.g.,

lack of insight, negative attitudes, impulsivity), and five risk management factors (e.g., lack of personal support, noncompliance with remediation attempts, stress). Each item is scored on a 3-point scale (0–2), and the rater assigns a structured final risk judgment (low, medium, or high). The instrument has demonstrated good concurrent validity (40) and moderate to strong predictive accuracy (41, 42) in offender populations. In the present study, all offender groups (including sexual offenders) were assessed with the HCR-20 second version.

Structured Assessment of PROtective Factors for Violence Risk (SAPROF)

The SAPROF [(43); German version: (44)] is an SPJ instrument assessing protective factors reducing violent risk. It is used in combination with SPJ risk assessment instruments, such as the HCR-20. The checklist contains 17 protective factors, with two static and 15 dynamic variables. Factors are organized into internal factors, motivational factors, and external factors. Internal factors refer to personal characteristics with protective benefits (e.g., intelligence, empathy, self-control), motivational factors assess an individual's motivation to become a positive member of society (e.g., work, motivation for treatment, attitude towards authority), and external items comprise social, judicial and therapeutic control factors (e.g., social network, intimate relationships, external control). All items are rated on a 3-point scale (0-2) and a protection and an integrated risk level (low, medium, or high) is assigned, taking the combined judgment of the SAPROF and HCR-20 into account. In a sample of forensic psychiatric patients, the instrument demonstrated good interrater reliability and good predictive validity for non-recidivism of (sexual) violence in forensic psychiatric patients (45, 46). The German version of the SAPROF has shown small to moderate predictive accuracy regarding sexual offenders recidivism in the correctional system (47).

Statistical Analyses

Univariate analyses were applied to identify relevant differences between dropouts and completers. More specifically, χ^2 -tests were used for categorical variables and one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) for continuous variables, the effect sizes were calculated by Cramer's V and η^2 . A Bonferroni-Holm correction was applied over all univariate tests in order to reduce the risk of alpha-error cumulation. All variables that were identified as relevant predictors for treatment attrition in previous studies and had been possible to assess in the present research project were entered into the logistic regression model with treatment completion status as the binary outcome variable. According to this empirical-driven procedure, the following variables were entered into the model: offender type, marital status, education, unemployment, nationality, substance abuse, age at admission, the HCR-20 sum score, all four facets of the PCL-R, and the SAPROF sum score. HCR-20 and SAPROF subscales were not entered separately to circumvent power loss due to a large model size. In a second data-driven approach, the model with the best fit was identified via stepwise backward elimination per likelihoodratio-test (48). Data analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 23 software.

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

The sample comprised N = 205 male inmates. Since all sexual offenders were transferred to the SothA-HH with a prison sentence of over 2 years, this group accounts for the largest offender group with 49.8%. Non-sexual violent offenders are represented in the sample by 38.0% and others by 12.2%. Overall, 70 participants (34.1%) were classified as dropouts and 135 (65.9%) as completers. **Figure 1** shows how the risk of renewed violent crimes differs between offender groups. Among sex offenders, the lowest risk category accounts for the largest share at 36.6%, while 57.7% of violent offenders fall into the highest risk category. **Table 1** shows an overview of the sample's demographic and criminological characteristics. Educational attainment ranged from no general education at all (27.3%; n = 56), secondary education (70.7%; n = 145) to tertiary education (2.0%; n = 4).

Offender Type and Demographics

Table 2 shows frequencies of completion and dropout for offender type and demographics. A $2 \times 3 \chi^2$ -test indicated that the relationship between completion status and offender group was significant. The majority of dropouts (54.3%; n = 38) was incarcerated for a non-sexual violent index offense. In contrast, within the completer group (n = 135), non-sexual violent index offenses made up only 29.6% (n = 40) of the index offenses. Completers were predominantly incarcerated for sexual offenses (57.8%; n = 78), whereas this offense type accounted for about a third of offenses among dropouts (34.3%; n = 24). Frequencies of other offenses were roughly similar in both groups. Further, univariate analyses yielded significant group differences for unemployment at the time of incarceration.

Risk Factors

In **Tables 3**, **4**, the results of statistical analyses of risk (HCR-20), psychopathy (PCL-R) and protective factors (SAPROF) are presented. Dropouts scored significantly higher on the HCR-20 and its respective subscales compared to treatment completers (**Table 3**). This finding is also confirmed by the χ^2 -Test indicating a significant association between completion status and HCR-20 risk levels (**Table 4**); the dropout group consisted of a relatively higher proportion of high-risk offenders. Conversely, low and medium risk levels were reported for the majority of completers (70.2%; n = 94), but only for a minority of dropouts (35.7%; n = 25).

As indicated by **Table 3**, completers and dropouts differed significantly on psychopathy, with dropouts scoring significantly higher compared to completers. Analyses on facet level confirmed this finding for PCL-R Factors 1 and 2; dropouts scored significantly higher than completers on PCL-R Facets 1 and 2 as well as on PCL-R Facets 3 and 4. A χ^2 -test indicated significant disproportional frequencies between psychopathy level and completion status. Dropouts tended to have increased PCL-R scores, with approximately one third of this group reaching the cut-off of 25. In comparison, only 5.2% (n = 7) of completers scored high on psychopathy. Nearly one third



TABLE 1 | Demographic and criminological characteristics.

Variable	n	%	$M \pm SD$	Range
Offender type	205	100.0		
Sexual	102	49.8		
Violent	78	38.0		
Other	25	12.2		
Never married	116	56.6		
No education	56	27.3		
Unemployment	98	47.8		
Non-German	87	42.4		
Substance abuse	115	56.1		
Age at admission (years)	205		36.60 ± 11.52	21–67
Age at first conviction (years)	205		24.26 ± 11.54	13–65
Age at first incarceration (years)	200		28.85 ± 12.02	14–67
Number of prior convictions	205		6.65 ± 6.60	0–26
Index offense sentence length (months) ^a	205		57.41 ± 47.88	7–300

The variables "never married" and "age at first incarceration" contained n = 1 and n = 5 cases of missing data, respectively. ^aLife sentences were counted as 300 months.

of dropouts (30.0%; n = 21) received a low PCL-R score. In contrast, approximately twice the proportion of completers (63.4%; n = 85) scored low on the degree of psychopathic personality traits.

Protective Factors

As reported in **Table 3**, completers and dropouts differed significantly on the internal SAPROF subscale, with dropouts scoring significantly lower compared to completers. The χ^2 -test (**Table 4**) indicated no significant relationship between completion status and level of protection after Bonferroni-Holm correction ($p_{adj} = 0.006$). Overall, the majority of offenders (86.2%; n = 175) received low or medium protection levels.

Most dropouts (58.0%; n = 40) scored low on protection, whereas among the completers, the medium protection levels accounted for the largest share with 46.3% (n = 62). In addition, the data showed that approximately twice the proportion of completers received high protection ratings, compared to dropouts.

Logistic Regression Analyses

As described above, previously reported predictors of treatment attrition were entered into a logistic regression with treatment completion status as the binary outcome variable. **Table 5** shows that this first model significantly predicted treatment completion and based on Nagelkerke's R^2 , explained 36% of the pseudo-variation. Compared to the constant alone, the overall model improved the prediction of completion status by 12.4% (from 65.3 to 77.7%). Analysis of the individual contributions of the predictors showed violent offender type, substance abuse, and PCL-R Facet 1 emerged as significant predictors of treatment dropout, when all other predictors were held constant.

In order to identify the model with the best fit, a stepwise backward elimination per likelihood-ratio-test was conducted (see **Table 6, Figure 2**). Overall, the new model correctly classified 74.8% of the cases and explained 35% of pseudo-variation (Nagelkerke's R^2). Interpretation on the variable level showed that violent offender type, unemployment, substance abuse, HCR-20 sum score, and PCL-R Facet 1 significantly predicted treatment dropout.

DISCUSSION

The current study examined determinants of treatment dropout in a male offender sample undergoing treatment in a socialtherapeutic correctional facility in Germany. First, dropouts and completers were compared on several demographic, criminogenic risk and protective variables. Second, empiricaldriven predictor variables were entered into two logistic

TABLE 2 Comparisons of completers (n = 135) and dropouts (n = 70) regarding offender type and various demographics.

	(Completers		Dropouts				
Variable	n	% or <i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>	n	% or <i>M</i> ± <i>SD</i>	χ^2 or F	df	Р	\boldsymbol{V} or η^2
OFFENDER TYPE								
Sexual	78	57.8	24	34.3	12.53		0.002	0.25
Violent	40	29.6	38	54.3		2		
Other	17	12.6	8	11.4				
DEMOGRAPHICS								
Never married	76	56.7	40	57.1	<0.01	1	1.00	< 0.01
No education	29	21.5	27	38.6	6.78	1	0.013	0.18
Unemployed	53	39.3	45	64.3	11.57	1	0.001	0.24
Non-German	56	41.5	31	44.3	0.15	1	0.766	0.03
Substance abuse	70	51.9	45	64.3	2.89	1	0.103	0.12
Age	135	37.85 ± 12.30	70	34.17 ± 9.46	4.80	1.203	0.030	0.02

Bold values indicate significance after Bonferroni-Holm correction. The variable "never married" contained n = 1 case of missing data.

TABLE 3 | Comparisons of completers (n = 134) and dropouts (n = 70) regarding risk and protective factors.

	Completers	Dropouts				
Variable	M ± SD	M ± SD	F	df	p	η^2
RISK FACTORS						
HCR-20	17.07 ± 6.41	22.87 ± 6.50	37.33	1.202	<0.001	0.16
Historical	8.78 ± 4.03	12.17 ± 3.88	33.31	1.202	<0.001	0.14
Clinical	3.25 ± 1.79	4.67 ± 2.01	26.41	1.202	<0.001	0.12
Risk	5.03 ± 1.66	6.03 ± 1.76	15.92	1.202	<0.001	0.07
PCL-R	14.20 ± 6.52	20.86 ± 7.18	44.84	1.202	<0.001	0.18
Facet 1: interpersonal deficits	1.97 ± 1.85	3.06 ± 2.35	13.20	1.202	<0.001	0.06
Facet 2: affective deficits	3.49 ± 1.81	4.39 ± 2.02	10.41	1.202	0.001	0.05
Facet 3: impulsive lifestyle	4.12 ± 2.35	6.11 ± 2.29	33.67	1.202	<0.001	0.14
Facet 4: antisocial behavior	3.42 ± 2.84	5.79 ± 3.26	28.86	1.202	<0.001	0.13
PROTECTIVE FACTORS						
SAPROF	15.40 ± 3.51	13.93 ± 3.66	7.79	1.202	0.006	0.04
Internal	4.43 ± 1.34	3.57 ± 1.54	17.14	1.202	<0.001	0.08
Motivational	5.01 ± 2.07	4.46 ± 1.83	3.51	1.202	0.063	0.02
External	5.96 ± 1.18	5.90 ± 1.12	0.11	1.202	0.746	0.00

Bold values indicate significance after Bonferroni-Holm correction. Each of the variables contained n = 1 case of missing data, but PCL-R Facet 4 contained n = 2 cases of missing data. HCR-20, Historical Clinical Risk Assessment-20; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist-Revised; SAPROF, Structured Assessment of PROtective Factors.

regression models predicting treatment dropout. Several findings emerged from the analyses.

Finding 1: Admission of Medium to High-Risk Offenders for Social-Therapy but High Dropout Rate of High-Risk/High-Need Offenders

Risk estimates based on the HCR-20 scores indicated that medium to high-risk offenders serving sentences for sexual and non-sexual violent crimes are the typical clientele of social-therapeutic treatment. Especially among non-sexual violent offenders the proportion of high-risk offenders seemed particularly high compared to the sexual offender group. Having in mind that only non-sexual offenders may be selected before admission to the social-therapeutic facility, the overrepresentation of high-risk (non-sexual) violent offenders may indicate that social-therapeutic resources are indeed allocated to those who need them most [according to the RNR-model by Bonta and Andrews (5)]. However, analyses revealed that dropouts from social-therapeutic treatment demonstrated significantly higher levels on both recidivism risk and psychopathy measures. Therefore, a relatively high number of those offenders with high risk and high need for treatment could not be kept in therapy. These findings are in line with previous research demonstrating that non-completers are high-risk and high-need individuals and that psychopaths were proportionally overrepresented in groups of treatment or program dropouts (15, 17).

TABLE 4 Pearson x2-tes	t of completion status by risk and protection levels.
--------------------------	---

	Cor	npleters	Dro	opouts	То	otal					
Measure	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	χ 2	df	р	v
HCR-20	n = 2	204)									
Low	53	39.6	12	17.1	65	31.9	204	22.84		<0.001	0.34
Medium	41	30.6	13	18.6	54	26.5			2		
High	40	29.9	45	64.3	85	41.7					
PCL-R (n	= 20)4)									
Low	85	63.4	21	30.0	106	52.0	204	34.23		<0.001	0.41
Medium	42	31.3	26	37.1	68	33.3			2		
High	7	5.2	23	32.9	30	14.7					
SAPROF	(n =	203)									
Low	49	36.6	40	58.0	89	43.8	203	9.43		0.009	0.22
Medium	62	46.3	24	34.8	86	42.4			2		
High	23	17.2	5	7.2	28	13.8					

Bold values indicate significance after Bonferroni-Holm correction. The HCR-10 risk and PCL-R risk judgment contained n = 1 case of missing data each. The SAPROF protection judgment contained n = 2 cases of missing data. HCR-20 = Historical Clinical Risk Assessment-20; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist-Revised; SAPROF, Structured Assessment of PROtective Factors.

Finding 2: Univariate Analyses Yielded Unemployment, Risk Factors and Internal Protective Factors as Significantly Different Between Completers and Dropouts

Except for unemployment, the univariate analyses yielded no significant differences between dropouts and completers on demographic variables and substance abuse. Recent studies have indeed found significant relationships between these variables and treatment dropout [i.e., (2)]. However, the lack of concordance with earlier research is not surprising, as an absence of consistent findings seems eminent to the field of attrition research (11) and may be explicable by differences in risk levels, types of treatment programs, populations under study, or ways in which dropout was operationalized. Motivational and external protective factors as assessed by the SAPROF did not significantly differentiate between the two groups. In line with the prediction, increased dropout rates were found among those who were unemployed, incarcerated for violent offenses, and scored high on risk (HCR-20), and psychopathy (all four facets of the PCL-R). These findings corroborate previous research showing that unemployment, violent offenses, risk and psychopathy were consistently associated with dropout (2).

Moreover, those with higher protection scores on the SAPROF internal subscale exhibited lower dropout rates. The higher manifestation of internal resources such as self-control, coping skills, intelligence, or empathy in the completer group might indicate that these factors are important prerequisites for treatment adherence. For example, research indicates that internal attributes like intelligence and self-control positively influence psychosocial adjustment and are able to prevent antisocial behavior (49, 50). While protective factors are

TABLE 5 | Logistic regression analysis predicting treatment dropout–first model (N = 202).

			95%	CI
Measure	OR	p	LL	UL
Offender type: sexual		0.051		
Offender type: violent	2.52	0.024	1.13	5.61
Offender type: other	0.95	0.932	0.30	3.01
Never married	0.60	0.250	0.25	1.44
No education	1.15	0.734	0.52	2.53
Unemployment	2.05	0.058	0.98	4.31
Non-German	1.76	0.135	0.84	3.70
Substance abuse	0.30	0.012	0.12	0.77
Age	0.99	0.535	0.95	1.03
HCR-20 sum	1.10	0.102	0.98	1.23
PCL-R Facet 1: interpersonal deficits	1.27	0.016	1.05	1.53
PCL-R Facet 2: affective deficits	0.97	0.760	0.77	1.21
PCL-R Facet 3: impulsive lifestyle	1.20	0.145	0.94	1.54
PCL-R Facet 4: antisocial behavior	1.05	0.553	0.89	1.25
SAPROF sum	1.02	0.720	0.90	1.16
Constant	0.02	0.037		

Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.36$ (n = 3 cases were reported missing and excluded from analysis). Bold values indicate significance at $p \le 0.05$. OR, Odds Ratio; CI, confidence interval; LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit; HCR-20, Historical Clinical Risk Assessment-20; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist-Revised; SAPROF, Structured Assessment of PROtective Factors.

still understudied, currently published research suggests riskreducing effects on recidivism (23, 47) and that improvements in the domain of protection may also translate into reductions in treatment dropout rates (20).

Finding 3: PCL-R Facet 1, Violent Index Offense, Unemployment, Substance Abuse, and HCR-20 Sum Score Are Predictors for Dropout

The model with the best fit after stepwise backward elimination per likelihood-ratio-test indicated five variable as significant predictors of treatment dropout: violent index offense, unemployment, substance abuse, HCR-20 sum score, and PCL-R Facet 1 (interpersonal deficits). Surprisingly, substance abuse was inversely related to treatment dropout. Each predictor will be discussed in more detail below.

PCL-R Facet 1

Offenders with high psychopathic traits are particularly challenging to treat because they represent an offender group that responds poorly to treatment, displays low motivation and disruptive behaviors, and has usually high treatment dropout rates (15, 16, 51, 52). Their treatment requires special attention as some programs might even hinder a positive therapy outcome [e.g., (53, 54)]. In the present study, PCL-R Facet 1 (interpersonal deficits) emerged as a significant predictor of treatment dropout. This finding suggests that the interpersonal problems (e.g., pathological lying, manipulative behavior, and a grandiose sense
Dropout From Offence	der Treatment
----------------------	---------------

TABLE 6 Logistic regression predicting treatment dropout-model with best fit
after stepwise backward elimination per likelihood-ratio-test ($N = 202$).

			95%	CI
Measure	OR	p	LL	UL
Offender type: sexual		0.044		
Offender type: violent	2.61	0.017	1.19	5.72
Offender type: other	1.08	0.893	0.36	3.20
Unemployment	2.12	0.044	1.02	4.40
Non-German	1.88	0.083	0.92	3.84
Substance abuse	0.29	0.008	0.12	0.72
HCR-20 sum	1.10	0.023	1.01	1.20
PCL-R Facet 1: interpersonal deficits	1.26	0.008	1.06	1.49
PCL-R Facet 3: impulsive lifestyle	1.21	0.102	0.96	1.53
Constant	0.01	0.000		

Nagelkerke R2 = 0.35 (n = 3 cases were reported missing and excluded from analysis). Bold values indicate significance at $p \leq 0.05$. OR, Odds Ratio; CI, confidence interval; LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit; HCR-20, Historical Clinical Risk Assessment-20; PCL-R, Psychopathy Checklist-Revised; SAPROF, Structured Assessment of PROtective Factors.

of self-worth) presented in persons with high psychopathic traits may be responsible for treatment dropout. Multiple reasons may be discussed. These offenders may have more problems to establish meaningful relationships compared to offenders with low or medium scores. In a study by Olver and Wong (16) higher scores on the PCL-R Facet 2 (affective deficits) significantly predicted treatment dropout in a sample of sexual offenders. The authors argued that affective deficits may impede the formation of strong therapeutic bonds. Arguably, this can be posited for both interpersonal problems and affective deficits. Inmates with interpersonal deficits subsumed under PCL-R Facet 1 are exhausting and unpleasant in contact and can deteriorate the atmosphere of the facility. These interpersonal deficits may thus be harmful to the establishment of a strong therapeutic alliance as they undermine mutual trust. The relationship between patient and therapist is known to be an important factor to achieve positive treatment outcomes (55). In a sample of sexual offenders, DeSorcy et al. (56) showed that lower ratings of working alliance were related to higher rates of treatment dropout, whereas some studies did not confirm this relationship (57). Further research is needed to investigate therapeutic alliance in psychopaths, since the relationship between psychopathy and dropout can be moderated by treatment alliance.

Another reason for the elevated dropout rates among offenders with higher psychopathic traits may be explained by higher rates of behavioral problems. In a sample of 44 highrisk offenders admitted to a forensic psychiatric hospital, PCL-R Facet 1 and 2 significantly predicted interpersonal physical aggression (58). The findings suggest that scoring high on PCL-R Factor 1 increases the likelihood to engage in violent behavior. This in turn may translate into increased back-transfer to general prison if the institution worries that an offender poses a danger to fellow inmates.

O'Brien and Daffern (52) investigated the role of psychopathy in treatment dropout in an Australian violent offender sample.

The authors found that psychopathy moderated the level of treatment participation and violent reoffending: offenders with high psychopathy scores, who engaged with treatment or completed it, had similar violent recidivism rates compared to those offenders with low psychopathy scores. In contrast, those who scored high on the construct but engaged poorly in treatment or did not complete it demonstrated higher rates of violent recidivism. The abovementioned findings have important implications, as appropriate interventions and successfully retaining psychopathic offenders in treatment appeared to be related to therapeutic improvement and reduced risk of sexually and violently reoffending (17). Findings by Olver et al. (59) further indicate that positive therapeutic change is negatively related to PCL-R Factor 1 supporting a growing body of literature that suggests psychopathy may be treatable after all (60) and that Factor 1-related risk factors provide good treatment targets to reduce dropout.

Violent Offense

Being incarcerated for a non-sexual violent index offense significantly predicted treatment dropout. This finding was in line with previous research showing that prior violent offenses were related to increased treatment dropout and recidivism across treatment programs (2). Unlike sexual offenders, violent offenders are not automatically admitted to social therapy but must undergo an application process-although deviations due to the occupancy situation in Hamburg prisons are possible. It is likely that, among the violent offender applicants, the SothA-HH purposefully selected those with the highest risk status. A rationale behind the selection of high-risk offenders may be that the latter group has the highest need for treatment [cf. RNR-model; (5)]. The results showed that it remained difficult to retain non-sexual violent offenders in treatment, emphasizing the need for future research to study responsivity issues as avenues for interventions (5) to mitigate the risk for treatment dropout. These may include ways of motivational interviewing, low-threshold group interventions for preparation of specific therapy or very individualized forms of single therapy if there are sufficient resources. Due to the steadily increasing proportion of non-sexual violent offenders in the last few years (25), research about new developments and improvements of treatment programs as well as techniques particularly devised for non-sexual violent offenders is warranted.

Unemployment

Previous employment studies showed that instability/unemployment was predictive of both treatment dropout and recidivism (12, 61, 62). Whereas unemployment per se is unlikely to cause treatment attrition, it may be part of a larger pattern of lifestyle instability and antisocial behavior, as also evidenced by group differences on Facets 3 and 4 of the PCL-R. It is plausible that those individuals unable to keep a job will probably show more interpersonal problems as well as a less stable therapeutic commitment as both make similar demands on the individual such as regular attendance, responsibility, the acceptance of rules and authority, and display of pro-social behavior. Thus, an individual who previously quit or lost his



jobs frequently due to impulsive, irresponsible, rule-violating, or aggressive behavior may display similar behavior in a therapeutic context, which is likely to result in the premature termination of treatment. Based on these considerations, a specific targeting of criminogenic needs such as self-control, anger issues, or lack of perseverance may provide positive improvements for both employability and treatment outcomes. Moreover, treatment approaches based on the Good Lives Model (GLM) would focus on employment and education issues, in order to equip individuals with the capabilities to achieve outcomes which were considered as desired and beneficial by the majority of the society (63). Tentative findings by Ullrich and Coid (23) as well as Yoon et al. (47) suggest that under certain circumstances, employment could act as a protective factor reducing the risk of reoffending.

Substance Abuse

Substance abuse emerged as a significant predictor of treatment dropout, but, paradoxically, was inversely related to the criterion variable: offenders who had a diagnosis of substance abuse were *less* likely to drop out of social-therapeutic treatment. This is remarkable considering that substance abuse is a risk factor and has previously repeatedly been linked to treatment dropout in violent offenders (2, 12, 14). In fact, substance abuse are especially difficult to treat and dropout rates from treatment programs for substance abuse are oftentimes higher than 50% (64). In drug abuse treatment programs, dropout is actually considered a risk factor, as it increases the likelihood of a relapse (65). Similar to the present results, the metaanalysis of Olver et al. (2) found a small negative correlation between substance use problems and sex offender treatment dropout ($r_w = -0.04$), albeit this trend was not significant. Additionally, a study with 126 incarcerated sexual offenders also found that treatment completers were more likely to suffer from substance use disorder (66). The divergence in findings between sexual and violent offenders suggests that the relationship between dropout and substance abuse may be modulated by offender group. At present, we can only speculate why substance abuse is inversely related to treatment dropout. The finding may be explained by an increased allocation of resources to offenders with substance abuse. Being known as highrisk and difficult-to-treat individuals, offenders with substance abuse issues may have received additional treatment offers and were treated with particular attention to their needs. For example, the inmates of SothA-HH have access to an additional treatment for offenders with substance abuse. Future research is needed to investigate the role of substance abuse in predicting treatment dropout.

HCR-20 Sum Score

Every predictor for dropout already discussed is a component of the HCR-20: Therefore, an index as well as prior violent offense, psychopathic traits, substance abuse, and employment instability may contribute to a high risk indicated by HCR-20 sum score. Additionally, high HCR-20 sum scores can indicate clinical risk factors such as lack of insight, antisocial, and hostile attitudes or impulsivity, but also risk factors such as noncompliance and an antisocial environment that make a future without renewed violent delinquency unlikely. At the same time, all these factors probably contribute in part to making it more difficult to cooperate with and adapt to a social-therapeutic correctional facility.

Limitations

Several limitations should be noted and addressed by future research. First, data on the reasons for dropout could not be obtained. This could threaten the validity of the results, if participants who exit the SothA-HH due to a systemic factor, such as administrative transfer, were accidentally categorized as dropouts. It could render interpretation of the results difficult, as dropout due to administrative reasons cannot be explained in terms of offender characteristics or behavior but rather external circumstances beyond the offender's control. Despite this being theoretically problematic, exits due to systemic factors happen only rarely in practice and their number in the present sample should be negligible. Future research would benefit from more detailed information on dropout reasons as they could provide a better understanding of the nature of treatment attrition and its relationship to the independent variables under investigation. Second, the generalizability of the findings is limited to the present population. Although, the participation rate is with 81.5% satisfactory (especially for a prisoners' sample), we cannot exclude self-selection bias resulting from refusers. Moreover, cross-validation with a different sample is advised when assessing the model's performance in practice. This is of particular importance, as social-therapeutic treatment is distinct to the German penal system, posing a threat to external validity if transferring results to international contexts. Finally, the current study could not investigate if dropout from a social-therapeutic

REFERENCES

- Spöhr M. Sozialtherapie von Sexualstraftätern im Justizvollzug: Praxis und Evaluation [Social Therapy of Sexual Offenders in Law Enforcement: Practice and Evaluation]. Mönchengladbach: Forum Verlag (2009).
- Olver ME, Stockdale KC, Wormith JS. A meta-analysis of predictors of offender treatment attrition and its relationship to recidivism. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2011) 79:6. doi: 10.1037/a00 22200
- Hanson RK, Bussiere MT. Predicting relapse: a meta-analysis of sexual offender recidivism studies. J Consult Clin Psychol. (1998) 66:348–62. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.66.2.348
- McMurran M, Theodosi E. Is treatment non-completion associated with increased reconviction over no treatment? *Psychol Crime Law.* (2007) 13:333– 43. doi: 10.1080/10683160601060374
- 5. Bonta J, Andrews DA. *The Psychology of Criminal Conduct*. New York, NY: Routledge (2016).
- Wormith JS, Olver ME. Offender treatment attrition and its relationship with risk, responsivity, and recidivism. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2002) 29:447–71. doi: 10.1177/0093854802029004006

facility did in fact translate into the assumed higher recidivism rates. Future research should test this hypothesis to reach a better understanding of the relationships between diverse risk and protective factors, dropout, and recidivism risk.

CONCLUSION

Despite some limitations, the present study provides important insights into the relationship between numerous variables and treatment dropout. The results support the notion that dropouts represent a high-risk and high-need offender group with pronounced risk and psychopathy scores, violent offense histories, and higher unemployment rates. Violent index offense, unemployment at the time of incarceration, HCR-20 sum score, PCL-R Facet 1, and, surprisingly, absence of substance abuse disorder were identified as significant predictors of treatment dropout, raising important considerations for treatment practice. Further research is necessary to determine how these variables contribute to treatment dropout, and to examine which variables exert a possibly confounding influence on the relationship between unemployment and treatment dropout. Even though findings regarding the relationship between dropout and protective factors remain inconclusive, further research should investigate if reductions in treatment dropout may be achieved if programs were adapted to address strengths as well as deficits.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FB, IN, and PB designed the study. FB, DY, and MR collected the data. FB, IN, and ES analyzed and interpreted the data. IN wrote the initial draft of the manuscript in constant consultation with FB. FB, IN, ES, and PB had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. All authors have contributed to, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

- Polaschek DLL. Treatment non-completion in high-risk violent offenders: looking beyond criminal risk and criminogenic needs. *Psychol Crime Law*. (2010) 16:525–40. doi: 10.1080/10683160902971048
- 8. Endres J, Breuer MM, Stemmler M. "Intention to treat" oder "treatment as received" – Umgang mit Abbrechern in der Forschung zur Straftäterbehandlung [Intention-to-treat and treatment-as-received: dealing with dropouts in research on offender treatment]. *Forensisc Psychiatr Psychol Kriminol.* (2016) 10:45–55. doi: 10.1007/s11757-015-0348-x
- Hatcher RM, McGuire J, Bilby CAL, Palmer EJ, Hollin CR. Methodological considerations in the evaluation of offender interventions: the problem of attrition. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2011) 56:447–64. doi: 10.1177/0306624X11403271
- Rice ME, Harris GT. The size and sign of treatment effects in sex offender therapy. Ann NY Acad Sci. (2003) 989:428–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07323.x
- Larochelle S, Diguer L, Laverdière O, Greenman PS. Predictors of psychological treatment noncompletion among sexual offenders. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2011) 31:554–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.12.004
- Jewell LM, Wormith JS. Variables associated with attrition from domestic violence treatment programs targeting male batterers: a meta-analysis. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2010) 37:1086–113. doi: 10.1177/0093854810376815

- Nunes KL, Cortoni F. Dropout from sex-offender treatment and dimensions of risk of sexual recidivism. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2008) 35:24–33. doi: 10.1177/0093854807309037
- Daly JE, Pelowski S. Predictors of dropout among men who batter: a review of studies with implications for research and practice. *Violence Vict.* (2000) 15:137–60. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.15.2.137
- Ogloff JRP, Wong SCP, Greenwood A. Treating criminal psychopaths in a therapeutic community program. *Behav Sci Law.* (1990) 8:181–90. doi: 10.1002/bsl.2370080210
- Olver ME, Wong SCP. Predictors of sex offender treatment dropout: psychopathy, sex offender risk, and responsivity implications. *Psychol Crime Law.* (2011) 17:457–71. doi: 10.1080/10683160903318876
- Olver ME, Wong SCP. Therapeutic responses of psychopathic sexual offenders: treatment attrition, therapeutic change, and long-term recidivism. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2009) 77:328–36. doi: 10.1037/a0015001
- Sartin RM, Hansen DJ, Huss MT. Domestic violence treatment response and recidivism: a review and implications for the study of family violence. Aggress Violent Behav. (2006) 11:425–40. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2005.12.002
- Gover AR, Jennings WG, Davis C, Tomsich EA, Tewksbury R. Factors related to the completion of domestic violence offender treatment: the colorado experience. *Vict Offender.* (2011) 6:137–56. doi: 10.1080/15564886.2011.557323
- de Vries Robbe M, de Vogel V, Douglas KS, Nijman HL. Changes in dynamic risk and protective factors for violence during inpatient forensic psychiatric treatment: predicting reductions in postdischarge community recidivism. *Law Hum Behav.* (2015) 39:53–61. doi: 10.1037/lhb0000089
- Tozdan S, Briken P, Yoon D, von Franqué F. Risiko- und Schutzfaktoren bei sexualdelinquent gewordenen Menschen: Vorhersage erneuter Straftaten und Veränderungen im Behandlungsverlauf [Risk and protective factors among sexual offenders: relapse prediction and changes during treatment]. *Psychiatr Prax.* (2016) 43:154–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1387404
- 22. de Ruiter C, Nicholls TL. Protective factors in forensic mental health: a new frontier. *Int J Forensic Ment Health.* (2011) 10:160–70. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2011.600602
- Ullrich S, Coid J. Protective factors for violence among released prisoners: effects over time and interactions with static risk. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2011) 79:381. doi: 10.1037/a0023613
- 24. Arbeitskreis Sozialtherapeutische Anstalten im Justizvollzug e V. Sozialtherapeutische Anstalten und Abteilungen im Justizvollzug. Mindestanforderungen an Organisation und Ausstattung sowie Indikation zur Verlegung – Revidierte Empfehlungen (Stand 2016). (Stand 2016). Forum Strafvollzug Strafvollzug Straffälligenhilfe. (2016) 65:37–40.
- Etzler S. Sozialtherapie im Strafvollzug 2017: Ergebnisübersicht zur Stichtagserhebung zum 31.03.2017 (BM-Online, Bd. 12). Wiesbaden: Kriminologische Zentralstelle (2017). Available online at: https://www.krimz. de/fileadmin/dateiablage/E-Publikationen/BM-Online/bm-online12.pdf
- Friendship C, Mann RE, Beech AR. Evaluation of a national prison-based treatment program for sexual offenders in England and Wales. J Interpers Violence. (2003) 18:744–59. doi: 10.1177/0886260503253236
- Grubin D, Thornton D. A national program for the assessment and treatment of sex offenders in the English prison system. *Crim Justice Behav.* (1994) 21:55–71. doi: 10.1177/0093854894021001005
- Mann RE, Thornton D. The evolution of a multisite sexual offender treatment program. In: Marshall WL, Fernandez YM, Hudson SM, Ward T, editors. *Sourcebook of Treatment Programs for Sexual Offenders*. Boston, MA: Springer (1998). p. 47–57.
- 29. Marshall WL, Marshall LE, Serran GA, O'Brien MD. *Rehabilitating Sexual Offenders: A Strength-Based Approach*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2011).
- Brunner F, Yoon D, Rettenberger M, Briken P. Kriminologische und kriminalprognostische Merkmale der Insassen der Sozialtherapeutischen Anstalt Hamburg [Criminological and risk assessment characteristics of inmates in the social-therapeutic institution of the Hamburg correctional services]. *Recht Psychiatr.* (2016) 34:221–7.
- World Health Organization [WHO]. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders: Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines, Vol. 1. Geneva: World Health Organization (1992).

- 32. Hare RD. Manual for the Hare Psychopathy Checklist-Revised. Toronto: Multi-Health Systems (1991).
- Hare RD. The Psychopathy Checklist Revised. Toronto: Multi-Health Systems (2003).
- 34. Dahle KP. Strengths and limitations of actuarial prediction of criminal reoffence in a German prison sample: a comparative study of LSI-R, HCR-20 and PCL-R. *Int J Law Psychiatry.* (2006) 29:431–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2006.03.001
- Eher R, Rettenberger M, Hirtenlehner H, Schilling F. Dimensionale Struktur und prognostische Relevanz der PCL-R in einer Population österreichischer Sexualstraftäter [Factorial structure and predictive validity of the PCL-R in an Austrian sexual offender population]. *Monatsschr Kriminol.* (2012) 95:235–51.
- Hare RD, Clark D, Grann M, Thornton D. Psychopathy and the predictive validity of the PCL-R: an international perspective. *Behav Sci Law.* (2000) 18:623–45. doi: 10.1002/1099-0798(200010)18:5<623::AID-BSL409>3. 0.CO;2-W
- Stadtland C, Hollweg M, Kleindienst N, Dietl J, Reich U, Nedopil N. Rückfallprognosen bei Sexualstraftätern – Vergleich der prädiktiven Validität von Prognoseinstrumenten [Prediction of recidivism in sexual offenders – comparison of the predictive validity of prognosis instruments]. Nervenarzt. (2006) 77:587–95. doi: 10.1007/s00115-005-1945-2
- Webster CD, Douglas KS, Eaves D, Hart SD. HCR-20: Assessing the Risk for Violence (version 2). Vancouver: Mental Health, Law, and Policy Institute, Simon Fraser University (1997).
- Müller-Isberner R, Jöckel D, Gonzalez Cabeza S. Die Vorhersage von Gewalttaten mit dem HCR-20 [The Prediction of Violent Offenses with the HCR-20]. Haina: Institut für Forensische Psychiatrie Haina (1998).
- Douglas KS, Webster CD. The HCR-20 violence risk assessment scheme: concurrent validity in a sample of incarcerated offenders. *Crim Justice Behav.* (1999) 26:3–19. doi: 10.1177/0093854899026001001
- Douglas KS, Yeomans M, Boer DP. Comparative validity analysis of multiple measures of violence risk in a sample of criminal offenders. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2005) 32:479–510. doi: 10.1177/0093854805278411
- Yang M, Wong SCP, Coid J. The efficacy of violence prediction: a meta-analytic comparison of nine risk assessment tools. *Psychol Bull.* (2010) 136:740–67. doi: 10.1037/a0020473
- 43. de Vogel V, de Ruiter C, Bouman Y, de Vries Robbé M. SAPROF. Guidelines for the Assessment of Protective Factors for Violence Risk. English version. Utrecht: Forum Educatief (2009).
- 44. Spehr A, Briken P. SAPROF. Leitlinien für die Erfassung von Protektiven Faktoren bei einem Risiko für Gewalttätiges Verhalten [SAPROF. Guidelines for the Measurement of Protective Factors in Case of Risk for Violent Behavior]. Utrecht: Forum Educatief (2010).
- 45. de Vries Robbé M, de Vogel V, de Spa E. Protective factors for violence risk in forensic psychiatric patients: a retrospective validation study of the SAPROF. *Int J Forensic Ment Health.* (2011) 10:178–86. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2011.600232
- de Vries Robbé M, de Vogel V, Koster K, Bogaerts S. Assessing protective factors for sexually violent offending with the SAPROF. Sex Abuse. (2015) 27:51–70. doi: 10.1177/1079063214550168
- 47. Yoon D, Turner D, Klein V, Rettenberger M, Eher R, Briken P. Factors predicting desistance from reoffending: a validation study of the SAPROF in sexual offenders. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2018) 62:697–716. doi: 10.1177/0306624X16664379
- Vittinghoff E, McCulloch CE. Relaxing the rule of ten events per variable in logistic and Cox regression. Am J Epidemiol. (2007) 165:710–8. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwk052
- Kandel E, Mednick SA, Kirkegaard-Sorensen L, Hutchings B, Knop J, Rosenberg R, et al. IQ as a protective factor for subjects at high risk for antisocial behavior. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (1988) 56:224–6. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.56.2.224
- Tangney JP, Baumeister RF, Boone AL. High self-control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. J Pers. (2004) 72:271–324. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3506.2004.00263.x
- Hobson J, Shine J, Roberts R. How do psychopaths behave in a prison therapeutic community? *Psychol Crime Law.* (2000) 6:139–54. doi: 10.1080/10683160008410838

- O'Brien K, Daffern M. The impact of pre-treatment responsivity and treatment participation on violent recidivism in a violent offender sample. *Psychol Crime Law.* (2016) 22:777–97. doi: 10.1080/1068316X.2016. 1181177
- 53. Swogger MT, Conner KR, Caine ED, Trabold N, Parkhurst MN, Prothero LM, et al. A test of core psychopathic traits as a moderator of the efficacy of a brief motivational intervention for substance-using offenders. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2016) 84:248. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000065
- 54. Wong SCP, Hare RD. *Guidelines for a Psychopathy Treatment Program.* Toronto: Multi-Health Systems (2005).
- Martin DJ, Garske JP, Davis MK. Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: a meta-analytic review. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2000) 68:438–50. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.438
- DeSorcy DR, Olver ME, Wormith JS. Working alliance and its relationship with treatment outcome in a sample of aboriginal and non-aboriginal sexual offenders. *Sex Abuse.* (2014) 28:291–313. doi: 10.1177/10790632145 56360
- Walton A, Jeglic EL, Blasko BL. The role of psychopathic traits in the development of the therapeutic alliance among sexual offenders. *Sex Abuse*. (2016) 30:211–29. doi: 10.1177/1079063216637859
- Langton CM, Hogue TE, Daffern M, Mannion A, Howells K. Personality traits as predictors of inpatient aggression in a high-security forensic psychiatric setting: prospective evaluation of the PCL-R and IPDE dimension ratings. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2011) 55:392–415. doi: 10.1177/0306624X10370828
- Olver ME, Lewis K, Wong SCP. Risk reduction treatment of high-risk psychopathic offenders: the relationship of psychopathy and treatment change to violent recidivism. *Pers Disord Theory Res Treat.* (2013) 4:160. doi: 10.1037/a0029769
- Salekin RT. Psychopathy and therapeutic pessimism: clinical lore or clinical reality? *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2002) 22:79–112. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7358(01)00083-6

- Gendreau P, Goggin C, Gray G. Case Needs Review: Employment Domain (Research Report No. R-90). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada (2000).
- Hanson RK, Morton-Bourgon KE. The characteristics of persistent sexual offenders: a meta-analysis of recidivism studies. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2005) 73:1154–63. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1154
- Ward T, Mann RE, Gannon TA. The good lives model of offender rehabilitation: clinical implications. *Aggress Violent Behav.* (2007) 12:87–107. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2006.03.004
- Brorson HH, Ajo Arnevik E, Rand-Hendriksen K, Duckert F. Drop-out from addiction treatment: a systematic review of risk factors. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2013) 33:1010–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2013.07.007
- Hser Y-I, Evans E, Huang D, Anglin DM. Relationship between drug treatment services, retention, and outcomes. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2004) 55:767–74. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.55.7.767
- Moore DL, Bergman BA, Knox PL. Predictors of sex offender treatment completion. J Child Sex Abuse. (1999) 7:73–88. doi: 10.1300/J070v07n03_05

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer KD declared a past collaboration with one of the authors DY to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2019 Brunner, Neumann, Yoon, Rettenberger, Stück and Briken. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Confessions and Denials When Guilty and Innocent: Forensic Patients' Self-Reported Behavior During Police Interviews

Renate Volbert^{1,2*}, Lennart May¹, Joscha Hausam¹ and Steffen Lau³

¹ Charité---Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Berlin, Germany, ² Psychologische Hochschule Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Department of Forensic Psychiatry, University Hospital of Psychiatry, University of Zurich, Rheinau, Switzerland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Rostock, Germany

Reviewed by:

Nubia G. Lluberes, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, United States Saul Kassin, John Jay College of Criminal Justice, United States

> *Correspondence: Renate Volbert renate.volbert@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 September 2018 Accepted: 07 March 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

Citation:

Volbert R, May L, Hausam J and Lau S (2019) Confessions and Denials When Guilty and Innocent: Forensic Patients' Self-Reported Behavior During Police Interviews. Front. Psychiatry 10:168. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00168 Several self-report studies together with analyses of exoneration cases suggest that suspects with mental disorder are especially prone to making false confessions. The present study asked 153 forensic patients in Germany about their behavior during suspect interviewing by the police. Self-reported ground truth of guilt and innocence was asked for, thereby taking into account that the risk of false confession is present only if a person has ever been interviewed when innocent. Indeed, surveying samples that include suspects who have never been interviewed when innocent may lead to underestimating the risk of false confessions. In the present study, all patients reported having been interviewed previously when guilty; and almost two-thirds (62%, n = 95), that they had also been interviewed at least once when innocent. These participants stated that they remained silent while being interviewed significantly more often when guilty (44%) compared to when innocent (15%). This corroborates laboratory research findings indicating that the right to remain silent is waived more often by innocent than by guilty suspects. Out of all 95 participants who were ever interviewed when innocent, 25% reported having made a false confession on at least one occasion. This result is in line with previous international research showing a high percentage of false confessions among suspects with mental disorder.

Keywords: police interview, suspect, interrogation, false confessions, forensic patients, denial, self-report, mental illness

INTRODUCTION

The fact that suspects really do make false confessions has been confirmed repeatedly in recent years [e.g., (1, 2)]. However, for many reasons, it is difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain what the objective rates of false confessions might be, which offenses are confessed to falsely, and how frequently which different causal backgrounds emerge. Although most available knowledge on false confessions comes from analyses of exoneration cases (3, 4), self-report studies offer a further methodological approach.

Prevalence Estimations of False Confessions Based on Analyses of Exoneration Cases

Founded in 2012, the National Registry of Exonerations has been documenting information about exonerations occurring in the United States from 1989 to the present (by 26.01.2019, this had amounted to 2,364 cases; www.law.umich.edu/special/ exoneration/Pages/about.aspx). For all offenses, the Registry reveals an average of 12% false confessions. At 23%, the proportion of false confessions for homicide is higher than that for all other offenses. However, a clear external criterion for the actual innocence of the exonerees does not exist for all cases listed in the National Registry of Exonerations. The Innocence Project in contrast, registers only cases in which the innocence of a previously convicted person has been confirmed by DNA analysis (362 cases by 26.01.2019; http:// www.innocenceproject.org). Evaluation of these cases, which are primarily violent crimes and sex offenses, reveals that in 28% of DNA exonerations, false confessions were a contributing factor (https://www.innocenceproject.org/dna-exonerations-inthe-united-states/).

In Germany, Peters (5, 6) analyzed about 963 cases of retrials between the years 1951 and 1964. In 724 of these cases, retrial led to an acquittal. Peters found that around 7% of the defendants who were acquitted in the retrial had originally made a confession. Assuming that the subsequently acquitted individuals actually were innocent, these are false confessions. However, as in the National Registry of Exonerations, no external criterion of actual innocence is available for all members of this German sample. Nonetheless, analyzing only a subsample that is more comparable to the sample in the Innocence Project reveals a similar proportion to that found in the United States: within the German sample, a false confession could be found in 5 out of 21 homicide cases (24%) in which the convicted was exonerated in the retrial proceeding after his or her innocence was confirmed. However, this investigation is more than 40 years old, and no recent information is available on the frequency of false confessions in Germany.

Analyses of exoneration samples refer typically to (a) cases of serious crimes that have a low base rate and (b) policeinduced false confessions (7) that were mostly withdrawn already at the end of the police interview but nonetheless led to a false—conviction (3). In contrast, voluntary false confessions, in which somebody confesses in the absence of any interrogation influence, are hardly ever found in exoneration samples; they may either not be prosecuted or convicted in the first place, or they are not withdrawn and no retrial is sought.

Self-Reported Prevalence of False Confessions

Several studies have gathered self-reported information on false confessions in community samples as well as in samples of prison inmates. These reveal some consistent trends in the self-reported prevalence of false confessions [see, for a summary, (8, 9)]:

• Apart from one study in which nobody reported ever making a false confession (10), all studies—including those in community samples—revealed a small, but in no way

negligible percentage of respondents who reported having already made at least one false confession (between 1.2 and 13.8% in community samples).

• When persons were surveyed who had already been interviewed repeatedly as suspects by the police, the proportion reporting having made a false confession in the past was larger and was almost always more than 10% and sometimes even more than 20% [between 6 and 24%; (8)].

However, several of the self-report studies were carried out in Iceland. Because false confession rates probably depend strongly on the given national boundary conditions (e.g., police interviewing practices), it is questionable whether these findings generalize to other countries. Although surveys from other countries are available (Bulgaria, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, and Russia; 9), that also indicate differences between countries, findings are generally similar. However, no studies on self-reported false confession rates are available for Germany.

The most commonly *self-reported motives* for false confessions are succumbing to police pressure, protecting another person (the actual offender), and avoiding police detention (11). False confessions are self-reported most frequently for property offenses and serious traffic violations (11). In a study with mentally ill offenders (12), participants claimed that they made false confessions in order to stop police questioning, to protect the true perpetrator, because they succumbed to police pressure, or because they initially believed they were involved.

For logical reasons, suspects face the risk of making a coerced false confession only if the following preconditions are given: (a) the police suspects and interviews an innocent person; (b) the suspect waives the right to remain silent; and (c) there might be incriminating evidence, but evidence that *definitely proves* the guilt of the suspect is missing and cannot exist because of the suspect's innocence (13). Existing studies often neglect the very trivial fact that the risk of a false confession emerges only if a person has ever been interviewed when innocent. Hence, surveys of samples that include suspects who have never been interviewed when innocent may well-underestimate the prevalence of false confessions.

Risk Factors for False Confessions

Studies on factors that may increase the likelihood of a false confession refer mostly to confessions that are policed-induced. These focus on *investigative risk factors* and refer to the police investigators' cognitive processes and behavior along with the influence of specific measures such as custody. Reviews of this literature can be found in Gudjonsson (14), Kassin (15), and Kassin et al. (2).

There are also *personal risk factors* for false confessions. These are personal characteristics of the suspect such as, in particular, young age, and mental disorder. Gross and Shaffer (4) analyzed 873 cases registered in the National Registry of Exonerations and found that youths and persons with mental impairment were particularly vulnerable: whereas the false confession rate among adults with no known psychological disorders or mental impairment was 8% (56/719); that among the under-18s, was 42% (39/92); and that among persons with a psychological disorder or mental impairment, was even 75% (53/70).

Confessions and Denials

Mental problems have also been identified as a risk factor in self-report studies. Two out of three studies in which more than 20% reported having made a false confession in the past have investigated persons with mental disorders [(12): 22%; (16) cited in (8): 23%]. Participants claiming to have confessed falsely also reported having higher levels of illicit drug use and substance misuse treatment; more adverse life events (17); and higher levels of victimization, anxiety, depression, and anger (18) compared to people who never made a false confession. Self-reported false confessors were also found to have more antisocial personality characteristics than non-false confessors (10).

Self-report studies also show that false confessions occur more often among persons with a delinquent lifestyle: in comparison to non-false confessors, false confessors had been interviewed more often as suspects (19), arrested more often (11), sentenced more often to life imprisonment, had more years of offending (12), served more frequently and longer in prison, were younger at the time of their first criminal conviction and imprisonment (20), and had more delinquent peers (18). However, these variables might reflect at least in part the fact that people with a more extensive criminal history are interviewed more often by the police, and this, in turn, may increase the probability that they will be suspected falsely.

True Confessions

To identify specific features of false confessions, they have to be compared with the conditions in which true confessions emerge. Unfortunately, there are still surprisingly few estimates of how often suspects confess at all during police interviewing. Moston and Emgelberg (21) found that general confession rates ranged from 42 to 64% in the United States and from 55 to 62% in Great Britain.

Nonetheless, confession rates vary greatly depending on the sample. In Germany, Bippert (22) analyzed the files of 106 male defendants who had been convicted of homicide offenses, and found that 67% confessed during the course of the police interview. In retrospective interviews with 56 incarcerated male adolescents, Kraheck-Brägelmann (23) found that 45% made a full and 50% a partial confession. In a self-report study, Sigurdsson and Gudjonsson (24) also found a true confession rate of 92% among Icelandic prison inmates. However, these studies analyzed only cases that were prosecuted further. Thus, they probably included a disproportionately high number of cases in which strong evidence might have affected the decision to confess.

A review of all 743 suspects (irrespective of whether or not cases were further prosecuted) from one police department in Germany across the span of 1 year—thus including a variety of offenses—showed that 35% confessed, 15% denied the alleged offense, and 50% made no statement (25). A study in Great Britain with unselected police interviews revealed a confession rate of 39% (26). Note that these studies were unable to control whether either allegations or confessions were true or false.

Reported reasons for true confessions are, among others, the perceived strength of evidence (21, 27, 28), a need to clear one's conscience, police pressure (24), custodial pressure, and a desire to be released from police detention (29).

Research contrasting true and false confessions is almost nonexistent. One exception is Sigurdsson and Gudjonsson's (10) within-sample analysis of 51 alleged false confessor inmates in Iceland. This compared the false confession experience with the experience of their current true confession. Significant differences were found for external pressure (found to be higher for false than for true confessions), internal pressure, perception of proof, and legal rights (all found to be higher for true confessions). Another exception is Redlich et al. (30) betweensubject design with which they studied 30 true and 35 selfreported false confessors with mental illness in the United States. False confessors reported significantly more external and less internal pressure than true confessors. Taken together, true confessions show at least a partial overlap with the factors associated with false confessions (14). However, true and false confessions differ in terms of the prevalence and distribution of the reported motives.

The current study is the first to survey the behavior of forensic patients in suspect police interviews in Germany. Forensic patients are offenders who are ordered by criminal courts to either (a) detention and treatment in a secure psychiatric hospital (section 63 of German Criminal Law) or (b) detention in a secure custodial addiction treatment unit (section 64 of German Criminal Law). As pointed out above, the available studies suggest that false confessions are particularly frequent in this population. The goal of the present study was to determine whether a German sample would reveal a comparable proportion of false confessions to that found within this group in international studies. In one aspect, the present study goes beyond most previous research on selfreported false confessions: it takes into account that a risk of making a police-induced false confession is given only if suspects are interviewed when innocent and waive their right to remain silent. Therefore, we asked participants explicitly whether they had ever been interviewed by the police when they were innocent. Subsequently, we analyzed self-reported participants' behavior separately if interviewed when guilty vs. if interviewed when innocent; and we also calculated the proportion of truthful (true confessions and true denials) and false statements (false confessions and false denials) as well as the proportion of patients exercising their right to remain silent. We consider that viewing the proportion of selfreported false confessions as the proportion of cases in which someone has been interviewed when innocent provides a more appropriate estimate of the risk of making a false confession than estimates based on samples that include participants who have never been interviewed when innocent. By asking participants about their behavior while being interviewed when guilty and being interviewed when innocent, we also gathered information on true confessions, false denials, or decisions to remain silent.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Participants

Participants were 153 patients (7 female and 146 male) with a mean age of 33.69 years (SD = 10.71, range from 20 to 67) detained in six forensic hospitals in Germany.

Originally, 159 patients were recruited, but 6 were dropped because of language/communication difficulties. Patients had been convicted for violent offenses (82%), sexual offenses (24%), property offenses (27%), drug offenses (10%), and other offenses not covered by these categories (27%; multiple offenses possible). The distribution of ICD diagnoses was as follows (multiple diagnoses possible): mental/behavioral disorders due to psychoactive substance use (68%); personality disorders (31%); mental retardation (22%); schizophrenia, schizotypal, and delusional disorders (12%); and others (5%).

Procedure

The study was approved by the Ministries of Social Affairs and Health responsible for forensic hospitals in the respective Federal States. Patients were informed about the survey by their physician or psychotherapist. Those willing to participate were asked to register on a list. Participants were interviewed individually by one of four interviewers. Before the beginning, interviewers explained the purpose of the study again, assured patients that their data would be used anonymously, and emphasized that they could drop out of the study at any time without having to fear any negative consequences. After that, patients were asked whether they were willing to sign a consent for both the interview and access to information on their current diagnosis (ICD-10) and sentence. After they consented, the questionnaire was read aloud and patients' answers were documented. Patients whose capability to give informed consent was questionable were not interviewed. Interviews lasted between 5 and 30 min depending on how many police interview constellations were reported by the patient.

Measures

Questionnaire

A questionnaire was developed to gather information on the patients' behavior during police interviews. The first question asked whether the police had ever interviewed them as a suspect for an offense they had actually committed. If they answered in the affirmative, participants were asked how often they were interviewed in this way and whether they had remained silent, denied the offense, or confessed during these suspect interviews. Those who claimed to have confessed were asked about the reasons for their true confessions (presented in a yes/no format; multiple reasons were possible, see **Appendix**).

Next, patients were asked whether the police had ever interviewed them as a suspect for an offense they had not committed. If they answered in the affirmative, they were asked how often this had occurred and whether they had remained silent, denied the offense, or confessed during the interview. If suspects claimed they had made a false confession, they were asked about the number of false confessions, the offenses, and the reasons for these false confessions (yes/no format; multiple answers possible, see **Appendix**). Furthermore, they were asked about their age at the time of the false confession. We also asked patients whether they had been in a prison or in a forensic hospital before.

When answering questions on the reasons for making true or false confessions, patients were given a list of categories derived

from the literature [see also (12)]. These categories could be subdivided further: suspects might, for example, infer mitigation because of wishful thinking, because minimization tactics were used, or because an explicit promise was made. However, given that these are retrospective data gathered from a relatively small sample of people with mental health problems, such distinctions were not made. Because the available studies indicate that reasons for making true or false confessions overlap, and the current study aimed to compare reasons for making true confessions with those for making false confessions, set response categories were preferred to an open response format.

Information on Current Sentence and Diagnoses

Information on patients' current sentences and diagnoses (ICD-10) was provided by the responsible psychiatrist.

RESULTS

All participants confirmed that the police had interviewed them over at least one offense they had actually committed, with a range from 1 to 150 interviews (M = 14.71, SD = 23.14, Mdn = 6.00). A total of 95 (62%) reported that they were also interviewed as a suspect over at least one offense they had not committed, with a range from 1 to 50 interviews (M = 3.04, SD = 5.65, Mdn = 2.00).

Patients who reported having been interviewed when both guilty and when innocent did not differ significantly in terms of prior imprisonment, prior forensic treatment, or diagnoses from those who stated that they had never been interviewed when innocent—with one exception: the percentage of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia, schizotypal, and delusional disorders was significantly smaller in the subsample with guilty and innocent interviews (6%) than in the subsample with only guilty interviews (20%; Fisher exact test p = 0.015).

Self-Reported Confessions, Denials, and Exercising the Right to Remain Silent

Table 1 displays the distribution of confessions, denials, and exercises of the right to remain silent in both conditions. Because measurements were repeated in the subsample of 95 patients who were interviewed when both innocent and guilty, whereas this was not the case for the remaining 58 patients, individual McNemar's chi-square tests were computed for each of the three interview variants (confessions, denials, exercise of the right to remain silent) in the 95 patients who reported both types of interviews (guilty/innocent). Results showed significant differences (all p < 0.001) between interviews in which patients were interviewed when guilty vs. innocent for all three interview variants. Participants reported more confessions when guilty (78%) than when innocent (25%), and more denials when innocent (79%) than when guilty (35%). They also reported significantly more frequently waiving their right to remain silent when innocent (85%) than when guilty (56%).

False Confessions

A total of 24 patients reported having made at least one false confession. This represents 16% of the whole sample

TABLE 1 | Reported behavior during interviews when guilty and when innocent (in brackets: frequencies for the subgroup that reported having been interviewed when both guilty and innocent).

	Interviewed when guilty $(N = 153) [n = 95]$	Interviewed when innocent $(n = 95)$
Remained silent	57 (37%) [42 (44%)]	14 (15%)
Denied	47 (31%) [33 (35%)]	75 (79%)
Confessed	124 (81%) [74 (78%)]	24 (25%)

Multiple answers possible; therefore, percentages do not add up to 100. Number of affirmative answers (n).

(24/153). But this percentage is somewhat misleading, because 58 patients were not at risk of confessing falsely, having never been interviewed when innocent. How these 58 patients would have behaved had they been interviewed when innocent remains an open question. Of the 95 participants who had been interviewed when innocent, 25% (24/95) reported having confessed falsely at least once. The prevalence rate increased further to 28% when including only those participants who (a) were interviewed when innocent and (b) made a statement (24/86). These 24 patients reported a total of 38 false confessions, ranging from 1 to 7 false confessions per patient. Fifteen of the 24 patients reported having been convicted after making a false confession. False confessions referred to property offenses (n = 15), violent offenses (n = 7), homicide (n = 2), drug offenses (n = 2), and other offenses not covered by these categories (n = 7).

Reasons for Confessions

"Strong evidence" (65%) and "hope for mitigation of sentence" (41%) were the most frequently reported reasons for *true* confessions, whereas the most frequent reason for *false* confessions was "protecting the real perpetrator" (63%). A substantial minority of participants reported "hope for release from custody," "interviewing pressure," and "feeling of physical discomfort (e.g., being overtired)" as reasons for true and for false confessions (**Table 2**). The group of 24 false confessors was, in a sense, divided: the 15 patients who claimed to have protected the actual perpetrator named only three other reasons (2 x being pressured by the real perpetrator, 1 x hope for mitigation of sentence). All other reasons were given by the remaining 9 false confessors.

Differences Between Confessors and Non-confessors

Fisher exact tests were calculated to examine differences in diagnoses and prior delinquency between (a) guilty confessors and guilty non-confessors and (b) innocent false confessors and innocent non-confessors. Results are displayed in **Table 3**.

Guilty Confessors vs. Guilty Non-confessors

Compared to guilty confessors, guilty non-confessors were more often diagnosed with a mental and behavioral disorder due to psychoactive substance use (ICD-10 F10–F19; 64 vs. 86%; Fisher exact test, p = 0.026). No other significant differences were found.

TABLE 2 | Self-reported reasons for true and false confessions.

	True confessions $(n = 124)$	False confessions $(n = 24)$
Evidence was strong ^a /Police claimed evidence to be strong ^b	80 (65%)	4 (17%)
Hoped for mitigation of sentence	51 (41%)	4 (17%)
Wanted to ease conscience ^a /Feeling of guilt ^b	35 (28%)	0
Hoped to be released from custody	24 (19%)	3 (13%)
Because of the interviewing pressure	16 (13%)	6 (25%)
Did not feel well physically, e.g., overtired	14 (11%)	2 (8%)
Protecting the real perpetrator	(not asked)	15 (63%)
Being pressured by the real perpetrator	(not asked)	2 (8%)
To gain attention	(not asked)	1 (4%)
Was convinced to be the perpetrator	(not asked)	0
Others	28 (23%) ^c	5 (21%) ^d

^aAsked for true confessions only.

^bAsked for false confessions only.

^c For example: "I am not able to lie" or "My family should not know." ^d For example: "I did it out of love" or "I wanted to be part of the clique." Multiple answers possible; therefore, percentages do not add to 100.

Innocent False Confessors vs. Innocent Non-confessors

No significant differences were found.

DISCUSSION

The current study examined German forensic patients' selfreports on their behavior while being interviewed by the police when either innocent or guilty. All patients stated that they were interviewed by the police for at least one offense they had actually committed. Almost two-thirds of the forensic patients (62%) reported that they had also been interviewed at least once in the past when innocent. Little is known about how often people undergo a suspect interview when they are actually innocent. The results of our study suggest that being interviewed as a suspect when innocent is not a rare experience for people with a criminal record.

Most patients in the current study (81%) reported having made a true confession when they were guilty during at least one of the police interviews. The majority also reported having made a truthful statement during police interviews when innocent (79% true denials). Taken together, the most frequent behavior during police interviews was reported to be making a truthful statement, irrespective of whether patients were guilty or innocent [see also (9)]. Notwithstanding, a substantial proportion of false denials (31%) and false confessions (25%) was also revealed. TABLE 3 | Frequencies and percentages of ICD-10 diagnoses and self-reported delinquency by confessors and non-confessors split for interviews when guilty and innocent.

	Interviewed when guilty $(n = 153)$		Interviewed when innocent $(n = 95)$		
_	Confessed (n = 124)	Not confessed (n = 29)	Confessed $(n = 24)$	Not confessed $(n = 71)$	
_	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
MENTAL DISORDERS (ICD-10)					
F10–F19 (due to substance use)	79 (64%)	25 (86%)*	17 (71%)	48 (68%)	
F20–F29 (Schizophrenia)	14 (11%)	4 (14%)	2 (8%)	4 (6%)	
F60–F69 (Personality disorders)	40 (32%)	8 (28%)	8 (33%)	22 (31%)	
F70–F79 (Mental retardation	29 (23%)	4 (14%)	4 (17%)	17 (24%)	
Others	11 (8%)	1 (3%)	1 (4%)	7 (10%)	
PRIOR DELINQUENCY					
Prior imprisonment	70 (56%)	20 (69%)	17 (71%)	40 (57%)	
Prior forensic treatment	21 (17%)	4 (14%)	5 (21%)	14 (20%)	

*p < 0.05.

True Confessions

The prevalence of true confessions (81%) in the current study exceeded the range of confession rates found in international studies [43–76%; (21)]. However, studies with samples of incarcerated inmates have also revealed comparable or even higher prior confession rates (20, 23).

False Confessions

The percentage of self-reported false confessions within the whole sample was 16% (24/153) and thus in the range of comparable surveys of prison inmates in other countries [6–24%: (8)]. Nonetheless, the proportion of false confessions within the whole sample was slightly lower than the 22% reported by Redlich et al. (12) who also surveyed a sample of offenders with mental disorders.

However, by calculating a proportion of self-reported confessions within a whole sample, one might wellunderestimate the actual prevalence: suspects face the risk of making a false confession only if they are (a) interviewed when innocent and (b) waive their right to remain silent. This is at least true for police-induced confessions. People can, however, come forward to the police with a voluntary false confession without being suspected before. In these cases, a suspect interview would not be conducted without the confession in the first place. From the examples patients mentioned during the survey, it can nonetheless be assumed that this was often not the case in the current sample. Participants reported on cases in which, for example, they knew the real perpetrator but were mistaken for the culprit by the police. Or they were interviewed for an offense they actually had committed while they were additionally alleged to have committed a crime for which they were not responsible.

Whereas, the percentage of self-reported false confessions within the whole sample was 16%, this rose to 25% (24/95) in the subgroup of participants who had at some time been interviewed when innocent. Put differently, one in four forensic patients who ever had the opportunity to make a false confession claimed to

have done so. Out of those suspects who made a statement while being interviewed when innocent, 28% (24/86) reported having falsely confessed in at least one of these interviews. Altogether, we view the proportion of false confessions that refer solely to interviews when innocent as a more appropriate estimate for the risk of making a false confession in a police interview than the proportion reported in most previous studies that gave only the overall prevalence (proportion of false confessions within the whole sample).

In line with other self-report studies, property offenses were the most common type of offenses for which the patients claimed to have confessed falsely [e.g., (11)].

Waiving the Right to Remain Silent

Whether patients denied, confessed, or exercised their right to remain silent during the police interviews differed significantly between interviews when guilty and when innocent. For denials and confessions, these results are rather trivial. Less trivial, however, is the result that significantly more patients stated that they had waived their right to remain silent at least once while being interviewed when innocent (85%) compared to interviewed when guilty (63% when looking at the total sample; 56%, when looking at the 95 participants who were interviewed when both guilty and innocent). This result is in line with Kassin's claim that "innocence puts innocents at risk" [2005; see also (2)]. A series of experimental studies have demonstrated that innocent suspects are more forthcoming than guilty suspects [e.g., (31, 32)]. Hence, the field data from the current study support these previous findings.

Reasons for Confessions

Focusing on the suspects' confessions, we asked them why they gave a true or false confession. Overall, the most frequently reported reason for a *false confession* was to protect the real perpetrator (15/24; 63%). This reason for false confessions is frequently reported in all self-report studies. However, the percentage in the current study was even higher than in other

self-report studies (11, 12). In contrast, interviewing pressure (6/24; 25%) was claimed less frequently in comparison to the percentages reported in international studies [e.g., (11, 12)]. Whether these differences are due to differences in the way police carry out their interviews in different countries or to different samples characteristics cannot be determined from the current data.

It should, however, be emphasized that police interviewing pressure still constitutes the second most frequently reported reason for a false confession in the current study. Moreover, a combination of different situational factors resulting from police interrogation tactics (interviewing pressure, claims by the police that the evidence was strong, hope to be released from custody, hope for mitigation of sentence) were reported by almost 40% of all cases (9/24). These factors point to substantial social-psychological influences. Even when protecting the real perpetrator is given as the reason, in many cases such constellations do not represent the classic version of a voluntary false confession in which a person confesses in the absence of any external influence (7). It is far more often the case that these patients were interviewed as suspects for an offense that was actually committed by a person they knew and that they then confessed during the police interview. Many of these patients would possibly not have falsely confessed without the situational effects of interrogation.

With respect to *true confessions*, the most commonly reported reason was that the evidence was strong. This suggests that strength of evidence is crucial for the decision to make a true confession, and this is once more in line with existing empirical evidence (21).

Taken together, some motives were inherently found to be exclusive to true confessions (evidence was actually strong) or false confessions (protecting the real offender, being pressured by the real offender), but there is also an overlap of motives reported for both kinds of confession (interview pressure by the police, hope for release from custody). Nonetheless, possible responses were limited by the categories used in this study. To explore the reasons for true and false confessions in a more differentiated way, future research should include interviews with true and false confessors.

Differences Between Confessors and Non-confessors

In the current study, prior imprisonment tended to be more prevalent among innocent false confessors compared to innocent non-confessors (71 vs. 57%). However, this difference was not statistically significant. Although this lack of significance may be due to the small number of cases, one might also argue that a longer criminal history will be associated with a higher number of suspect interviews and thus with a higher probability of being interviewed when innocent. Previous findings showing an association between criminal history and false confession (11) might simply reflect the heightened probability of being interviewed occasionally when innocent. However, in the current sample, participants who were interviewed only when guilty did not differ in terms of prior imprisonment and prior forensic treatment from those who were interviewed when guilty and when innocent.

Patients diagnosed with a mental retardation did not selfreport higher false confession rates than other patients. This was rather unexpected in light of existing research on the vulnerability of suspects with low intelligence [e.g., (33)]. The present result may be due partly to a self-selection process: patients with more severe intellectual deficits probably did not volunteer to participate in this study or could not be included because they lacked the capacity to give informed consent or had difficulties in understanding and answering the questions.

Limitations

Some limitations have to be addressed: first, the sample probably does not represent the population of forensic patients in Germany. Participation required sufficient intellectual capacity to understand the questionnaire, maintain attention for a period of time, and communicate with basic German language skills. This might have excluded patients who may be even more prone to false confessions. Second, reports are based on persons and not interviews. Asking participants to report an interview behavior that they had displayed at least once in the past may have distorted the data on participants with multiple police interviews. They may well have shown the reported behavior only in one exceptional situation that deviated from their typical-more frequently shown-interview behavior. However, this approach can certainly be used as a basis to estimate whether a certain interview behavior (e.g., a false confession) has ever been shown. Nonetheless, the study is further limited by the questionable validity of self-report information with its susceptibility to motivational and memory errors. There is a lack of external criteria to corroborate the reported information on behavior during police interviews. Nevertheless, it should be emphasized that the percentages of self-reported false confessions in international studies are quite similar to those in the current study. In addition, those groups that have already proven to be vulnerable on the basis of exoneration file studies also prove to have higher false confession rates in self-report studies than others, and this can be viewed as supporting the validity of the selfreport data.

CONCLUSIONS

Results of the current study confirm previous international selfreport studies showing that a false confession is not a rare event. Rates are similar to those found in the international literature on persons with mental disorder.

Until recently, these findings had received little attention in German law enforcement practice (34). However, in 2017, the German Parliament passed legislation requiring certain suspect interviews by the police, including interviews of underage suspects and of suspects with mental disorder or disorders, to be audio- or videotaped from 2020 onward (35).

The current study shows-together with other self-report studies [e.g., (12)]-that examining only exoneration cases

might lead to the wrong impression that false confessions occur mainly in response to severe allegations. Proven false confessions in exoneration cases typically refer to offenses such as homicide or sexual assault that have a low base rate. In contrast, self-report studies suggest that false confessions occur frequently in more prevalent but less serious crimes. Self-reported false confessors name the protection of the true perpetrator as a frequent reason for a false confession [see also (8, 9)]. However, this does not necessarily mean that people enter the police station and confess to a crime despite never being suspected. In contrast, the patients were often erroneously interviewed as suspects for an offense that was actually committed by a person they knew, and they only made a false confession during the course of the police interview. Because many of the false confessors also stated reasons that indicate the situational effects of the suspect interviews, substantial social-psychological influences should be assumed in these cases. Based on the current data, it is not possible to state conclusively whether the circumstance that the patients knew the true offender was the actual reason for a false confession; or made them more vulnerable to interrogative influences in the sense that a false confession may constitute the alternative to betraying a peer. Future research should address this question by including interviews with innocent confessors and non-confessors.

REFERENCES

- Kassin SM. The social psychology of false confessions. Soc Issues Policy Rev. (2015) 9:25–51. doi: 10.1111/sipr.12009
- Kassin SM, Drizin SA, Grisso T, Gudjonsson GH, Leo RA, Redlich AD. Policeinduced confessions: risk factors and recommendations. *Law Hum Behav.* (2010) 34:3–38. doi: 10.1007/s10979-009-9188-6
- Drizin SA, Leo RA. The problem of false confessions in the post-DNA world. North Carol Law Rev. (2004) 82:891–1004.
- Gross SR, Shaffer M. Exonerations in the United States, 1989 Through 2012: Report by the National Registry of Exonerations. University of Michigan Law School. (2012). Retrieved from https://www.law.umich.edu/special/ exoneration/documents/exonerations_us_1989_2012_full_report.pdf
- Peters K. Fehlerquellen im Strafprozess (1. Band) [Sources of Error in Criminal Proceedings, Vol. 1]. Karlsruhe: C. F. Müller (1970).
- Peters K. Fehlerquellen im Strafprozess (2. Band) [Sources of Error in Criminal Proceedings, Vol. 2]. Karlsruhe: C. F. Müller (1972).
- Kassin SM, Wrightsman LS. Confession evidence. In S. Kassin and L. Wrightsman, editors. *The Psychology of Evidence and Trial Procedure*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage (1985). pp. 67–94.
- Gudjonsson GH. The psychology of false confessions: a review of the current evidence. In G. D. Lassiter and C. A. Meissner, editors. *Police Interrogations and False Confessions: Current Research, Practice, and Policy Recommendations.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2010). pp. 31–47. doi: 10.1037/12085-002
- Malloy LC, Shulman EP, Cauffman E. Interrogations, confessions, and guilty pleas among serious adolescent offenders. *Law Hum Behav.* (2014) 38:181–93. doi: 10.1037/lbb0000065
- Sigurdsson JF, Gudjonsson GH. Psychological characteristics of "false confessors": a study among Icelandic prison inmates and juvenile offenders. *Pers Individ Dif.* (1996) 20:231–329.
- Sigurdsson JF, Gudjonsson GH. False confessions: The relative importance of psychological, criminological and substance abuse variables. *Psychol Crime Law.* (2001) 7:275–89. doi: 10.1080/10683160108401798
- Redlich AD, Summers A, Hoover S. Self-reported false confessions and false guilty pleas among offenders with mental illness. *Law Hum Behav.* (2010) 34:79–90. doi: 10.1007/s10979-009-9194-8

DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RV and SL contributed the conception and design of the study. LM, JH, and SL organized the data acquisition and carried out data collection. LM performed the statistical analysis. LM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. RV wrote parts of the manuscript and revised the draft. All authors read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support from the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin and the German Research Foundation (DFG).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Bianca Pöschel for her help in preparing the study and collecting data.

- Volbert R, May L. Falsche Geständnisse in polizeilichen Vernehmungen -Vernehmungsfehler oder immanente Gefahr? [False confessions in police interviews-Inappropriate interview or immanent risk] *Recht Psychiatr.* (2016) 34:4–10.
- 14. Gudjonsson GH. The Psychology of Interrogations and Confessions. A Handbook. Chichester: Wiley. (2003).
- Kassin SM. On the psychology of confessions: does innocence put innocents at risk? Am Psychol. (2005) 60:215–28. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X. 60.3.215
- Richardson G. A Study of Interrogative Suggestibility in an Adolescent Forensic Population. Dissertation, University of Newcastle upon Tyne (1991).
- Gudjonsson GH, Sigurdsson JF, Asgeirsdottir BB, Sigfusdottir ID. Custodial interrogation: what are the background factors associated with claims of false confession to police? *J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol.* (2007) 18:266–75. doi: 10.1080/14789940701284312
- Gudjonsson GH, Sigurdsson JF, Sigfusdottir ID, Asgeirsdottir BB. False confessions and individual differences: the importance of victimization among youth. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2008) 45:801–5. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008. 08.010
- Gudjonsson GH, Sigurdsson JF, Sigfusdottir ID. Interrogation and false confessions among adolescents in seven European countries. What background and psychological variables best discriminate between false confessors and non-false confessors? *Psychol Crime Law.* (2009) 15:711–28. doi: 10.1080/10683160802516257
- Sigurdsson JF, Gudjonsson GH. The criminal history of "false confessors" and other prison inmates. J Forensic Psychiatry. (1997) 8:447–55.
- Moston S, Engelberg T. The effects of evidence on the outcome of interviews with criminal suspects. *Police Pract Res.* (2011) 12:518–26. doi: 10.1080/15614263.2011.563963
- 22. Bippert M. Das Aussage- und Geständnisverhalten von Beschuldigten in Verfahren aufgrund von Tötungsdelikten. [Suspects' willingness to give a statement and to confess in homicide cases]. Unpublished diploma thesis, Freie Universität Berlin, Germany (2013).
- 23. Kraheck-Brägelmann S. Geständnisbereitschaft und -motivation jugendlicher Straftäter im Zusammenhang der polizeilichen Vernehmung. [Adolescent suspects' readiness to confess in police interviews]. In L. Greuel, T. Fabian, and M. Stadler, editors. *Psychologie der Zeugenaussage. Ergebnisse*

der Rechtspsychologischen Forschung. Weinheim: Psychologie Verlags Union (1997). p. 287-301.

- Sigurdsson JF, Gudjonsson GH. Alcohol and drug intoxication during police interrogation and the reasons why suspects confess to police. *Addiction*. (1994) 89:985–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1994.tb03358.x
- Kroll O. Wahre und Falsche Geständnisse in Vernehmungen. [True and False Confessions in Police Interviews]. Stuttgart: Richard Boorberg Verlag (2012).
- Soukara S, Bull R, Vrij A, Turner M, Cherryman J. What really happens in police interviews of suspects? *Tact Confess Psychol Crime Law.* (2009) 15:493–506. doi: 10.1080/10683160802201827
- Deslauriers-Varin N, Lussier P, St-Yves M. Confessing their crime: factors influencing the offender's decision to confess to the police. *Just Q.* (2011) 28:113–45. doi: 10.1080/07418820903218966
- Snook B, Brooks D, Bull R. A lesson on interrogations from detainees: predicting self-reported confessions and cooperation. *Crim Justice Behav.* (2015) 42:1243–60. doi: 10.1177/0093854815604179
- Gudjonsson GH, Sigurdsson JF, Bragason OO, Einarsson E, Valdimarsdottir EB. Confessions and denials and the relationship with personality. *Legal Criminol Psychol.* (2004) 9:121–33. doi: 10.1348/135532504322776898
- Redlich AD, Kulish R, Steadman HJ. Comparing true and false confessions among persons with serious mental illness. *Psychol Public Policy Law.* (2011) 17:394–418. doi: 10.1037/a0022918
- Kassin SM, Norwick RJ. Why people waive their Miranda rights: the power of innocence. *Law Hum Behav.* (2004) 28:211–21. doi: 10.1023/B:LAHU.0000022323.74584.f5
- Strömwall LA, Hartwig M, Granhag PA. To act truthfully: non-verbal behavior and strategies during a police interrogation. *Psychol Crime Law.* (2006) 12:207–19. doi: 10.1080/10683160512331331328

- Gudjonsson GH. The effects of intelligence and memory on group differences in suggestibility and compliance. *Pers Individ Dif.* (1991) 12:503–5. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(91)90070-R
- 34. Volbert R, Baker B. Investigative interviewing of suspects in Germany: defining only not what to do. In D. Walsh, G. Oxburgh, A. Redlich, and T. Myklebust, editors. Contemporary Developments and Practices in Investigative Interviewing and Interrogation: An International Perspective. Volume II: Suspected offenders. London: Routledge (2015). p. 138–147.
- 35. Deutscher Bundestag. Gesetz zur effektiveren und praxistauglicheren Ausgestaltung des Strafverfahrens vom 17. Bundesgesetzblatt Jahrgang 2017 Teil I Nr. 58, 3202–3212. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.bgbl.de/ xaver/bgbl/start.xav?startbk=Bundesanzeiger_BGBlandstart=//\$^\ast\$%5~ B@attr_id=%27bgbl117s3202.pdf%27%5D%20-_bgbl_%2F%2F\$^\ast\$ %5B%40attr_id%3D%27bgbl117s3202.pdf%27%5D_1505301601119#__ bgbl__%2F%2F\$^\ast\$%5B%40attr_id%3D%27bgbl117s3202.pdf%27%5D_ 1511901612467

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Volbert, May, Hausam and Lau. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

Why did you truly confess? Because the evidence was strong. I wanted to ease my conscience. Because of the interviewing pressure. I was hoping to get released from custody. I was hoping to get a more lenient punishment. I was physically not well (e.g., overtired) Other: Why did you falsely confess? I wanted to protect the real perpetrator. I was pressured by the real perpetrator to confess. Because of the interviewing pressure. The police claimed the evidence to be strong. I was physically not well (e.g., overtired) I was hoping to get released from custody. I was hoping to get a more lenient punishment. I wanted to attract attention. I felt guilty. I was convinced to be the perpetrator. Other:





Suicide in Older Prisoners in Germany

Annette Opitz-Welke^{1,2*}, Norbert Konrad², Justus Welke³, Katharina Bennefeld-Kersten⁴, Ulrich Gauger² and Alexander Voulgaris⁵

¹ Justizvollzugskrankenhaus in der JVA Plötzensee, Berlin, Germany, ² Institut fúr Forensische Psychiatrie der Charité Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Federal Joint Committee, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ Institut für Suizidforschung, Reßdorf, Germany, ⁵ Institut für Sexualforschung und Forensische Psychiatrie, Universitätsklinikum Hamburg Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

As in many countries, the numbers of older prisoners are rising in Germany, but scientific information on this group is scarce. For the current study, a survey was used that included all prison suicides in Germany between the years of 2000 and 2013. Suicide rates of the elderly prisoners exceeded the suicide rates of the general population and the same age group. We observed a continuous decrease in the suicide rate of elderly prisoners. When compared to the younger suicide victims in prison, significantly more elderly suicide victims were: female, of German nationality, remand prisoners, or serving a life sentence. In Germany, elderly prisoners are a vulnerable subpopulation of the prison population. Higher suicide rates than in the same age group in the general population indicate unmet needs regarding mental disorders and their specific treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Athanassios Douzenis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Medical School, Greece

Reviewed by:

Georgia Kalemi, University General Hospital Attikon, Greece Elmar Habermeyer, Psychiatric University Hospital Zurich, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Annette Opitz-Welke annette.opitz-welke@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 24 September 2018 Accepted: 01 March 2019 Published: 29 March 2019

Citation:

Opitz-Welke A, Konrad N, Welke J, Bennefeld-Kersten K, Gauger U and Voulgaris A (2019) Suicide in Older Prisoners in Germany. Front. Psychiatry 10:154. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00154 Keywords: prison, suicide, older prisoners, male prisoners, mental health care, suicide rate

INTRODUCTION

For the longest time in history, prison was a matter of the young. Today, in Europe and North America the number of elderly prisoners is rising, although they are still a minority in prison (1). Currently, about 10–16% of the prison population in the western world is over 50 years old and about 3% is over 60 (2). Reasons for the growing number of elderly prisoners are manifold. One unspecific factor is that life expectancy is increasing in general, leading also to aging prison populations (3). Furthermore, older prisoners tend to receive longer sentences often as a consequence of repetitive reoffending (4).

In general, the cut-off age for older persons is 60 years (5), but it has been variously discussed that prison inmates should be considered as old at an earlier age, mostly because analysis of mortality rates revealed that aging is accelerated for persons with a history of incarceration when compared to the general population (6). Therefore, studies on older prisoners have been using different age-groups ranging from 40 to 65 years (3, 6, 7). Comparing frequencies and percentages of age used to denote older inmates, the most common minimum age criterion was 50+ years (8). Findings from an interview study with ex-convicts with a mean age of 55.8 years suggested that this group was characterized by a specific combination of health problems, combining symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder, social-sensory disorientation, and alienation (9).

In many aspects older prisoners are a vulnerable group. They lack in physical strength compared to their younger inmates what puts them at risk of bullying, harassment, and violence. Due to overcrowding and inadequate resources, they may face more difficulties in getting their specific needs met. In addition, the prison environment of today is not designed to meet the needs of patients at risk for dementia (10). On the other hand, incarceration may actually have health

123

benefits especially for men of the lower or middle class, because life in prison offers regular meals, the possibility to rest often and access to health care services (11, 12). Evaluating data on 87 longterm prisoners over an average period of 14.6 years, Dettbarn was unable to prove a damaging effect of long-term imprisonment (13). Analyzing the cause of death in male prisoners in England and Wales over a period of 20 years, a lower standardized mortality ratio (SMR) was revealed for prisoners compared to the general population and the SMR for the age band 60+ was lower than for the younger age bands (14).

Regarding the prevalence of severe mental disorders, there is evidence that prisoners all over the world are more often mentally ill and that they are affected prematurely by cognitive impairment (15, 16). According to Fazel et al. 10% of male and 14% of female prisoners are diagnosed with severe depression (17). Furthermore, suicide is a leading cause of death in prison (18). Regarding the prevalence of cognitive impairment in older prisoners, a study of Kingston et al. showed that 12% of the examined prisoners aged 50+ years demonstrated signs of cognitive impairment and 50% were diagnosed with a mental disorder. In spite of the high proportion of mentally impaired older prisoners, only 18% received an appropriate, prescribed medication. Therefore, Kingston pointed out that the mental health needs of older prisoners tended to be undetected and untreated. Interviews with prisoners aged 59+ years in England and Wales revealed a high prevalence of depressive disorders, which was five times higher than that found in other studies of younger prisoners and elderly men in the community (19). In an interview study with 124 prisoners aged 50+ years, Barry et al. demonstrated that a past alcohol dependence and a poor self-rated health were associated with elevated suicidal ideation. Altogether, in their study, 22% of the older prisoners were showing current suicidal ideation and 12% were reporting active suicidal ideation (20).

THE AIM OF THE STUDY

As in many other countries, the number of older prisoners (age \geq 50 years) in Germany continuously increased from 2000 to 2013 (21–24). Sound scientific evidence on this matter is scarce. To our knowledge, our study is the first publication on elderly German prisoners who committed suicide. For the first time, a suicide rate of elderly German prisoners will be determined using data of an exhaustive nationwide suicide survey. Our hypotheses are:

- 1. The suicide rate of elderly prisoners exceeds that of younger ones and suicide rates of younger and elder prisoners exceed the suicide rates of the respective groups in the community.
- 2. The suicide rates of elderly prisoners are decreasing between the years 2000 to 2013.
- 3. Some characteristics of the elderly prisoners who committed suicide in prison differ substantially and significantly from the younger prisoners.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data on all prison suicide events in Germany from the years 2000 to 2013 were collected from a survey using a specific

questionnaire on each suicide event in prison. The survey was completed via the reports on exceptional events found in the routine prison documentation and was endorsed by the respective ministries of justice of the German Federal Lands. The respective federal institutions rated the questionnaires, and only 3 Federal Lands were not able to provide the rating of the questionnaires. In these federal lands, the "Generalakten" (Summary files for each prisoner that contain all respective data) were extracted by one of the authors (25). The survey of suicide events in prison comprised a period of 14 years, from January 2000 to December 2013.

The questionnaire that was used for the survey assessed socioeconomic data, data concerning the execution of the sentence and data concerning the course of imprisonment. The items of the questionnaire refer to the history of the prisoner. Since only aggregated data are published, no concern exists for disclosure of personal data. All items, except date of birth, were coded dichotomously. In German prisons, documented medical data is confidential and therefore not part of the "Generalakten." For that reason, information gained by health professionals is not included. Some variables were assessed incompletely, these are marked by an asterisk.

Sociodemographic data: gender, date of birth, country of birth, nationality, religion*, marital status*, number of children, housing before incarceration*, education*, professional qualification*, employment before incarceration*.

Data on the execution of the sentence and circumstances of the suicide: pre- or post-trial status, number of prior incarcerations, homicide, sexual offenses, actual sentence in month, alcohol/drug involved in actual offense, substance abuse, addiction therapy*, remand status, symptoms of alcohol withdrawal*, symptoms of drug withdrawal*, criminal behavior at a young age, criminal behavior involving close friends or relatives*, mental disorder*.

Data concerning the course of imprisonment: aggressive behavior, suicidal behavior, physical attacks, social contacts^{*}, privileges^{*}, escape, disciplinary measures^{*}, bullying^{*}, date of suicide, cause of death, suicide note, security measures^{*}.

In accordance with publications on the elderly prison population, we chose the cut-off age of 50 years for older prisoners in our study (8). For calculating the suicide rates, the number of all subjects imprisoned in the respective years from 2000 to 2013 was taken from the annually published volumes of the German official demographic statistics (26). These reports provided the numbers of prisoners in 5-year age categories (e.g., 20-25, 25-30). Trends in the suicide rates were analyzed by linear regression for the years 2000 to 2013 and age groups (old vs. young) were compared using an ANCOVA-approach. The model we defined uses the suicide rate as dependent and year and age as independent variables. Both suicide rate and year were treated as numeric, while age was coded as 0/1. With that approach, the interaction effect of age and year can be tested. The suicide rates were standardized in order to make them comparable. Subsequently, a linear model was defined in order to test the interaction effect of the age groups and the year. Due to the small number of female prisoners that committed suicide in our sample, we focused the analyses for trends in prison and in the community on male subjects.

Data were analyzed using Pearson's Chi² test for $r \times c$ tables. These univariate analyses were done in order to get an overview regarding the possible relationships between variables. In order to identify factors describing the group of the elderly prisoner population, a logistic regression model was developed. Because variables with too many missing cases potentially bias the results, only those variables with at least 60% of valid values were used. The cut-of value of at least 60% valid cases was chosen arbitrary. The model was developed including in a first step all variables as independent predictors for the outcome to belong to the group of elderly prisoners that committed suicide. In a second step, only the statistically significant predictors from step 1 were considered. We presented the *p*-values and the odds-ratios with the confidence intervals. The statistical analyses were conducted with the statistical software R (ver. 3.5.0).

RESULTS

In the period between the years 2000 to 2013 in total 30 women and 1,037 men died from suicide in German prisons. One hundred seventy-seven men and 11 women (17.6% of all suicide victims) were 50 years of age or older at the time of their death. The suicide rates in prison were consistently higher in the group of older prisoners (age \geq 50 years). The summary suicide rate from 2000 to 2013 for all age groups was 1,249 per 100,000 prisoners; for younger prisoners (<50) 1,157 per 100,000, for older prisoners 2,042 per 100,000 prisoners.

The suicide rates for men by year and age group were calculated for the prison population as well as for the general population (**Table 1**).

A downward trend in the suicide rates in prison applied to both age groups in male prisoners. The downward trends between the group of younger and older prisoners differed

TABLE 1 | Male suicide rates in German prisons and in general population<50 vs. \geq 50 years per 100,000 from 2000 to 2013.

	Male suicide rates per 100,00					
Year	Male prisoners age < 50 years	Male general population age < 50 years	Male prisoners age \geq 50 years	Male general population age > 50 years		
2000	159.7	15.0	309.4	31.8		
2001	114.0	14.5	239.4	31.6		
2002	166.7	14.5	245.8	32.6		
2003	131.4	14.2	219.8	32.3		
2004	147.0	13.6	240.4	31.6		
2005	138.3	12.8	218.3	29.8		
2006	111.8	11.8	205.5	29.4		
2007	94.0	11.6	211.3	28.0		
2008	107.8	11.7	120.3	27.7		
2009	103.3	11.8	133.1	28.6		
2010	77.6	12.4	280.0	29.0		
2011	64.8	12.4	232.7	30.9		
2012	107.6	11.9	145.2	28.9		
2013	73.9	11.7	115.7	29.7		

not significantly (Interaction year \times age 0.13, *t*-statistic 1.75, p = 0.09). Parallel to the findings in the prison system, a downward trend in the suicide rates for the general German male population applied to both age groups, but did not differ statistically significantly either (Interaction year \times age 0.04, *t*-statistic 0.65, p = 0.52). Although the suicide rates of the older prisoners declined continuously from 2000 to 2013, the suicide rates were still higher in comparison to the suicide rates of younger prisoners (**Figure 1**).

Table 2 shows variables with potential impact on suicidal behavior. Between the younger and older (age \geq 50 years) suicide victims, there was no statistically significant difference regarding remand status, the perception of high suicide risk by prison personnel, reported bullying preceding the suicide, history of former suicide attempts or special security measures applied. There was a significant difference between the age categories concerning drug withdrawal symptoms, but not for alcohol. Female gender, lifelong sentence, a conviction for crimes against close relatives and sexual offenses were significantly more often positive in the elderly suicide victims. Furthermore, there were statistically significant lower proportions of older suicide victims with a non-German nationality.

To create a regression model, variables with missing data in more than 40% of the cases were excluded. Consequently, the following items were excluded: bullying, mental disorder, crime involving a close relationship, drug, and alcohol withdrawal and security measures. The initial model included 6 variables (**Table 3**).

The stepwise removal of variables in the analysis resulted in a model with 4 independent variables: gender, remand status, lifelong sentence, and German nationality (**Table 4**).

The odds ratios indicate that being female, of German nationality, in remand custody or lifelong sentenced as independent predictors to belong to the elderly group.

DISCUSSION

As hypothesized, between the years 2000 to 2013 the suicide rates of German prisoners aged 50 years and older were higher than the suicide rates of prisoners younger than 50 years. The suicide rates were in general higher in both age groups of prisoners than in the community. We observed a downward trend in both age groups and were able to identify characteristics in the older prisoners who committed suicide in prison that differed statistically significantly from the younger prisoners. The relevant factors that we identified were being female, German nationality, remand custody status, and a lifelong sentence. These factors proved to be independent predictors for belonging in the group of older prisoners that committed suicide.

The finding that the suicide rate of older prisoners exceeds the suicide rate of the younger prisoners is in accordance with results from Donahue et al. who identified older prisoners as a new vulnerable group. According to their findings, elderly prisoners are characterized by a combination of mental and physical health problems and a high rate of vulnerability, and victimization (27). A systematic review of middle-aged and older adults supported a



significant association between functional disability and suicidal ideation with depression as a mediator between the two (28).

Kammerer and Spohr interviewed 18 men aged between 65 and 76 and asked them about their situation. The results showed that offers focused on the specific needs of this age group were rated positively, but that further need was apparent (22).

Looking at variables independently in association with age in German prison suicide victims revealed that the items "remand status" and "lifelong sentence" were associated with an increased risk of death by suicide in the group of older prisoners when compared to younger male suicide victims. Higher suicide rates in older remand prisoners may indicate a reduced ability of this age group to cope with imprisonment. In addition, elder men may be disadvantaged regarding physical strength and assertiveness in conflicts with younger inmates, which may result in difficulties to adapt to the prison environment and could lead to a depressive mood and suicidal ideation. Liem and Kunst introduced the idea that older prisoners frequently demonstrate a unique set of mental health problems related to post-traumatic stress disorder. They interviewed ex-prisoners who were released after serving a lifelong sentence and found a specific cluster of mental health problems characterized by institutionalized personality traits, social-sensory disorientation, and alienation. The authors argue that untreated or undertreated mental health problems hinder the successful re-entry into society. Furthermore, these mental health problems may explain the high prevalence of illicit drug abuse, the social withdrawal and (at least partly) the elevated suicide rate (9). According to our findings, Fazel et al. revealed an association between prison suicide events and being sentenced to life in prison in a systematic review (18). Our findings, that older prisoners with a lifelong sentence have a higher risk of committing suicide than their younger counterparts, support the assumption of Turner et al. that older prisoners face a "double burden," facing a de facto lifelong sentence when incarcerated at an older age (4). Elevated suicide risk in this group may thus be an expression of hopelessness and unmet social needs.

When comparing the groups of younger and older prisoners that committed suicide, we surprisingly observed no differences in the prevalence of mental disorders. The low prevalence of mental disorders in our data set is in stark contrast to findings from medical chart reviews, which report much higher rates of depression and mental disorders in general in older prisoners from 38 to 61% (7, 21, 27). The low prevalence of mental disorders in this group may be a result of the specific difficulties in older prisoners expressing their needs. According to de Smet et al. who studied factors related to the quality of life in older prisoners, psychiatric symptoms seemed to be noted less often in this age group because "older prisoners seem to be poorer self-advocates" than their younger mates (29).

Comparing older German and non-German suicide victims revealed a lower suicide rate in older non-German prisoners. This result is in line with findings from Radeloff et al. who described a significantly higher suicide rate among male German prisoners

Suicide	Older	Prisoners	in	Germany
---------	-------	-----------	----	---------

TABLE 2 Comparison of characteristics between age groups in German
prisoners who committed suicide.

Variables (N valid cases)	<50 years: N = 876 (% of < 50)	≥50 years: N = 188 (% of ≥ 50)	Test statistic	<i>p</i> -value
Female (1,067)	19 (2.1)	11 (5.9)	7.71	0.01**
Non-German (1,064)	276 (31.5)	30 (16.0)	18.27	< 0.001***
Remand status (950)	446 (57.8)	105 (58.7)	0.039	0.84
Lifelong sentence (1,067)	25 (2.8)	15 (8.0)	11.32	< 0.001***
History of suicide attempts (735)	116 (18.9)	21 (17.2)	0.20	0.66
Mental disorder (586)	103 (22.2)	18 (14.6)	3.44	0.64
Bullying (483)	31 (7.9)	6 (6.7)	0.15	0.69
Drug withdrawal (586)	63 (13.6)	2 (1.6)	14.14	< 0.001***
Alcohol withdrawal (586)	29 (6.3)	9 (7.3)	0.18	0.67
Security measures (605)	105 (22.6)	35 (25.0)	0.091	0.55
Crime involving close relatives (553)	92 (21.1)	54 (46.2)	29.80	< 0.001***
Sexual offences (1,067)	53 (6)	21 (11.2)	6.34	0.01*

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

in comparison to male non-German prisoners (30). This finding contrasts with scientific evidence that immigration is a risk factor for death by suicide (31, 32). Some findings support the idea that a lower suicide risk of immigrants can be explained by descending from a population with a lower suicide risk than the host population (33).

Female prisoners have been described as a vulnerable group before and the suicide rate in this group has increased in Germany from 2000 to 2013 (34, 35). Specific factors connected to the prison setting that contribute to the suicide risk in incarcerated women are so far unknown (36). When compared to male prisoners, the increasing suicide rates in female prisoners in Germany was not linked to a more unfavorable risk profile regarding known risk factors for prison suicide. An analysis of routine data on prisoners who died by suicide in Germany between 2000 and 2013 revealed no significant gender difference regarding most characteristics, especially mean age, nationality, pre- and post-trial status, proportion of individuals serving a life sentence, and proportion of individuals who exhibited criminal behavior at a young age, previous suicide attempts and known history of psychiatric disorder (34).

Although the suicide rate of the prison population was substantially higher than that of the resident population, we found no difference when comparing the trends of suicide rates between the years 2000 to 2013, despite the rising number of older prisoners in the same time span. Factors that contribute to the differences in suicide risk between detainees and the resident population and to the positive trend in male prison suicide rates are not yet understood (37, 38). Although mental disorders, especially depression, are proved to be more common in prisoners than in the general population, the elevated suicide

TABLE 3 | Logistic regression analyses.

	Estimate	Std. error	Statistic	p-value
Gender	-0.91	0.42	-2.15	0.03*
Nationality	0.86	0.22	3.86	< 0.001***
Remand status	0.39	0.18	2.18	0.03*
Lifelong sentence	0.95	0.38	2.52	0.01*
History of suicide attempts	-0.11	0.20	-0.54	0.59
Sexual offences	0.35	0.21	1.67	0.01*

*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 4 | Variables independently associated with suicide events in older prisoners.

Variable	Odds ratio, 95% Confidence interval	p-value	
Male gender	0.44 [0.19; 0.94]	0.05	
German nationality	2.45 [1.59; 3.77]	< 0.001***	
Remand status	1.55 [1.09; 2.18]	0.01*	
Lifelong sentence	2.59 [1.24;5.4]	0.01*	

*p < 0.05; ***p < 0.001.

rate among prisoners cannot be explained with individual factors sufficiently (39–41).

LIMITATION AND OUTLOOK

The main limitations of our study were that there was no control group and that for many items the data was incomplete. Another limitation was that the data source did not include the medical charts so that the prevalence of mental disorders is surpassingly underreported. Future research will include the medical records and should have a case-control design, comparing the cases, who died from suicide, with a matched group of prisoners who survived. The matching variable will be calendar month. From all prisoners admitted in the same month (e.g., September 2005) as the case, one person will be chosen at random as a control.

CONCLUSION

In Germany, the number of elderly prisoners is rising. Our findings did not foster the assumption that mental disorders in general or depression are more common among older suicide victims in prison when compared to their younger counterparts. The fact, that hints for mental disorder or suicidal ideations are documented only in few cases, may indicate underreporting of mental disorder in younger as well as in older prisoners. As expected, the suicide rates in male prisoners in Germany with an age of 50 years and older showed a downward trend.

ETHICS STATEMENT

According to current legal regulation, no approval from the local ethics committee was required for the current study. After

having signed a formal obligation, the authors were allowed by prison Administration of Lower Saxony to use routine data for research purposes. We attached the respective form that was completed and signed by researchers that participated in the data assessment (see **Supplementary Data Sheet 1**). The results of the survey are anonymous, name, address before incarceration, and other personal information is not included. Since only aggregated data will be published, no concern exists about disclosure of personal data.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AO-W and NK designed the study. KB-K collected the data. AO-W, AV, UG, and JW analyzed and interpreted the data. AO-W and AV wrote the initial draft of the manuscript and had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for

REFERENCES

- Hayes LM. National Study of Prison Suicides: 20 Years Later. (2010). Available online at: https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic.gov/Library/024308.pdf
- 2. Wamsly R. *World Prison Population List.* 11th ed. London: International Center for Prison Studies (2016).
- Skarupski KA, Gross A, Schrack JA, Deal JA, Eber GB. The health of America's aging prison population. *Epidemiol Rev.* (2018) 40:157–65. doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxx020
- Turner M, Peacock M, Payne S, Fletcher A, Froggatt K. Ageing and dying in the contemporary neoliberal prison system: exploring the 'double burden' for older prisoners. *Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 212:161–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.07.009
- 5. WHO. Available online at: https://www.who.int/ageing/en/
- Kouyoumdjian FG, Andreev EM, Borschmann R, Kinner SA, McConnon A. Do people who experience incarceration age more quickly? Exploratory analyses using retrospective cohort data on mortality from Ontario, Canada. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0175837. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175837
- Hayes AJ, Burns A, Turnbull P, Shaw JJ. The health and social needs of older male prisoners. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2012) 27:1155–62. doi: 10.1002/gps.3761
- 8. Loeb SJ, Abudagga A. Health-related research on older inmates: an integrative review. *Res Nurs Health*. (2006) 29:556–65. doi: 10.1002/nur.20177
- Liem M, Kunst M. Is there a recognizable post-incarceration syndrome among released "lifers"? Int J Law Psychiatry. (2013) 36:333–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.04.012
- Cipriani G, Danti S, Carlesi C, Di Fiorino M. Old and dangerous: prison and dementia. J Forensic Leg Med. (2017) 51:40–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jflm.2017.07.004
- Bretschneider W, Elger B, Wangmo T. Ageing prisoners' health care: analysing the legal settings in Europe and the United States. *Gerontology*. (2013) 59:267– 75. doi: 10.1159/000345333
- Bretschneider W, Elger BS. Expert perspectives on Western European prison health services: do ageing prisoners receive equivalent care? *J Bioeth Inq.* (2014) 11:319–32. doi: 10.1007/s11673-014-9547-y
- Dettbarn E. Effects of long term incarceration: a statistical comparision of two expert assessments at the beginning and the end of incarceration. *Int J Law Psychiatry*. (2012) 35:236–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2012.02.014
- Fazel S, Benning R. Natural deaths in male prisoners: a 20-year mortality study. *Eur J Public Health*. (2006) 16:441–4. doi: 10.1093/eurpub/cki223
- Combalbert N, Pennequin V, Ferrand C, Armand M, Anselme M, Geffray B. Cognitive impairment, self-perceived health and quality of life of older prisoners. Crim Behav Ment Health. (2018) 28:36–49. doi: 10.1002/cbm.2023
- Fazel S, Hayes AJ, Bartellas K, Clerici M, Trestman R. Mental health of prisoners: prevalence, adverse outcomes, and interventions. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2016) 3:871–81. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30142-0

the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. All authors have contributed to, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2019.00154/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Data Sheet 1 | Formal obligation.

- Fazel S, Seewald K. Severe mental illness in 33,588 prisoners worldwide: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Br J Psychiatry. (2012) 200:364–73. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.096370
- Fazel S, Cartwright J, Norman-Nott A, Hawton K. Suicide in prisoners: a systematic review of risk factors. J Clin Psychiatry. (2008) 69:1721–31. doi: 10.4088/JCP.v69n1107
- Kingston P, Le Mesurier N, Yorston G, Wardle S, Heath L. Psychiatric morbidity in older prisoners: unrecognized and undertreated. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2011) 23:1354–60. doi: 10.1017/S1041610211000378
- Barry LC, Steffens DC, Covinsky KE, Conwell Y, Li Y, Byers AL. Increased risk of suicide attempts and unintended death among those transitioning from prison to community in later life. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2018) 26:1165–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2018.07.004
- Moschetti K, Stadelmann P, Wangmo T, Holly H, Bodenmann P, Wasserfallen J-B, et al. Disease profiles of detainees in the Canton of Vaud in Switzerland: gender and age differences in substance abuse, mental health and chronic health conditions. *BMC Public Health*. (2015) 15:872. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2211-6
- Kammerer K, Spohr J. [Prisons and release of elderly prisoners]. Z Gerontol Geriatr. (2013) 46:317–22. doi: 10.1007/s00391-013-0487-7
- 23. Blaauw E, Kerkhof AJ, Hayes LM. Demographic, criminal, and psychiatric factors related to inmate suicide. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2005) 35:63–75. doi: 10.1521/suli.35.1.63.59268
- Stevens BA, Shaw R, Bewert P, Salt M, Alexander R, Loo Gee B. Systematic review of aged care interventions for older prisoners. *Australas J Ageing*. (2018) 37:34–42. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12484
- 25. Bennefeld-Kersten K. Ausgeschieden durch Suizid–Selbsttötungen im Gefängnis. Lengerich: Pabst Science Publishers (2009).
- Bundesamt S. Todesursachenstatistik. (2015). Available online at: https://www. destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/Gesundheit/Todesursachen/ Tabellen/EckdatenTU.html
- Donahue J. Coronary artery disease in offender populations: incarceration as a risk factor and a point of intervention. J Correct Health Care. (2014) 20:302–12. doi: 10.1177/1078345814541534
- Lutz J, Fiske A. Functional disability and suicidal behavior in middle-aged and older adults: a systematic critical review. J Affect Disord. (2018) 227:260–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.043
- De Smet S, De Donder L, Ryan D, Van Regenmortel S, Brosens D, Vandevelde S. Factors related to the quality of life of older prisoners. *Qual Life Res.* (2017) 26:1571–85. doi: 10.1007/s11136-017-1506-8
- Radeloff D, Lempp T, Kettner M, Rauf A, Bennefeld-Kersten K, Freitag CM. Male suicide rates in German prisons and the role of citizenship. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0178959. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 78959

- Bursztein Lipsicas C, Makinen IH, Apter A, De Leo D, Kerkhof A, Lönnqvist J, et al. Attempted suicide among immigrants in European countries: an international perspective. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2012) 47:241–51. doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0336-6
- 32. Fortuna LR, Alvarez K, Ramos Ortiz Z, Wang Y, Mozo Alegría X, Cook BL, et al. Mental health, migration stressors and suicidal ideation among Latino immigrants in Spain and the United States. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2016) 36:15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.03.001
- Borges G, Orozco R, Rafful C, Miller E, Breslau J. Suicidality, ethnicity and immigration in the USA. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:1175–84. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711002340
- Opitz-Welke A, Bennefeldt-Kersten K, Konrad N, Welke J. Prison suicide in female detainees in Germany 2000-2013. J Forensic Leg Med. (2016) 44:68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jflm.2016.08.016
- Handtke V, Bretschneider W, Elger B, Wangmo T. Easily forgotten: elderly female prisoners. J Aging Stud. (2015) 32:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jaging.2014.10.003
- Fazel S, Benning R. Suicides in female prisoners in England and Wales, 1978-2004. Br J Psychiatry. (2009) 194:183–4. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.107. 046490
- Fazel S, Grann M, Kling B, Hawton K. Prison suicide in 12 countries: an ecological study of 861 suicides during 2003-2007. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2011) 46:191–5. doi: 10.1007/s00127-010-0184-4

- Opitz-Welke A, Bennefeld-Kersten K, Konrad N, Welke J. Prison suicides in Germany from 2000 to 2011. Int J Law Psychiatry. (2013) 36:386–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2013.06.018
- Hawton K, Linsell L, Adeniji T, Sariaslan A, Fazel S. Self-harm in prisons in England and Wales: an epidemiological study of prevalence, risk factors, clustering, and subsequent suicide. *Lancet*. (2014) 383:1147–54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62118-2
- Marzano L, Hawton K, Rivlin A, Smith EN, Piper M, Fazel S. Prevention of Suicidal Behavior in Prisons. *Crisis*. (2016) 37:323–34. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910/a000394
- Felthous AR. Suicide behind bars: trends, inconsistencies, and practical implications. J Forensic Sci. (2011) 56:1541–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1556-4029.2011.01858.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Opitz-Welke, Konrad, Welke, Bennefeld-Kersten, Gauger and Voulgaris. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Validating the Utility of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire With Men Who Have Sexually Offended Against Children

Ross M. Bartels^{1*†}, Robert J. B. Lehmann^{2†} and David Thornton³

¹ School of Psychology, University of Lincoln, Lincoln, United Kingdom, ² Department of Psychology, Medical School Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ³ Sand Ridge Secure Treatment Center, Mauston, WI, United States

The Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire (WSFQ) assesses the use of 40 specific sexual fantasies, which are grouped into four overarching themes (Intimate, Exploratory, Impersonal, and Sadomasochistic). It also includes two items that reflect characteristics associated with children. Since sexual fantasies are a key factor in sex offender treatment, the present study tested the validity of the WSFQ for use with men who have sexually offended against children (SOC). Differential validity was assessed by comparing 54 SOC, 22 community males with a sexual interest in children (C-SI), and 79 community males with no sexual interest in children (C-NSI) on each WSFQ subscale and child-related item. Results showed that SOCs scored lower on each subscale than both community groups. On the two child-related items, the SOCs and C-SIs scored higher than C-NSIs. For the "Sex with someone much younger than yourself" item, younger SOCs had greater scores than younger C-NSIs, while older C-NSIs had greater scores than older SOCs. Construct validity was assessed using the SOC sample by examining relationships between WSFQ variables and 1) the self-reported use of deviant sexual fantasies assessed via the Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire and 2) offending behavior derived from crime scene data. The WSFQ Intimacy subscale was unrelated to any deviant sexual fantasies, while the other subscales were most strongly associated with sadistic fantasies. The child-related WSFQ items were most strongly associated with sexual fantasies about prepubescent children. Very few relationships were observed between the WSFQ variables and crime scene behaviors. The implications of the results are discussed, along with the study's limitations and suggestions for future research.

Keywords: sex offenders, sexual fantasy, Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire, validity, crime scene behavior

INTRODUCTION

Sexual fantasizing refers to the deliberate act of mentally envisioning a sexual scenario involving a target (e.g., a person) and/or behavior (e.g., dominating) (1). The content of the mental imagery generally reflects one's sexual interest (2) and is experienced as sexually arousing (3). For example, in individuals who have sexually offended against a child, sexual fantasies involving children are often associated with a sexual interest in children (4) and are often used as a means of inducing or enhancing a state of sexual arousal (5).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Stelios Panagiotis Kympouropoulos, University General Hospital Attikon, Greece Till Amelung, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Germany

> *Correspondence: Ross Bartels rbartels@lincoln.ac.uk

[†]These authors share first authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 September 2018 Accepted: 22 March 2019 Published: 09 April 2019

Citation:

Bartels RM, Lehmann RJB and Thornton D (2019) Validating the Utility of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire With Men Who Have Sexually Offended Against Children. Front. Psychiatry 10:206. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00206

130

Although sexual fantasizing is implicated in the etiology of child sexual abuse (6), a detailed understanding of how it actually influences offending behavior has yet to be established. Bartels and Gannon (7) highlight two ways, however, in which it may occur. The first refers to heightening an individual's risk or propensity to sexually offend. That is, for those with a sexual interest in children, sexual fantasizing may psychologically and physiologically energize an individual (i.e., increase their sense of "wanting"), thus preparing them for engagement in sexually appetitive behavior (8, 9). When combined with masturbation and orgasm, this sense of wanting may be relieved in the short term but heightened in the medium term. The second link to offending is based on the idea that sexual fantasizing can create behavioral scripts (e.g., explicit or implicit plans) that an individual may enact in real life (5, 10, 11). Again, the inclusion of masturbation (and subsequent orgasm) is likely to strengthen the sexual meaning of the script, potentially increasing the likelihood of enacting the imagery in real life. Regardless of the exact causal mechanism, researchers have found that sexual fantasies about children are associated with contact sex offending behavior against children (4, 12, 13). While causality cannot be inferred from these findings given their correlational nature, sexual fantasizing is arguably an important factor to consider in the assessment and treatment of individuals who have sexually offended against children (SOCs). Thus, it is important for clinicians and researchers to have a reliable and valid tool for assessing sexual fantasy use.

One of the oldest and often used measures is the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire or WSFQ (14). The WSFQ includes a list of 40 sexual fantasy themes ranging from "the normal and innocuous to the deviant and relatively obscene" (15, p. 61). Each item is scored on a six-point scale ranging from Never (0) to Regularly (5), across five different contexts (i.e., Daytime fantasies, Fantasies during intercourse or masturbation, Dream while asleep, Have done in reality, and Would do in reality). When assessing the frequency of sexual fantasy use, Wilson (15) advises only using responses for Daytime fantasies, since scores for the other four contexts all highly correlate with Daytime fantasies. The WSFQ is composed of four factor analytically derived themes, each containing 10 items, namely, Intimate, Exploratory, Impersonal, and Sadomasochistic (14). This factor structure has been supported in subsequent confirmatory analyses, particularly in men (16). The WSFQ also provides a total score, which is argued to be a measure of one's overall sex drive (15).

Only a few published studies have used the WSFQ with SOCs¹. In one of the first studies, Baumgartner et al. (19) found that the WSFQ had very good internal consistency as indicated by Cronbach's α (Intimate = .92; Exploratory = .86; Impersonal = .83; Sadomasochistic = .86; total score = .95). Below, we outline the studies that provide information about various forms of validity for the WSFQ.

Baumgartner et al. (19) also found that SOCs (n = 64) scored higher than nonsexual offenders (n = 41) on the Intimate and Exploratory subscales (d = 0.57 and 0.44, respectively). Crucially, they argued that two WSFQ items reflect themes associated with children (i.e., "Having sex someone much younger than yourself" and "Seducing an innocent") and found that SOCs scored significantly higher than nonsexual offenders on these two items (d = 0.77 and 0.55, respectively). Baumgartner et al. (19) also compared their data to those reported in previous studies using college males (N = 116) (20), as well as nonoffending fetishists (N = 24), sadomasochists (N = 34), and men with numerous sexual interests (N = 14) (15). The SOCs did not differ from college males on any subscales and reported lower Exploratory, Impersonal, and Sadomasochistic scores than the sadomasochistic and sexually variant males. However, they were unable to compare differences on the two child-related items.

Using a sample of 95 SOCs, Gannon et al. (21) examined differences between SOC subtypes (established by cluster analyzing data from a battery of measures). They identified five clusters, which they termed "Impulsive," "Boy predators," "Intimacy deficits," "Generally antisocial," and "Multiple dysfunction." Discounting the "Multiple dysfunction" group due to a very small sample size (n = 4), it was found that, in contrast to the other groups, the "Boy predators" reported significantly higher scores on all WSFQ subscales, indicating higher levels of sexual fantasizing in general.

Other researchers have examined the WSFQ in relation to sexual recidivism in SOCs. Using an exploratory factor analysis with a sample of 495 SOCs, Allan et al. (22) found that the WSFQ subscales (pre-treatment) loaded on to a single factor. They labeled this factor "Sexual Interests," stating that it "measures the strength of an offender's sexual interest in terms of the frequency of their sexual fantasies" (p. 357). This factor, however, essentially represents the total WSFQ score and so does not provide any insight into the participants' specific sexual interests. Nevertheless, this factor was found to be associated with sexual recidivism (Area Under the Curve; AUC = 0.72), suggesting that SOC's frequency of fantasizing across an array of themes is predictive of sexual recidivism. A similar result was found by Stevens et al. (23) using a sample of 218 SOCs. Here, the same "Sexual Interests" factor (using WSFQ data) correlated with sexual recidivism, even after controlling for socially desirable responding ($r_{\rm pb}$ = .24). In addition, Stevens et al. (23) found that each WSFQ subscale was significantly associated with sexual recidivism (r_{pb} for Intimate = .15, Exploratory = .24, Impersonal = .19, Sadomasochistic = .18). Using the same dataset, Beggs and Grace (24) also found that positive change scores (following treatment) on the Sadomasochistic subscale were associated with reduced sexual recidivism (r = -.22).

Only a few studies have provided convergence data in terms of correlating the WSFQ with other indicators of deviant sexual interest. Using a sample of 302 sex offenders (type/s not specified), Seifert et al. (25) observed that the WSFQ total score strongly correlated with the sexual sensation-seeking and sexual compulsivity (r = .68 and .61, respectively). The WSFQ total also correlated strongly with the total score from a 90-item version of O'Donohue and Letourneau's (26) Paraphilic Fantasy

¹Some researchers have adapted the WSFQ by adding, removing, and/or amending items (17, 18). For the purposes of this paper, however, only studies using the original WSFQ are discussed.

Questionnaire (r = .73) (27). Given that only the WSFQ total was used, a greater frequency of fantasizing across a range of themes is associated with sexual preoccupation (i.e., sexual compulsivity and sensation-seeking) and paraphilic sexual fantasies in general.

The link between fantasizing about sexual behaviors (e.g., sadomasochistic sexual fantasy themes) and objectively assessed offending behavior (e.g., sexualized aggression) in terms of construct validation has yet to be firmly established. This is rather surprising given the oft-described importance of sexual fantasies in forensic practice (28). This lack of research may be due to the range of issues pertaining to the study of sexual fantasies. For one, sexual fantasizing is a covert activity and is not externally identifiable outside of self-report. Moreover, from the point of view of someone who has offended, there may be little reward for being truthful about the content and use of one's sexual fantasies in a forensic setting. They may even anticipate negative consequences for doing so (e.g., longer sentences, postsentence restrictions and requirements, stigma, physical violence threats from other inmates). As such, offenders are likely to have an understandable tendency for dissimulation. Accordingly, clinical subjective self-report data (e.g., WSFQ) may be of limited value in forensic assessments as they are easy to fake and may be biased by distorted self-perception and/or introspective abilities. This dissimulation hypothesis may be particularly true for sexual offenders whose behavior is (or was) driven by paraphilic interest compared to sexual offenders without an atypical sexual interest (i.e., those who offended because of a lack of more preferred sexual opportunities or general antisociality) (29).

As indicated above, there has been little validation of the WSFQ for use with SOCs. Most studies have primarily focused on the WSFQ subscales, have not accounted for sexual interest in children within comparison groups, and only examined its relationship with sexual offending behavior in terms of sexual recidivism. Thus, the aim of the present study was to further test the validity of the WSFQ for use with SOCs, taking into account the above issues. This goal was approached in three ways.

The first was to examine differential validity by comparing a sample of male SOCs with a sample of community males on the WSFQ subscales and child-related items. Recent findings indicate that some men from the general community report using sexual fantasies about children (30, 31), particularly those with a proclivity to engage in child sexual abuse (13). Therefore, we compared the SOCs with two subgroups of community men, namely, those reporting a sexual interest/proclivity for child sexual abuse, and those reporting no such interests. Based on Baumgartner et al. (19), it was hypothesized that SOCs would report using Intimate, Exploratory, and child-related sexual fantasies to a greater extent than community males with no sexual interest in children. We also predicted that SOCs would not differ from those with a sexual interest in children.

Second, we examined construct validity by correlating the WSFQ (i.e., its subscales and the two child-related items) with child-related and sadistic fantasies measured *via* another questionnaire designed to assess the use of offense-related sexual fantasies. It was hypothesized that, in terms of convergent validity, the Sadomasochistic subscale would positively correlate with sexual fantasies related to sexual sadism, while the child-related WSFQ items would correlate positively with sexual fantasies overtly involving children.

Third, construct validity was tested again. This was done by examining whether the WSFQ subscales and child-related items correlated with four behavioral themes identified in SOCs by Lehmann et al. (32) using crime scene data. These behavioral themes include a) Fixation (characterized by a persistent attraction to children), b) Regression [characterized by nonparaphilic sexual excitation and victim availability (e.g., in family setting) in response to intimacy deficits], (c) Criminality (where sexual abuse occurs in the context of generalized criminal behavior), and (d) Sexualized Aggression (characterized by offenses that involve overtly expressive aggression including behavioral indicators of sexual sadism). Accordingly, we hypothesized a positive relationship between the nonsexually deviant behavioral themes of Regression and Criminality and the normative and innocuous Intimate subscale. On the basis of the dissimulation hypothesis, we expected negative relationships between deviant behavioral themes (Fixation, Sexualized Aggression) and the WSFQ data.

METHOD

Sample

The offender sample was composed of 54 male individuals who had sexually offended against a child (i.e., aged 13 and younger), recruited from a secure treatment facility in the state of Wisconsin in the USA. The ages ranged from 25 to 73 years (M = 46.9, SD = 10.2). The majority (87%) had only sexually offended against a child, with the remaining 13% having sexually offended against both a child and an adult. Fifty-two (96.30%) reported being "single," with one participant reporting being in a relationship, and another not providing his relationship status. Of the 50 participants with available information, the majority (77.8%, n = 42) had undergone or were undergoing some form of psychological treatment for their offending behavior at the time of data collection.

The non-offending sample was composed of 101 community males, who were all recruited online. The age of the community sample ranged from 18 to 51 years (M = 25.01, SD = 6.80), with 12 preferring not to provide their age. Fifty-seven of the non-offending sample (56.4%) reported being a relationship, while 44 (43.6%) reported being single.

Data

Sexual fantasy data for the SOC sample were initially collected as part of a larger, distinct project led by one of the first authors. This initial project was aimed at exploring new indirect measures of sexual interest in children and offense-supportive cognition (33). Offense-related data were also available in some of the participants' case files (n = 37). This allowed crime scene behaviors to be coded in the current study (see below for details). Sexual fantasy data for the community sample were drawn from a distinct online project examining child-related sexual interests in community males (Henek and Bartels, in preparation). Data for this initial project were collected online (using Qualtrics) *via* various social media platforms and forums (e.g., Twitter, Reddit). Each participant completed a small battery of measures assessing sexual compulsivity, sexual functioning, sexual fantasies (using the WSFQ), and sexual interest in children. In the current study, only the WSFQ data were used (for the group difference analyses). The data regarding sexual interest in children were used to categorize the community males into two groups: those reporting no sexual interest in children and those reporting some sexual interest in children (see below).

Study Variables

Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire (WSFQ) (14)

The WSFQ assesses how often people use 40 specific sexual fantasies. Each item is scored using a six-point scale (0 = Never, 5 = Regularly). The WSFQ is composed of four 10-item subscales: Exploratory (e.g., *Sex with two other people*), Intimate (e.g., *Having intercourse with a loved partner*), Impersonal (e.g., *Watching others having sex*), and Sadomasochistic (e.g., *Whipping or spanking someone*). Using the sample as a whole in the present study (N = 155), the WSFQ subscales showed acceptable to good levels of internal consistency: Impersonal ($\alpha = .68$), Exploratory ($\alpha = .74$), Sadomasochistic ($\alpha = .85$), and Intimate ($\alpha = .92$).

Two specific sexual fantasy items were also of particular interest in this study. These were "Having sex with someone much younger than yourself" and "Seducing an innocent." While these two items do not directly refer to children (e.g., a 50-year-old who fantasizes about a 25-year-old movie star may rate high on the former item), it has been argued that they involve "partners whose qualities could be seen as matching those of children (innocence and aged significantly younger)" (19, p. 28). We were additionally interested in the "Having incestuous sexual relations" item as it could reflect the offending behavior predominantly engaged in by SOC with a "regression" propensity (32). Please note that this item is rather vague and does not directly refer to children as well. Nonetheless, it was included given the exploratory nature of this part of the paper.

Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire

This is an unpublished questionnaire created by the third author for use in practice. It is designed to assess clients' use of five specific deviant sexual fantasies during their time in treatment, namely, Abduction, Forcing, Children under 13 years, Children between 13 and 17 years old, and Sexual sadism. In addition, sexual fantasies involving the client's past victim/s are also assessed. For each theme, a respondent first states whether they have experienced the sexual fantasy using a Yes/No format. If they respond with a "Yes," they are required to answer a further set of open-ended questions (e.g., how often the fantasy was used, when it was last used, and how long it lasted). It also asks the respondent to write out the fantasy. In the present study, data from this measure were only available from the SOC sample.

The Interest in Child Molestation Scale (ICM) (34)

The ICM is a vignette-based self-report measure designed to assess community participants' interest in sexual activity with

children. The ICM is composed of five vignettes, each describing a hypothetical scenario of sexual activity with a child (age not specified). After reading each vignette, participants are required to report their level of sexual arousal, behavioral propensity (i.e., whether they would do the same), and general enjoyment. Each item is rated on a seven-point Likert scale (e.g., 1 = Not at all sexually aroused, 7 = Very strongly sexually aroused). Three of the vignettes involve low force and two involve high force. The ICM produces an overall score, a low-force subscale score, and a high-force subscale score. Previous studies using the ICM indicate that the low-force subscale is a particularly reliable and valid measure for assessing sexual interest in children in community samples (34, 35). On this basis, only the low-force subscale was administered to the community males in Henek and Bartels' study (Henek and Bartels, in preparation). As there are nine items on the low-force subscale (rated on a Likert scale ranging from 1 to 7), the lowest possible score participants can obtain is 9 (i.e., no selfreported proclivity), with the highest possible score being 63.

In a study exploring pupillary responses as a method for assessing sexual interest, the ICM was used in a way to ensure that participants were solely interested in adults (36). Similarly, in the present study, the low-force subscale of the ICM ($\alpha = .82$) was used to identify community males with a sexual interest in children (i.e., a score greater than 9). Of the 101 participants, 22 were identified as having some sexual interest in children (M = 14.55, SD = 5.60). These individuals were categorized as a "sexual interest in children" community group (C-SI), with the remaining 79 categorized as a "no sexual interest in children" community group (C-NSI).

Coding

The offense-related information present in the offender participants' case files was independently coded by two research assistants. This involved coding for the presence of 39 crime scene behaviors using the coding scheme devised by Lehmann et al. (32). Of the 54 available case files, 37 provided specific details that could be sufficiently coded. To determine inter-rater reliability for each variable, Cohen's k was computed. For seven variables (i.e., victim masturbates, offender offers money, offender films/photos victim, longer offense, ritualistic behavior, offender humiliates victim, and offender drugged victim), κ could not be computed due to a lack of variance. These variables, however, had high percent agreement (range = 95%-100%). For seven variables (affection, fondle, offender makes promises, luring, offender makes sexual comment, searching, and offender not deterred), κ coefficients were low (<.45) (37). Nevertheless, the variables aforementioned were included on the basis of the high percent agreement (range = 82%-92%) and because they were needed to compute propensity scores in order to test the link between the WSFQ and crime scene behavior (see Supplementary Material for full details). The κ coefficients for the remaining variables ranged from .52 to 1.00 (median = .76). After these initial codings, the first author examined each case file independently in order to provide the final decision on whether the crime scene behavior was present or not. Finally, following Lehmann et al. (32), the "present" crime scene variables associated with each behavioral theme (i.e., Fixation, Regression, Criminality, and Aggression) were averaged. This resulted in a continuous Thematic Sum Score (TSS) for the four behavioral themes.

Analyses

Differences between the SOC, C-SI, and C-NSI groups on each WSFQ variable were assessed using one-way MANOVAs. Also, since the SOC group were (on average) older than the two comparison groups, we examined whether any group effect on the two child-related WSFQ items were moderated by participant age. Next, in the SOC sample only, relationships between WSFQ variables and the child-related and sadistic themes of the Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire were examined using rank-biserial correlations (controlling for age). Finally, for those SOCs with available crime scene data (n = 37), Spearman's Rho correlations (controlling for age) were run to explore whether scores on the WSFQ were associated with the TSS scores derived from crime scene data. Given the multiple correlations (i.e., 38), a Bonferroni correction was employed to adjust for the familywise error rate (α changed from .05 to .0013).

RESULTS

Differential Validity

A one-way, independent-samples MANOVA was used to compare the three groups (SOC vs. C-SI vs. C-NSI) on the four WSFQ subscales (i.e., Intimate, Exploratory, Impersonal, and Sadomasochistic). A significant multivariate main effect of Group was observed [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.69$, F(8, 298) = 7.48, p < .001, $\eta_p^2 =$ 0.17]. As shown in Table 1, there was a significant main effect of Group for each WSFQ variable, except for Exploratory (p = .09). This lack of difference on the Exploratory subscale was in line with our hypothesis with respect to SOCs and C-SIs, but not SOCs and C-NSIs. Post hoc comparisons indicated that C-NSIs used Intimate fantasies significantly more so than SOCs (p = .001, d = 0.62). While this is counter to our hypothesis derived from Baumgartner et al.'s (19) findings, it is understandable that community males with no interest in children would report higher scores on this normative subscale. The lack of a difference between SOCs and C-SIs was, however, as expected. For Impersonal fantasies, C-SI had significantly greater scores than both the SOC (p = .001, d =0.92) and C-NSI (p = .03, d = 0.65). The C-SIs also reported using

Sadomasochistic fantasies more often than SOCs (p < .001, d = 1.17), as did the C-NSIs (p < .001, d = 1.08).

A second independent-samples MANOVA was conducted to examine group differences for the two specific WSFQ items of interest (i.e., "Having sex with someone much younger," "Seducing an innocent"). There was a significant multivariate main effect of Group [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.88$, F(4, 302) = 3.50, p = .001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$]. A significant main effect was observed for both items (p's < .01; see **Table 2**). *Post hoc* comparisons revealed that SOCs scored significantly higher than C-NSIs on "Sex with someone much younger" (p = .001, d = 0.67), as did C-SIs (p = .001, d =0.82). For "Seducing an innocent," SOCs reported marginally greater and non-negligible scores (based on effect size) than C-NSIs (p = .056, d = 0.44), while C-SIs reported significantly greater scores than C-NSIs (p = .02, d = 0.62). These findings were in line with our hypotheses.

Given that the "child-related" WSFQ items do not actually explicitly refer to children (but rather youth and innocence), it is possible that the older participants interpreted them innocuously (e.g., in terms of a much younger *adult*). This could account for why SOCs scored high on these items, as they were significantly older than C-NSIs and C-SIs (both *p*'s < .001). Thus, to examine whether participant age had a moderating effect on the link between group and the item "Sex with someone much younger," we used the PROCESS macro for SPSS (38). As there were three groups, the independent variable was specified as being multicategorical using indicator coding (39), with SOCs coded as the reference group. Age was found to have a significant moderating effect [$\Delta R^2 = 0.07$, F(2, 137) = 6.83, p = .002]. However, this was only in relation to the difference between SOCs and C-NSIs (b = .12, SE = .03, t = 3.60, p < .02.001), not between SOCs and C-SIs (*b* = .09, *SE* = .06, *t* = 1.62, p = .11). As shown in **Figure 1**, the conditional effects revealed that, at lower age levels (-1 SD below the mean), scores on the "Someone much younger" item were greater for SOCs than for C-NSIs (b = 1.51, SE = 0.61, t = 2.47, p = .02). There was no difference between the two groups at medium (mean) age levels (b = .06, SE = 0.44, t = 0.14, p = .87), but at higher age levels (+1 SD above the mean), C-NSIs showed greater scores on the item (b = 1.64, SE = 0.62, t = 2.64, p = .009). Conversely, the relationship between group and "Seducing an innocent" was found to not be moderated by participant age, $\Delta R^2 = 0.005$, F(2,137) = 0.34, *p* = .71 (see **Figure 2**).

TABLE 1 | Descriptive and inferential statistics for group differences on each Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire (WSFQ) scale.

WSFQ subscale	SOC (<i>n</i> = 54)	C-SI (n = 22)	C-NSI (n = 79)			
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	F	p	η_p^2
Intimate	25.31ª (11.82)	30.91 ^{ab} (8.29)	31.85 ^b (9.23)	6.99	.001	.08
Exploratory	13.85 ^a (9.02)	18.55ª (8.79)	15.11ª (7.86)	2.43	.09	.03
Impersonal	11.96 ^a (7.93)	19.00 ^b (7.43)	14.38 ^a (6.86)	19.54	<.001	.21
Sadomasochistic	4.65 ^a (6.21)	14.64 ^b (10.38)	12.76 ^b (8.67)	7.22	.001	.09

SOC, sexual offenders against children; C-SI, community males with a sexual interest in children; C-NSI, community males with no sexual interest in children. Groups that share superscripts (i.e., a or b) do not significantly differ (p < .05, Bonferroni corrected).

TABLE 2 Descriptive and inferential statistics for group differences on child-related WSFQ items.

WSFQ item	SOC (<i>n</i> = 54)	C-SI (n = 22)	C-NSI (n = 79)			
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	F	p	η_p^2
Someone much younger	1.96ª (1.64)	2.32ª (1.91)	0.92 ^b (1.47)	10.32	<.001	.12
Seducing an innocent	1.48 ^a _m (1.56)	1.86ª (1.91)	0.87 ^b _m (1.20)	5.31	.006	.07

SOC, sexual offenders against children; C-SI, community males with a sexual interest in children; C-NSI, community males with no sexual interest in children. Groups that share superscripts (i.e., a or b) do not significantly differ (p < .05, Bonferroni corrected). Groups that share an m subscript are marginally different.





Construct Validity: Correlations Between Sexual Fantasy Measures

Data from both sexual fantasy measures were available for all SOCs. Rank-biserial correlations (controlling for age) between the WSFQ variables and the dichotomous responses on the Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire (TFQ) themes are presented in Table 3. As shown, only four correlations survived the Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. In line with our hypotheses, the Sadomasochistic subscale showed a positive relationship with the Sadistic theme of the TFQ ($r_{\rm rb}$ = .46) (convergent validity), as did the Impersonal subscale to a stronger degree ($r_{\rm rb} = .51$). As expected, the Intimate subscale did not correlate with any of the examined TFQ themes (discriminant validity). Also as hypothesized, the "Sex with someone much younger" and "Seducing an innocent" WSFQ items both showed moderate-tostrong, positive correlations with the Child <13 TFQ theme (r_{rb} = .43 and .48, respectively). No significant relationships were found between the single WSFQ items and the postpubescent (Child 13-17 years) TFQ theme.

Construct Validity: Relationship Between Sexual Fantasies and Behavioral Themes

Crime scene data and sexual fantasy data were available for 37 SOCs. **Table 4** shows Spearman's correlations (controlling for age) between the WSFQ variables and the four behavioral themes

TABLE 3 | Rank-biserial correlations between sexual fantasy measures within the sexual offenders against children (SOC) sample, controlling for age.

	Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire Themes			
	Child (< 13 years)	Child (13–17 years)	Sadistic acts	
WSFQ variables				
Intimate WSFQ	.07	.23	.20	
Exploratory WSFQ	.29	.14	.38**	
Impersonal WSFQ	.30*	.04	.46***	
Sadomasochistic WSFQ	.10	.20	.51***	
"Sex with someone much younger"	.43***	.23	.32*	
"Seducing an innocent"	.48***	.24	.33*	

*p < .05, **p < .01, *** $p \leq .001$. SOC, sex offenders against children.

Results in **bold** typeface indicate significant results after Bonferroni correction ($\alpha = .0013$).

derived from crime scene information (i.e., TSS scores). None of the observed relationships were significant after applying the Bonferroni correction. Thus, we did not find support for the hypothesis that the nondeviant themes (Regression and Criminality) would correlate with the Intimate subscale. However, from looking at the size of the correlations, two relationships are worth noting (both of which were significant before corrections). First, the Intimate subscale showed a moderate negative relationship with the "Sexualized Aggression" TSS ($r_{\rm rho} = -.34$) and, in line with expectations, the Regression theme showed a moderate relationship with "Incestuous sexual relations" ($r_{\rm rho}$ = .33). Also, in line with the dissimulation hypothesis, both behavioral themes indicating sexual deviance (Fixation and Sexualized Aggression) consistently showed negative relations with the WSFQ data (except between Fixation and the Sadomasochistic subscale).

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the utility of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire (WSFQ) in relation to its use with individuals who have sexually offended against children (SOC). Previous research using the WSFQ with SOC samples have 1) focused primarily on the broad subscales and total score (which provide no information about child-related sexual fantasy themes), 2) failed to account for sexual interest in children within the comparison group/s, and 3) focused on sexual recidivism, rather than specific offending behaviors. The present study aimed to take into account these three points.

Counter to our hypotheses, which were based on the findings of Baumgartner et al. (19), SOCs did not score higher than community males with no sexual interest in children (C-NSIs) on the Intimate and Exploratory subscales. Rather, C-NSIs scored higher than SOCs on the Intimate subscale. As predicted, SOCs and community males with a self-reported sexual interest in children (C-SIs) did not differ on these two subscales. In addition, SOC's scores on the Sadomasochistic subscale were much lower than that reported by C-SIs and C-NSIs, while C-SIs reported using Impersonal sexual fantasies more frequently than both the SOCs and C-NSIs. These findings could suggest some level of dissimulation of sexual fantasies in SOCs compared to community males. However, SOCs have been found to score lower than sadomasochistic and sexually variant men on the Sadomasochistic subscale, as well as the Exploratory and Impersonal subscales (19).

TABLE 4 | Spearman correlations between the WSFQ variables and Thematic Sum Scores, controlling for age.

• •				
WSFQ variables	Fixation	Regression (sexualization)	Criminality	(Sexualized) aggression
Intimate subscale	08	08	03	34*
Sadomasochistic subscale	.14	.04	.26	14
"Sex with someone much younger"	03	11	01	18
"Seducing an innocent"	23	09	21	12
"Incestuous sexual relations"	16	.33*	18	22

*p < .05. WSFQ = Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire. Results in **bold** typeface indicate significant results after Bonferroni correction (α = .0013).

Thus, the community males in the present study may have been particularly sadomasochistic. Indeed, our C-NSI group had much higher scores on the Sadomasochistic subscale than the college males in Plaud and Bigwood's (20) study (M = 12.76 vs. 4.9, respectively). Thus, it is possible that the present study used a biased (self-selected) community sample (i.e., one composed of sadistic and/or sexually variant individuals). However, as social desirability was not accounted for in this study, the dissimulation hypothesis cannot be discounted.

As hypothesized, the SOCs scored higher on the two childrelated WSFQ items ("Seducing an innocent" and "Having sex with someone much younger than yourself") than the C-NSI group, as did the C-SIs. These results provide partial support for Baumgartner et al.'s (19) proposition that these two WSFQ items assess fantasy content related to children.

It should be noted, however, that the difference between SOCs and C-NSIs for "Sex with someone much younger" was moderated by participant age. This reflected a relatively stable level of fantasy use in the SOCs, but an increase in use for the C-NSIs. Thus, at a younger age, SOCs scored higher than C-NSIs, while at an older age, C-NSIs scored higher than SOCs. A similar trend was also observed for C-SIs (see **Figure 1**). This highlights an issue with the ambiguous terminology for this particular item (40). That is, the phrase "someone much younger" can mean different things for younger and older individuals. For younger men, it may be more likely to be interpreted as "children," which could account for why the SOCs (and C-SIs) scored greater than C-NSIs at a younger age. For older men, though, the item may be more likely be interpreted as a much younger adult.

In terms of convergence, correlational analyses (controlling for age) indicated that, within the SOC sample, the two child-related WSFQ items were most strongly associated with sexual fantasies about children under 13 years old (as measured by the Thoughts and Fantasies Questionnaire; TFQ). These findings provide further validation that these two items may tap a sexual interest in child-related characteristics. Other notable correlations were in relation to the Sadomasochistic and Impersonal subscales, both of which showed strong links with sexual fantasies about sadistic acts on the TFQ.

After correcting for multiple correlations, none of the relationships (controlling for age) were significant in relation to the behavioral themes derived from crime scene data. However, focusing on the size of the correlations, the Intimate subscale showed a moderate, negative association with the Sexualized Aggression theme (potentially attesting to discriminant validity). Also, the "Incestuous sexual relations" item showed a moderate positive correlation with the Regression theme. This aligns with Lehmann et al.'s (32) findings showing that the Regression theme was related to the closeness of the victim-offender relationship, indicating proximity to incestuous relations. However, despite the size of the correlations, it should be emphasized that they did not survive the conservative Bonferroni correction we applied. A clear pattern of relationships was observed, however, that suggested some level of dissimulation in the SOCs. That is, the deviant sexual fantasy TFQ themes were, overall, negatively related to deviant behavioral themes (albeit nonsignificantly). Thus, subjective self-report data may be of less value when assessing individuals in forensic contexts. Also, it is important to keep in mind that the SOC's sexual fantasies were assessed many years after their initial offense had been committed, as well as after undergoing treatment for their deviant sexual fantasies and related factors.

Nevertheless, taken together, the current findings offer some implications for research and practice. First, "Seducing an innocent" and "Sex with someone much younger than yourself" from the WSFQ both substantially correlated with sexual fantasies about young children in SOCs and distinguished sexually deviant community males (and SOCs at younger ages) from those with no sexual interest in children. Joyal et al. (40) argued that these two items are ambiguous and so, on their adapted WSFQ, they removed "Seducing an innocent" and amended the latter to "Sex with someone much younger (legally) than me." However, our findings suggest that these two items may reflect characteristics associated with children (i.e., "youth" and "innocence"), as suggested by Baumgartner et al. (19). It could be argued that individuals with a sexual interest in children may find these characteristics particularly appealing and, thus, incorporate them into their sexual fantasies (with fantasies involving children being the extreme manifestation of these characteristics). This is analogous to "dominance"-a characteristic associated (but not synonymous) with rape-that is sexually fantasized about by men who have sexually aggressed (41, 42). Taken together, researchers and clinicians may be able to use the "Seducing an innocent" and "Sex with someone much younger" WSFQ items as proxies for assessing child-related sexual fantasies, or as a means to identify the potential use of such fantasies. Arguably, this may be a more favorable approach, as items that overtly ask about fantasies involving children are likely to provoke faked responses. As our data suggest, however, it should be kept in mind that the ambiguity of the "Sex with someone much younger" item introduces issues for older respondents.

Second, this study highlights an important consideration for future comparative studies on the topic of SOC's sexual fantasies. That is, a sexual interest in children should be taken into account when collecting data from comparison groups. This will allow researchers to either screen out those with an interest in children (providing a purer comparison group) or form two comparison groups based on the presence or absence of a sexual interest in children (as in this study). Failing to account for a sexual interest in children within comparison groups will likely lead to biased interpretations (e.g., about the target and/or comparison group, or the measure that is being tested).

Limitations and Future Research

In addition to potentially having recruited a biased online sample of community males, further limitations should be noted. First, other comparison groups could have been included, such as a group of nonsexual offenders or a sexual offender comparison group (e.g., rapists). If these groups were found to score lower on the child-related items, it would provide further validation of the WSFQ for use with SOC populations. Second, the majority of the SOC sample had received treatment for their offending behavior. Since treatment has been shown to significantly reduce scores on the Exploratory, Impersonal, and Sadomasochistic WSFQ subscales (43), it is possible that similar reductions had also occurred for many of the SOCs in this study. In spite of this possibility, the child-related items still correlated with the prepubescent child theme on the TFQ in SOCs. Third, most SOCs self-reported as being "single," whereas many of the non-offender participants were in relationships. This may have affected the use of normative sexual fantasies, potentially accounting for why SOCs did not score higher than C-NSIs on the Intimate subscale. Fourth, it is important to note that social desirable responding was not accounted for. Thus, given the possible indication of dissimulation in this study, future research should include impression management measures to control for response biases.

Finally, the exploratory findings regarding the relationship between sexual fantasies and offending behavior must be interpreted with some caution. First, due to a lack of sufficient crime scene information, only data from a much smaller sample could be coded. A larger sample with more detailed crime scene information would have been more desirable. Second, the sexual fantasy data in this study were collected (often long) after the offending behavior had occurred. Therefore, it is possible that the SOCs had been fantasizing about behaviors and targets unrelated to their prior offending behavior (either due to treatment-related or age-related changes). Future research should consider using a sample of recently convicted SOCs or those at a pre-treatment stage.

Conclusion

The results of this study suggest that using the WSFQ with SOCs may be more useful than just assessing broad fantasy themes (*via* subscales). That is, two items ("Seducing an innocent" and "Sex with someone much younger") contain characteristics associated with children. As such, they may be useful proxies for assessing child-related sexual fantasies for occasions when asking directly about children is problematic or particularly sensitive. However,

REFERENCES

- Bartels RM, Beech AR. Theories of deviant sexual fantasy. In: Boer DP, Beech AR, Ward T. The Wiley handbook on the theories, assessment, & treatment of sexual offending. Volume I: Theories, Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons (2016). doi: 10.1002/9781118574003.wattso008
- Chivers ML. A brief review and discussion of sex differences in the specificity of sexual arousal. Sex Relation Ther (2005) 20:377–90. doi: 10.1080/14681990500238802
- Leitenberg H, Henning K. Sexual fantasy. *Psychol Bull* (1995) 117:469–96. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.469
- Stinson JD, Becker JV. Assessing sexual deviance: a comparison of physiological, historical, and self-report measures. J Psychiatr Pract (2008) 14:379–88. doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000341892.51124.85
- Gee DG, Ward T, Eccleston L. The function of sexual fantasies for sexual offenders: a preliminary model. *Behav Change* (2003) 20:44–60. doi: 10.1375/ bech.20.1.44.24846
- Ward T, Siegert RJ. Toward a comprehensive theory of child sexual abuse: a theory knitting perspective. *Psychol Crime Law* (2002) 8:319–51. doi: 10.1080/10683160208401823
- Bartels RM, Gannon TA. Understanding the sexual fantasies of sex offenders and their correlates. *Aggress Violent Behav* (2011) 16:551–61. doi: 10.1016/j. avb.2011.08.002

given their vague terminology, issues with interpretation of these items (especially in older individuals) is something that should be carefully considered. The Sadomasochistic subscale also appears to be a valid means for assessing sadistic interests within SOCs. Further work is still needed regarding convergent validity (e.g., with other measures of sexual interest), predictive validity in relation to sexual recidivism, and differential validation (e.g., between SOC subtypes).

ETHICS STATEMENT

This specific study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the "British Psychological Society" guidelines and was approved by the School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee at the University of Lincoln. All participants tested in person provided written informed consent, while those who took part online provided informed consent by clicking the relevant response (i.e., "I Agree").

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RB formulated the research question and designed the study, analyzed the data, and cowrote the article. RL formulated the research question and designed the study, helped with interpretation of the findings, and cowrote the article. DT provided important intellectual content and proofread the article.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00206/full#supplementary-material

- Seto MC. The Motivation-facilitation model of sexual offending. Sex Abuse (2019) 31:3–24. doi: 10.1177/1079063217720919
- Smid WJ, Wever EC. Incentive theory of sexual motivation: a framework for the description of sexual offending behaviour and the role of sexual deviance. In: Boer DP, Beech AR, Ward T. *The Wiley handbook on the theories, assessment, & treatment of sexual offending.* Volume I: Theories, Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons (2016). doi: 10.1002/9781118574003.wattso007
- Pithers WD. Relapse prevention with sexual aggressors: a method for maintaining therapeutic gain and enhancing external supervision. In: Marshall WL, Laws DR, Barbaree HE, editors. *Handbook of sexual assault: Issues theories and treatment of the offender*. New York: Plenum Press (1990). p. 343–61. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4899-0915-2_20
- 11. Ward T, Hudson SM. Sexual offenders' implicit planning: a conceptual model. Sex Abuse (2000) 12:189–202. doi: 10.1023/A:1009534109157
- Klein V, Schmidt AF, Turner D, Briken P. Are sex drive and hypersexuality associated with pedophilic interest and child sexual abuse in a male community sample? *PLoS One* (2015) 10. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129730
- Turner-Moore T, Waterman M. Men presenting with sexual thoughts of children or coercion: flights of fancy or plans for crime? J Sex Med (2017) 14:113–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2016.11.003
- 14. Wilson GD. The secrets of sexual fantasy. London: J.M. Dent & Sons (1978).
- 15. Wilson G. Measurement of sex fantasy. Sex Marital Ther (1988) 3:45–55. doi: 10.1080/02674658808407692

- Sierra JC, Ortega V, Zubeidat I. Confirmatory factor analysis of a Spanish version of the Sex Fantasy Questionnaire: assessing gender differences. J Sex Marital Ther (2006) 32:137–59. doi: 10.1080/00926230500442318
- Cortoni F, Marshall WL. Sex as a coping strategy and its relationship to juvenile sexual history and intimacy in sexual offenders. Sex Abuse (2001) 13:27–43. doi: 10.1023/A:1009562312658
- Renaud CA, Byers ES. Positive and negative sexual cognitions: subjective experience and relationships to sexual adjustment. J Sex Res (2001) 38:252– 62. doi: 10.1080/00224490109552094
- Baumgartner JV, Scalora MJ, Huss MT. Assessment of the Wilson Sex Fantasy Questionnaire among child molesters and nonsexual forensic offenders. Sex Abuse (2002) 14:19–30. doi: 10.1023/A:1013025410090
- Plaud JJ, Bigwood SJ. A multivariate analysis of the sexual fantasy themes of college men. J Sex Marital Ther (1997) 23:221–30. doi: 10.1080/ 00926239708403927
- Gannon T, Terriere R, Leader T. Ward and Siegert's Pathways Model of child sexual offending: a cluster analysis evaluation. *Psychol Crime Law* (2012) 18:129–53. doi: 10.1080/10683160903535917
- Allan M, Grace RC, Rutherford B, Hudson SM. Psychometric assessment of dynamic risk factors for child molesters. *Sex Abuse* (2007) 19:347–67. doi: 10.1177/107906320701900402
- Stevens CD, Tan L, Grace RC. Socially desirable responding and psychometric assessment of dynamic risk in sexual offenders against children. *Psychol Crime Law* (2016) 22:420–34. doi: 10.1080/1068316X.2015.1120868
- Beggs S, Grace RC. Treatment gain for sexual offenders against children predicts reduced recidivism: a comparative validity. *J Consult Clin Psychol* (2011) 79:182–92. doi: doi.org/10.1037/a0022900
- Seifert K, Boulas J, Huss MT, Scalora MJ. Response bias on self-report measures of sexual fantasies among sexual offenders. Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol (2017) 61:269–81. doi: 10.1177/0306624X15593748
- O'Donohue W, Letourneau EJ, Dowling H. Development and preliminary validation of a paraphilic sexual fantasy questionnaire. Sex Abuse (1997) 9:167–78. doi: 10.1007/BF02675062
- Skovran LC, Huss MT, Scalora MJ. Sexual fantasies and sensation seeking among psychopathic sexual offenders. *Psychol Crime Law* (2010) 16:617–29. doi: 10.1080/10683160902998025
- Vanhoeck K, Van Daele E, Gykiere K. Fantasy management in sex offender treatment. Sex Offender Treat (2011) 6. www.sexual-offender-treatment.org/ 94.html.
- Seto MC. Pedophilia and sexual offending against children: theory, assessment, and intervention. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2008). doi: 10.1037/11639.000
- Dombert B, Schmidt AF, Banse R, Briken P, Hoyer J, Neutze J, et al. How common is men's self-reported sexual interest in prepubescent children? *J Sex Res* (2016) 52:214–23. doi: 10.1080/00224499.2015.1020108
- Santtila P, Antfolk J, Räfså A, Hartwig M, Sariola H, Sandnabba NK, et al. Men's sexual interest in children: one-year incidence and correlates in a

population-based sample of Finnish male twins. J Child Sex Abuse (2015) 24:115–34. doi: 10.1080/10538712.2015.997410

- Lehmann RJ, Goodwill AM, Hanson RK, Dahle KP. Crime scene behaviors indicate risk-relevant propensities of child molesters. *Crim Justice Behav* (2014) 41:1008–28. doi: 10.1177/0093854814521807
- Bartels RM, Beech AR, Harkins L, Thornton D. Assessing sexual interest in children using the Go/No-Go Association Test. Sex Abuse (2018) 30:593– 614. doi: 10.1177/1079063216686119
- Gannon TA, O'Connor A. The development of the Interest in Child Molestation Scale. Sex Abuse (2011) 23:474–93. doi: 10.1177/1079063211412390
- Mitchell RC, Galupo MP. Interest in child molestation among a community sample of men sexually attracted to children. J Sex Aggress (2015) 22:224–32. doi: 10.1080/13552600.2015.1056263
- Attard-Johnson J, Bindemann M, Ciardha CÓ. Pupillary response as an agespecific measure of sexual interest. Arch Sex Behav (2016) 45:855–70. doi: 10.1007/s10508-015-0681-3
- 37. Altman DG. Practical statistics for medical research. London: Chapman & Hall (1991).
- Hayes AF. Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: a regression-based approach. New York, NY: The Guilford Press (2013).
- Hayes AF, Montoya AK. A tutorial on testing, visualizing, and probing an interaction involving a multicategorical variable in linear regression analysis. *Commun Methods Meas* (2017) 11:1–30. doi: 10.1080/19312458. 2016.1271116
- Joyal CC, Cossette A, Lapierre V. What exactly is an unusual sexual fantasy? J Sex Med (2015) 12:328–40. doi: 10.1111/jsm.12734
- Moyano N, Sierra JC. Sexual victimisation, sexual cognitions, desire and excitation/inhibition in community Spanish male and female sexual aggressors. J Sex Aggress (2016) 22:36–51. doi: 10.1080/13552600.2014.996614
- Renaud CA, Byers ES. Relationship between sexual violence and positive and negative cognitions of sexual dominance. *Sex Roles* (2005) 53:253–60. doi: 10.1007/s11199-005-5683-5
- Beggs SM, Grace RC. Assessment of dynamic risk factors: an independent validation study of the Violence Risk Scale: Sexual Offender Version. Sex Abuse (2010) 22:234–51. doi: 10.1177/1079063210369014

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bartels, Lehmann and Thornton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Identifying Violent Behavior Using the Oxford Mental Illness and Violence Tool in a Psychiatric Ward of a German Prison Hospital

Vincent Negatsch^{1*}, Alexander Voulgaris², Peter Seidel³, Robert Roehle^{4,5,6} and Annette Opitz-Welke¹

¹ Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health, Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Berlin, Germany, ² Universitätsklinikum Hamburg-Eppendorf, Institute of Sexual Medicine and Forensic Psychiatry, Hamburg, Germany, ³ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Prison Hospital Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴ Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health, Institute of Biometry and Clinical Epidemiology, Berlin, Germany, ⁵ Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health, Coordinating Center for Clinical Studies, Berlin, Germany, ⁶ Berlin Institute of Health (BIH), Berlin, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Nilsson, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Märta Wallinius, Lund University, Sweden Daniel Passow, University Hospital Rostock, Germany

*Correspondence: Vincent Negatsch vincent.negatsch@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 September 2018 Accepted: 08 April 2019 Published: 23 April 2019

Citation:

Negatsch V, Voulgaris A, Seidel P, Roehle R and Opitz-Welke A (2019) Identifying Violent Behavior Using the Oxford Mental Illness and Violence Tool in a Psychiatric Ward of a German Prison Hospital. Front. Psychiatry 10:264. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00264 **Background:** Although there is evidence that individuals who suffer from severe mental disorders are at higher risk for aggressive behavior, only a minority eventually become violent. In 2017, Fazel et al. developed a risk calculator (Oxford Mental Illness and Violence tool, OxMIV) to identify the risk of violent crime in patients with mental disorders. For the first time, we tested the predictive validity of the OxMIV in the department of psychiatry at the prison hospital in Berlin, Germany, and presented findings from our internal validation.

Materials and Methods: We designed a cohort study with 474 patients aged 16–65 years old who met the inclusion criteria of schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorder and classified the patients into two groups: a violent group with 191 patients and a nonviolent group with 283 patients. Violence was defined as the aggressive behavior of a patient with the necessity of special observation. We obtained all the required information retrospectively through patient files, applied the OxMIV tool on each subject, and compared the results of both groups. Sensitivity, specificity, and positive/negative predictive values were determined. We used logistic regression including variable selection and internal validation to identify relevant predictors of aggressive behavior in our cohort.

Results: The OxMIV score was significantly higher in the violent group [median 4.21%; Interquartile range (IQR) 8.51%] compared to the nonviolent group (median 1.77%; IQR 2.01%; p < 0.0001). For the risk of violent behavior, using the 5% cutoff for "increased risk," the sensitivity was 44%, and the specificity was 89%, with a positive predictive value of 72% and a negative predictive value of 70%. Applying logistic regression, four items were statistically significant in predicting violent behavior: previous violent crime (adjusted odds ratio 5.29 [95% CI 3.10–9.05], p < 0.0001), previous drug abuse (1.80 [1.08–3.02], p = 0.025), and previous alcohol abuse (1.89 [1.21–2.95], p = 0.005). The item recent antidepressant treatment (0.28 [0.17–0.47]. p < 0.0001) had a statistically significant risk reduction effect.

Conclusions: In our opinion, the risk assessment tool OxMIV succeeded in predicting violent behavior in imprisoned psychiatric patients. As a result, it may be applicable for identification of patients with special needs in a prison environment and, thus, improving prison safety.

Keywords: violence, prison, forensic psychiatry, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, prediction tool

INTRODUCTION

Violent behavior in individuals with severe mental disorders has been widely reported. Several studies and reviews from the United States (1, 2) and Europe (3–5) can verify this, and especially, two groups of patients (schizophrenia and bipolar disorder) are at higher risk of committing a violent crime compared to the general population (6, 7). This opinion is not agreed upon by all experts in the field, due to the vast majority of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia never committing any act of violence (8).

Analyzing data of more than 24,000 cases of schizophrenia and related disorders, Fazel et al. pointed out that the adjusted odds ratio of adverse outcomes, including violent behavior, was 7.5 in men and 11.1 in women compared to the general population. They concluded that schizophrenia and related disorders are associated with increased rates of violent crime (5). In patients with bipolar disorders, the odds ratio for violent crime was 5 (6). Recent surveys have determined a variety of risk factors for aggressive behavior and violent crime in patients with schizophrenia and bipolar disorders, such as substance use disorder (SUD) (4, 7), young age (9), previous violent crime (10), male gender, and disadvantaged neighborhoods (11). Results of population-based studies suggest that there is an increased risk of violent offending and violent ideation in individuals with severe mental disorders and indicate a higher risk of homicide and violent crime, especially in individuals with schizophrenia (3). On the other hand, there are protective factors regarding violent behavior, including intelligence (12), self-control (13), intimate relationship (14), and social network (15). Modern risk assessment instruments such as the SAPROF (Structured Assessment of Protective Factors for Violence Risk) and the START (Short-Term Assessment of Risk and Treatability) are designed to consider the positive qualities of inmates and focus on resilient factors (16-18). Comparing patients with schizophrenia who showed violent behavior to individuals with the same diagnosis who were not violent, Ekinci and Ekinci reported that depressive symptoms were predictors for nonviolent behavior (19).

Regarding the results of epidemiological research on the increased incidence of violent behavior in patients with mental disorders, understanding the individual and situational risk factors for aggressive behavior seems to be crucial for the improvement of general safety and for the prevention of further stigmatization (9). To reduce and manage the risk of future violent behavior, one of the main approaches is the use of risk assessment tools. Over 200 different tools are currently available (20), with a wide range in applicability. Studies from the United Kingdom have evaluated that over 60% of general psychiatric patients and 80% of forensic psychiatric patients are routinely

assessed for violent risk (21, 22). Despite the broad clinical application, there are just a few risk assessment instruments that have been externally validated (23).

In 2018, Ramesh et al. conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis on the use of risk assessment tools for predicting violent behavior in a forensic psychiatric hospital. Out of nine violence risk assessment instruments, only two (the Bröset Violence Checklist and the Dynamic Appraisal of Dynamic Aggression) demonstrated high accuracy for the prediction of violence (24). The most common tool, the HCR-20 (Historical, Clinical, Risk Management-20), had a moderate accuracy, while the PCL-R (Psychopathy Checklist-Revised) and the VRAG (Violence Risk Appraisal Guide) scored poorly on accuracy regarding the prediction of inpatient violent behavior (24). Further investigations into this area of research point to similar, debatable results: risk assessment tools have a range of accuracy (25) and a "large variation of the item content" (26) and are not designed for specific populations (24). As a result, the duration of stay in forensic institutions, often depending on the specific "risk" posed by the individual, may be longer than necessary (27), with social (28) and economic (29) consequences (25).

In 2017, based on data from 75,158 individuals, Fazel et al. developed a simple, web-based risk calculator (Oxford Mental Illness and Violence tool, OxMIV) to identify the future risk of violent behavior in patients with schizophrenia-spectrum and bipolar disorders. They developed a 16-item model for patient stratification into "low-risk" or "increased-risk" categories to identify the risk of violent offending within 12 months. With a sensitivity of 62% and a specificity of 94% in external validation, these results are the best in this field so far (10).

Although the total numbers of psychiatric beds has been declining in Europe since 1990, the number of institutionalized forensic psychiatric patients is increasing in Germany (30) and Europe (31). In addition, in six South American countries, the prison population is increasing, while the number of psychiatric beds has been decreasing since 1990 (32). These findings from Mundt et al. were consistent with the assumption of an association between the numbers of psychiatric beds and the sizes of prison populations as hypothesized by Sharples Penrose in 1939 (32). Regarding this development, there could be a connection to the increased tendency for violent behavior in patients with severe mental disorders compared to the general population (5).

THE AIM OF THE STUDY

The prediction of violent behavior through risk assessment tools is increasingly important for the treatment of mentally disordered patients and for the prevention of future offenses in general psychiatric and especially in forensic psychiatric hospitals. With this in mind, the aim of our study was to test the predictive validity of the risk assessment tool OxMIV for the first time in patients with schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorders in the department of psychiatry at the Berlin prison hospital in Germany to improve prison safety by identifying patients with special needs in a prison environment.

For this study, we have considered two hypotheses. First, we assumed that violent patients have a significantly higher score in the prediction tool compared to nonviolent patients (7, 33, 34). Second, we hypothesized that a previous violent crime and a SUD have a statistically significant effect regarding the violent behavior of psychiatric patients (10, 35, 36).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Settings

For this retrospective study, a sample of 841 treatment episodes in the Berlin prison hospital between 1982 and 2017 was identified. Each treatment episode was defined as an inpatient stay by a patient in the department of psychiatry of the prison hospital in Berlin. For all identified treatment episodes, the patients were diagnosed with a schizophrenia-spectrum or a bipolar disorder (including schizophrenia, schizotypal, delusional, and other psychotic disorders) as well as previous comorbid depression in schizophrenia-spectrum disorder. The cases were pseudonymized with a personal number to protect private data. There were no connections between the names and the personal numbers.

In total, 841 treatment episodes where the patient had a schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorder diagnosed could be assigned to 511 unique patients (see Figure 1). For patients with more than one inpatient stay, only the first stay in the prison hospital was included. Of these 511 patients, 36 patients had to be excluded from the study due to age (younger than 16 or older than 65) or death during the treatment. To ensure comparability within the violent group, one patient had to be excluded, because there was no necessity for special observation. Thus, 474 patients with a treatment episode at the Berlin prison hospital were included in our study (see Figure 1). In the last step, we formed two groups, a nonviolent group and a violent group; 191 patients who, for a certain period of time, had to stay under special observation due to violent behavior were included in the violent group, and 283 patients who demonstrated no violent behavior during their stay were assigned to the nonviolent group (see Figure 1).



Procedures

The OxMIV is a prediction tool to identify those patients who are at low risk of violent offending. On the basis of 75,158 individuals with a schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorder, the tool consists of 16 items, such as previous violent crime, drug and alcohol abuse, and socioeconomic and sociodemographic information (10). The final score classifies individuals into either a low-risk (<5%) or an increased-risk (>5%) group with a set point of 20%.

The required information on the 16 items was obtained by looking through the patient files for the whole treatment period. It is important to point out that we received the necessary information on the items previous drug abuse, previous alcohol abuse, previous self-harm, education level, parental violent crime, parental drug or alcohol use, sibling violent crime, recent treatment, personal income, and recent benefits through the admission interview with the medical doctor in the prison ward. These admission interviews take place within the first few days of imprisonment. For the item previous violent crime, we used official information from the Federal Central Criminal Register (Bundeszentralregister), which includes past convictions and is also available within the first days of imprisonment. In terms of the items parental violent crime, parental drug or alcohol use, and sibling violent crime, not all information was available for every patient. For these cases, we had to select "unknown." We defined schizophreniaspectrum disorder, bipolar disorder, and comorbid depression using the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), Ninth Version (ICD-9) (295, 297-299 excl. 299A, 296 excl. 296.2; 296 excl. 296D, 296.2, 300.4; 296D, 300E, 311 1979-1998) or Tenth Version (ICD-10) (F 20-29, F 30-31; F32-F34.1 1998-2018). In addition, comorbid alcohol and drug abuse disorders were based on the ICD-9 or Tenth Version (ICD-10) (F 11-19; 1998-2018).

All of the patients were screened *via* OxMIV. If the score was above the set point of 20%, we calculated the result with the formula by Fazel et al. (9) using Excel version 14.7.7. If one or more variables were unknown, OxMIV calculated a range of risk levels. To generate a score, the highest and lowest risk levels were calculated to determine the mean.

Outcomes and Definition

The primary outcome was the score of the risk assessment tool OxMIV. We defined violent behavior as any physical violence (kicking, biting, hitting, scratching) or verbal violence (psychological, emotional, threatening, insulting) against another person or a group, as well as the inventory (destruction, arson of detention rooms) that led to the necessity for special observation of the patient. This definition is based on the definition of violence from the World Health Organization (WHO) (37) and considerations from Wolff et al. (38). The WHO defines violence as "the intentional use of physical force or power, threatened or actual, against oneself, another person, or against a group or community, that either results in, or has a high likelihood of resulting in injury, death, psychological harm, maldevelopment, or deprivation" (37).

Statistical Analysis

Continuous parameters are shown as mean (SD) and categorical parameters as absolute frequencies and percentages. Continuous variables were compared between the groups using the t-test. Before that, the normality assumption was tested with the Shapiro–Wilk test. Variance homogeneity was tested with the Levene test. In case of violated assumptions, the Mann–Whitney U test was used. Categorical parameters were compared using the chi-square test. In 16 (6%) patient cases with an OxMIV score above the cutoff limit of 20%, we had to calculate each score using the given formula. This concerned 13 cases in the violent group and three cases in the nonviolent group. Using the 5% cutoff, we calculated the sensitivity, specificity, as well as the positive and negative predictive value. Further, the area under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was determined.

Due to the different setting and outcome in the original OxMIV study, we investigated a logistic regression model including 14 of the 16 items from the OxMIV. Two variables were excluded since all participants were male and currently in inpatient treatment. The items parental violent crime, parental drug or alcohol use, and sibling violent crime had missing values, and thus, we applied multiple imputation (m = 20 imputations), including all of the other parameters and the outcome in the imputation model. Further, we used variable selection in each imputed data set using backward selection with likelihood ratio tests to identify a sparse model for the prediction of violent behavior in our cohort. A variable remained in the model if it was selected in at least 80% of the imputations. The 14-item model and the selected model were internally validated using the Val-MI approach by Wahl et al. (39) with 20 imputations and 50 bootstrap samples.

A p value smaller than 0.05 was considered significant, although all results have to be interpreted as exploratory due to the nature of the study. All analyses and calculations were performed with the statistical program SPSS, version 25.0.0, and R, version 3.5.0 (40).

RESULTS

Descriptive Characteristics

Of 474 patients with schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorder, 283 (60%) were nonviolent, and 191 (40%) were violent with the need for special observation during their stay in the psychiatric ward (see **Table 1**). The mean age was 32 [standard deviation (SD) = 9]. Regarding the diagnosis, 438 (92%) patients had schizophrenia, 25 (5%) had a bipolar disorder, and 11 (3%) had a schizophrenia-spectrum disorder with a comorbid depression. Out of 474 patients, 104 (22%) committed a previous violent crime, and 313 patients (66%) had a drug abuse disorder, and 220 (46%) had an alcohol abuse disorder. These two disorders were the common comorbid diagnosis. Concerning the topic of medication, overall, 436 (92%) of 474 patients had a recent antipsychotic treatment, and 143 (30%) had a recent dependence treatment. Overall, 147 (31%) had a recent antidepressant treatment.
TABLE 1 Descriptive data from the nonviolent and violent groups in the Berlin prison hospital divided into risk factors.

	Nonviolent	Violent	Total	p value
	n = 283	n = 191	n = 474	
Age	33 [10]	31 [9]	32 [8]	0.510
Male sex	283 (100%)	191 (100%)	474 (100%)	-
Previous violent crime	28 (10%)	76 (40%)	104 (22%)	< 0.001
Previous drug abuse	167 (59%)	146 (76%)	313 (66%)	< 0.001
Previous alcohol abuse	109 (39%)	111 (58%)	220 (46%)	< 0.001
Previous self-harm	34 (12%)	21 (11%)	55 (12%)	0.734
Education level				0.888
Secondary	240 (85%)	165 (86%)	405 (85%)	
Upper secondary	26 (9%)	16 (8%)	42 (9%)	
Post secondary	17 (6%)	10 (5%)	27 (6%)	
Parental drug or alcohol use	19 (7%)	9 (5%)	28 (6%)	0.600
Parental violent crime	6 (2%)	15 (8%)	21 (4%)	0.001
Sibling violent crime	1 (0.4%)	3 (2%)	4 (1%)	0.110
Recent treatment				
Antipsychotic	259 (92%)	177 (93%)	436 (92%)	0.651
Antidepressant	116 (41%)	31 (16%)	147 (31%)	< 0.001
Dependence	78 (28%)	65 (34%)	143 (30%)	0.132
Personal income				0.088
 First and second deciles 	179 63%)	173 (91%)	352 (74%)	
 Third and fourth deciles 	91 (32%)	70 (37%)	161 (34%)	
 Fifth to tenth deciles 	13 (5%)	4 (2%)	17 (4%)	
Inpatient	283 (100%)	191 (100%)	474 (100%)	-
Benefit recipient	62 (22%)	54 (28%)	116 (24%)	0.114
Diagnosis			. ,	0.030
 Schizophrenia-spectrum disorder 	262 (92%)	176 (92%)	438 (92%)	
Bipolar disorder	11 (4%)	14 (7%)	25 (5%)	
Comorbid depression	10 (4%)	1 (1%)	11 (2%)	

Data are shown as n (%) and mean [SD].

There were statistically significant differences between the two subgroups (violent/nonviolent) regarding the items diagnosis (p = 0.030), previous violent crime (p < 0.0001), drug abuse disorder (p < 0.0001), alcohol abuse disorder (p < 0.0001), parental violent crime (p = 0.001), and recent antidepressant treatment (p < 0.0001; see **Table 1**).

Comparison Between Risk Levels in OxMIV Score

The results of the OxMIV score were significantly higher in the violent group compared to the nonviolent group (p < 0.001). The risk levels were divided into a low-risk and increased-risk group, with a defined cutoff at 5%. In the violent group, the median was 4.21%, and the IQR was 8.51%. In the nonviolent group, the median was 1.77%, and the IQR was 2.01%, as seen in Figure 2. Out of 474 patients, 358 (76%) patients were classified as low risk, and 116 (24%) patients were at increased risk. In the nonviolent group, 251 of 283 (89%) were categorized as low risk compared to 107 of 191 (56%) in the violent group. Regarding increased risk, 84 of 116 (72%) of the violent group compared to 32 of 116 (28%) in the nonviolent group had an OxMIV score >5% (p < 0.0001; see Table 2). For a 5% cutoff for an increased risk for violent behavior, the sensitivity was 44%, and the specificity was 89%, with a positive predictive value of 72% and a negative predictive value of 70%, as seen in Table 2. Through the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC curve), we calculated an area under the curve (AUC) value of 0.72 (see Figure 3).

Binomial Logistic Regression

In the 14-item model, the strongest significant predictors of violent behavior during the stay were previous violent crime (adjusted odds ratio 5.29 [95% CI 3.10–9.05], p < 0.0001), previous drug abuse (1.80 [1.08–3.02], p = 0.025), and previous alcohol abuse (1.89 [1.21–2.95], p = 0.005). The strongest predictor against violent behavior was recent antidepressant treatment (0.28 [0.17–0.47], p < 0.0001; see **Table 3**). The optimism-corrected AUC (0.75), Brier score (0.20), and pseudo-R² (0.18) indicated fair performance, while the calibration intercept (0.35) and slope (0.82) showed poor performance. The Hosmer–Lemeshow test was nonsignificant in all 20 imputed data sets for the 14-item model.

After variable selection, previous violent crime (adjusted odds ratio 5.08 [95% CI 3.02–8.55], p < 0.0001), previous drug abuse (2.09 [1.30–3.37], p = 0.002), previous alcohol abuse (1.76 [1.15–2.70], p = 0.009), parental violent crime (2.04 [1.00–4.19], p = 0.051), and recent antidepressant treatment (0.28 [95% CI 0.17–0.46], p < 0.0001) remained in the model (see **Table 4**). The adjusted odds were almost unchanged, indicating a stable predictive ability independent of the other considered variables in the 14-item model. The optimism-corrected AUC (0.76), Brier score (0.19), and pseudo-R² (0.20) were slightly improved, still indicating fair performance, while calibration (intercept = 0.06, slope = 0.96) was greatly improved, showing good calibration of the model. The Hosmer–Lemeshow test was nonsignificant in all 20 imputed data sets for the selected model. The pseudo-R² was 0.203.



TABLE 2 | Two-by-two table using the OxMIV score and the 5% cutoff to derive sensitivity, specificity, positive prediction value, and negative prediction value to identify "increased-risk" patients for violent behavior during their stay.

		Violent behav	ior during stay	/
		Yes	No	Total
OxMIV score >5%	Yes	84	32	116
	No	107	251	358
	Total	191	283	474

OxMIV, Oxford Mental Illness and Violence tool.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to test the predictive validity of the risk assessment instrument OxMIV in patients with a schizophrenia-spectrum or bipolar disorder in a German prison hospital. We analyzed 474 patient files from the data bank of the Berlin prison hospital and divided these into two groups: a violent and a nonviolent group. We (retrospectively) performed a risk assessment in all 474 patients using the prediction tool OxMIV, which is a 16-item model including criminal and personal background information, as well as sociodemographic and clinical risk factors. Out of 474 patients, 191 demonstrated violent behavior during their stay in comparison to 283 nonviolent patients. As hypothesized, patients who had demonstrated violent behavior had a significantly higher OxMIV score compared to the nonviolent group, with a fair performance in internal validation.

As assumed, the items previous violent crime, previous drug abuse, and previous alcohol abuse had a significant impact on the occurrence of violent behavior during inpatient treatment. This is in line with previous results in this field (3–5, 9, 10, 33, 41) and highlights further the strong interactions between severe mental disorders and substance abuse. In our results, the item recent antidepressant treatment had a risk reduction effect on violent behavior. This is in line with the findings of Fazel et al., who described a positive effect of antipsychotic medication and mood stabilizers on violent behavior and the occurrence of violent crime in over 82,000 patients with mental disorders (42, 43).

Using a logistical regression model after variable selection led to the identification of five items that demonstrated a significant effect on the prediction of violent behavior in our cohort. Thus, it may be discussed whether the risk assessment tool could be reduced to a five-item model consisting of: previous violent crime, previous drug abuse, previous alcohol abuse, parental violent crime, and recent antidepressant treatment. In light of the good performance in internal validation of the reduced five-item model, compared to the fair performance of the 16-item model, these findings lead to the assumption that the risk assessment tool OxMIV could be adjusted for male patients in a forensic psychiatric prison ward. However, to clarify these questions, further studies are needed.

There are certain differences when comparing our results to the results of the OxMIV study by Fazel et al. (10). They found three strong predictors of violent behavior/offending that (in part) differed from our results: previous violent crime, male gender, and age (10). Clearly, it was not possible for us to consider the item "gender" because of our study population, which consisted solely of male patients. Regarding the age variable, two studies on risk factors for prison violence found the item "older age" to be a protective factor (9, 10). In terms of the item "age," we did not find this to be a significant protective factor for violent behavior in our study. In our opinion, the results of this study might have several implications for the treatment of patients



TABLE 3 Association between risk factors and violent behavior from logistic regression after multiple imputation.

	Coefficient	Standard error	p value	Adjusted odds ratio	95%	CI
Age	-0.02	0.01	0.171	0.98	0.96	1.00
Previous violent crime	1.66	0.27	< 0.0001	5.29	3.10	9.05
Previous drug abuse	0.59	0.26	0.025	1.80	1.08	3.02
Previous alcohol abuse	0.63	0.23	0.005	1.89	1.21	2.95
Previous self-harm	-0.53	0.37	0.151	0.59	0.28	1.21
Education level						
- Lower secondary	1 (reference)					
- Upper secondary	0.32	0.42	0.444	1.38	0.60	3.17
- Postsecondary	0.16	0.48	0.737	1.18	0.46	3.01
Parental drug or alcohol use	-0.29	0.45	0.513	0.75	0.31	1.80
Parental violent crime	0.71	0.40	0.076	2.04	0.93	4.50
Sibling violent crime	-0.01	1.01	0.990	0.99	0.13	7.34
Recent antipsychotic treatment	0.07	0.42	0.861	1.08	0.48	2.44
Recent antidepressant treatment	-1.26	0.26	< 0.0001	0.28	0.17	0.47
Recent dependence treatment	0.05	0.24	0.831	1.05	0.66	1.69
Benefit recipient	0.31	0.26	0.233	1.37	0.82	2.29
Personal income	-0.18	0.14	0.203	0.84	0.63	1.10
Constant	-0.36	0.74	0.628	_	_	_

in the forensic psychiatric ward. Due to the uncomplicated use of this risk assessment tool, not only medical doctors are able to categorize patients into low-risk and increased-risk groups, but also other clinical staff, including psychologists and trained nursing staff. In line with our findings, for the specific prison setting, it may be sufficient to focus on the five items that demonstrated a significant effect on predicting violence (see above), thus increasing practicability even further. It is known that mental health professionals are at a greater risk to be victims of violent offenses (44, 45). Analyzing a 12-month period of time,

	Coefficient	Standard error	p value	Adjusted odds ratio	95%	CI
Previous violent crime	1.63	0.27	<0.0001	5.08	3.02	8.55
Previous drug abuse	0.74	0.24	0.002	2.09	1.30	3.37
Previous alcohol abuse	0.57	0.22	0.009	1.76	1.15	2.70
Parental violent crime	0.71	0.36	0.051	2.04	1.00	4.19
Recent antidepressant treatment	-1.27	0.25	< 0.0001	0.28	0.17	0.46
Constant	-1.31	0.24	<0.0001	0.27	0.17	0.43

TABLE 4 Association between risk factors and violent behavior from logistic regression after multiple imputation and variable selection.

Foster et al. indicated a 1-in-10 chance per year to be attacked in a psychiatric hospital in the United Kingdom (46). Therefore, it is indispensable to have specific tools and skills to handle and prevent violent behavior (47). However, it is equally important to mention that this risk assessment tool is primarily intended as an adjunct for clinical decision-making and not as an isolated diagnostic device.

To our knowledge, the positive prediction value of 72% is the highest value in risk assessments so far. A 2012 systematic review on the nine most commonly used risk assessment tools in forensic wards reported a median positive prediction value of 41% (IQR: 27-60%) (25). As a consequence, nearly two-thirds of the patients in our cohort who demonstrated violent behavior by passing the 5% cutoff score were screened as increased risk by the OxMIV. Regarding the results from the original OxMIV study by Fazel et al., the positive prediction score was 11%, and the negative prediction score was 99% (10). Thus, nearly all of the patients from the general psychiatric service who had a score under the 5% cutoff did not commit a violence offense in the following 12 months. As a reason, the clinical implication of the original OxMIV was to identify low violence risk (10). Due to the specific nature of our patients (all male, mean age of 32), with a higher baseline risk (overall, 22% previous violent crime, 66% drug abuse, 46% alcohol abuse), we think that these aspects had a major influence on the results regarding the positive predictive value. Although we had a very specific cohort, our results suggested that the OxMIV may be used to identify violent behavior in high-risk patients of forensic psychiatric wards as well. As a consequence, the security in forensic wards for fellow inpatients and especially for staff members may be generally increased, while in addition, more specific treatment options regarding possibly aggressive patients could be implemented (e.g. group size, staffing ratio).

The reduction of future violent offenses by psychiatric patients after discharge may be possible through early identification of risk scenarios and specific preventive measures such as psychotherapeutic and psychopharmacological interventions. While static items of the OxMIV (parental violent crime, previous violent crime, gender, age) are not adjustable, our results suggest that targeting the changeable items of this tool by working on current and future treatment options with these patients (e.g. antidepressants, CBT, motivational interviewing for SUD) may have a positive influence on the prevention of violent behavior. Due to the known risk of violent offenses after discharging patients with severe mental disorders (6, 10), the prediction and especially the treatment of violent behavior in prison and in forensic wards is beneficial not only for the patients but also for society as a whole (47, 48).

A major limitation of this study is that only male patients were included due to our specific setting. Despite its free and easy use, there are also limitations of the prediction score OxMIV. On the one hand, it should be discussed that using the OxMIV tool for active risk management in a clinical prison hospital setting may be insufficient. The 16 items are all of a retrospective nature and not specifically designed for mapping an individual treatment process. Furthermore, the items age, previous violent crime, and male sex had a disproportionate effect on the total score. A patient (always) showed an increased risk (5.3-9.9%) if he was between 20 and 35 years old and male and had a history of previous violent crimes. The other prediction variables, in comparison, did not have the same power. On the other hand, as mentioned above, the items on the recent treatment of the patient do point to possibilities regarding risk management without the option to actively track the change in risk while treating the patient, due to missing specific clinical items. Another limitation of our study was the retrospective design, which may have led to various biases, such as recall bias or the present state effect (49). A further limitation is the fact that we did not check for interrater reliability as well as multicollinearity between the items. In terms of multicollinearity, we accepted the disturbance between the items as well as a wider range in the confidence interval and added a variable selection process to reduce the number of parameters for our setting. Still, multicollinearity might be a problem, but in order to yield a predictive model, we consider this problem as minor. Another limitation is that we conducted our study in just one psychiatric department in one prison hospital in one country. Despite the fact that inpatient forensic psychiatric health care differs thoroughly in high-income countries such as Germany, Great Britain, and the Netherlands, further research is necessary (48).

In summary, to the best of our knowledge, for the first time in Germany, we tested the predictive validity of the risk assessment tool OxMIV in patients with schizophreniaspectrum or bipolar disorders in a prison hospital. Even if there are different kinds of studies in Germany that are dealing with specific overviews of mental disorders in the criminal justice system (50), specific treatment in forensic psychiatric wards (51), and suicide rates (52), there is less research on violent behavior and its assessment in patients in prison settings. Despite the significant results of this study, further studies in different countries are needed.

ETHICS STATEMENT

According to current legal regulation, the study was approved by the local ethics committee at Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VN and AO designed the study. VN, PS, and AO collected the data. VN, AV, RR, and AO analyzed and interpreted the data. VN, AV, and AO wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. VN, PS, and AO had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. All authors have contributed to, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Blitz CL, Wolff N, Shi J. Physical victimization in prison: the role of mental illness. Int J Law Psychiatry (2008) 31(5):385–93. doi: 10.1016/j. ijlp.2008.08.005
- Steiner B, Ellison JM, Butler HD, Cain CM. The impact of inmate and prison characteristics on prisoner victimization. *Trauma Violence Abuse* (2017) 18(1):17–36. doi: 10.1177/1524838015588503
- Fazel S, Grann M, Carlstrom E, Lichtenstein P, Langstrom N. Risk factors for violent crime in schizophrenia: a national cohort study of 13,806 patients. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2009) 70(3):362–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04274
- Fazel S, Lichtenstein P, Grann M, Goodwin GM, Langstrom N. Bipolar disorder and violent crime: new evidence from population-based longitudinal studies and systematic review. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2010) 67(9):931–8. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.97
- Fazel S, Wolf A, Palm C, Lichtenstein P. Violent crime, suicide, and premature mortality in patients with schizophrenia and related disorders: a 38-year total population study in Sweden. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2014) 1(1):44–54. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)70223-8
- Webb RT, Lichtenstein P, Larsson H, Geddes JR, Fazel S. Suicide, hospitalpresenting suicide attempts, and criminality in bipolar disorder: examination of risk for multiple adverse outcomes. *J Clin Psychiatry* (2014) 75(8):e809– 16. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08899
- Fazel S, Gulati G, Linsell L, Geddes JR, Grann M. Schizophrenia and violence: systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(8):e1000120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000120
- Corrigan PW, Watson AC. Findings from the national comorbidity survey on the frequency of violent behavior in individuals with psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatry Res* (2005) 136(2–3):153–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2005.06.005
- Fazel S, Hayes AJ, Bartellas K, Clerici M, Trestman R. Mental health of prisoners: prevalence, adverse outcomes, and interventions. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2016) 3(9):871–81. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30142-0
- Fazel S, Wolf A, Larsson H, Lichtenstein P, Mallett S, Fanshawe TR. Identification of low risk of violent crime in severe mental illness with a clinical prediction tool (Oxford Mental Illness and Violence tool [OxMIV]): a derivation and validation study. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2017) 4(6):461–8. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30109-8
- Roche MW, Boyle DJ, Cheng CC, Del Pozzo J, Cherneski L, Pascarella J, et al. Prevalence and risk of violent ideation and behavior in serious mental illnesses: an analysis of 63,572 patient records. *J Interpers Violence* (2018) 0(0):1–21. doi: 10.1177/0886260518759976
- Kandel E, Mednick SA, Kirkegaard-Sorensen L, Hutchings B, Knop J, Rosenberg R, et al. IQ as a protective factor for subjects at high risk for antisocial behavior. J Consult Clin Psychol (1988) 56(2):224–6. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.56.2.224

FUNDING

The authors declare that, except for income received from their primary employer, no financial support or compensation has been received from any individual or corporate entity over the past 12 months for research or professional service related to this study and there are no personal financial holdings that could be perceived as constituting a potential conflict of interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

- Tangney JP, Baumeister RF, Boone AL. High self-control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. J Pers (2004) 72(2):271–324. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3506.2004.00263.x
- Klassen D, O'Connor WA. Assessing the risk of violence in released mental patients: a cross-validation study. *Psychol Assess: J Consult Clin Psychol* (1989) 1(2):75–81. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.1.2.75
- Turbin MS, Jessor R, Costa FM, Dong Q, Zhang H, Wang C. Protective and risk factors in health-enhancing behavior among adolescents in China and the United States: does social context matter? *Health Psychol* (2006) 25(4):445–54. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.25.4.445
- de Vries Robbé M, de Vogel V, de Spa E. Protective factors for violence risk in forensic psychiatric patients: a retrospective validation study of the SAPROF. Int J Forens Ment Health (2011) 10(3):178–86. doi: 10.1080/14999013.2011.600232
- Robbé MDV, Vogel VD, Douglas KS. Risk factors and protective factors: a two-sided dynamic approach to violence risk assessment. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol (2013) 24(4):440–57. doi: 10.1080/14789949.2013.818162
- de Ruiter C, Nicholls TL. Protective factors in forensic mental health: a new frontier. Int J Forens Ment Health (2011) 10(3):160–70. doi: 10.1080/14999013 .2011.600602
- Ekinci O, Ekinci A. Association between insight, cognitive insight, positive symptoms and violence in patients with schizophrenia. Nord J Psychiatry (2013) 67(2):116–23. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2012.687767
- Douglas T, Pugh J, Singh I, Savulescu J, Fazel S. Risk assessment tools in criminal justice and forensic psychiatry: the need for better data. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 42:134–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.12.009
- Higgins N, Watts D, Bindman J, Slade M, Thornicroft G. Assessing violence risk in general adult psychiatry. *Psychiatr Bull* (2005) 29(4):131–3. doi: 10.1192/pb.29.4.131
- Khiroya R, Weaver T, Maden T. Use and perceived utility of structured violence risk assessments in English medium secure forensic units. *Psychiatr Bull* (2009) 33(4):129–32. doi: 10.1192/pb.bp.108.019810
- Siontis GCM, Tzoulaki I, Castaldi PJ, Ioannidis JPA. External validation of new risk prediction models is infrequent and reveals worse prognostic discrimination. J Clin Epidemiol (2015) 68(1):25–34. doi: 10.1016/j. jclinepi.2014.09.007
- 24. Ramesh T, Igoumenou A, Vazquez Montes M, Fazel S. Use of risk assessment instruments to predict violence in forensic psychiatric hospitals: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Psychiatry* (2018) 52:47–53. doi: 10.1016/j. eurpsy.2018.02.007
- Fazel S, Singh JP, Doll H, Grann M. Use of risk assessment instruments to predict violence and antisocial behaviour in 73 samples involving 24 827 people: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* (2012) 345:e4692. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e4692
- 26. Singh JP, Serper M, Reinharth J, Fazel S. Structured assessment of violence risk in schizophrenia and other psychiatric disorders: a systematic review

of the validity, reliability, and item content of 10 available instruments. *Schizophr Bull* (2011) 37(5):899–912. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr093

- Forrester A, Till A, Simpson A, Shaw J. Mental illness and the provision of mental health services in prisons. *Br Med Bull* (2018) 127(1):101–9. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ ldy027
- Szmukler G. Risk assessment: 'numbers' and 'values'. *Psychiatr Bull* (2003) 27(6):205–7. doi: 10.1192/pb.27.6.205
- Tyrer P, Duggan C, Cooper S, Crawford M, Seivewright H, Rutter D, et al. The successes and failures of the DSPD experiment: the assessment and management of severe personality disorder. *Med Sci Law* (2010) 50(2):95–9. doi: 10.1258/msl.2010.010001
- 30. Statistisches Bundesamt (2015). Strafvollzugsstatistik 2013/2014: im psychiatrischen Krankenhaus und in der Entziehungsanstalt aufgrund strafrichterlicher Anordnung Untergebrachte (Maßregelvollzug): Available online at: https://www.destatis. de/DE/Themen/Staat/Justiz-Rechtspflege/Publikationen/Downloads-Strafverfolgung-Strafvollzug/krankenhaus-massregelvollzug-5243202149004.html
- Chow WS, Priebe S. How has the extent of institutional mental healthcare changed in Western Europe? Analysis of data since 1990. *BMJ Open* (2016) 6(4):e010188. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010188
- Mundt AP, Chow WS, Arduino M, Barrionuevo H, Fritsch R, Girala N, et al. Psychiatric hospital beds and prison populations in South America since 1990: does the Penrose hypothesis apply? *JAMA Psychiatry* (2015) 72(2):112–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2433
- Singh JP, Grann M, Lichtenstein P, Långström N, Fazel S. A novel approach to determining violence risk in schizophrenia: developing a stepped strategy in 13,806 discharged patients. *Plos One* (2012) 7(2):e31727–e. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0031727
- Vevera J, Hubbard A, Vesely A, Papezova H. Violent behaviour in schizophrenia. Retrospective study of four independent samples from Prague, 1949 to 2000. Br J Psychiatry (2005) 187:426–30. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.5.426
- Räsänen P, Tiihonen J, Isohanni M, Rantakallio P, Lehtonen J, Moring J. Schizophrenia, alcohol abuse, and violent behavior: a 26-year followup study of an unselected birth cohort. *Schizophr Bull* (1998) 24(3):437–41. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033338
- Soyka M. Substance misuse, psychiatric disorder and violent and disturbed behaviour. Br J Psychiatry (2000) 176:345–50. doi: 10.1192/bjp.176.4.345
- Krug EG, Mercy JA, Dahlberg LL, Zwi AB. The world report on violence and health. *Lancet* (2002) 360(9339):1083–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11133-0
- Wolff N, Jing S, Bachman R. Measuring victimization inside prisons: questioning the questions. J Interpers Violence (2008) 23(10):1343–62. doi: 10.1177/0886260508314301
- Wahl S, Boulesteix AL, Zierer A, Thorand B, van de Wiel MA. Assessment of predictive performance in incomplete data by combining internal validation and multiple imputation. *BMC Med Res Methodol* (2016) 16(1):144. doi: 10.1186/s12874-016-0239-7
- Team RC (2018). "R: A language and environment for statistical computing." *R Foundation for Statistical Computing*, Vienna: R Core Team. https:// www.R-project.org
- 41. Simpson AI, Grimbos T, Chan C, Penney SR. Developmental typologies of serious mental illness and violence: evidence from a forensic psychiatric

setting. Aust N Z J Psychiatry (2015) 49(11):1048-59. doi: 10.1177/ 0004867415587745

- Fazel S, Zetterqvist J, Larsson H, Langstrom N, Lichtenstein P. Antipsychotics, mood stabilisers, and risk of violent crime. *Lancet* (2014) 348(9949):1206– 14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60379-2
- Chang Z, Lichtenstein P, Långström N, Larsson H, Fazel S. Association between prescription of major psychotropic medications and violent reoffending after prison release. *JAMA* (2016) 316(17):1798–807. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.15380
- 44. Dickens G, Piccirillo M, Alderman N. Causes and management of aggression and violence in a forensic mental health service: perspectives of nurses and patients. *Int J Ment Health Nurs* (2013) 22(6):532–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012.00888.x
- Wildgoose J, Briscoe M, Lloyd K. Psychological and emotional problems in staff following assaults by patients. *Psychiatr Bull* (2003) 27(8):295–7. doi: 10.1192/pb.27.8.295
- Foster C, Bowers L, Nijman H. Aggressive behaviour on acute psychiatric wards: prevalence, severity and management. *J Adv Nurs* (2007) 58(2):140–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04169.x
- Shiina A. Risk assessment and management of violence in patients with mental disorders. J Forensic Leg Investig Sci (2015) (1):002. doi: 10.24966/ FLIS-733X/100002
- Edworthy R, Sampson S, Vollm B. Inpatient forensic-psychiatric care: legal frameworks and service provision in three European countries. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2016) 47:18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.027
- Blome C, Augustin M. Measuring change in quality of life: bias in prospective and retrospective evaluation. *Value Health* (2015) 18(1):110–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2014.10.007
- Konrad N, Lau S. Dealing with the mentally ill in the criminal justice system in Germany. Int J Law Psychiatry (2010) 33(4):236–40. doi: 10.1016/j. ijlp.2010.06.005
- Müller-Isberner R, Freese R, Jöckel D, Gonzalez Cabeza S. Forensic psychiatric assessment and treatment in Germany. Legal framework, recent developments, and current practice. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2000) 23(5–6):467– 80. doi: 10.1016/S0160-2527(00)00056-X
- Opitz-Welke A, Bennefeldt-Kersten K, Konrad N, Welke J. Prison suicide in female detainees in Germany 2000–2013. J Forensic Legal Med (2016) 44:68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jflm.2016.08.016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Negatsch, Voulgaris, Seidel, Roehle and Opitz-Welke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Latent Profile Analysis of Violent Offenders Based on PCL-R Factor Scores: Criminogenic Needs and Recidivism Risk

Robert Johann Bernhard Lehmann¹*, Craig S. Neumann², Robert Douglas Hare³, Jürgen Biedermann⁴, Klaus-Peter Dahle⁵ and Andreas Mokros⁶

¹ Medical School Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² University of North Texas, Denton, TX, United States, ³ University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁴ Hochschule der Polizei des Landes Brandenburg, Oranienburg, Germany, ⁵ University of Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany, ⁶ FernUniversität in Hagen, Hagen, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Norbert Konrad, Charité Medical University of Berlin, Germany

Reviewed by:

Norbert Schalast, LVR Hospital Essen, Germany Norbert Nedopil, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Germany

*Correspondence:

Robert Johann Bernhard Lehmann robert.lehmann@medicalschoolberlin.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 10 July 2018 Accepted: 05 August 2019 Published: 06 September 2019

Citation:

Lehmann RJB, Neumann CS, Hare RD, Biedermann J, Dahle K-P and Mokros A (2019) A Latent Profile Analysis of Violent Offenders Based on PCL-R Factor Scores: Criminogenic Needs and Recidivism Risk. Front. Psychiatry 10:627. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00627 Clinicians and theorists have often proposed the two psychopathic subtypes of "primary" and "secondary" psychopathy, with recent research indicating some empirical support for both psychopathy subtypes, though the findings across studies are far from uniform. For the current study, latent profile analysis was used to investigate if homogeneous latent classes exist within a sample of 215 adult male violent offenders from Berlin, Germany. The age of the offenders at the time of the index offense ranged from 19 to 59 years. The results indicated a solution with four latent classes, which we refer to as *prototypical psychopaths* (LC1), *callous-conning offenders* (LC2), *sociopathic or dyssocial offenders* (LC3), and *general offenders* (LC4). Validation of the four subtypes involved examination of differences on recidivism risk; criminogenic needs; and general, violent, and sexual reoffending. The results also are discussed in terms of the issue of treatment amenability.

Keywords: PCL-r, recidivism, criminogenic needs, risk assessment, psychopathy, LSI-R, subtypes

Clinicians and theorists long have proposed numerous psychopathic subtypes [see reviews in Refs. (1, 2)]; (Mokros, Hare, Neumann, & Habermeyer, in press). An early distinction offered by Karpman (3, p. 46) was between two forms of primary or idiopathic psychopaths who shared similar motivations and dynamics but differed in their interactions with others: aggressive/ predatory and passive/parasitic. Similarly, Arieti (4, pp. 307-308) described several kinds of "true" psychopaths who differed from one another in their interpersonal and aggressive behaviors: the simple and the complex psychopath. Karpman's aggressive/predatory and passive/parasitic variants can be viewed as analogous with Arieti's simple and complex variants, respectively (5-7). Karpman, Arieti, and other early influential clinicians also described individuals with some features of psychopathy (primarily disinhibition, externalizing) but falling outside of the psychopathy construct. The terms for these individuals included secondary, symptomatic, or pseudo-psychopathy. As put by Mokros and colleagues (6, p. 273), "A common view was that psychopathy is rooted in genetic predispositions and social/environmental forces that are quite different from those that lead to secondary psychopathy. In this sense, diagnostic labels, such as secondary or symptomatic psychopathy, are problematic and misleading because they imply that individuals so labeled are psychopaths in the traditional sense of the term (8)." More appropriate terms for these individuals might be *sociopaths*, as described by Lykken (9), or dyssocial individuals who are not socialized in the usual sense and are antisocial with respect to society but loyal to members of their own group (6, p. 373). Paralleling the clinical descriptions, more contemporary theorists (10, 11) differentiated between primary psychopaths with a congenital affective "deficit" (i.e., genotype) and secondary psychopaths who did not develop basic affective competence due to traumatic interpersonal experiences (i.e., phenotype).

There is a considerable body of empirical literature on the topic of subtypes of psychopathy (2, 12), but it reflects studies that used a variety of different samples (e.g., correctional, treatment, or community samples), selection criteria (e.g., unselected samples versus extreme manifestations of psychopathy), and analytical techniques [e.g., cluster analysis, latent class analysis (LCA)]. Furthermore, psychopathy was defined and measured in different ways in these studies: Some researchers relied on self-report questionnaires, whereas others used clinical observer ratings primarily based on the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R; 13) or its derivatives. As measured with the PCL-R, psychopathy is a dimensional construct underpinned by four correlated first-order factors commonly referred to as facets (Interpersonal, Affective, Lifestyle, and Antisocial) constituting the two originals factors: Factor 1 (comprising the facets Interpersonal and Affective) and Factor 2 (comprising the facets Lifestyle and Antisocial). Given the diversity of approaches to the topic, subtyping studies have identified between two and four interpretable psychopathic subtypes (6, 14-16). For example, cluster analysis of the PCL-R facet scores of male offenders with high psychopathic trait levels resulted in four subgroups, or variants: prototypical (or primary) psychopaths, macho psychopaths, manipulative psychopaths, and pseudo-(or secondary) psychopaths (17). Mokros and colleagues (6) used latent profile analysis (LPA) with a large sample of male offenders (N = 1,451) with high PCL-R scores (≥ 27) and identified three latent classes labeled manipulative psychopathy (LC1), aggressive psychopathy (LC2), and a sociopathic or dyssocial subgroup (LC3). They (6, p. 372) suggested that "LC1 and LC2 represent phenotypic variations on the theme of psychopathy," corresponding, respectively, to Karpman's passive/parasitic and aggressive/predatory psychopathy, Arieti's complex and simple psychopathy, Book and Quinsey's (18) cheater and warriorhawk psychopathy, and the emotionally stable and aggressive psychopaths described by Hicks and colleagues (14). LC3 formed a separate subgroup consistent with conceptions of antisocial personality disorder and sociopathy. These findings were replicated with an independent sample of 487 male offenders (6). In a supplemental analysis, Mokros and colleagues (6) (http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/abn0000042.supp) raised the PCL-R threshold for inclusion in the LPA to 30+(n =856). Two latent classes emerged, virtually identical with LC1 and LC2, described above.

Despite some differences in findings, the subtyping studies generally have identified a subtype reflecting the traditional clinical construct of psychopathy (6, 15, 19, 20). Also, the majority of the studies have identified a group of "secondary psychopaths," who tend to show higher scores on measures of anxiety (15, 20), self-reported antisociality, and childhood trauma (20) than do primary psychopaths.

Several authors (14, 21) consider elevations on Factor 1 of the PCL-R as indicative of primary psychopathy and high scores on Factor 2 as indicative of secondary psychopathy. However, the view that primary and secondary psychopathy map onto PCL-R Factors 1 and 2, respectively, is simplistic and inconsistent with clinical accounts of psychopathy (4, 22) and with empirical evidence that many of the features measured by Factor 2 (e.g., externalizing behaviors) are essential components of the psychopathy construct (23, 24). In particular, the Mokros et al. (6) study of offenders with extreme elevations of the PCL-R provided clear evidence of a primary subtype that displayed very high scores on the antisocial facet. At the same time, this study only focused on offenders at the very top of the distribution with extreme PCL-R scores and did not examine a sample of offenders who manifested the full range of PCL-R scores. Thus, an open area of research concerns the nature of the subtypes that may emerge when the entire range of PCL-R scores are employed for subtyping in a large sample of offenders [though see Ref. (5), for initial work in this area] (7). Here, Neumann et al. (7) as well as Krstic et al. (25) used total, unselected offender samples and identified four subtypes: prototypic (high scores on all four facets), callousconning (elevated Interpersonal and Affective facet scores), sociopathic (elevated Lifestyle and Antisocial facet scores), and general offender (relatively low scores on all four facets). Validation analyses by Krstic et al. (25) using offense behavior showed prototypic subtype offenders to be more violent in the commission of their sexual crimes (compared to all other three subtypes) and general offenders to engage in more sexual behavior (compared to sociopathic offenders). These results indicate that the use of a total sample provides evidence of a range of subtypes, which may also vary considerably in their recidivism risk, criminogenic needs, and response to treatment. This is very important, as the challenging intermediate-level cases (e.g., callous-conning, sociopathic) will be encountered more frequently in general offender populations than extremely psychopathic offenders (i.e., prototypic).

RISK, NEED, AND RECIDIVISM

Given the clinical, theoretical, and empirical conceptualization of psychopathic and non-psychopathic subtypes, it is reasonable to think that they may differ in their risk, needs, or response to treatment. In fact, differences among empirically identified subtypes may help to highlight important risk and protective factors associated with individuals who display certain profiles of psychopathic features. To assess offender risk and needs, evaluators commonly use purpose-built dynamic risk assessment instruments, such as the *Level* of Service Inventory—Revised (LSI-R) (26), which assess constructs (i.e., criminogenic needs) that are both theoretically and empirically relevant for criminal conduct (27) and may be amenable to intervention. Generally, Simourd and Hoge (28) found that psychopaths (PCL-R score \geq 30) scored significantly higher than non-psychopaths on several risk and needs areas as assessed by the LSI-R. Thus, the criminogenic need profiles of different psychopathic and non-psychopathic subtypes could help, for example, to identify the type of treatment that would be required to reduce recidivism risk. Since criminogenic needs include developmental factors (e.g., poor parenting, delinquent subculture), certain subtypes are likely to score higher on such factors, which may make them more amenable to treatment (29). In this regard, Poythress et al. (20), as well as Olver and colleagues (19), found some indication that secondary subtypes are more amenable to treatment (i.e., fewer unexcused absences, higher treatment motivation) than are primary subtypes. Poythress and colleagues (20) as well as Olver and colleagues (19) found no significant differences between primary and secondary psychopaths in terms of general or violent recidivism, but Olver and colleagues (19) did find significantly higher recidivism rates for sexual offending for secondary psychopaths.

PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY

This person-oriented study is divided into two parts. In the first part, we used LPA with a complete sample of violent offenders to determine if a manifest psychopathic subtype could be differentiated from other offender subtypes. Based on the theoretical literature and previous empirical findings (7, 25), we expected to find four viable latent classes (or profiles) of PCL-R facet scores. In accordance with the findings from North American and Swedish samples of adult male offenders (5, 7), we expected to find a class indicative of primary psychopathy with high average scores on all four PCL-R factors, a sociopathic class with low average scores on Factor 1 and high average scores on Factor 2, a class indicative of callous-conning offenders (with high average scores on Factor 1 and low average scores on Factor 2), and a general offender class with average low scores on all factors.

In the second part of the study, we sought to extend the literature on person-centered approaches (compared to variable-centered findings) in psychopathy research. Therefore, we sought to determine whether the latent classes thus identified differed in meaningful ways from one another with respect to the average recidivism risk for different offense types. In terms of recidivism, we expected sociopaths ("secondary" psychopaths) to be at risk for both general and violent recidivism. However, the subtype of primary psychopaths should display the highest overall recidivism rate. Moreover, we wanted to investigate the relationship between sexual recidivism and psychopathy subtypes in more detail. Finally, we examined which specific criminogenic need factors differentiated the psychopathy subtypes. Criminogenic needs were assessed by the LSI-R (26). Due to the expected elevation on Factor 2 of the PCL-R, we predicted the primary and sociopathic subtypes to show greater criminogenic needs than the non-psychopathic subtype(s). Our predictions are based on previous (17, 28) and recent research (7, 25).

METHOD

Sample

The current sample consisted of 215 male violent offenders from Berlin, Germany, convicted of homicide (21.9%), sexual offenses (48.8%), or other violent offenses (predominantly assault and robbery; 29.3%) and released from prison between 1995 and 1998. The age at release varied from 19 to 59 years (M = 36.2, SD = 8.9, n = 213). Most of the offenders were German citizens (85.6%, n = 213) and not in a relationship at the time of the index offense (59.1%, n = 211). According to the German Federal Central Criminal Register, 16.7% of the sample had no prior convictions (n = 210).

Recidivism

Official criminal records obtained from the federal crime registry were evaluated to assess recidivism. Information on recidivism was available for 212 offenders. The current study included general, violent, and sexual recidivism. Furthermore, cases of sexual and violent recidivism were coded as *severe* if they led to a conviction with a prison sentence of 2 or more years, as the German law defines these offenders as high-risk (§ 454 German Code of Criminal Procedure). Follow-up time varied from 7 to 11 years (M = 9.29, SD = 1.01).

MEASURES

Psychopathy Checklist—Revised (PCL-R). The PCL-R (13) is a reliable and valid clinical assessment instrument for the observer rating of psychopathic personality (5). The PCL-R is scored from a semi-structured interview and a coding framework for relevant file information. The instrument includes 20 items, which can be considered to assess four correlated first-order factors: interpersonal (e.g., pathological lying, conning/manipulative); affective (e.g., shallow affect, lack of empathy); impulsive lifestyle (e.g., irresponsibility, impulsivity); and externalizing, antisocial tendencies (e.g., early behavior problems, criminal versatility). The two original factors (30) of psychopathic personality traits (Factor 1) and social deviance (Factor 2) can be regarded as second-level constructs (Interpersonal/Affective and Lifestyle/Antisocial), respectively. The items are coded on a 0-to-2 rating scale with 0 =not present, 1 =present to some extent, and 2 =fully present. Prior research supports the view of psychopathy as dimensional, not as taxonic (31, 32), indicating that individuals differ from each other in degree rather than in kind. The conventional PCL-R threshold for diagnosing psychopathy in North America is 30 points, whereas empirical research indicates that on average, samples from European countries show significantly lower PCL-R total scores [e.g., Ref. (33)]. Based on the analysis of 25 published empirical studies, Mokros et al. (34) suggested a corresponding threshold of ≥ 25 points for the diagnosis of psychopathy in German-speaking countries.

Level of Service Inventory—Revised (LSI-R). The LSI-R (26) is one of the most widely used assessment tools designed to

identify the offenders' risks and needs with regard to recidivism. In addition, there is a large body of literature supporting the validity of the LSI-R measure [for overview, see Ref. (27)]. The LSI-R consists of 54 items (scored as 1 = present or 0 = not present) assessing offenders across 10 domains, 1 static (Criminal History) and 9 dynamic or changeable criminogenic needs that are amenable to treatment: education/employment, financial, family/marital, accommodation, leisure/recreation, companions, alcohol/drug problems, emotional/personal, and attitudes/orientation. The LSI-R total score can range from 0 to 54, with higher scores indicating a greater recidivism risk and need for clinical intervention. According to an overview by Hare (13, p. 162) on the results from three samples, the components of the LSI-R are associated more strongly with PCL-R Factor 2 than with Factor 1.

CODING

In order to assess the reliability of the LSI-R and PCL-R, ratings from two research assistants coded a random subsample of 30 cases each. The results showed an excellent level of inter-rater agreement, with intra-class correlations for a single measure (ICC) (35) of .96 and .92, respectively, for the LSI-R and PCL-R total scores.

Given the empirical evidence for a dimensional (and multifaceted) structure of psychopathy (36), information about meaningful subtypes may be lost by excluding subjects below a certain threshold for psychopathy. Therefore, an unselected sample of violent offenders across the full distribution of psychopathic traits was used, with total scores that varied from 0 to 33 (M = 13.4, SD = 7.0). The PCL-R ratings of each offender were based on file review only, which can result in lower PCL-R scores compared to the standard assessment approach (37). According to a meta-analysis from Germanspeaking countries (eight studies, total N = 1,419), the aggregate mean of the PCL-R total score based on file review only was 16.5 (34) and thus on par with the reference mean described for file reviews of North American male offender samples (M = 16.5) (13). Notably, the mean of the current sample was only slightly below the lower bound of the 95% CI (i.e., 14.2) reported for the aggregate mean of offender samples from German-speaking countries (34). The mean (SD) score of all offenders on the Interpersonal, Affective, Lifestyle, and Antisocial factors were 1.38 (1.55), 3.22 (2.11), 3.40 (2.45), and 4.05 (2.72), respectively.

DATA ANALYSES

LPA is a variant of LCA based on observed continuous rather than categorical variables. LPA is a method to identify homogeneous subgroups within a sample through maximum likelihood estimation. By virtue of information criteria and through modified likelihood ratio tests (38, 39), the optimum number of latent classes can be assessed. Nylund and colleagues (39) conducted a simulation study on the accuracy of statistical criteria for determining the number of latent classes in LPA. They found that the modified likelihood ratio test of Lo and colleagues (38) had a power of 84% for detecting the correct number of latent classes in simulated samples similar in size (N = 200) to the current one (N = 215). The corresponding statistical power of the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) (40) was estimated at 100% (39). However, the interpretation of the different LCA solutions should not rely only on statistical considerations and information criteria but also consider model parsimony, simplicity, and clarity (41). For an LCA solution to be interpretable, the mean probability of cluster membership per latent class should be .80 or above. Furthermore, particular latent classes in higher-order LCA solutions may simply represent subdivisions of uniform latent classes from solutions with fewer latent classes. In this case, the lower-order solution ought to be preferred. Finally, it is paramount that the number of latent classes obtained is meaningful.

For the analyses reported below, cases were assigned to one subtype in a mutually exclusive manner based on the maximum probabilities of latent class membership. Thus, the non-exclusive latent classes were treated like mutually exclusive clusters. Binary logistic regression analysis was used to predict the probability of recidivism risk (e.g., yes or no) for the different subtypes. Therefore, psychopathic subtype was used as a categorical predictor for the different criteria of recidivism.

To determine how the subtypes differed from one another with regard to the LSI-R subscales, Cohen's d was computed as a measure of effect size (i.e., the difference between means, divided by the pooled *SD*). Values of d equal to or larger than 0.2, 0.5, and 0.8 can be considered as small, medium, and large effects, respectively (42). As we also were interested in how the subtypes differed from one another, a full set of pairwise comparisons on the 10 LSI-R subscales, as well as the total LSI-R score, were conducted. Data were analyzed with SPSS, version 19.0 (IBM Corporation, Somers, NY), and LPA was carried out with Mplus for Mac, version 6.12 (Muthén & Muthén, Los Angeles, CA).

RESULTS

Person-Centered (LPA) Results

We used LPA to determine if homogeneous classes with relatively unique PCL-R four-factor profiles exist within a sample of male violent offenders. The LPA solutions with latent classes fit the data better than a unitary solution without latent classes (see **Table 1** for details). The likelihood ratio test (38) suggested that model fit did not improve substantially beyond a solution entailing three latent classes, whereas the BIC coefficient did not indicate any improvement in model fit at the transition from a five- to a six-latent-class solution. Therefore, based on the LPA fit statistics, previous research, as well as conceptual reasons, the intermediate solution with four latent classes was chosen for interpretation. The average latent class probabilities for allocation to the most likely class membership were substantial (.90, .84, .94, and .87), suggesting that the four latent classes represent separable variations on the PCL-R factors.

TABLE 1 | Model Fit of the Latent Profile Analyses With Up to Six Latent Classes (N = 215).

	Number of Latent Classes							
	1	2	3	4	5	6		
Log-Likelihood	-1,880.57	1,796.03	-1,759.05	-1,738.43	-1,720.87	-1,707.67		
No. of Free Parameters	8	13	18	23	28	33		
BIC ^a	3,804.68	3,661.88	3,614.77	3,600.39	3,592.12	3,592.57		
Adjusted BIC	3,779.33	3,620.68	3,557.73	3,527.51	3,503.29	3,488.00		
AIC	3,777.71	3,618.06	3,554.09	3,522.87	3,497.74	3,481.34		
(–2)*Log-Likelihood Difference ^b	-	169.06	73.96	41.24	35.12	26.40		
LMR LRT, p Value ^{c, e}	_	<.001	.008	.263	.388	.034		
Bootstrap LRT, p Value c, d	_	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		
1 – Entropy	_	.873	.828	.826	.844	.827		

AIC, Akaike's information criterion; BIC, Bayesian information criterion; LRT, likelihood ratio test. $^{\circ}$ Incremental changes of BIC < 2 are considered marginal (Kass and Raftery (43), p. 777). $^{\circ}$ Difference between models with (k – 1) and k classes. $^{\circ}$ LMR, Likelihood ratio test according to Lo, Mendell, and Rubin (38). $^{\circ}$ LRT according to Nylund et al. (39). $^{\circ}$ If < .05, a model with k latent classes will fit significantly better than a model with (k – 1) latent classes.

After the assignment of cases to manifest subtypes based on the maximum allocation probability, the four subtype groups contained 38, 57, 105, and 15 individuals, respectively. We first labeled the four subtypes as *Latent Class 1* (LC1; 7% of the sample), *Latent Class 2* (LC2; 17.7% of the sample), *Latent Class 3* (LC3; 26.5% of the sample), and *Latent Class 4* (LC4; 48.8% of the sample). The mean (*SD*) PCL-R total score of each latent class was as follows: LC1, 25.8 (4.2); LC2, 18.2 (3.5); LC3, 17.4 (3.8); and LC4, 7.6 (3.4).

For display purposes, factor scores were converted to *z*-scores, with a *z*-score of 0 representing the sample mean (see **Figure 1**). Consistent with previous research (7, 25) and current hypotheses, the four subtypes conformed to prototypic (LC1), callous-conning (LC2), sociopathic (LC3), and general offender (LC4) profiles. As **Figure 1** shows, individuals assigned to LC4 (general offenders) had low average scores on all four first-order

PCL-R factors. Those allocated to LC3 (sociopathic offenders) had high mean scores on the Lifestyle and Antisocial factors of the PCL-R, yet they had average scores on the Interpersonal and Affective factors, close to the grand mean of the sample (i.e., a *z*-score of 0). In contrast, those allocated to LC2 (callous-conning offenders) displayed high mean scores on the Interpersonal and Affective factors of the PCL-R, yet they lacked high scores on the Lifestyle and Antisocial factors. Finally, the individuals allocated to LC1 (prototypical psychopaths) had the highest scores on the Interpersonal, Lifestyle, and Antisocial factors of the PCL-R.

Concerning the Affective factor, LC1 had a slightly lower mean score than did LC2, at a moderate mean difference (d = 0.59). This difference is somewhat at odds with other recent LPA research (5, 7, 44) and may be due to the file-only status of the PCL-R data and the likelihood that affective features were less adequately assessed in psychopathic than other offenders.



External Validation Analyses

Needs assessment. Because the four subtypes were compared to each other with regard to the 11 LSI-R scales, we controlled for family-wise error by using a Bonferroni–Holm correction (45). The LSI-R total scores (**Table 2**) indicated that individuals assigned to LC4 were at a low/moderate risk to reoffend (26), which was significantly different from LC1 (a large effect, d = -1.92) and LC3 (a large effect, d = -1.84). The risk for individuals assigned to LC4 was also lower than the average risk posed by individuals assigned to LC2 (a moderate effect, d = -0.56). In terms of LSI-R total scores, individuals assigned to LC3 (M = 31.4, SD = 5.3) and LC1 (M = 32.7, SD = 4.7) were at the upper end of the moderate recidivism risk category (24 to 33 points).

There were no significant differences between individuals assigned to LC1 and LC3 with regard to LSI-R subscales. Both subtypes tended to score highest on the LSI-R subscales (except for attitudes/orientation; see **Table 2**). In addition, differences

between individuals assigned to LC4 and LC2 on the LSI-R subscales were small (**Table 2**). Only in relation to the two subscales of criminal history, and attitudes/orientation offenders assigned to LC2 tended to have significantly higher scores. They also had significantly higher scores on the attitudes/orientation subscale (procriminal and antisocial attitudes, values, beliefs, and thinking) than did the sociopathic and general offenders, with a moderate effect size (**Table 2**).

Risk assessment. Figure 2 shows the recidivism profiles for the three most pathological subtypes (LC1, LC2, LC3), relative to LC4. Binary logistic regression analysis shows a clear trend for individuals assigned to LC1 to be at the highest risk to commit a new offense of any kind. In particular, for general recidivism, individuals assigned to LC1 (B = 2.48, p = .019), LC3 (B = 1.98, p < .001), and LC2 (B = 1.01, p = .019) were at significantly higher risk to commit a new offense than were individuals assigned to LC4. In terms of violent recidivism, individuals assigned to LC1

	LC4—0 Offe		LC: Sociop Offei	oathic	LC: Calle Con Offer	ous- ning	LC ⁻ (Protot Psycho	ypical)	LC4 vs. LC3	LC4 vs. LC2	LC4 vs. LC1	LC3 vs. LC2	LC3 vs. LC1	LC2 vs. LC1
LSI	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD	d	d	d	d	d	d
Total Score	18.99	7.49	31.40	5.29	23.16	7.27	32.73	4.67	-1.84*	-0.56	-1.92*	1.35*	-0.26	-1.47
Criminal history	3.83	2.09	6.58	1.58	5.55	2.34	7.20	1.42	-1.44*	-0.8*	-1.68*	0.54	-0.41	-0.79
Education/ employment	4.44	2.72	7.14	1.65	4.45	2.61	7.80	2.04	-1.13*	0	-1.28*	1.31*	-0.39	-1.39
Financial	1.10	0.78	1.60	0.59	1.16	0.75	1.60	0.63	-0.68*	-0.07	-0.65	0.67	-0.01	-0.62
Family/marital	1.89	1.15	2.56	1.00	1.95	1.21	2.53	0.92	-0.62*	-0.05	-0.58	0.57	0.03	-0.53
Accommodation	0.38	0.61	0.82	0.80	0.50	0.60	0.80	0.77	-0.65*	-0.2	-0.67	0.45	0.03	-0.47
Leisure/recreation	1.53	0.65	1.91	0.34	1.50	0.69	1.73	0.59	-0.68*	0.05	-0.31	0.82	0.45	-0.36
Companions	1.46	1.21	2.56	1.15	1.42	1.24	2.47	1.25	-0.93*	0.03	-0.84	0.97*	0.08	-0.86
Alcohol/drug problem	2.30	2.48	4.68	2.54	2.47	2.02	4.73	2.22	-0.96*	-0.07	-1*	0.95*	-0.02	-1.11
Emotional/personal	1.35	1.12	2.11	0.96	1.89	1.13	2.20	1.01	-0.71*	-0.49	-0.77	0.21	-0.1	-0.28
Attitudes/orientation	0.70	0.85	1.44	1.12	2.26	1.00	1.67	0.98	-0.77*	-1.75*	-1.12	-0.78*	-0.21	0.61

d, Cohen's d effect size measure: mean difference in pooled SD units. * p < .05 after Bonferroni–Holm correction.



FIGURE 2 | Recidivism risk profiles for psychopaths, sociopaths, and manipulative offenders compared to general offender for general, violent, severe violent, sexual, and severe sexual recidivism.

(B = 2.06, p = .001) and LC3 (B = 1.39, p = .001), but not LC2 (B = 0.75, p = .12), showed higher risk than did individuals assigned to LC4. This pattern (of higher risk compared to individuals assigned to LC4) also held up with respect to severe violent recidivism for both individuals assigned to LC3 (B = 1.33, p = .023) and LC1 (B = 2.83, p < .001) but not for individuals assigned to LC2 (B = 0.51, p = .501).

For sexual (B = 0.80, p = .146) and severe sexual (B = 0.83, p = .190) recidivism, there were no significant differences in recidivism risk between individuals assigned to LC3 and LC4. However, the risk for sexual and severe sexual recidivism was significantly higher for both individuals assigned to LC1 and LC2 than for individuals assigned to LC4. Even if non-significant, risk for sexual recidivism was higher for LCI (Factor 1 and Factor 2 traits) than for LC3 (primarily Factor 2 traits).

DISCUSSION

This person-oriented study used LPA with a complete sample of violent offenders and identified four latent classes. Given the high average maximum allocation probabilities for the latent classes, cases could be assigned to one of four subtypes with good accuracy. Using the terminology of previous studies (7, 25, 44), the four clusters could be designated as prototypical psychopaths (LC1), callous-conning offenders (LC2), sociopathic or dyssocial offenders (LC3), and general offenders (LC4). Here we would use the term "prototypical psychopath" descriptively and not in terms of a diagnostic category. The tentative label for latent class LC3 would be sociopathic or dyssocial rather than secondary psychopathy based on our position that the term "secondary" makes little clinical or empirical sense. For convenience, we refer to LC1 and LC3 as psychopathic and sociopathic, respectively. The emergence of a psychopathic group, a sociopathic group, a callous-conning group, and a group of offenders who are neither prototypical nor intermediate-level cases was according to expectation. In line with early clinical typologies (4, 46), individuals in the sociopathic cluster appeared dissocial without necessarily sharing the psychopath's features of guile, lack of empathy or guilt, and emotional detachment. The callous-conning cluster (LC2) is particularly interesting, apparently sharing the manipulative skill and lack of empathy of the psychopath without displaying strong levels of impulsivity or recklessness, thereby falling short of the full expression of the psychopathy syndrome (23, 24, 47). Noteworthy is that the current four-cluster group solution is generally in line with LPAs conducted with much larger samples from North America and Europe, as described elsewhere (7, 25, 44). In this new research, based on standard interviews (plus file review), the prototypic psychopaths are the highest on all factors of PCL-R psychopathy.

Different risk assessment instruments are used in correctional and forensic-psychiatric assessments. We used the LSI-R to examine how the four subtypes might differ on risk-related criminogenic needs. The current results are in agreement with the hypothesis that psychopathic and sociopathic offenders show greater criminogenic risks and needs than other offenders (28). Here, the relative elevation of psychopathic (LC1) and sociopathic (LC3) offenders on the behavioral and social deviance features of psychopathy is consistent with previous empirical studies showing an association of Factor 2 with alcohol and drug abuse [e.g., Ref. (48)], lower educational achievement [e.g., Ref. (49)], and lower socioeconomic status (50). Also, a study using the historical, clinical, and risk management (HCR-20) (51) violence risk assessment scheme did show the highest total scores for the prototypical psychopath subgroup. Due to high levels of historical risk factors and in line with the current findings, the previous study found higher scores for the sociopathic subgroup compared to callous-conning and general offenders [compare Ref. (5)]. The fact that callous-conning offenders score significantly higher on the attitudes/orientation subscale (procriminal and antisocial attitudes, values, beliefs, and thinking) could indicate that they believe that the norms of society should not apply to them.

Recidivism risk varied as a function of offender subtype. Nearly all of the psychopathic offenders and the majority of sociopathic offenders reoffended. Overall, psychopathic offenders showed the highest risk for recidivism regardless of the criterion (i.e., general, violent, sexual). Thus, the Factor 1 components appear to add additional risk for recidivism, given that the prototypic offenders exceeded the sociopathic offenders on Factor 1 but were similar on Factor 2. At the same time, sociopathic and psychopathic offenders (each with a relative elevation on Factor 2) showed similar (higher) recidivism risk in terms of general and violent reoffending than did general offenders. The current findings are in agreement with Poythress and colleagues (20), who also did not find a significant difference in general and violent recidivism between primary and secondary psychopaths.

The relationship between PCL-R subtype classes and sexual recidivism involved results worthy of highlighting. For sexual and severe sexual recidivism, there were no significant differences in recidivism risk between sociopathic and general offenders. However, the risk for sexual and severe sexual recidivism was significantly higher for both psychopathic and callous-conning offenders than for general offenders. This is in line with findings by Krstic et al. (25) showing the callous-conning subtype to have the highest paraphilic factor scores. In agreement with Krstic et al. (25), we would argue that "high sexualization might be more related to the affective and interpersonal characteristic of psychopathy" (p. 18). While Olver and colleagues (19) found that secondary variants (e.g., LC3) had higher rates of sexual violence than did the primary subtype (e.g., LC1), one could argue, based on the results of Mokros et al. (6), that the secondary subtypes in the Olver et al. study may be better conceptualized as aggressive primary psychopathy subtypes.

The current findings may have implications for the issue of treatment amenability. Research by Durbeej and colleagues (52) and by Swogger and colleagues (53) indicates that traditional treatments are ineffective with offenders who score high on PCL-R Factor 1, especially its Affective component. Similarly, offenders with high PCL-R scores tend to drop out of treatment early (54, 55), while the Affective component is predictive of violence. This suggests that the psychopathic (LC1) and callous-conning (LC2) latent classes identified in this and other studies may include the offenders who pose the greatest challenges to treatment providers. The person-oriented research described here should prove to be a valuable addition to the more traditional variable-oriented research on psychopathy (7). For example, high PCL-R scores

in combination with sexual deviance are predictive of sexual offending (56). It would be interesting to determine how sexual deviance interacts with the latent profiles described here, with sexual recidivism, as well as with treatment outcome and violence.

FUTURE RESEARCH

The use of file-only ratings for the PCL-R assessment likely truncated the range of scores. Similarly, the use of official records as the sole outcome measure of offense recidivism presumably underestimated the actual rate of reoffending. Accordingly, future research should replicate the current results using the standard procedure (i.e., semistructured interview, file, and collateral information).

The fact that the psychopathic cluster (arguably the most interesting one) consisted of only 15 individuals (7% of the sample) may raise concerns about the stability of the findings and the likelihood of replication in a new sample. However, a similar profile has been identified in very large samples from both the US and Sweden (5, 7, 44).

Even though the LPA model with four latent classes was replicated in different male offender samples (e.g., violent offenders,

REFERENCES

- Hervé H. Psychopathic subtypes: historical and contemporary perspectives. In: Hervé H, Yuille JC, editors. *The Psychopath: Theory, Research and Practice*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers (2007). p. 431–60.
- Hicks BM, Drislane LE. Variants ("subtypes") of psychopathy. In: Partick CJ, editor. *Handbook of psychopathy.*, 2 ed. Guilford (2018). p. 297–333.
- Karpman B. Criminal psychodynamics: a platform. Arch Crim Psychodyn (1955) 1:3–100. doi: 10.2307/1140190
- Arieti S. Psychopathic personality: some views on its psychopathology and psychodynamics. *Compr Psychiatry* (1963) 4(5):301–12. doi: 10.1016/ S0010-440X(63)80056-5
- Hare RD, Neumann CS, Mokros A. The PCL-R assessment of psychopathy: development, properties, debates, and new directions. In: Patrick C, editor. *Handbook of psychopathy.*, vol. 2 Guilford Press (2018). p. 39–79.
- Mokros A, Hare RD, Neumann CS, Santtila P, Habermeyer E, Nitschke J. Variants of psychopathy in adult male offenders: a latent profile analysis. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2015) 124(2):372. doi: 10.1037/abn0000042
- Neumann CS, Vitacco MJ, Mokros A. Using both variable-centered and person-centered approaches to understanding psychopathic personality. In: Gacono CB, editor. *The clinical and forensic assessment of psychopathy: a practitioner's guide.*, 2 ed. Routledge (2016). doi: 10.4324/9781315764474-2
- 8. Hare RD. Psychopathy: theory and research. New York, NY: Wiley (1970).
- 9. Lykken DT. *The antisocial personalities*. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1995).
- Mealey L. The sociobiology of sociopathy: an integrated evolutionary model. Behav Brain Sci (1995) 18:523–41. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X00039595
- Porter S. Without conscience or without active conscience? The etiology of psychopathy revisited. *Aggress Violent Behav* (1996) 1(2):179–89. doi: 10.1016/1359-1789(95)00010-0
- Mokros A, Hare RD, Neumann CS, Habermeyer E. Subtypes and variations of psychopathic disorders. In: Feldhous A, Saß H, editors. *The Wiley international handbook of psychopathic disorders and the law (vol.1): diagnosis and treatment.*, 2nd eded. Wiley (in press).
- 13. Hare RD. *The Hare Psychopathy Checklist—Revised technical manual.* 2 ed. Toronto, Canada: Multi-Health Systems (2003).

sex offenders), psychiatric samples, and samples from different countries (North America, United Kingdom, Netherlands, Germany, Sweden), and validated using different criterion variables (e.g., offense behavior, recidivism risk, criminogenic needs), future research should extend the cross-cultural and validation research using the full PCL-R distribution.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of the Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin Campus Benjamin Franklin. Data collection and analyses were file-based in retrospect. The protocol was approved by Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have contributed to the manuscript and agreed to authorship in the indicated order.

- Hicks BM, Markon KE, Patrick CJ, Krueger RF, Newman JP. Identifying psychopathy subtypes on the basis of personality structure. *Psychol Assess* (2004) 16(3):276–88. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.16.3.276
- Skeem J, Johansson P, Andershed H, Kerr M, Louden JE. Two subtypes of psychopathic violent offenders that parallel primary and secondary variants. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2007) 116(2):395–409. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.116.2.395
- Vassileva J, Kosson DS, Abramowitz C, Conrod P. Psychopathy versus psychopathies in classifying criminal offenders. *Legal Criminol Psych* (2005) 10(1):27–43. doi: 10.1348/135532504X15376
- Hervé H, Ling J, Hare R. Criminal psychopathy and its subtypes. New Orleans, LA: Paper presented at the American Psychology–Law Society (2000).
- Book AS, Quinsey VL. Psychopaths: cheaters or warrior-hawks? *Pers Individ* Dif (2004) 36(1):33–45. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(03)00049-7
- Olver ME, Sewall LA, Sarty GE, Lewis K, Wong SC. A cluster analytic examination and external validation of psychopathic offender subtypes in a multisite sample of Canadian federal offenders. J Abnorm Psychol (2015) 124(2):355. doi: 10.1037/abn0000038
- Poythress NG, Edens JF, Skeem JL, Lilienfeld SO, Douglas KS, Frick PJ, et al. Identifying subtypes among offenders with antisocial personality disorder: a cluster-analytic study. *J Abnorm Psychol* (2010) 119(2):389. doi: 10.1037/ a0018611
- Poythress NG, Skeem JL, Patrick C, editor. Handbook of psychopathy. Guilford Press (2006). p. 172–92.
- 22. Karpman B. Psychopathy in the scheme of human typology. J Nerv Ment Dis (1946) 103(3):276–88. doi: 10.1097/0005053-194603000-00007
- 23. Miller JD, Lynam DR. Psychopathy and personality: advances and debates. *J Pers* (2015) 83(6):585–92. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12145
- Neumann CS, Hare RD, Pardini DA. Antisociality and the construct of psychopathy: data from across the globe. J Pers (2015) 83(6):678–92. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12127
- Krstic S, Neumann CS, Roy S, Robertson CA, Knight RA, Hare RD. Using latent variable- and person-centered approaches to examine the role of psychopathic traits in sex offenders. *Personal Disord* (2018) 9(3):207–16. doi: 10.1037/per0000249
- Andrews DA, Bonta J. LSI-R: The Level of Service Inventory—Revised. Toronto: Multi-Health Systems (1995).

- 27. Andrews DA, Bonta J. *The psychology of criminal conduct.* Cincinnati, OH: Anderson (2010).
- Simourd DJ, Hoge RD. Criminal psychopathy: a risk-and-need perspective. Crim Justice Behav (2000) 27(2):256–72. doi: 10.1177/0093854800027002007
- 29. Karpman B. The myth of the psychopathic personality. Am J Psychiatry (1948) 104(9):523-34. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.104.9.523
- Hare RD, Harpur TJ, Hakstian AR, Forth AE, Hart SD, Newman JP. The revised psychopathy checklist: reliability and factor structure. *Psychol Assess J Consult Clin Psychology* (1990) 2(3):338–41. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.2.3.338
- Guay J-P, Ruscio J, Knight RA, Hare RD. A taxometric analysis of the latent structure of psychopathy: evidence for dimensionality. J Abnorm Psychol (2007) 116(4):701–16. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.116.4.701
- Walters GD, Gray NS, Jackson RL, Sewell KW, Rogers R, Taylor J, et al. A taxometric analysis of the Psychopathy Checklist: Screening Version (PCL : SV): further evidence of dimensionality. *Psychol Assess* (2007) 19(3):330–9. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.19.3.330
- Cooke DJ, Michie C, Hart SD, Clark D. Searching for the pan-cultural core of psychopathic personality disorder. *Pers Individ Dif* (2005) 39(2):283–95. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.01.004
- Mokros A, Hollerbach P, Vohs K, Nitschke J, Eher R, Habermeyer E. Normative data for the Psychopathy Checklist—Revised in Germanspeaking countries: a meta-analysis. *Crim Justice Behav* (2013) 40(12):1397– 412. doi: 10.1177/0093854813492519
- Shrout PE, Fleiss JL. Intraclass correlations: uses in assessing rater reliability. *Psychol Bull* (1979) 86(2):420–8. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.86.2.420
- Hare RD, Neumann CS. Psychopathy as a clinical and empirical construct. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2008) 4:217–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091452
- Bolt DM, Hare RD, Vitale JE, Newman JP. A multigroup item response theory analysis of the Psychopathy Checklist—Revised. *Psychol Assess* (2004) 16(2):155– 68. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.16.2.155
- Lo Y, Mendell NR, Rubin DB. Testing the number of components in a normal mixture. *Biometrika* (2001) 88(3):767–78. doi: 10.1093/biomet/88.3.767
- Nylund KL, Asparouhov T, Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a monte carlo simulation study. *Struct Equ Modeling* (2007) 14(4):535–69. doi: 10.1080/10705510701575396
- 40. Schwarz G. Estimating the dimension of a model. *Ann Stat* (1978) 6(2):461–4. doi: 10.1214/aos/1176344136
- Rost J. Latent-class analyse [Latent class analysis]. In: Petermann F, Eid M, editors. Handbuch der psychologischen Diagnostik [Handbook of psychological assessment]. Hogrefe (2006). p. 275–87.
- Cohen J. A power primer. Psychol Bull (1992) 112(1):155–9. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- 43. Kass RE, Raftery AE. Bayes factors. J Am Stat Assoc (1995) 90(430):773-95.
- 44. Hare RD. Psychopathy, the PCL-R, and criminal justice: some new findings and current issues. *Can Psychology* (2016) 57:21–34. doi: 10.1037/cap0000041
- Holm S. A simple sequentially rejective multiple test procedure. Scand J Stat (1979) 6(2):65–70. doi: 10.2307/4615733
- Karpman B. On the need of separating psychopathy into two distinct clinical types: the symptomatic and the idiopathic. J Crim Psychopathol (1941) 3:112–37.
- Lynam DR, Miller JD. Fearless dominance and psychopathy: a response to Lilienfeld et al. *Personal Disord* (2012) 3(3):341–53. doi: 10.1037/a0028296

- Reardon ML, Lang AR, Patrick CJ. An evaluation of relations among antisocial behavior, psychopathic traits, and alcohol problems in incarcerated men. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* (2002) 26(8):1188–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2002.tb02655.x
- Harpur TJ, Hare RD, Hakstian AR. Two-factor conceptualization of psychopathy: construct validity and assessment implications. *Psychol Assess J Consult Clin Psychology* (1989) 1(1):6–17. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.1.1.6
- Benning SD, Patrick CJ, Hicks BM, Blonigen DM, Krueger RF. Factor structure of the psychopathic personality inventory: validity and implications for clinical assessment. *Psychol Assess* (2003) 15(3):340–50. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.15.3.340
- Webster CD, Douglas K, Eaves D, Hart SD. HCR-20: assessing risk of violence.
 ed. Vancouver: Mental Health Law & Policy Institute, Simon Fraser University (1997).
- 52. Durbeej N, Palmstierna T, Berman AH, Kristiansson M, Gumpert CH. Offenders with mental health problems and problematic substance use: affective psychopathic personality traits as potential barriers to participation in substance abuse interventions. J Subst Abuse Treat (2014) 46(5):574–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2014.01.002
- 53. Swogger MT, Conner KR, Caine ED, Trabold N, Parkhurst MN, Prothero LM, et al. A test of core psychopathic traits as a moderator of the efficacy of a brief motivational intervention for substance-using offenders. *J Consult Clin Psychology* (2016) 84(3):248. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000065
- Olver ME, Wong S. Predictors of sex offender treatment dropout: psychopathy, sex offender risk, and responsivity implications. *Psychol Crime Law* (2011) 17(5):457–71. doi: 10.1080/10683160903318876
- Olver ME, Wong SCP. Therapeutic responses of psychopathic sexual offenders: treatment attrition, therapeutic change, and long-term recidivism. J Consult Clin Psychology (2009) 77(2):328–36. doi: 10.1037/ a0015001
- 56. Hawes SW, Boccaccini MT, Murrie DC. Psychopathy and the combination of psychopathy and sexual deviance as predictors of sexual recidivism: meta-analytic findings using the Psychopathy Checklist—Revised. *Psychol Assess* (2013) 25(1):233 doi: 10.1037/a0030391.

Conflict of Interest Statement: RDH receives royalties from the sale of the PCL-R and its derivatives, and income from PCL-R training workshops. AM receives royalties from the sale of the German PCL-R version, and income from PCL-R training workshops.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lehmann, Neumann, Hare, Biedermann, Dahle and Mokros. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Let's Work Together — Occupational Factors and Their Correlates to Prison Climate and Inmates' Attitudes Towards Treatment

Julia Sauter^{1*†}, Joanna Vogel^{1†}, Katharina Seewald², Joscha Hausam¹ and Klaus-Peter Dahle^{1,3}

¹ Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Research & Development Division, Berlin Prison and Probation Services, Berlin, Germany, ³ Institute of Psychology, University of Hildesheim, Hildesheim, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Birgit Angela Völlm, University of Rostock, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jack Tomlin, University of Rostock, Germany Adegboyega Ogunwale, Neuropsychiatric Hospital, Nigeria

> *Correspondence: Julia Sauter julia.sauter@charite.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 September 2018 Accepted: 30 September 2019 Published: 29 October 2019

Citation:

Sauter J, Vogel J, Seewald K, Hausam J and Dahle K-P (2019) Let's Work Together — Occupational Factors and Their Correlates to Prison Climate and Inmates' Attitudes Towards Treatment. Front. Psychiatry 10:781. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00781 The role of psychosocial and structural occupational factors in mental health service provision has broadly been researched. However, less is known about the influence of employees' occupational factors on inmates in correctional treatment settings that mostly seek to apply a milieu-therapeutic approach. Therefore, the present study investigated the relationships between occupational factors (job satisfaction, self-efficacy, and the functionality of the organizational structure) and prison climate, the number of staff members' sick days as well as inmates' treatment motivation. Employees (n = 76) of three different correctional treatment units in Berlin, Germany, rated several occupational factors as well as prison climate. At the same time, treatment motivation of n = 232 inmates was assessed. Results showed that higher ratings of prison climate were associated with higher levels of team climate, job satisfaction and the functionality of the organizational structure, but not with self-efficacy and sick days. There was no significant relationship between occupational factors and the perceived safety on the treatment unit. Inmates' treatment motivation was correlated with all aggregated occupational factors and with average sick days of staff members. Outcomes of this study strongly emphasize the importance of a positive social climate in correctional treatment units for occupational factors of prison staff but also positive treatment outcomes for inmates. Also, in the light of these results, consequences for daily work routine and organizational structure of prisons are discussed.

Keywords: occupational factors, prison staff, job satisfaction, team climate, prison climate, sick days, offender treatment, treatment motivation

INTRODUCTION

In prisons, genuinely multi-disciplinary and challenging working environments, occupational factors have only been given scarce scientific attention in the last decades. Studies on this subject reported low levels of job satisfaction to have a significant effect on negative work outcomes such as reduced work inclusion (1), turnover intent and actual staff turnover (2–6) and also on absenteeism (7–9). More recently, depersonalization which is one of the indicators of burnout syndrome, has been linked with increased turnover intent and absenteeism among prison staff (10). Thus, job strain

159

that is perceived to be impossible to cope with increases the risk of certain psychological burden syndromes such as burnout (10).

In their meta-analysis, Dowden and Tellier (11) examined the predictors of work-related stress in correctional officers. The authors demonstrated that perceived safety of the workplace and role difficulties, as well as attitudes to work, were strongly related to stress. Also, both positive and punitive attitudes towards inmates were moderately related to stress at work. Nonetheless, Waters (12) found that positive correctional work settings that underline involvement, coworker cohesion and administrative support, could have supportive effects and reduce correctional officers experienced stress levels. In this respect, self-efficacy as the personal judgement of "how well one can execute courses of action required to deal with prospective situations" (13) plays an important role. Promising findings on self-efficacy and health outcomes in prison staff reveal that high levels of dispositional optimism, self-esteem, self-efficacy and perceived social support significantly enhance health in prison staff (14).

In any case, absenteeism and staff turnover are additionally financially expensive for correctional organizations (15). Furthermore, as missing staff is enlarging the staff-inmate ratio, the quality of professional staff-inmate relationships and of social climate on prison wards can hardly remain unaffected.

Very little is known about the relationship between social climate in prison and occupational factors. To our knowledge, only two studies have investigated this relationship. Moos and Schaefer (16) found improved job performance to be associated with positive climate ratings. Røssberg and Friis (17) found that positive ratings of climate were associated with higher ratings of staff satisfaction.

Occupational Factors and Their Impact on Offender Treatment

Only few studies have investigated the impact of occupational factors on inmates in correctional settings. Most of the existing studies focused on job satisfaction as an occupational factor. Thus, job satisfaction was associated with inmates perceiving less danger of sexual assault (18), a higher support for a humanservice orientation among correctional security staff (19), and a more positive view of inmates and an affirmative attitude towards rehabilitation (20). Similarly, job satisfaction was also found to be negatively associated with a punitive orientation towards inmates (21). In general, the literature suggests that higher job satisfaction of staff is related to positive work outcomes which could benefit both staff and inmates through better staff–inmate relations (22), as well as improving correctional standards and conditions (23).

However, to our knowledge, no study has yet addressed the impact of further occupational factors (e.g. team climate, self-efficacy or the functionality of the organizational structure) on inmate related work outcomes. However, in organizational psychology literature team climate has been linked to many positive work outcomes such as superior clinical care in diabetes, more positive patient evaluations of practice and self-reported innovation and effectiveness (24; for a review on health

care team effectiveness and its link to team climate see 25). Also, self-efficacy has been given more and more attention as it has been found to be associated with positive work outcomes as well (for a meta-analysis on self-efficacy and work-related performance see 26).

Research Aims and Hypotheses

This research focuses on how occupational factors among prison employees are associated with prison climate and inmates' attitudes towards correctional treatment. It was hypothesized that staff members' ratings on prison climate are correlated with occupational factors such as team climate, job satisfaction, selfefficacy and the functionality of the organizational structure. Furthermore, it was assumed that occupational factors are correlated with the number of staff members' sick days. Finally, it was presumed that occupational factors as well as correctional officers' number of sick days are correlated with inmates' attitudes towards treatment, and thus also with the effectiveness of treatment.

METHODS

Study Design and Procedure

On behalf of the Senate Administration for Justice and Consumer Protection, the Institute for Forensic Psychiatry of the Charité evaluates all treatment facilities for persons, who committed offences, located in Berlin prisons. The current study is part of this on-going evaluation.

According to the research question, all three treatment facilities for male individuals were included in the study. Prison-based treatment in Germany is predominantly provided in social-therapeutic facilities. The majority of these, including those located in the state of Berlin, follow a milieutherapeutic approach (27). Another treatment facility required by law is to be found in the area of high-risk offenders. So-called preventive detention refers to a (potentially infinite) confinement practice of a selection of very high-risk sexual and violent offenders following a multi-year prison sentence and previous convictions. After several legislative changes, preventive detention is now focusing on psychosocial therapeutic treatment and support, which are similar to the treatment programs in social-therapeutic facilities. The preventive detention unit, the male as well as the adolescent social-therapeutic facilities in Berlin are located in separate units within prison. Thus, inmates can use the infrastructure (e.g. work and school) of the prison.

Data was collected between 2014 and 2016. The survey of staff members took place in semi-structured interviews, which lasted between one and a half and two hours and included open questions (not part of this study) as well as various questionnaires. Participation was voluntary; staff members who agreed to participate gave written informed consent. All psychologists/social workers of the facilities were asked to participate (participation rate: 54.2%). As for correctional officers, in a first step for economic reasons one third was randomly selected to be invited to participate in the interview in the social-therapeutic facility for male adult offenders and in the social-therapeutic facility for male adolescents. One hundred percent of those who agreed to take part and an additional number of n = 12 volunteered to be interviewed. In the preventive detention unit, a quota sample was taken by computer-aided random sampling, taking gender into account (female: 29.6%), and including 50% (n = 27) of the correctional officers. This resulted in an overall participation rate of rate: 47.0%.

The aim of the evaluation was to complete a full survey of all persons treated in a facility of the Berlin prisons. Thus, all inmates that were present at the facilities between 2014 and 2016 were asked to participate in a semi-structured interview, which lasted between two and three hours and included open questions (not part of this study) as well as various questionnaires. Participation was voluntary. After detailed information on the aim and procedure of the study by a member of the research group, persons who agreed to participate gave written informed consent. Each participant received a financial compensation of $15 \in$. The overall participation rate was 86.6% (social-therapeutic facility for adolescent offenders: 96.1%, n = 74 of 77; preventive detention unit: 78.6%, n = 33 of 42).

Participants

The overall staff sample consisted of 63 correctional officers and 13 psychologists/social workers (n = 76). Specifically, the sample was composed of 20 correctional officers and seven psychologists/ social workers of the social-therapeutic facility for adult male offenders (age: M = 49.4 years; SD = 8.23; Min-Max = 34-59), 16 correctional officers and four psychologists/social workers of the social-therapeutic facility for adolescent offenders (age: M = 47.7 years; SD = 7.80; Min-Max = 37-59) and 27 correctional officers and two psychologists of the preventive detention unit (age M = 46.4 years; SD = 8.94; Min-Max = 30-57).

The overall offender sample consisted of n = 232 individuals. Largest subsamples were collected from the social-therapeutic facility for male adult offenders (n = 125; age: M = 41.4 years; SD = 10.8; Min-Max = 22-67; treatment duration: M =24.7 months; SD = 24.3; Min-Max = 0.142; prior criminal record = 73.9%) and male adolescent offenders (n = 74; age: M =19.9 years; SD = 1.8; Min-Max = 16-23; treatment duration: M = 11.8 months; SD = 10.6; Min-Max = 0-47; prior criminal record = 98.2%), whereas a smaller group was collected from the facility for offenders under preventive detention (n = 33;age: M = 40.1 years; SD = 9.7; Min-Max = 36-74; treatment duration: M = 58.4 months; SD = 36.9; Min-Max = 6-179; prior criminal record = 100%). Convicted for violent offenses (homicide, aggravated assault, battery, and robbery) were n =111 persons (47.8%), 57 persons (24.6%) for rape, 53 persons (22.7%) for sexual abuse of children, and 11 persons (4.8%) for other offenses such as aggravated theft. Persons with a concurrent conviction for a sexual and a violent offense were categorized as sexual offenders.

Measures

Except for the measure to assess prison climate, the questionnaires used have been designed and validated for other occupational groups (e.g., nurses). Therefore, it was partly necessary to adapt and reformulate items for the prison context. In addition, the questionnaires were partially shortened to save time and resources. The selection of the items was based on empirical (e.g., highest factor loadings) and conceptual considerations (e.g., appropriateness for prison context). The questionnaires are available upon request.

Staff Members' Ratings

Prison Climate

The perception of prison climate was measured by the Essen Climate Evaluation Scheme – Prison Version (EssenCES; 28). The questionnaire entails 17 items that are answered on a 5-point Likert scale, from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Higher scores indicate more favorable levels of prison climate. Except for two filler items, the 15 items can be divided into three subscales with five items each: a) *therapeutic hold*, b) *inmates' cohesion*, and c) *perceived safety*. The EssenCES has robust psychometrics (Cronbach's a ranged from .76 to .85 in theGerman norm sample; 29) and showed meaningful associations with a positive working environment, institutional aggression, and site security (29).

Team Climate

The Team Climate Inventory (TCI; 30, 31) is a psychometric questionnaire for measuring work atmosphere in groups. The questionnaire consists of 44 items that are assigned to four subscales (vision, task orientation, safety, and support for innovation) and a check scale for socially desirable response behavior. The items are answered on a 5-point scale, from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). For the present study, the TCI was shortened down to 15 items, which cover three subscales (1) safety (5 items), (2) vision (7 items), and (3) task orientation (3 items). The total score indicates an overall level of team climate, with higher ratings referring to a better team climate as perceived by staff. Previous research on the TCI suggested that higher levels of team climate were associated with reduced intentions to leave and turnover in hospital staff (32). The shortened version of the questionnaire has shown excellent internal consistency in the current sample as indicated by by Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.93$.

Job Satisfaction

To gather data on job satisfaction an unpublished adaption derived from the Job Descriptive Index (JDI; 33) and the SAZ (Skala zur Erfassung der Arbeitszufriedenheit; 34, 35) was used. The developed *job satisfaction* scale entails 8 items concerning satisfaction with colleagues, supervisor, work task, working conditions, organization, management, work load and opportunities. The items are answered on a 5-point-Likert scale, from 1 (completely unsatisfied) to 5 (completely satisfied). Higher scores indicate higher levels of job satisfaction. The adapted version of the questionnaire has shown good internal consistency as indicated by Cronbach's $\alpha = .85$.

Self-Efficacy

Two unpublished versions (for teachers and nursing staff) of the general self-efficacy scale (SWE; 36) were adopted for use in social-therapeutic facilities. The 5 items of the questionnaire assess self-efficacy of staff in dealing with difficult and suspicious inmates. Each item is answered on a 4-point scale, from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). The total score indicates an individual level of self-efficacy. Higher scores indicate higher levels of perceived self-efficacy. The adapted version of the questionnaire has shown poor internal consistency in the current sample as indicated by Cronbach's $\alpha = .58$. Thus, it is still above the threshold for rejection (Cronbach's $\alpha < .50$; 37) and has demonstrated a high level of content validity assessed by expert opinion.

Functionality of the Organizational Structure

Since no suitable questionnaire for recording the functionality of the organizational structure was available prior to this project survey, the main points in this area were extracted from interviews with practitioners and experts in the field. To assess relevant aspects of the organizational structure, staff members were asked to grade eight aspects of their organization and working team: (1) professionalism, (2) specialist qualification, (3) commitment and motivation, (4) cooperation between officers and psychologists/social workers, (5) recognition of the officers work by psychologists/social workers or vice versa, (6) respect for the work of the treatment unit by the staff of regular prison units, (7) support and encouragement by the management within the treatment unit, (8) flow of information by the management of the treatment unit. Grades ranged from 1 (very good) to 5 (insufficient), an average grade was calculated. For better illustration, the eight questions were mapped in the form of a target, with the best grade in the middle and the worst at the edge of the target. The newly developed questionnaire has shown acceptable internal consistency as indicated by Cronbach's $\alpha = .76$.

Sick Days

The number of days of absence due to sickness per employee per year (*sick days*) were anonymously obtained by the head office.

Offenders' Ratings

Attitudes Towards Treatment

Negative attitudes towards treatment were measured by the Therapiebezogene Einstellungen [attitudes towards treatment]-Short-Version (TBE-SV; 38; 39). The TBE-SV consists of 24 items, which can be divided into 5 subscales. Each item is answered on a 4-point Likert scale, from 1 (I do not agree) to 4 (I do agree). The first subscale, (I) *trust in therapy*, measures general beliefs about the helpfulness of treatment. This is the only subscale with positive encoding, i.e. higher scores indicate a positive attitude. The four remaining scales are reverse coded, i.e. higher scores indicate negative attitudes towards treatment. (II) *Mistrust in mental health professionals* measures resentments and suspicions

about therapeutic staff. (III) *Therapy restraint* measures the level of aversive attitudes towards one's own treatment. (IV) *Fear* of stigmatization measures feelings of shame about looking for help from therapeutic staff, and (V) *fear of self-disclosure* measures hesitations about opening up to others in a therapeutic context. A total score can be computed with the formula (30 - subscale I) + (II+III+IV+V) and indicates an overall level of *therapy resistance* (high values indicate high resistance against therapy). Dahle (39) reported acceptable internal consistencies as indicated by Cronbach's α , ranging from .68 to .81 for the subscales. The readiness to enter a subsequent treatment offer could be predicted by the total score (39). Offenders' *therapy resistance* was negatively associated with perceived prison climate, r = -.28 (40).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 20.0 for Windows (41). Bonferroni-corrections were applied to all tests. Due to the exploratory character of the study and no clearly directed hypotheses, correlation analyses have been favored to assess the relationship between the variables in question. Pearson Correlations were calculated between the individual occupational factors and individual prison climate ratings from staff members. Pearson Correlations were also calculated for the occupational factors and sick days. Next, data from staff members' ratings (but not offenders' ratings) were aggregated by calculating means individually for each treatment unit. These means were then transferred to offenders' rating by assigning means from one facility to offenders' ratings from that specific treatment unit. This operation makes it possible to correlate means of staff members' ratings with individual offenders' ratings on prison climate as well as their therapy resistance measured by the TBE-SV. Theoretically this is based on Kozlowski and Klein (42) who stated that "a phenomenon is emergent when it originated in the cognition, affect, behaviours, or other characteristic of individuals, is amplified by their interactions, and manifests as a higher-level, collective phenomenon." According to them, through the process of emergence originally individual phenomena become so-called "shared unit properties" which are identified as properties of an organization. Occupational factors in our study can be seen as these so-called shared unit properties. Thus, aggregation of the data can be justified on a statistical level: Aggregation of data is verified if members of a group are consistent in their perceptions of a phenomenon (43). Therefore, intraclass-correlations (ICC) were calculated to check for consistency of the data. There is no strict standard on ICC-values that verify aggregation of data (44). However, values above an ICC \geq .60 indicate good agreement in clinical settings and was therefore set as cut-off (45). All occupational factors satisfied this criterion, ICCs were as follows: Team Climate (ICC = .91), Job Satisfaction (ICC = .82), Self-Efficacy (ICC = .61), F-O-Structure (ICC = .78). Aggregation is verified, if the F-value in a variance analysis is statistically significant, which means that the variance between the groups is bigger than within the group (46). For all occupational factors this was the case except for self-efficacy. A

possible explanation was that self-efficacy refers to individual rather than group-targeted construct. However, as indicated above Self-Efficacy still has a good ICC, which is why we decided to include it for further calculations (42, 45). Descriptions of staff members' ratings are displayed in **Table 1** individually for each treatment unit. Lastly, Pearson's Correlations were calculated between aggregated occupational factors and individual offenders' ratings, as well as between individual staff members' ratings. Data were normally distributed as indicated by the Shapiro-Wilk test (results ranging from W = .97 to .95; p > .05); therefore Pearson's Correlations are justified. Missing data were dealt with by pairwise deletion. For all tests, alpha level was set at p < .05.

RESULTS

Occupational Factors and Their Correlations to Prison Climate

Team climate and the functionality of the organizational structure correlated significantly with the subscales therapeutic hold and inmates' cohesion of the EssenCES with correlation coefficients ranging from .31 to .52. Job satisfaction correlated positively with inmates' cohesion (r(74) = .24, p < .05), self-efficacy with therapeutic hold (r(74) = .34, p < .01). There

TABLE 1 | Psychometric Measures for Staff Members (n = 76) and Inmates (n = 232).

	М	SD	Min	Max
Staff members' rating from	n social-the	erapeutic trea	atment unit fo	r adults
(n=27)				
Team Climate	56.41	9.56	37.00	75.00
Job Satisfaction	26.26	5.80	14.00	36.00
Self-Efficacy	15.48	1.83	13.00	20.00
F-O-Structure	22.80	4.86	13.00	31.00
Sick Days	50.70	_	-	-
Staff members' rating from	n social-the	erapeutic trea	atment unit fo	r
adolescents (n=20)				
Team Climate	52.25	6.57	41.00	64.00
Job Satisfaction	25.40	4.02	19.00	33.00
Self-Efficacy	14.75	1.80	11.00	18.00
F-O-Structure	23.79	4.74	16.00	30.00
Sick Days	69.65	-	-	-
Staff members' rating fron	n treatment	unit for inma	ates under pre	eventive
detention (n=29)				
Team Climate	57.39	7.60	38.00	67.00
Job Satisfaction	29.79	4.48	14.00	35.00
Self-Efficacy	14.17	2.02	11.00	20.00
F-O-Structure	23.29	4.85	16.00	36.00
Sick Days	23.50	-	-	-
Inmates from all facilities	(n=232)			
SUM: therapy resistance	60.15	11.46	33.00	97.25
(1) Trust in Therapy	15.74	2.91	5.00	20.00
(2) Mistrust in Mental	11.19	3.21	5.00	20.00
Health Professionals				
(3) Restraint to Therapy	11.18	3.25	5.00	20.00
(4) Fear of Stigmatization	11.47	2.47	5.00	18.00
(5) Fear of Disclosure	12.04	3.34	5.00	20.00

F-O-Structure, Functionality of the organizational structure.

was no correlation between occupational factors and the subscale *perceived safety* of the EssenCES, neither was there a correlation between *sick days* and overall *prison climate* ratings according the EssenCES. Results are fully presented in **Tables 1** and **2**.

Occupational Factors and Their Correlations to the Number of Sick Days

No correlations were found between *team climate*, *self-efficacy*, *functionality of the organizational structure* and *sick days*. However, a correlation of r(74) = -.36, p < .001) was found between *sick days* and *job satisfaction* (see **Table 2**).

Occupational Factors and Their Correlations to Inmates' Attitudes Towards Treatment

Bivariate correlations were also calculated for aggregated occupational factors, sick days and individual therapy resistance (attitudes towards treatment) ratings from inmates (see Tables 1 and 3). The results are quite similar to the staff members' ratings. Team climate and the functionality of the organizational structure correlated significantly with all subscales and consequently with the sum of the therapy resistance questionnaire completed by inmates, demonstrating that positive team climate was associated with lower therapy resistance (notice: subscale (I) is reversed poled: higher ratings indicate a higher trust in therapy). The same applies to the functionality of the organizational structure. A poor marking by staff members is related to higher *therapy* resistance on inmates' side. Job satisfaction and self-efficacy show a similar trend even though a significant correlation was not found in all subscales. Thus, job satisfaction correlated with fear of stigmatization (r(230) = -.14, p < .05) and fear of disclosure (r(230) = -.15, p < .05) and self-efficacy with mistrust in therapists (r(230) = -.15, p < .05) and fear of disclosure (r(230) = -.18, p < .05)p < .01).

Quite different from staff members' perceived *prison climate* there was a highly significant correlation between the number of sick days from staff members and inmates' quoted *therapy resistance* (r(230) = .26, p < .01). A high number of sick days on staff members' side was connected to all of the subscales of *therapy resistance* (see **Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

The study aimed at investigating the impact of occupational factors on prison climate and inmates' attitudes towards treatment. Reports of a good team climate and a functional organizational structure correlated significantly with perceived therapeutic hold and inmates' cohesion which indicates a connection between system variables and positive treatment factors. Accordingly, measures to improve team climate and working relationships are not only an investment in the organizational culture itself but also indirectly in therapeutic factors, and insofar have an impact on inmates as well. In other words, a positive intra- and inter-group climate could function as a crucial resource for

Occupational Factors		Prison Climate mea	sured by the EssenCES		Number of Sick Days
	Sum	Perceived Safety	Therapeutic Hold	Inmates' Cohesion	
Team Climate	.53**	.20	.43**	.52**	17
Job Satisfaction	.23*	.07	.19	.24*	36***
Self-Efficacy	.13	13	.34**	.17	04
F-O-Structure	37**	16	33**	31**	16
Sick Days	05	01	.04	16	1

TABLE 2 Pearson Correlations between Occupational Factors as well as the number of sick days from Staff Members and their Prison Climate ratings (n = 76).

F-O-Structure, Functionality of the organizational structure. * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.

TABLE 3 Pearson Correlations between aggregated Occupational Factors and Sick Days with individual Attitudes Towards Treatment ratings from Inmates (n = 232).

Occupational Factors			Attitudes towards tre	eatment (TBE-SV)		
	SUM	(1)	(11)	(111)	(IV)	(V)
Team Climate	33**	.17*	24**	26**	24**	32**
Job Satisfaction	17*	.12	12	12	14*	15*
Self-Efficacy	16*	.04	13	15*	10	18**
F-O-Structure	.33**	16*	.24**	.27**	.24**	.33**
Sick Days	.26**	15*	.18**	.19**	.19**	.24**

F-O-Structure, Functionality of the organizational structure. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.

SUM = therapy resistance: (I) trust in therapy; (II) therapy restraint; (III) mistrust in therapists; (IV) fear of stigmatisation; (V) fear of self-disclosure.

correctional settings as a milieu-therapeutic community (e.g. exemplary function). Moreover, the organizational structure seems to play an important role: Feeling adequately informed and valued by the leaders, feeling well qualified for their work, receiving regular training that meets the needs as well as a respectful cross-professional collaboration, was positively related to prison climate on treatment units.

In accordance with the aforementioned findings, personal job satisfaction correlated with inmates' cohesion. Previous studies showed that job satisfaction was related to a more positive view of inmates (20), a less punitive orientation towards inmates (21) and inmates perceiving less danger of sexual assault (18). Different from previous findings, there was no connection with the therapeutic hold (20). However, self-efficacy was linked to therapeutic hold.

An intriguing result is that none of the occupational factors correlated with the perceived safety on prison units. An explanation could be that persons who are willing to work in a prison are aware of potential risks. When completing the questions about their perceived safety, this could lead to a lower overall level of sensitivity. It is also conceivable, however, that for the same reason for this group of people, safety aspects might not influence work-related questions.

Surprisingly, there was no significant connection between the number of staff members' sick days and their perception of prison climate on the units at all. Nevertheless, the number of sick days negatively correlated highly with staff members' job satisfaction in general. Perhaps this may indicate that a retreat in sick days in uncomfortable situations at work is more contingent on personality traits and/or experienced stress (7, 11) than on the general climate on the prison unit. Thus, recruitment procedures should take that into account, especially because staff turnover is very costly for correctional organizations (15). Hence, further investigation of the reasons for absenteeism in prison is warranted.

As presumed, a positive team climate and a functional organizational structure as described above were not only positively connected with prison climate but also with inmates' attitudes towards treatment. When prison staff feel adequately informed and valued by the leadership, well qualified for their work, trained regularly according to their needs, and respected within the cross-professional collaboration, inmates seem to be able to trust in therapy and show less therapy restraint. Similar to the above findings, job satisfaction was connected with the atmosphere on the unit. Thus, there was no correlation with therapeutic variables but with the fear of being stigmatized and personal information being disclosed by others. Likewise, staffs self-efficacy as a personal construct was connected with inmates' lower restraint to therapy and fear of disclosure but not with inmates' general beliefs in therapy. It is assumable that self-efficacy of staff delivering treatment influences a specific therapeutic relationship but not an overall attitude towards treatment. Further research is needed to investigate these differences. Nevertheless, overall ratings of therapy resistance showed significant correlations with both job satisfaction and self-efficacy.

A result of particular importance was the overall correlation between the number of staff members' sick days and inmates' attitudes towards treatment. A higher number was connected with less trust in therapy, higher mistrust in mental health professionals, higher restraint to therapy, higher fear of stigmatization, and disclosure. A high number of sick days causes mistrust, which might lead to a treatment attrition (47). It can be assumed that inmates feel left behind and surrendered. While team climate, self-efficacy, and the functionality of the organizational structure seem not to be associated with sick days, first indications of sick days being caused by job dissatisfaction could be identified. It has already been shown that job absenteeism can be caused by job stress (7). In turn, job stress is caused by perceived dangerousness, role difficulties, and favorable as much as unfavorable attitudes towards inmates (11). Therefore, by realizing a milieu-therapeutic approach it might be advisable to take staff members' attitudes towards inmates into account. A fundament for this could be team and case supervision on a regular basis to build awareness of staff members' favorable and unfavorable attitudes towards inmates.

There are several limitations in the current study. The selfefficacy questionnaire, which was adapted to the prison context, has shown questionable internal consistency. Therefore, results involving the self-efficacy questionnaire have to be interpreted very carefully. In future studies the adaption of the original scale has to be further investigated in order to improve psychometric measures. Since it was a partial analysis of an on-going evaluation project of correctional facilities, most of the participants in this study are still in detention. Thus, we could not test the long-term effect of occupational factors and inmates' attitudes towards treatment on long-term outcomes such as recidivism. The sample itself is relatively heterogeneous regarding their age and offense types since they are from three different correctional facilities. Also, larger sample sizes and non-selective staff samples need to be investigated in order to confirm the results. Most of all the correlations can only show an interdependence between variables. Longitudinal studies are needed to investigate the direction of the linear correlations. Only then, more elaborate practical implementations can be deducted from the results.

Nonetheless, the present study could show that occupational factors can be linked to prison climate and inmates' attitudes towards treatment. Therefore, creating a good working environment may not only support the employees of a prison but also create a constructive therapeutic setting, which can provide a continuous support for persons in detention. The study was an attempt to contribute to these clearly under-researched issues. The results indicated that occupational factors need further investigations not only for the sake of the prison staff but also for the sake of treatment outcomes. Future research should focus more on establishing programs to

REFERENCES

- Hulin CL, Roznowski M, Hachiya D. Alternative opportunities and withdrawal decisions: Empirical and theoretical discrepancies and an integration. *Psychol Bull* (1985) 97(2):233–55. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.97.2.233
- Jurik NC, Winn R. Describing correctional-security dropouts and rejects: An individual or organizational profile? *Crim Justice Behav* (1987) 14(1):5– 25. doi: 10.1177/0093854887014001002
- Wright TA. Correctional employee turnover: A longitudinal study. J Crim Justice (1993) 21(2):131–42. doi: 10.1016/0047-2352(93)90071-T
- Blankertz LE, Robinson SE. Turnover intentions of community mental health workers in psychosocial rehabilitation services. *Community Mental Health J* (1997) 33(6):517–29. doi: 10.1023/A:1025000703487
- Camp SD, Saylor WG, Gilman E (1994). Aggregate work environment measures and job separations at the Federal Bureau of Prisons. Paper presented at the Annual meetings of the Academy of Criminal Justice Sciences, Chicago: IL.

promote a positive team climate, increased job satisfaction, and self-efficacy. Furthermore, the hierarchical structure of prisons and its effects on working variables should be addressed in future research when investigating treatment outcomes.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Senate for Justice, Consumer Protection and Anti-Discrimination of Berlin, Germany with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Official Data Protection Officer of Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Ethical approval for the study was sought and granted by the Ethics Committee of Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin (EA4/131/18).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS and JV conceived of the present idea, developed the theory, performed the computations, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. KS wrote sections of the manuscript. KS, JH, and K-PD verified the analytical methods. K-PD supervised the project. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

FUNDING

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: The Senate of Justice and Consumer Protection of Berlin, Germany funded the evaluation project.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank our students for supporting us in data collection and encoding: Johanna-Sophie Edler, Vincent Jäger, Zhana Karadenizova, Agne Mauzaite, Julia Pätzel, Olivia Pettke, Maximilian Schwarz, and Dorothee Warth.

- Lambert E, Hogan N. The importance of job satisfaction and organizational commitment in shaping turnover intent: a test of a causal model. *Crim Justice Rev* (2009) 34(1):96–118. doi: 10.1177/0734016808324230
- Lombardo LX. Occupational stress in correction officers: Sources, coping strategies, and implications. In: Zimmerman, E, and Miller, HD, editors. *Corrections at the crossroads*. Beverly Hills: CASage (1981). p. 129–49.
- Lambert EG. A path analysis of the antecedents and consequences of job satisfaction and organizational commitment among correctional staff. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences.* (1999). 60(3-A): 0891.
- Lambert EG, Edwards C, Camp SD, Saylor WG. Here today, gone tomorrow, back again the next day: Antecedents of correctional absenteeism. *J Crim Justice* (2005) 33(2):165–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2004.12.008
- 10. Lambert EG, Hogan NL, Altheimer I. An exploratory examination of the consequences of burnout in terms of life satisfaction, turnover intent, and

absenteeism among private correctional staff. *Prison J* (2010) 90(1):94–114. doi: 10.1177/0032885509357586

- Dowden C, Tellier C. Predicting work-related stress in correctional officers: A meta-analysis. J Crim Justice (2004) 32(1):31–47. doi: 10.1016/j. jcrimjus.2003.10.003
- Waters JE. The impact of work resources on job stress among correctional treatment staff. J Addict Offender Counsel (2011) 20(1):26–34. doi: 10.1002/ j.2161-1874.1999.tb00138.x
- Bandura A. Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. Am psychol (1982) 37(2):122–47. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122
- Oginska-Bulik N. The role of personal and social resources in preventing adverse health outcomes in employees of uniformed professions. *Int J Occup Med Environ Health* (2005) 18(3):233–40.
- Stohr MK, Self RL, Lovrich NP. Staff turnover in new generation jails: an investigation of its causes and prevention. J Crim Justice (1992) 20(5):455– 78. doi: 10.1016/0047-2352(92)90080-S
- Moos RH, Schaefer JA. Evaluating health care settings: a holistic conceptual framework. *Psychol Health* (1987) 1:97–122. doi: 10.1080/08870448708400318
- Røssberg JI, Friis S. Patients' and staff's perceptions of the psychiatric ward environment. *Psychiatr Serv* (2004) 55:798–803. doi: 10.1176/appi. ps.55.7.798
- Nacci PL, Kane TR. Sex and sexual aggression in federal prisons. *Fed.* Probation (1984) 48, 46–53.
- Hepburn JR, Knepper PE. Correctional officers as human services workers: the effect on job satisfaction. *Justice Q* (1993) 10(2):315–37. doi: 10.1080/07418829300091841
- Kerce EW, Magnusson P, Rudolph A. The attitudes of navy corrections staff members: What they think about confinees and their jobs. San Diego, CA: Navy Personnel Research and Development Center. (1994).
- Farkas MA. Not in my backyard: the issues and complexities surrounding prison siting. *Crim Justice Stud* (1999) 12(1):95–109. doi: 10.1080/ 1478601X.1999.9959532
- Koracki L. An era of change: Evolving strategies of control in the bureau of prisons. *Fed Prisons J* (1991) 2:24–31.
- 23. Styles S. Conditions of confinement suits: What has the bureau of prisons learned? *Fed Prisons J* (1991) 2:41–7.
- Bower P, Campbell S, Bojke C, Sibbald B. Team structure, team climate and the quality of care in primary care: an observational study. *BMJ Qual Saf* (2003) 12(4):273–9. doi: 10.1136/qhc.12.4.273
- Lemieux-Charles L, McGuire WL. What do we know about health care team effectiveness? A review of the literature. *Med Care Res Rev* (2006) 63(3):263– 300. doi: 10.1177/1077558706287003
- Stajkovic AD, Luthans F. Self-efficacy and work-related performance: A metaanalysis. *Psychol Bull* (1998) 124(2):240–61. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.124. 2.240
- Lösel Egg. Social-therapeutic Institutions in Germany: Description and Evaluation. In: Cullen, E, Jones, L, and Woodward, R, editors. *Therapeutic Communities for Offenders*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley. (1997) p. 181–203.
- Schalast N, Redies M, Collins M, Stacey J, Howells K. EssenCES, a short questionnaire for assessing the social climate of forensic psychiatric wards. *Crim Behav Mental Health* (2008) 18:49–58. doi: 10.1002/cbm.677
- Tonkin M, Howells K, Ferguson E, Clark A, Newberry M, Schalast N. Lost in translation? Psychometric properties and construct validity of the English Essen Climate Evaluation Schema (EssenCES) social climate questionnaire. *Psychol Assess* (2012) 24:573–80. doi: 10.1037/a0026267
- Brodbeck FC, Anderson N, West M. Das Teamklima-Inventar. Göttingen: Hogrefe (2000).
- Brodbeck FC, Maier GW. Das Teamklima-Inventar (TKI) für Innovation in Gruppen: psychometrische überprüfung an einer deutschen Stichprobe. [The Team Climate Inventory (TCI) for innovation. A psychomatric test on a German sample of work groups]. In: *Zeitschrift für Arbeits-und Organisationspsychologie*. (2001). 45(2):59–73. doi: 10.1026//0932-4089.45.2.59
- 32. Kivimäki M, Vanhala A, Pentti J, Länsisalmi H, Virtanen M, Elovainio M, et al. Team climate, intention to leave and turnover among hospital

employees: Prospective cohort study. *BMC Health Serv Res* (2007) 7:170. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-7-170

- Kunin T. The construction of a new type of attitude measure. Pers Psychol (1955) 8:65–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1955.tb01189.x
- Fischer L, Lück HE. Entwicklung einer Skala zur Messung von Arbeitszufriedenheit (SAZ) [Development of a scale for the measurement of job satisfaction]. *Psychologie und Praxis* (1972) 16:64–76.
- Fischer L, Lück HE. Allgemeine Arbeitszufriedenheit [General Job Satisfaction. In: Danner, D, and Glöckner-Rist, A, editors. *Zusammenstellung* sozialwissenschaftlicher Items und Skalen. Mannheim: GESIS (2014).
- Jerusalem M, Schwarzer R. Selbstwirksamkeit [Self-Efficacy]. In: Schwarzer, R, editor. Skalen zur Befindlichkeit und Persönlichkeit., Berlin: Free University of Berlin, Institute for Psychology. (1986). p. 15–28.
- 37. George D, Mallery P. SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference11.0 update. Boston: Allyn & Bacon (2003).
- Dahle KP. Therapie als (Aus-)Weg? Eine Untersuchung zu therapiebezogenen Einstellungen von Strafgefangenen. [Therapy as a way (out)? An examination of prisoners' attitudes towards treatment]. In: Bewährungshilfe. Fachzeitschrift für Bewährungs-, Gerichts- und Straffälligenhilfe., (1993). 40:26–37.
- 39. Dahle KP. Therapiemotivation hinter Gittern [Therapy motivation behind bars]. Regensburg: Roderer (1995).
- Stasch J, Yoon D, Sauter J, Hausam J, Dahle, K-P. Prison climate and its role in reducing dynamic risk factors during offender treatment. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol* (2018) 62(14):4609–21. doi: 10.1177/0306624X18778449
- IBM Corp. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0. Armonk: NY: IBM Corp (2011).
- 42. Kozlowski SW, Klein KJ. A multilevel approach to theory and research in organizations: Contextual, temporal, and emergent processes. In: K.J. Klein, S.W.J. Kozlowski (Eds.), *Multilevel theory, research, and methods in* organizations: Foundations, extensions, and new directions. San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass, (2000). 3–90.
- Klein KJ, Dansereau F, Hall RJ. Levels issues in theory development, data collection, and analysis. Acad Manageme rev (1994) 19(2):195–229. doi: 10.5465/amr.1994.9410210745
- Schneider B, White SS, Paul MC. Linking service climate and customer perceptions of service quality: tests of a causal model. *J appl Psychol* (1998) 83(2):150–63. doi: 10.1037//0021-9010.83.2.150
- Cicchetti DV. Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychol Assess* (1994) 6(4):284–90. doi: 10.1037//1040-3590.6.4.284
- 46. Klein KJ, Bliese PD, Kozlowski SWJ, Dansereau F, Gavin MB, Griffin MA, et al. Multilevel analytical techniques: Commonalities, differences, and continuing questions. In: Klein, KJ, and Kozlowski, SWJ, editors. *Multilevel theory, research, and methods in organizations: Foundations, extensions, and new directions.* US:Jossey-Bass (2000). p. 512–53.
- Olver ME, Stockdale KC, Wormith JS. A meta-analysis of predictors of offender treatment attrition and its relationship to recidivism. *J consult clin psychol* (2011) 79(1):6–21. doi: 10.1037/a0022200

Disclaimer: The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Senate of Justice and Consumer Protection of Berlin.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Sauter, Vogel, Seewald, Hausam and Dahle. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Violent Behavior During Psychiatric Inpatient Treatment in a German Prison Hospital

P. Seidel¹, N. Konrad², V. Negatsch², D. Dezsö², I. Kogan², U. Gauger², B. Neumann², A. Voulgaris^{3†} and A. Opitz-Welke^{2*†}

¹ Justizvollzugskrankenhaus, JVA Plötzensee, Berlin, Germany, ² Institut für Forensische Psychiatrie, Charité, Berlin, Germany, ³ Institut für Sexualforschung und Forensische Psychiatrie, Universitätsklinikum Hamburg Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Masterman, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Axel Haglund, Swedish National Board of Forensic Medicine, Sweden Peter Andiné, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

*Correspondence:

A. Opitz-Welke Annette.opitz-welke@charite.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 31 December 2018 Accepted: 23 September 2019 Published: 31 October 2019

Citation:

Seidel P, Konrad N, Negatsch V, Dezsö D, Kogan I, Gauger U, Neumann B, Voulgaris A and Opitz-Welke A (2019) Violent Behavior During Psychiatric Inpatient Treatment in a German Prison Hospital. Front. Psychiatry 10:762. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00762 Violent behavior in correctional facilities is common and differs substantially in type, target, implication, and trigger. Research on frequency and characteristics of violent behavior in correctional facilities and psychiatric hospitals is limited. Results from recent research suggest that comorbidity of severe mental disorder, personality disorder, and diagnosis of substance abuse is related to a higher risk of violent behavior. In the Berlin prison hospital, a database was created to collect data from all violent incidences (n=210) between 1997 and 2006 and between 2010 and 2016. In a retrospective, case-control study, we analyzed specific socioeconomic data and psychiatric diagnosis and compared the group of prisoners with violent behavior (n = 210). Diagnosis of schizophrenia, non-German nationality, no use of an interpreter, no children, and no previous sentence remained significantly associated with the dependent variable violent behavior. There were no significant differences regarding age and legal statuses. Practical implications for clinical work are discussed.

Keywords: violent behavior, mental disorder, prison hospital, schizophrenia, age

INTRODUCTION

Violent behavior is a complex phenomenon linked to biological, psychological, and social factors (1), and it constitutes a common problem in mental health care settings, as well as in correctional facilities. Altogether, there is limited evidence on the prevalence of violent behavior in medical and mental health settings and even less evidence for prison environments. Regarding facilities of community-based mental health care, violent behavior was reported in about 2–7% of all admissions in psychiatric hospitals in Germany (2, 3). Recently, Müller *et al.* reported a moderate increase in violent behavior against staff members in psychiatric inpatient settings between 2008 and 2015, with an average increase in violent incidences of 4% per year (4). A recent meta-analysis, including 23.972 hospitalized psychiatric patients, reported that 17% had at least once acted violently during their hospital stay (5). Staggs *et al.* described no changes from 2007 to 2013 regarding the frequency of violent assaults in U.S. American psychiatric wards (6), but reports from other countries are lacking.

The literature suggests a higher risk of violent behavior in individuals suffering from a severe mental disorder (7–9). Results from a prospective cohort study in Finland (1997) including 12.058 unselected individuals born in 1966 revealed an odds ratio of 3.1 for any criminal offense

167

and an odds ratio of 7.0 for violent offenses in people with schizophrenia (10). Analyzing data of more than 18.000 cases of schizophrenia and other psychosis, Fazel et al. pointed out that the risk for violent behavior was increased compared to the risk of the general population. Furthermore, they described a significant increase in risk for comorbid substance abuse disorder (8). In terms of specific factors for violent behavior in general psychiatry, a history of violent offending, non-adherence to therapy (psychotherapy and/or medication), younger age, male gender, coming from a disadvantaged neighborhood, and recent alcohol misuse were described as risk factors (11) while depressive symptoms and better clinical insight regarding the symptoms were predictors of non-violent behavior (12).

Since the 1960s in Europe and North America, efforts were made to transfer the treatment of individuals suffering from mental disorders from segregated institutions to outpatient treatment facilities placed in the communities. During the last decades, this so-called "deinstitutionalization" was accompanied by a constant reduction of psychiatric beds (13). There is an ongoing discussion of whether the reduction of beds in psychiatric hospitals leads to an increase of severe mentally disordered individuals in prison (14, 15). In a review including 33.588 prisoners in 24 countries, the prevalence of psychotic disorder did not appear to be increasing over time (16). Comparing the level of distress in long- and short-term prisoners in Germany revealed a clinically significant level of depression, paranoid ideation, and psychosis in long-time prisoners (17).

Within the prison system of Berlin, Germany, specialist care is provided for mentally disordered prisoners in the department for psychiatry in the Berlin prison hospital. Admission is possible during every aspect of prisoner life, during remand prison and for the duration of the regular sentence. Typical clinical indications for admission are (exacerbation of) psychosis, suicidal ideation, violent behavior of unclear origin, depression, and adjustment disorders with comorbid personality disorders and substance abuse disorders. Due to the limited size, a waiting list system is implemented to manage the admission process. Also, weekly outpatient treatment is possible directly in the prisons. During the inpatient treatment, a personalized treatment plan includes, e.g., pharmacological treatment and psychotherapy and different options of group therapy including occupational therapy, art therapy, music therapy, addiction therapy, athletic training, and team sports. For severely disordered patients, the possibility of time-limited isolation in specific treatment rooms is available.

In general, in Berlin, male prisoners with a mental disorder are not transferred to a general psychiatric ward outside of the prison system.

If, however, during the trial period, the criminal responsibility of a remand prisoner is found to be diminished, he can be transferred to a forensic psychiatric hospital and, thus, leaves the prison system. Due to regulation through the department of justice, only male prisoners are treated in the department of psychiatry. Female prisoners are treated inside the women prison facility *via* outpatient service or are transferred to a specific forensic psychiatric ward outside of the prison system. In a current review, the lack of intervention research regarding the prevention of violence in forensic psychiatric settings was identified (18). Regarding prison psychiatry specifically, research on trends and risk factors for violent behavior is rare.

Aims of Our Study

The first aim of our study was to provide a description of frequency, trends, and pattern of violent behavior in patients of a psychiatric ward in a prison hospital. In a second step, we aim to identify possible risk or protective factors regarding violent behavior in patients of the psychiatric ward in the Berlin prison hospital. Furthermore, we were interested in the changes in the incidence of violent behavior during the last decades.

Our hypothesizes were:

Regarding risk factors for violent behavior research suggests that criminal behavior in the past, younger age, and diagnosis of schizophrenia are risk factors for violent behavior (8, 11, 19–21).

 We hypothesized that patients with violent behavior were young, had more previous prison sentences, and suffered more often from schizophrenia.
 Due to the often discussed "forensification" of psychiatric patients and the relocation of bed capacity between general

and forensic psychiatry (13, 22),We assumed a higher level of violent behavior in the patients of the psychiatric ward of the Berlin Prison Hospital in comparison to known rates from psychiatric inpatients in

- of the psychiatric ward of the Berlin Prison Hospital in comparison to known rates from psychiatric inpatients in community hospital care.
- 3. We expected an increase in patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia during the study period.
- 4. We expected that violent behavior in the prison hospital increased during the last 20 years.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

As part of the routine documentation in German prisons, specific incidents such as violent behavior are reported through a system called "official message" (German: "Dienstliche Meldung"). After 2007, the Berlin prison hospital was no longer an independent unit, but part of the Prison Plötzensee ("JVA Plötzensee"). Consequently, due to administrative changes, the "official message" system was no longer part of medical documentation. From 2010 onwards, new medical files were employed to record patient data. For our study, "official messages" were used to identify patients with violent behavior on the psychiatric ward of the Berlin prison hospital from 1997 to 2006. From 2010 to 2016, we identified violent patients by evaluating medical records. Although a change of the recording system took place during the study period, the basic principles for the assessment of violent behavior remained unchanged.

Between 1997 and 2006, 1,502 "official messages" were documented by the staff members of the psychiatric ward of the Berlin prison hospital. The "official messages" were categorized as "physical violence," "self-harm," "verbal violence," "damage to property," and "not categorized." The "not categorized" cases applied when patients offended general prison rules, e.g., behaving noisy, using the telephone without permission, drinking alcohol, or taking drugs. In this study, we only included the cases categorized as "physical violence."

Altogether, we identified 244 incidents of violent behavior during the period examined, committed by 210 individuals. We compared this group with an equal number of patients who did not demonstrate this behavior during their stay. For the comparison group, we selected the first non-violent individual who was admitted subsequently to each violent individual. For all individuals who generated more than one official message because of violent behavior, we chose the non-violent individual who was admitted directly after the first violent episode as a control. For the actual analysis, the following items were ascertained for both groups: year of the violent act, age of the offender, nationality, using a language interpreter, status of imprisonment (remand or sentenced), previous sentences, self-harming behavior, psychiatric diagnoses, and parenthood/ existence of children. The variable "using a language interpreter" was rated as positive when a language interpreter had to be ordered into the prison hospital to translate between the patient and the medical personnel. The variable "parenthood/existence of children" was extracted by analyzing the medical files of the patients. The other variables were rated using both the medical and prison files. Diagnoses were coded using the ICD-10 Manual. For the data from 2010 to 2016, we used a data set that was extracted for research purposes from routine data (23). The data for the same items regarding the period from 1997 to 2006 were extracted from medical files.

The proportion of violent patients of all patients admitted was assessed for each year from 1997 to 2006 and 2010 to 2016. We performed hierarchical linear modeling to test for annual fluctuations in our results. Fisher's exact test was applied to detect the significance of differences observed between the groups. The impact of all independent variables on the dependent variable "violent behavior" was calculated using a logistic regression model. The subset of all variables that minimize the AIC (Akaike information criterion) was determined by a stepwise elimination procedure to derive a final model. All tests were based on a significance level of p < 0.05. Analyses were performed with the statistical software R, Version 3.5.1. It is important to note that only male prisoners were included in the study.

RESULTS

Table 1 displays the absolute number of patients admitted to the psychiatric ward of the Berlin prison hospital with recorded violent behavior, the number of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia, and the relative share per year. While the percentages of patients with violent behavior in 1997 to 2006 ranged from approximately 4.7 to 9.3%, the percentages of patients exhibiting violent behavior in 2010 to 2016 were subject to more considerable fluctuations (3.2–15.9%). Despite the increase in patients with violent incidences in the last 2 years, test results showed no statistically significant increase over time (p = 0.1543), but the number of individuals in the study group diagnosed with schizophrenia increased significantly (p = 0.0348) (see **Figure 1**).

The univariate analysis of variables associated with violent behavior demonstrated statistically significant results for the items age, previous sentences, nationality, use of an interpreter, children, and diagnosis of a mental disorder (schizophrenia, substance use disorder, and adjustment disorder). While 71.9% of all patients who had displayed violent behavior had no previous convictions, the same only applied to 40.2% of all patients without recorded violent acts (p < 0.001). Having children was also highly significant (p < 0.001), whereas 89.5% of patients with violent behavior did not have children. Also, using the services of an interpreter was significantly lower (p < 0.001) among patients with violent behavior (5.26%) than in patients without recorded incidences (14.3%). Significantly, more patients with a diagnosis of schizophrenia had displayed violent behavior (68.1 *vs.* 47.6%).

TABLE 1 | Admissions, violent behavior, and diagnosis over time.

Year	Total admissions	Violent behaviorN = 210	% Violent of all admissions/ year	N = diagnosis of schizophrenia	% Diagnosis of schizophrenia of study group/yearN = 420
1997	156	10	6.4	11	7.1
1998	149	13	8.7	13	8.7
1999	162	15	9.3	14	8.6
2000	233	15	6.4	20	8.6
2001	255	12	4.7	18	7.1
2002	241	17	7.1	18	7.5
2003	212	12	5.7	15	7.1
2004	197	17	8.6	17	8.6
2005	159	9	5.7	9	5.7
2006	122	8	6.6	9	7.4
2010	115	5	4.4	7	6.1
2011	122	13	10.7	17	13.9
2012	127	4	3.2	5	3.9
2013	120	7	5.8	11	9.2
2014	118	8	6.8	12	10.2
2015	145	23	15.9	22	15.2
2016	139	22	15.8	25	18.0



All variables outlined above (**Table 2**), including the patient's age, were entered into a logistic regression model.

After a stepwise selection of variables using the Akaike information criterion, the final model was developed (**Table 3**). In this, the variable diagnosis of schizophrenia, non-German nationality, no use of an interpreter, no children, and no previous sentence remained significantly associated with the dependent variable violent behavior (p < 0.05). Note that "age" is not among the independent variables.

DISCUSSION

Our results present a rate for patients that demonstrated violent behavior in a prison hospital that ranged from 3.2 to 15.9%. This rate is in the range of rates reported from psychiatric inpatients in community hospital care (2–4). Regarding trends, there was no statistically significant increase in violent behavior in the last 20 years regarding the psychiatric ward of the Berlin prison hospital. Our findings did not support our hypothesis regarding an increase in violent behavior.

Looking for risk and/or protective factors regarding violent behavior, the main findings of our study are that the group of patients that demonstrated violent behavior in the specific setting

	Non-violent group N = 210	Violent group N = 210	p-value
Age (mean +/- SD)	33.6 (+/- 10.5)	31.6 (+/- 9.25)	0.041
Self-harming behavior	29 (13.0%)	26 (12.4%)	0.970
Remand status	50 (23.8%)	49 (23.3%)	1,000
Previous sentence:	126 (59.8%)	59 (28.1%)	< 0.001
German nationality	133 (63.3%)	109 (51.9%)	0.023
Using an interpreter	30 (14.3%)	11 (5.26%)	0.003
Children	66 (31.4%)	23 (10.5%)	< 0.001
Schizophrenia	100 (47.6%)	143 (68.1%)	< 0.001
Alcohol- or drug dependency	22 (10.5%)	9 (4.29%)	0.025
Adjustment disorder	51 (24.3%)	25 (11.9%)	0.002

of a psychiatric ward of a prison hospital differed statistically significant from the non-violent group regarding diagnoses of schizophrenia, nationality, previous sentences, the existence of children, and the use of an interpreter for communication. Interestingly, after logistic regression, there were no group differences for violent behavior regarding age.

Altogether, our findings suggest a strong relationship between suffering from schizophrenia and the frequency of violent incidents but do not support the hypothesis that violent incidents have increased during the study period or are in total more frequent than in community mental health care.

During the last two decades, there is a lively discussion going on whether changes in the provision of mental health care may lead to marginalization and "forensification" of mentally disordered patients. The process of psychiatric deinstitutionalization has changed the structure of psychiatric care during the study period in Germany, in most European countries and the United States (24). Psychiatric beds in community care were closed, and psychiatric care transferred to community-based outpatient service. This process was accompanied by an increase of placements in forensic psychiatric care (25-27), and this finding revived interest in the validity of the "Penrose hypothesis," which postulates an inverse relationship between the number of psychiatric hospital beds and the size of the prison populations (28). According to Blüml et al., the number of psychiatric beds decreased by 12.6% in Germany between 1993 and 2011, and the prison population increased by 14.8%. Nevertheless, the authors argue that statistical analyses point to a more complicated process and that the "Penrose hypothesis" is a univariate simplification of a complex and multifactorial relationship (29). Our findings of an increase in patients with schizophrenia in the group of violent patients may cautiously support the "Penrose hypothesis."

Due to German law, individuals with mental disorders that committed severe offenses can be admitted directly to forensic psychiatric hospitals instead of prison. It is important to note that bed capacity in forensic psychiatric hospitals increased continuously during our study period (26). Interestingly, in forensic psychiatric hospitals, the literature suggests an increase in violent incidents (21, 22). Maybe, we did not detect a significant increase in violent behavior due to a shift of the most violent subgroup of prisoners with schizophrenia to the care of the local forensic hospital.

Schizophrenia proved to be a statistically significant marker for the patients in the violent group what is in accordance to the international literature on psychosis, substance abuse, and violent behavior (8, 11, 30). Interestingly, rates of violent behavior did not exceed the reported rates from general psychiatry (2–4). Wolf *et al.* recently reported results suggesting that, in specific forensic psychiatric populations, risk factors differ in comparison to general psychiatric populations (31). While in general psychiatric populations, the diagnosis is associated with violent behavior, in forensic psychiatric settings, this is the case regarding gender and previous violent behavior.

There were more patients without a previous sentence in the violent group than in the non-violent group, which contradicted our hypothesis. We hypothesized that there would be a greater percentage of patients with previous

		, , ,		
	Estimate	Std. error	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	P (Wald's Test)
Schizophreniavs. no schizophrenia	0.775	0.228	2.17 (1.39, 3.4)	<0.001
German nationality vs. no	-0.633	0.23	0.53 (0.33, 0.84)	<0.007
German nationality				
Interpreter vs. no interpreter	-1.260	0.416	0.28 (0.13, 0.64)	0.002
Children vs. no children	-1.212	0.295	0.3 (0.17, 0.53)	< 0.001
Previous sentence vs. no previous sentence	-1.313	0.228	0.3 (0.17, 0.53)	<0.001

TABLE 3 | Final logistic regression model of variables associated with violent behavior (final model)*.

*AIC value 486.828, McFadden log likelihood 0.188.

sentences in the violent group than in the non-violent group, due to a potentially higher share of patients with antisocial tendencies in the group of individuals with previous sentences and the findings in the literature that criminal problematic behavior in the past is a risk factor for future behavior (8, 19-21, 31). A possible explanation is that the item "previous sentences" may indicate more individual experience in prison settings and, thus, the "shock" of being imprisoned is not as severe as in the group of "first-timers." It seems understandable that being imprisoned for the first time in combination with a mental disorder is especially traumatizing. After multivariate testing, this item remained statistically significant. As a possible implication for the clinical work, our results suggest that, in a psychiatric prison setting, a detailed medical history should always include the personal criminal record and past experiences with the penal system. To the best of our knowledge, specific studies on this item as a potentially protective factor against violent behavior in prison hospital settings do not exist.

In our sample, most individuals that demonstrated violent behavior had no children of their own, in contrast to the nonviolent group. It seems reasonable that the existence of children may be understood as an indirect marker for general social skills such as social competence, the capability of building romantic relationships, and social networking. The international literature on protective factors suggests competencies in these life areas, such as relationships, family, work, and prosocial attitudes (32, 33). Our data supported our hypothesis that the existence of children for an individual may be regarded as a protective factor for violent behavior in a prison hospital setting.

In the violent group, there were significantly more patients of non-German nationality. This variable was significant after logistic regression analyses. Higher incidence of mental disorder, including schizophrenia in migrants, when compared to the resident population, has been reported consistently (34–36). According to current research, reasons for the increased incidence was multifactorial including higher prevalence rates in origin countries, the experience of an elevated level of stress, isolation, exposure to racism, and lower use of medication for psychotic disorders (37–39). In a past analysis regarding the characteristics of psychiatric inpatients in the Berlin prison hospital, there were no hints for an elevated prevalence of psychotic disorders in non-German prisoners (23). The differences in the frequency of violent behavior between German and non-German patients may be attributed to stress-related factors as well as to differences in the acceptance of antipsychotic medication. A limitation of our study regarding the item "mental disorder" was that we did not test for treatment adherence or the specific phase of the psychosis (acute, chronic). The available literature on these topics suggests a relationship between the severity of psychosis and violent or otherwise problematic behavior (11, 12, 40, 41).

Regarding the use of a language interpreter due to the lack of German language skills, this was the case statistically significantly more often in the non-violent group than in the violent group. This result supported our hypothesis that the use of language interpreters could have had a positive influence on violent behavior in our specific patient population. Psychiatric patients with additional deficits in the German language may demonstrate violent behavior more frequently, due to the lack of proper means for communication. The literature on the necessity of a language translator in prison settings concerning problematic behavior is, to our knowledge, minimal (42, 43). The regular interaction through language translators may have positive effects on the patient in the prison environment because; in comparison to the German staff, there is an opportunity for the patient to fully communicate with and through the translator, who is often of the same cultural background.

Regarding the patients in the violent group, it may be possible that the staff was unable to organize interpreters as often or as quick as in the non-violent group, although we did not test for that. Also, maybe due to the initial violent behavior of the patient, a proper appointment with an interpreter was difficult because of specific circumstances (e.g., isolation). Our results suggest a positive influence of language interpreters in a psychiatric prison setting.

International literature suggests that young age is a risk factor for violent behavior in psychiatric patients (44) and the general population. In our prison hospital setting, in the group of violent patients, there were more patients of younger age, but after multivariate analysis, age was not significantly associated with violent behavior. A possible reason for this may be that patients in our prison hospital are less heterogeneous regarding age than in a general psychiatric ward in the community. Still, in our population, patients that showed violent behavior were slightly younger. Being in remand prison is known to be very stressful for individuals in prison with a significantly higher rate for suicide ideation, self-harm events, and mental distress (45, 46). Our hypothesis that remand prisoners who would be violent more often in our sample did not stand ground after multivariate analysis. In both groups, nearly a fourth of the individuals were remand prisoners. A possible reason could be that patients, once admitted into remand prison, are not always transferred to the prison hospital as soon as possible due to, e.g., lack of capacity. During this critical phase, agitated patients receive treatment in remand prison *via* outpatient psychiatric care and, thus, were not included in our population. It would be interesting to investigate the occurrence of violent behavior in the remand prison system and compare it to the prison hospital and the general prison population. Studies on these issues are missing.

Several limitations must be considered when interpreting our findings. The retrospective design may have led to various biases, such as a variation of the awareness for violent behavior. The fact that reorganization of routine documentation took place during the study period may have caused different rates of reporting violent incidents. Also, our study included only men and excluded women due to the structure of the specific psychiatric ward in the prison hospital in Berlin. Regarding the diagnosis, we did not check for current medication, the severity of symptoms, or the phase of the disorder. Due to incomplete data, we were unable to include the effects of specific personality disorders on violent behavior. High prevalence of personality disorders in prisoners is known, so this could be a focus for future research. Besides, although we covered a rather long time-span of 20 years, the years between 2007 and 2009 were not included due to missing data (see above).

In summary, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that explores violent behavior in the setting of a psychiatric ward in a German prison hospital. In our opinion, this is a vital field

REFERENCES

- Rubio-Valera M, Luciano JV, Ortiz JM, Salvador-Carulla L, Gracia A, Serrano-Blanco A. Health service use and costs associated with aggressiveness or agitation and containment in adult psychiatric care: a systematic review of the evidence. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15:35. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0417-x
- Steinert T, Vogel WD, Beck M, Kehlmann S. [Aggression by psychiatric patients in the clinic. A one-year study of four state hospitals]. *Psychiatr Prax* (1991) 18:155–61.
- Spiessl H, Krischker S, Cording C. [Aggression in the psychiatric hospital. A psychiatric basic documentation based 6-year study of 17,943 inpatient admissions]. *Psychiatr Prax* (1998) 25:227–30.
- Muller MJ, Olschinski C, Jochim D, Feldhordt M. [Assessment of aggressive assaults by patients from 2008 to 2015 in two german psychiatric hospitals: results and implications]. *Psychiatr Prax* (2017) 44:258–65. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-105177
- Iozzino L, Ferrari C, Large M, Nielssen O, de Girolamo G. Prevalence and risk factors of violence by psychiatric acute inpatients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0128536. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0128536
- Staggs VS. Trends victims, and injuries in injurious patient assaults on adult, geriatric, and child/adolescent psychiatric units in US hospitals, 2007-2013. *Res Nurs Health* (2015) 38:115–20. doi: 10.1002/nur.21647

of research because the professionals in this field are confronted regularly with high-risk populations for violent behavior and because optimization of individual treatment may benefit the long-term outcome for the patient, as well as for the general society. We share the opinion that further research is needed in the area of prison psychiatry, preferably in an international context.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/ supplementary materials.

ETHICS STATEMENT

According to current legal regulation, the study was approved by the local ethic committee at Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PS, AO-W, AV, and NK designed the study. PS, VN, IK, DD, and AO-W collected the data. PS, AO-W, AV, UG, and BN analyzed and interpreted the data. PS, AV, and AO-W wrote the final draft of the manuscript. PS, AO-W, and NK had full access to all the data in the study and take responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of data analysis. All authors have contributed to, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

- Völlm BA, Clarke M, Herrando VT, Seppänen AO, Gosek P, Heitzman J, et al. European psychiatric association (EPA) guidance on forensic psychiatry: Evidence based assessment and treatment of mentally disordered offenders. *Eur Psychiatry* (2018) 51:58–73. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.12.007
- Fazel S, Gulati G, Linsell L, Geddes JR, Grann M. Schizophrenia and violence: systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6:e1000120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000120
- Kudumija Slijepcevic M, Jukic V, Novalic D, Zarkovic-Palijan T, Milosevic M, Rosenzweig I. Alcohol abuse as the strongest risk factor for violent offending in patients with paranoid schizophrenia. *Croat Med J* (2014) 55:156–62. doi: 10.3325/cmj.2014.55.156
- Tiihonen J, Isohanni M, Rasanen P, Koiranen M, Moring J. Specific major mental disorders and criminality: a 26-year prospective study of the 1966 northern Finland birth cohort. *Am J Psychiatry* (1997) 154:840–5. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.6.840
- Witt K, van Dorn R, Fazel S. Risk factors for violence in psychosis: systematic review and meta-regression analysis of 110 studies. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e55942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055942
- Ekinci O, Ekinci A. Association between insight, cognitive insight, positive symptoms and violence in patients with schizophrenia. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2013) 67:116–23. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2012.687767
- Chow WS, Priebe S. How has the extent of institutional mental healthcare changed in Western Europe? Analysis of data since 1990. *BMJ Open* (2016) 6:e010188. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010188

- Priebe S, Frottier P, Gaddini A, Kilian R, Lauber C, Martínez-Leal R, et al. Mental health care institutions in nine European countries, 2002 to 2006. *Psychiatr Serv* (2008) 59:570–3. doi: 10.1176/ps.2008.59.5.570
- Dressing H, Salize HJ. Pathways to psychiatric care in European prison systems. *Behav Sci Law* (2009) 27:801–10. doi: 10.1002/bsl.893
- Fazel S, Seewald K. Severe mental illness in 33,588 prisoners worldwide: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Br J Psychiatry (2012) 200:364–73. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.096370
- Otte S, Vasic N, Nigel S, Streb J, Ross T, Spitzer C. Different yet similar? Prisoners versus psychiatric patients - A comparison of their mental health. *Eur Psychiatry* (2017) 44:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.04.006
- Fazel S, Wolf A. A Systematic review of criminal recidivism rates worldwide: current difficulties and recommendations for Best Practice. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0130390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130390
- Bonta J, Law M, Hanson K. The prediction of criminal and violent recidivism among mentally disordered offenders: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Bull* (1998) 123:123–42. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.123.2.123
- 20. Blais J, Bonta J. Tracking and managing high risk offenders: A Canadian initiative. *Law Hum Behav* (2015) 39:253–65. doi: 10.1037/lhb0000109
- Fazel S, Wolf A, Palm C, and Lichtenstein P. Violent crime, suicide, and premature mortality in patients with schizophrenia and related disorders: a 38-year total population study in Sweden. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2014) 1:44–54. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)70223-8
- Bowers L, Stewart D, Sigh I. Conflict and Containment Research Programme. In: *Inpatient Violence and aggression: A literature review*. (2011). Section of Mental Health Nursing, Kings College London: Amsterdam.
- Opitz-Welke A, Konrad N. Inpatient treatment in the psychiatric department of a German prison hospital. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2012) 35:240–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2012.02.015
- Seppanen A, Tormanen I, Shaw C, Kennedy H. Modern forensic psychiatric hospital design: clinical, legal and structural aspects. *Int J Ment Health Syst* (2018) 12:58. doi: 10.1186/s13033-018-0238-7
- Franke I, Vogel T, Eher R, Dudeck M. Prison mental healthcare: recent developments and future challenges. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2019) 32:342–7. doi: 10.1097/YCO.000000000000504
- Chow WS, Ajaz A, Priebe S. What drives changes in institutionalised mental health care? A qualitative study of the perspectives of professional experts. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2019) 54:737–44. doi: 10.1007/ s00127-018-1634-7
- Konrad N, Lau S. Dealing with the mentally ill in the criminal justice system in Germany. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2010) 33:236–40. doi: 10.1016/j. ijlp.2010.06.005
- Watt DC. L. S. Penrose FRS (1898–1972). Psychiatrist and professor of human genetics. Br J Psychiatry (1998) 173:458–61. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.173.6.458
- Bluml V, Waldhor T, Kapusta ND, Vyssoki B. Psychiatric hospital bed numbers and prison population sizes in 26 european countries: A critical reconsideration of the penrose hypothesis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0142163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142163
- Wilson JA, Wood PB. Dissecting the relationship between mental illness and return to incarceration. J Crim Just (2014) 42:527–77. doi: 10.1016/j. jcrimjus.2014.09.005
- Wolf A, Fanshawe TR, Sariaslan A, Cornish R, Larsson H, Fazel S. Prediction of violent crime on discharge from secure psychiatric hospitals: A clinical prediction rule (FoVOx). *Eur Psychiatry* (2018) 47:88–93. doi: 10.1016/j. eurpsy.2017.07.011
- 32. Borowsky IW, Hogan M, Ireland M. Adolescent sexual aggression: risk and protective factors. *Pediatrics* (1997) 100:E7. doi: 10.1542/peds.100.6.e7

- Willis GM, Grace RC. The quality of community reintegration planning for child molesters: effects on sexual recidivism. *Sex Abuse* (2008) 20:218–40. doi: 10.1177/1079063208318005
- Patel K, Kouvonen A, Close C, Vaananen A, O'Reilly D, Donnelly M. What do register-based studies tell us about migrant mental health? A scoping review. Syst Rev (2017) 6:78. doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0463-1
- Norredam M, Garcia-Lopez A, Keiding N, Krasnik A. Risk of mental disorders in refugees and native Danes: a register-based retrospective cohort study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2009) 44:1023–9. doi: 10.1007/ s00127-009-0024-6
- 36. Jensen NK, Norredam M, Priebe S, Krasnik A. How do general practitioners experience providing care to refugees with mental health problems? A qualitative study from Denmark. *BMC Fam Pract* (2013) 14:17. doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-14-17
- Cantor-Graae E, Pedersen CB, McNeil TF, Mortensen PB. Migration as a risk factor for schizophrenia: a Danish population-based cohort study. Br J Psychiatry (2003) 182:117–22. doi: 10.1192/bjp.182.2.117
- Straiton M, Reneflot A, Diaz E. Immigrants' use of primary health care services for mental health problems. *BMC Health Serv Res* (2014) 14:341. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-341
- Anderson KK, Cheng J, Susser E, McKenzie KJ, Kurdyak P. Incidence of psychotic disorders among first-generation immigrants and refugees in Ontario. CMAJ (2015) 187:E279–E86. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.141420
- Imai A, Hayashi N, Shiina A, Sakikawa N, Igarashi Y. Factors associated with violence among Japanese patients with schizophrenia prior to psychiatric emergency hospitalization: a case-controlled study. *Schizophr Res* (2014) 160:27–32. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2014.10.016
- Large MM, Nielssen O. Violence in first-episode psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Res* (2011) 125:209–20. doi: 10.1016/j. schres.2010.11.026
- Stolk Y, Ziguras S, Saunders T, Garlick R, Stuart G, Coffey G. Lowering the language barrier in an acute psychiatric setting. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (1998) 32:434–40. doi: 10.3109/00048679809065538
- Igarashi Y, Hayashi N, Ebata K, Kaneko T. [A social psychiatric study on foreign-born inpatients at Tokyo Metropolitan Matsuzawa hospital]. *Seishin Shinkeigaku Zasshi* (1994) 96:513–29.
- Howner K, Andiné P, Bertilsson G, Hultcrantz M, Lindström E, Mowafi F. Mapping systematic reviews on forensic psychiatric care: a systematic review identifying knowledge Gaps. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9:452. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2018.00452
- Hassan L, Birmingham L, Harty MA, Jarrett M, Jones P, King C, et al. Prospective cohort study of mental health during imprisonment. Br J Psychiatry (2011) 198:37–42. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.080333
- 46. Eytan A. Religion and mental health during incarceration: a systematic literature review. *Psychiatr Q* (2011) 82:287–95. doi: 10.1007/s11126-011-9170-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Seidel, Konrad, Negatsch, Dezsö, Kogan, Gauger, Neumann, Voulgaris and Opitz-Welke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Foreign National Patients in German Prison Psychiatry

Britta Neumann¹, Thomas Ross² and Annette Opitz-Welke^{1*}

¹ Institute of Forensic Psychiatry, Charité University of Medicine Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ² Forensic Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Reichenau Psychiatric Center and University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

Introduction: Over the past few years, the share of foreign national prisoners in the European and American justice systems has increased at a disproportionately high rate, yet studies on mental health issues among this diverse group are rare. Recent research suggests a range of factors leading to mental health vulnerability in foreign national prisoners, including language barriers, isolation, cultural misunderstanding, and legal standing. Relevant findings of topic-related studies indicate that under-referral to mental health services due to missed or misinterpreted symptoms is a major risk for foreign national prisoners.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Harry G. Kennedy, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

Reviewed by:

Jack Tomlin, University of Rostock, Germany Michael Martin, Correctional Service of Canada, Canada

*Correspondence:

Annette Opitz-Welke annette.opitz-welke@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 26 October 2018 Accepted: 12 December 2019 Published: 14 February 2020

Citation:

Neumann B, Ross T and Opitz-Welke A (2020) Foreign National Patients in German Prison Psychiatry. Front. Psychiatry 10:988. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00988 **Aims:** We aimed to investigate the disparities regarding the percentage of foreign national patients who were treated in high-security hospitals compared to the psychiatric ward of prison hospitals—after adjusting for diagnosis, age, marital status, and substance abuse. We hypothesized that foreign national patients were underrepresented in compulsory, high-security mental health care. We also aimed to explore citizenship-related institutional disparities concerning diagnoses and self-harmful behavior.

Method: From 2010 to 2015, data collected from high-security hospitals in the federal state of Baden-Wurttemberg and the psychiatric ward of a Berlin prison hospital was evaluated by comparing nationality, diagnosis, and self-harm using Fisher's exact test and χ^2 -test. The odds ratios for citizenship-related differences in diagnosis and institution of treatment were evaluated by using logistic regression.

Results: Mentally ill foreign national patients were significantly less likely to be treated in high-security hospitals rather than prison hospital psychiatry (adjusted for diagnosis, age at admission, marital status, and substance abuse; adjusted OR = 0.5). Foreign nationals and Germans in prison hospital psychiatry showed no significant disparities in diagnosis; however, in high-security hospitals, foreign nationals were more likely to have been diagnosed with schizophrenia/psychotic or neurotic/stress-related disorders and were less likely to have been diagnosed with personality disorders than German patients. Additionally, foreign nationals were more likely to commit self-harm than Germans in

174

prison hospital psychiatry, but significant citizenship-related differences could not be verified in high-security hospital patients.

Conclusion: Treatment conditions of foreign national patients in prison psychiatry must be improved. To achieve this, the psychiatric assessment and (mental) health-related aspects of these patients should be further investigated.

Keywords: prison psychiatry, high security hospital, diminished culpability, compulsory treatment, foreign national prisoners, citizenship

INTRODUCTION

In increasingly multicultural societies, the share of foreign national prisoners has grown at a disproportionately high rate over the past few years. In England and Wales, for example, foreign nationals accounted for approximately 9.4% (1, 2) of the general population and 12% of the overall prison population in 2017 (3). As further illustrated by a UK Prison Service Journal published in 2013, the number of foreign national prisoners increased by 93% between 2000 and 2012, compared to a 24% increase of British nationals (4). In the United States, non-US citizens comprised 7.2% of the general population (5) and over 21% of all federal prisoners in 2016 (excluding persons detained by the US Department of Homeland Security) (6). In Germany, 11.6% of the general population (7) and 30.1% of prisoners were foreign nationals in 2017 (8). Van Kalmthout et al. (9) stated that foreign nationals accounted for more than 20% of all European prisoners and according to the UNODC Handbook of Prisoners with Special Needs (10) and the World Prison Brief (11) foreign prisoners are significantly overrepresented in some non-Western countries as well.

Offenses related to immigration policy seem to partially explain this inequality in the justice system (12, 13), yet disparities in court sentencings for foreign nationals might also be at play (4, 10). Light et al. (14) recently revealed higher incarceration rates and longer sentencing periods for non-US citizens, even after adjusting for race and ethnicity as potential confounding factors.

The rising percentages of foreign nationals in the penal system has raised questions about their health conditions. Multiple sources indicate serious mental health issues among ethnic-minority and immigrant prisoners (15–23). Recent research suggests that the majority of factors leading to mental health vulnerability among prisoners, such as language barriers, isolation, cultural misunderstanding, and legal standing, are even more salient for foreign national prisoners (4, 12, 13, 24–26).

The principles of treatment for mentally ill offenders have been established in the legal systems of many Western countries. Offenders with a certain level of diminished responsibility may be compulsorily admitted to psychiatric care instead of an ordinary sentence, whereas criminally responsible offenders often receive the requisite psychiatric treatment during or prior to serving a prison sentence (27, 28). The German legal system involves a similar means of treating mentally ill offenders (29, 30). An offender with a certain level of diminished responsibility may be sentenced to high-security hospitals by law (§ 63 StGB, § 64 StGB) whereas inpatient mental health care for regular prison inmates is provided by physicians in prison hospitals located on prison premises if accessible (29, 31–33). Regardless, it is well understood that care in prison psychiatric wards is far less intense than that of high-security hospitals (34, 35).

Research in this field suggests that the conditions under which prison psychiatric health care is offered or compulsory treatment is imposed may place certain minority groups at a disadvantage. In their systematic review of 26 studies, Spinney et al. (36) revealed racial disparities in the US justice system, with Black and Hispanic juveniles referred to mental health and substance abuse programs less often than their White counterparts. Steadman et al. (37) found ethnic disparities among referrals to US mental health courts-courts designed "for persons with mental illness that were in part created to divert this population from jail/prison into community treatment" (38)-with non-Whites referred at a lower rate. Forrester et al. (39) stated that foreign nationals in a London prison were under-referred to mental health in-reach teamsoriginally developed to provide community-equivalent mental health services for prisoners (40, 41)-which raised "questions about the culturally appropriate ways in which they are advertised and delivered".

Recent studies implicate that citizenship-related barriers might be held responsible for treatment disparity: Sen et al. (13) suggested that foreign national prisoners in England and Wales under-accessed mental health care due to factors related to applying for these services, such as a specific residency and prior registration with a general practitioner (26, 42). In the Netherlands, Vinkers et al. (43) pointed out that while compulsory admission to psychiatric hospitals was higher among non-nationals, conditional admission to penitentiaries -which is only offered to patients who are considered compliant -was lower. In Germany, Hoffmann (18) discovered that drugabusing immigrants were rarely admitted to detoxification therapy in high-security hospitals, presumably due to language barriers. The author partially attributed his findings to the high deportation rate of immigrant offenders charged with violating the legislation on narcotics.

In addition, other studies indicate that missed or misinterpreted symptoms of mental disorders among ethnicminority, immigrant, and foreign national prisoners might aggravate symptoms and impact self-harmful behavior. By evaluating data from a New York City jail, Kaba et al. (19) showed that Hispanic and Black prisoners with mental disorders remained undiagnosed significantly longer than White prisoners. Furthermore, non-White prisoners who began receiving mental health services at a later stage were more likely to be compulsorily admitted to solitary confinement which is considered to be associated with committing self-harm (44). In England and Wales, Borrill and Taylor (45) outlined that in 2007, foreign national prisoners accounted for 28% of all self-inflicted deaths, although this population only accounted for 16% of the prison inmates investigated. The authors stated that trauma symptoms had increased the vulnerability to suicide and that these patients had mainly received antipsychotic treatment instead of guideline-based therapy.

AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

In this study, we aimed to identify the institutional disparities regarding the distribution of national and foreign national patients. We hypothesized that foreign national patients were more likely to enter prison hospital psychiatry than high-security hospitals, after adjusting for diagnosis, substance abuse, marital status, and age at admission. Additionally, we suspected that there were citizenship-related disparities concerning diagnosis in both institutions, after adjusting for the same variables. We further hypothesized that significantly more foreign national patients had exhibited self-harmful behavior compared to German patients in prison hospital psychiatry but not in highsecurity hospitals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Data

The dataset for the prison hospital population was sourced from the psychiatric ward of the Berlin prison hospital (JVKB), which is located on prison premises, covering a total of 572 incarcerated males requiring inpatient mental health care between 2010 and 2015. Within the framework of administration, routine data concerning the penal, sociodemographic, and clinical aspects of the prison population were recorded and entered into the hospital database.

Every patient was assigned a unique identification number, which was derived from the prisoner's name and date of birth and subsequently encrypted. Since hospital visitations disrupt regular incarceration, the monitoring of symptoms was inconsistent. Each admission to the psychiatric ward was recorded using a new entry in the database system, potentially including a new diagnosis. We registered multiple admissions in 91 patients, 63 of these patients were admitted twice and 28 of these patients multiple times (the rates of admissions ranging from three to seven times). To prevent overweighting of those who were repeatedly admitted, we cumulated the data. In the 19 cases where the main diagnosis had changed, we considered the last-assigned main diagnosis in our calculations.

Marital status and age always related to the patient's status at initial admission. To estimate the percentage of patients with substance abuse problems, all diagnoses, including secondary diagnoses, given during all admissions of each patient were evaluated. Incidences of self-harm were recorded as a dichotomous variable (self-harm/no self-harm) in each admission. When cumulating data of patients with multiple admissions, we categorized self-harm as positive as soon as it was recorded at least once.

To ensure the validity and reliability of the clinical data assessment tool, all entries (categories, sub-categories, single variables) are explained to all staff members working in the Berlin prison hospital including detailed instructions on the meaning and content of the items. The majority of the collected data is derived from routine data which is also recorded by statutory health insurances.

The dataset for the high-security hospital population was sourced from eight high-security hospitals in the federal state of Baden-Wurttemberg. Routine data concerning the penal, sociodemographic, and clinical characteristics of 1,883 male patients-admitted to high-security hospitals from 2010 to 2015-was entered into a cross-hospital database and subsequently evaluated. Patients who had been transferred from external high-security hospitals or who were on revocation were not taken into consideration, as the actual date of admission was inaccessible. Every patient was assigned a unique identification number, which was derived from the identification numbers of hospital interns. To ensure the merging of data for patients who had changed facilities during treatment and consequently received a new number, we also gathered a combination of birthplace, birthdate, and date of judgment for each patient. After initial admission, data on each patient was consistently maintained and incidences were annually documented. The diagnosis considered in our calculations refers to the last recorded main diagnosis (diagnoses in high-security hospitals are rarely altered). Marital status and age always related to the patient's status at admission. Substance abuse and self-harm were recorded as dichotomous variables (yes/no) and categorized as positive as soon as they were recorded in at least one of the annual entries of the respective patient.

To ensure the validity and reliability of the clinical data assessment tool, all entries (categories, sub-categories, single variables) are explained in a glossary accessible to all forensic therapists working in forensic psychiatric units across the State of Baden-Wurttemberg. The glossary has detailed instructions on the meaning and content of the items, guiding data-managers through otherwise difficult to rate items. This is to make sure that therapists understand the same thing by each variable. The data were entered by the patient's principal therapist, reviewed by the chief medical officers, and anonymized. Thus, no researcher was or has been able to identify individual patients using the dataset. The data was collected and computed in accordance with the WMA declaration of Helsinki.

Methods

For our study, we aimed to compare the most common means of treating mentally ill offenders in Germany. The so-called $Ma\beta regelvollzug$ is comparable to high-security hospitals in other western countries and therefore referred to as such. A

further classification into low-, medium- or high-security hospitals is hardly relevant in the German legal system.

To allow for standardized classification, citizenship was used as a distinguishing characteristic. Migration background was not considered, since that information was not accessible for all patients. Patients with current German citizenship were considered nationals, including patients with dual nationality. It should be noted that this approach led to very heterogeneous groups as the patients' former citizenships or the countries of origin were not taken into consideration. Patients with unclear citizenship status (i.e. five in Berlin; 0.9%) were excluded from our calculations, leaving a total number of 567 patients in prison hospital psychiatry and 1,883 patients in high-security hospitals.

Due to individual institution-related regulations, the structure of the data-bases differed considerably. In order to achieve comparability of the investigated variables, the required content was firstly extracted and subsequently inserted in respective overview tables.

The data was then analyzed *via* logistic regression, using the Wald test and the likelihood ratio to determine significance. The crude and adjusted odds ratios were evaluated using a 95% confidence interval. First, we performed logistic regression to identify the odds ratio of mentally ill foreign national patients who would be treated in prison hospital psychiatry rather than in high-security hospitals, after adjusting for diagnosis, age, and marital status at admissions and substance abuse. Additionally, we performed the same analyses on patients with schizophrenia and psychotic disorders, affective mood disorders, and personality disorders.

We then applied similar procedures to investigate significant citizenship-related disparities in diagnosis across both institutions, adjusting for age and marital status at admission, as well as substance abuse. Further, we used χ^2 -test to evaluate significant citizenship-related disparities in diagnoses and Fisher's exact test to evaluate significant institutional disparities in percentages of foreign national patients and significant citizenship-related disparities in self-harmful behavior.

Statistical analyses was performed by using R version 3.5.1.

All data was obtained during routine administration and sufficiently anonymized. Approval for the research has been obtained from the local ethics committee at Charité, Berlin University of Medicine.

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the absolute numbers and percentages of German

 and foreign national patients treated in prison hospital

 psychiatry and high security hospitals.

Table 2A displays disparities in diagnosis related to the nationalities of patients treated in prison hospital psychiatry. **Table 2B** exhibits the adjusted odds ratios which predict the probability of receiving the respective diagnosis. The type of disorder did not differ significantly between foreign national and German patients in prison hospital psychiatry after adjusting for age at admission, marital status, and substance abuse.

 TABLE 1 | Citizenship of patients in high security hospitals and prison hospital psychiatry.

	Prison hospital psychiatry		High security hospitals		P (Fisher's exact test)	
	n	= 567	n =	1,883	<0.001	
German	329	(58.0%)	1,449	(77.0%)		
Non-German	238	(42.0%)	434	(23.0%)		

TABLE 2A | Main Diagnoses in prison hospital psychiatry patients.

		erman = 323 ¹	G	Non- erman = 233 ¹	Ρ (χ²- test) 0.094
Substance abuse disorders	20	(6.19%)	11	(4.72%)	
Schizophrenia and psychotic disorders	150	(46.4%)	127	(54.5%)	
Affective mood disorders	27	(8.36%)	20	(8.58%)	
Neurotic, stress-related disorders	87	(26.9%)	63	(27.0%)	
Personality disorders	24	(7.43%)	7	(3.00%)	
Other	15	(4.64%)	5	(2.15%)	

¹Eleven patients with missing diagnoses were excluded from analyses.

TABLE 2B | Odds ratios (95% CI) for diagnoses in foreign national patients compared with German patients in prison hospital psychiatry.

Variable	Unadjusted	Adjusted ¹	P (Wald test)
Diagnosis, ref. = F1			
Psychotic disorders	1.46 (0.67, 3.18)	1.51 (0.67, 3.38)	0.316
Mood affective disorders	1.28 (0.5, 3.28)	1.22 (0.45, 3.26)	0.699
Neurotic/stress-related disorders	1.25 (0.56, 2.81)	1.01 (0.43, 2.36)	0.981
Personality disorders	0.5 (0.16, 1.55)	0.46 (0.15, 1.49)	0.197
Other	0.58 (0.16, 2.02)	0.57 (0.16, 2.11)	0.404

¹Adjusted for age, marital status and substance abuse.

Table 3A shows the last assigned main diagnosis in foreign national patients compared with German patients treated in highsecurity hospitals. **Table 3B** illustrates the odds ratios which predict the probability of receiving the respective diagnosis. Foreign national patients were more likely to have been diagnosed with schizophrenia and psychotic disorders (adjusted OR = 2.06), neurotic and stress-related disorders (adjusted OR = 6.06), and less likely with personality disorders (adjusted OR = 0.33) compared to the reference value (substance abuse disorders) than German patients after adjusting for age at admission, marital status, and substance abuse.

Table 4 presents the adjusted odds ratios which predict the probability of receiving mental health care in high-security hospitals rather than prison hospital psychiatry for foreign nationals. After adjusting for diagnosis, age and marital status at admission, and substance abuse, we found that foreign national patients were half as likely (adjusted OR = 0.5, P < 0.001) to be

TABLE 3A | Main Diagnoses in high security hospital patients.

	-	erman 1,445 ¹	Ge	Non- erman = 431 ¹	<i>Ρ</i> (χ²- test) < 0.001
Substance abuse disorders	872	(60.3%)	230	(53.4%)	
Schizophrenia and psychotic disorders	370	(25.6%)	168	(39.0%)	
Affective mood disorders	29	(2.01%)	8	(1.86%)	
Neurotic, stress-related disorders	2	(0.14%)	5	(1.16%)	
Personality disorders	85	(5.88%)	7	(1.62%)	
Other	87	(6.02%)	13	(3.02%)	

¹Seven patients with missing diagnoses were excluded from analyses.

TABLE 3B | Odds ratios (95% CI) for diagnoses in foreign national patients compared with German patients in high security hospitals.

Variable	Unadjusted	Adjusted ¹	P (Wald's test)	P (LR- test)
Diagnosis, ref. = F1				< 0.001
Psychotic disorders	1.74 (1.37, 2.19)	2.06 (1.58, 2.7)	< 0.001	
Mood affective disorders	1.06 (0.48, 2.34)	1.02 (0.45, 2.34)	0.956	
Neurotic/stress-related disorders	9.56 (1.84, 49.6)	6.06 (1.11, 33.07)	0.038	
Personality disorders	0.31 (0.14, 0.69)	0.33 (0.15, 0.73)	0.006	
Other	0.58 (0.32, 1.05)	0.66 (0.35, 1.27)	0.216	

¹Adjusted for age, marital status, and substance abuse.

treated in high-security hospitals than in prison hospital psychiatry. Similar results were found for foreign national patients with schizophrenia and psychotic (adjusted OR = 0.57), affective (adjusted OR = 0.18), and personality disorders (adjusted OR = 0.29).

We further discovered that, compared to German patients, a significantly greater number of foreign nationals who were treated in prison hospital psychiatry had committed self-harm (see **Table 5A**, P < 0.005); however, no significant disparities related to citizenship were found in high-security hospitals (p = 0.177) (see **Table 5B**).

TABLE 4 Odds ratios (95% CI) for treatment in high security hospitals	in
foreign national patients compared with German patients.	

Variable	Unadjusted	Adjusted ¹	P (Wald's test)	P (LR- test)
All diagnoses	0.41 (0.34, 0.5)	0.5 (0.39, 0.65)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Psychotic disorders	0.54 (0.4, 0.72)	0.57 (0.41, 0.77)	< 0.001	< 0.001
Mood affective disorders	0.37 (0.14, 0.99)	0.18 (0.05, 0.63)	0.008	0.003
Personality disorders	0.28 (0.09, 0.88)	0.29 (0.09, 0.94)	0.038	0.041

¹Adjusted for age, marital status, and substance abuse.

TABLE 5A | Self-harm in foreign national and German patients in prison hospital psychiatry.

	German patients	Foreign national patients	P (Fisher's exact test)
No self- harm	318 (96.7%)	216 (90.8%)	0.005
Self-harm	11 (3.34%)	22 (9.24%)	

TABLE 5B | Self-harm in foreign national and German patients in high security hospitals.

	German patients	Foreign national patients	P (Fisher's exact test)
No self- harm	1,398 (96.5%)	425 (97.9%)	0.177
Self-harm	51 (3.52%)	9 (2.07%)	

DISCUSSION

Compared to their share among the general population, foreign nationals are clearly overrepresented in both institutions. In prison hospital psychiatry, foreign nationals accounted for 42% of all patients, which is significantly higher than the average of 33.2% foreign nationals in the Berlin penal system (not including remand prisoners) and 13.6% in the general population, as reported in the reference period (7, 46). In high-security hospitals, however, foreign nationals accounted for 23% of all patients, indicating an underrepresentation compared to the percentage of foreign nationals in the Baden-Wurttemberg penal system (average of 35%) (47), yet an overrepresentation compared to the general population (average of 12.1%), as reported in the reference period (7).

In discussions of the high rates of ethnic minorities, immigrants, or foreign nationals in prison psychiatry compared to community-based mental health care, the factors of deinstitutionalization, culturally influenced behavior patterns, and the drawbacks of migration and deprivation are often referenced (15, 18, 27, 48). Among these groups, access to voluntary psychiatric treatment services is scarce, especially non-acute outpatient services, supposedly owing to culturally influenced perceptions and assessments of psychiatric symptoms, the patient's lack of confidence in the foreign country, insufficient experience in medicating these patients among public healthcare professionals, and the social marginalization experienced by patients (20, 22, 49-52). When "forensification" is present, referring to the failure to adequately treat severely mentally ill patients in general psychiatry, thus resulting in their incarceration and subsequent treatment in forensic psychiatric institutions (53), Leese et al. (21) stated that the consequential "revolving-door" practice might be even more accurate when describing the mental health care received by ethnic-minority patients.

In our study, the clearest disparity in the treatment of mentally ill foreign national patients is related to the institution providing the mental health services. Compared to German patients, we found that foreign nationals were half as likely to be treated in high-security hospitals rather than in prison hospital psychiatry, after adjusting for diagnosis, age at admission, marital status, and substance abuse (adjusted odds ratio = 0.5). The odds ratios were even lower for foreign nationals with affective mood and personality disorders.

In Germany, referrals to high-security hospitals are based on a psychiatric assessment conducted during the prosecution of a serious crime (28, 31). The treatment setting of patients requiring intensive treatment is therefore primarily bound to the outcome of the court procedure (32, 34, 35). This could imply that foreign nationals commit less serious crimes (e.g. immigration-related offenses), as we did not adjust for this variable due to the limited amount of data available.

Our findings revealed that foreign nationals in prison hospital psychiatry were at a significantly higher risk of committing selfharm than German patients, whereas we observed no significant differences concerning citizenship in high-security hospitals. This gives rise to the assumption that the symptoms of mental disorders displayed by foreign national patients, either before or during trial and also in custody, remain undetected or are susceptible to misinterpretation. Symptoms that are overlooked or misinterpreted could prevent the appropriate referral to mental health care. In a study conducted by Borrill and Taylor (45), the authors evaluated the self-inflicted death of 20 foreign national patients in England and Wales in 2007. Two of the outlined risk factors were difficulties expressing health symptoms due to language barriers and insufficient treatment of trauma patients.

Priebe et al. (22) conducted several surveys evaluating the opinions of healthcare professionals on the current state of health care for migrants across 16 European countries. Eight problem areas were identified, of which five may be easily transferred to the general psychiatric assessment of foreign nationals:

- 1) Language and
- 2) Cultural barriers were commonly reported and considered relevant in the misdiagnosing of ethnic-minority patients.
- 3) Different understandings of illness (and treatment) are considered fundamental to health care. While professionals usually apply a scientific approach, this may diverge greatly from culture-specific approaches to etiopathology.
- 4) A further issue is the impact of socioeconomic factors including deprivation and traumatic experiences. These factors might greatly influence the formation of (psychiatric) illnesses and, if not recorded in the patient's anamnesis, distort the assessment of symptoms.
- 5) Lack of trust in staff members was also commonly reported, which impeded patient assessment.

Additionally, mental disorders in patients without previous community-based treatment might remain undetected, as this data is often collected during the first health assessment of prisoners (54, 55).

However, it should also be considered that foreign nationals might be more susceptible to prison circumstances (e.g. elevated risk of isolation, deportation issues), resulting in higher admittance to prison hospital psychiatry and incidences of self-harm (45, 56).

Although there were no significant differences in prison psychiatric diagnosis related to citizenship, after adjusting for marital status, age at admission, and substance abuse, foreign nationals treated in high-security hospitals were more likely to have been diagnosed with neurotic/stress-related disorders (though numbers were very low in general) and schizophrenia/ psychotic disorders, yet were less likely to have been diagnosed with personality disorders. Considering the pre-trial assessment, this could imply that ethnic-minority patients might initially be diagnosed with neurotic/stress-related disorders-disorders that are usually not suitable for alternative treatment in high-security hospitals (29)-and schizophrenia/psychotic disorders. Al-Rousan et al. (54) recently pointed out that the mean time intervals between the start of incarceration and the first diagnosis for inmates in Iowa varied broadly depending on the disorder diagnosed. While the mean interval to first diagnosis of psychotic disorders was approximately 14 months, the first diagnoses of depression, PTSD, and personality disorders tended to occur at 26, 21, and 29 months, respectively. It appears that the symptoms of psychotic disorders are more evident and thus they could be less affected by the citizenshiprelated barriers to assessment.

Some studies have indicated higher levels of psychotic disorders in ethnic, immigrant, or foreign national than in national offenders and associated these disorders with a higher rate of compulsory psychiatry treatment. According to the authors, these discoveries might partly be due to incomplete explorations and understandings of language barriers and cultural knowledge (18, 27, 43, 48, 57–59). In the United States, for example, Perry et al. (27) revealed that African Americans were far more likely to receive psychotic diagnosis and as a consequence, were found not criminally responsible by court. The authors declared that this might have positive effects on the patients' mental health, yet also stated that treatment due to misdiagnosis could be ineffective and stigmatizing.

In Canada, Kirmayer et al. (60) revealed serious deficits in the diagnostics and treatment of ethnic-minority patients, including immigrants and refugees, by applying an expanded version of the DSM-IV Cultural Formulation—a model "assessing cultural identity, cultural explanations of the illness, cultural factors related to the psychosocial environment and levels of functioning, cultural elements of the clinician-patient relationship, and the overall impact of culture on diagnosis and care" [(61), p. 271]. Adeponle et al. (57) demonstrated that, after applying the DSM-IV Cultural Formulation, a substantial percentage of patients initially diagnosed with a psychotic disorder were re-diagnosed with a non-psychotic disorder. As Gara et al. (58) pointed out, misdiagnosis in these patients might worsen treatment response and lower treatment expectations.

The type and severity of disorder diagnosed by a psychiatric expert witness usually plays an essential role when considering high-security hospital treatment for mentally ill offenders (27–29, 31, 43, 48). Research suggests that ethnic-minority patients are susceptible to stereotyping by physicians, psychiatrists, and judges,

which implies that the complexity of their psychiatric assessment might be reduced to prejudiced assumptions about patient adherence to treatment recommendations and to associating signs of mental illness with personality traits rather than actual health disorders (19, 27, 43, 62–65). In a UK study, Mikton and Grounds (63) searched for disparities in the diagnosing of personality disorders by forensic psychiatrists working with different ethnic groups in England and Wales. Their results indicated that antisocial personality disorder was less often diagnosed in African-Caribbean patients compared to White patients. The authors speculated that this was attributed to crosscultural clinical judgment bias or ethnically insensitive diagnostic testing. Similar measures might apply to pre-trial assessments, as personality disorders were significantly underrepresented in foreign national patients receiving treatment at high-security hospitals.

Limitations

In our study, we divided patients into groups of nationals and non-nationals according to their current citizenship. Former citizenships or countries of birth were not taken into consideration, as these were not accessible for all patients, thus limiting the results of our study to a certain extent.

It should be noted that no female patients were treated in the Berlin prison hospital, hence female patients treated in highsecurity hospitals in Baden-Wurttemberg were excluded from our study. Therefore, the outcome of our study may only be considered valid for male patients. Further studies should be conducted to determine the treatment conditions of female patients.

As indicated above, high-security hospitals and prison hospital psychiatry differ substantially depending on admission, period of treatment, and patient records. While patients in high-security hospitals are consistently monitored for years, prison psychiatric patients are only assessed during their irregular and temporary visits to the hospital ward, which does not provide a clear picture of incidents occurring or symptoms displayed during regular incarceration.

This raises the question as to whether multiple admissions to prison hospital psychiatry should be individually compared, thus overweighting patients who are admitted more frequently, or whether the data of each patient should be merged. For reasons of comparability, we decided to follow the latter option, which led to a conflict regarding diagnosis. Since each admission created a new record of administrative data, the patient's diagnosis was potentially altered each time (this was the case in 19 patients). To prevent overvaluation of preliminary diagnoses we decided to focus on each patient's last-assigned main diagnosis. In order to allow better comparison between both institutions, age, and marital status were recorded on initial admission, therefore leading to a discrepancy in the date of the recording of the different variables.

These limitations have influenced our direct comparison between both systems to a certain extent. Furthermore, each institution uses their own database, which are subject to variation due to differing in-house regulations.

Despite these challenges, comparisons between these disparate systems are considered crucial to the rendering of a

holistic care concept. Only when both systems complement each other can comprehensive psychiatric care be generated in the German penal system.

CONCLUSION

Although not every offender requiring psychiatric treatment needs to be referred to high-security hospital care, it should be noted that, in contrast to prison hospital psychiatry, these institutions provide a therapeutic environment suited to meet the specific needs of forensic psychiatric patients (34, 35, 66). It is therefore evident that prison psychiatry and the conditions of foreign national patients must be improved. To achieve this, the pre-trial assessment and (mental) health-related aspects of these patients should be further investigated.

There are numerous claims regarding the therapeutic conditions of ethnic-minority, immigrant, and foreign national prisoners, which should likewise apply to the psychiatric assessment of these groups (10, 13, 26, 45, 67). Schouler-Ocak and Aichberger (68) noted that despite wider acceptance among practitioners, the implementation of postulated adjustments— such as intercultural skills, native-speaking impartial interpreters, and regular supervision—remains arduous. It appears that societal structures and the healthcare system are unaware or incapable of coping with the unique requirements of ethnic-minority, immigrant, and foreign national patients, despite multiple publications postulating their relevance (20, 22, 27, 69).

Imprisoning seriously mentally ill patients means depriving them of adequate psychiatric treatment which is unlikely obtained in an environment known to trigger mental health problems by social isolation, sensory deprivation, physical inactivity, mental underload, and overcrowding (29, 70).

Furthermore, prison hospital psychiatry appears structurally incapable of implementing even the first of the Principles of Medical Ethics published by the United Nations (71) which postulates treatment "of the same quality and standard as is afforded to those who are not imprisoned or detained" (34, 70). According to Keppler et al. (70) prison health care does not adhere to approved quality standards such as consistent monitoring, timely implementation of modified treatment guidelines, and sufficient personnel and funding. Additionally, in contrast to high-security hospitals, prison hospital psychiatry lacks specific regulations relating to the admission, treatment, and discharge of patients (29, 33, 34).

As it may be reasonably assumed that insufficient treatment of patients inevitably leads to poor prospects, the overrepresentation of foreign national patients in German prison hospital psychiatry should be assessed critically. Due to rising immigration in recent years, cultural influences on mental health and delinquency are increasingly gaining in significance. Enhancing public and prison health care should not only be seen as a political duty; being responsive to the requirements of different minority groups also involves promoting the process of social integration, maintaining mental health, and preventing the aggravation of psychiatric symptoms (22, 72, 73).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher. Requests to access the Baden-Wurttemberg dataset should be directed to TR, t.ross@zfpreichenau.de; requests to access the Berlin dataset should be directed to AO-W, annette.opitz-welke@charite.de.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All data was obtained during routine administration and sufficiently anonymized. Approval for the research has been obtained from the Charité's Ethics Committee.

REFERENCES

- Office for National Statistics. Population estimates: United Kingdom population mid-year estimate (2018). Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov. uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/ populationestimates.
- Office for National Statistics. Population of the UK by country of birth and nationality: (2017). Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/people populationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/ bulletins/ukpopulationbycountryofbirthandnationality/2017.
- Ministry of Justice. Offender Management statistics quarterly, England and Wales: Quarter: April to June 2017, Prison population: 30 September 2017. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/offendermanagement-statistics-quarterly-april-to-june-2017. (2017).
- Cooney F. Double punishment: the treatment of foreign national prisoners. *Prison Service J* (2013) (205):45–51. Retrieved from https://www. crimeandjustice.org.uk/sites/crimeandjustice.org.uk/files/PSJ%20January% 202013%20No.%20205.pdf.
- United States Census Bureau. Current Population Survey 2016 Detailed Tables: Characteristics of the Foreign-Born Population by Nativity, and U.S. Citizenship Status. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2016/ demo/foreign-born/cps-2016.html. (2018).
- U.S. Department of Justice Bureau of Justice Statistics, Carson EA. (2018). Prisoners in 2016. Retrieved from https://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ p16.pdf.
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2017a). Bevölkerung und Erwerbstätigkeit -Ausländische Bevölkerung Ergebnisse des Ausländerzentralregisters (Population and employment - foreign population). Fachserie 1 Reihe 2. Retrieved from https://www.destatis.de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/ Bevoelkerung/MigrationIntegration/AuslaendBevoelkerung2010200177004. pdf?:blob=publicationFile.
- Statistisches Bundesamt. (2017b). Strafvollzug Demographische und kriminologische Merkmale der Strafgefangenen zum Stichtag 31.3. - 2017 (Demographic and penal aspects of prisoners). Retrieved from https://www. destatis.de/DE/Publikationen/Thematisch/Rechtspflege/Strafverfolgung Vollzug/Strafvollzug2100410177004.pdf?:blob=publicationFile.
- 9. Van KalmthoutAM, Hofstee-van der MeulenFBAM, DünkelF eds. Foreigners in European prisons (Repr). Wolf Legal Publishers (WLP): Nijmegen (2013).
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. Foreign national prisoners. In: . Handbook on Prisoners with special needs. United Nations: New York (2009). p. 79–102.
- Institute for Criminal Policy Research. World Prison Brief. Monthly updated, accessed on March 4th 2019. Retrieved from http://www.prisonstudies.org/ world-prison-brief-data.
- Banks J. Foreign National prisoners in the UK: explanations and implications. *Howard J Criminal Justice* (2011) 50(2):184–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2311.2010.00655.x

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AO-W, TR, and BN contributed to the conception and design of the study. AO-W and TR organized the databases. BN performed the statistical analysis. BN wrote the sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the revision of the manuscript, and they have read and approved the version submitted.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

- Sen P, Exworthy T, Forrester A. Mental health care for foreign national prisoners in England and Wales. J Ment Health (Abingdon England) (2014) 23 (6):333–9. doi: 10.3109/09638237.2014.951480
- Light MT, Massoglia M, King RD. Citizenship and punishment: the salience of national membership in U.S. criminal courts. *Am Sociological Review* (2014). 79(5): 825–47. doi: 10.1177/0003122414543659
- 15. Cavney J, Friedman SH. Culture, mental illness, and prison: a New Zealand perspective. In: Mills A, Kendall K, editors. *Mental Health in Prisons. Palgrave Studies in Prisons and Penology*. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan (2018).
- Fazel M, Wheeler J, Danesh J. Prevalence of serious mental disorder in 7000 refugees resettled in western countries: a systematic review. *Lancet* (2005) 365 (9467):1309–14. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)61027-6
- Heffernan EB, Andersen KC, Dev A, Kinner S. Prevalence of mental illness among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in Queensland prisons. *Med J Aust* (2012) 197(1):37–41. doi: 10.5694/mja11.11352
- Hoffmann K. Migranten als Patienten im Massregelvollzug (Migrants as patients in high security hospitals): Eine versorgungsepidemiologische Erhebung aus Baden-Württemberg [Migrant patients in forensic psychiatry. An epidemiological survey from Baden-Württemberg]. Der Nervenarzt (2006) 77(1):50–7. doi: 10.1007/s00115-004-1812-6
- Kaba F, Solimo A, Graves J, Glowa-Kollisch S, Vise A, MacDonald R, et al. Disparities in mental health referral and diagnosis in the New York City jail mental health service. *Am J Public Health* (2015) 105(9):1911–6. doi: 10.2105/ AJPH.2015.302699
- 20. Koch E, Hartkamp N, Siefen RG, Schouler-Ocak M. Patienten mit Migrationshintergrund in stationär-psychiatrischen Einrichtungen. (Patients with a migrant background in in-patient psychiatric care): Pilotstudie der Arbeitsgruppe "Psychiatrie und Migration" der Bundesdirektorenkonferenz [German pilot study of psychiatric inpatients with histories of migration]. Der Nervenarzt (2008) 79(3):328–39. doi: 10.1007/s00115-007-2393-y
- Leese M, Thornicroft G, Shaw J, Thomas S, Mohan R, Harty MA, et al. Ethnic differences among patients in high-security psychiatric hospitals in England. *Br J Psychiatry* (2006) (188):380–5. doi: 10.1192/bjp.188.4.380
- 22. Priebe S, Sandhu S, Dias S, Gaddini A, Greacen T, Ioannidis E, et al. Good practice in health care for migrants: Views and experiences of care professionals in 16 European countries. *BMC Public Health* (2011) 11:187. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-187
- Selten J-P, Cantor-Graae E, Kahn RS. Migration and schizophrenia. Curr Opin In Psychiatry (2007) 20(2):111–5. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e328017f68e
- Barnoux M, Wood J. The specific needs of foreign national prisoners and the threat to their mental health from being imprisoned in a foreign country. *Aggression Violent Behav* (2013) 18(2):240–6. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2012.11.012
- Forrester A, Exworthy T, Chao O, Slade K, Parrott J. Influencing the care pathway for prisoners with acute mental illness. *Criminal Behav Ment Health: CBMH* (2013) 23(3):217–26. doi: 10.1002/cbm.1870
- Till A, Sen P, Chaplin L, Grange E, Exworthy T, Forrester A. The mental health of foreign national prisoners. *J Forensic Legal Med* (2019) 62:14–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jflm.2019.01.001

- Perry BL, Neltner M, Allen T. A paradox of bias: racial differences in forensic psychiatric diagnosis and determinations of criminal responsibility. *Race Soc Problems* (2013) 5(4):239–49. doi: 10.1007/s12552-013-9100-3
- Salize HJ, Dreßing H. (2005). Placement and treatment of mentally ill offenders: Legislation and practice in EU member states. Retrieved from http://www.krim.dk/undersider/straffuldbyrdelse/forvaring/psykiskafvigende-indsatte-placering-europa-eu2006.pdf.
- Konrad N. Psychiatrische Probleme im Justizvollzug (Mental health problems in prison). In: Foerster K, Dreßing H, editors. *Psychiatrische Begutachtung -Ein praktisches Handbuch für Ärzte und Juristen, 5th ed.* Elsevier Urban & Fischer: München (2009). p. 395–409.
- 30. Müller-Isberner R, Eucker S. Unterbringung im Maßregelvollzug gemäß § 63 StGB (Detention in high security hospitals according to § 63 StGB). In: Foerster K, Dreßing H, editors. Psychiatrische Begutachtung - Ein praktisches Handbuch für Ärzte und Juristen, 5th ed. Elsevier Urban & Fischer: München (2009). p. 411–68.
- Konrad N, Lau S. Dealing with the mentally ill in the criminal justice system in Germany. Int J Law Psychiatry (2010) 33(4):236–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijlp.2010.06.005
- 32. Schmitt C, Rettenberger M. Wie (treff-)sicher ist die Einweisung in den Maßregelvollzug? - Forensisch, methodische und kriminalpolitische Aspekte. (Procedure of referrals to compulsory treatment in high security hospitals). *Forensische Psychiatr Und Psychother* (2015) 22:149–69.
- Schöch H. Schlussbemerkung. In: Hillenkamp T, Tag B, editors. Gesundheitsfürsorge zwischen Heilauftrag und Strafvollzug (Veröffentlichungen des Instituts für Deutsches, Europäisches und Internationales Medizinrecht, Gesundheitsrecht und Bioethik der Universitäten Heidelberg und Mannheim, vol 24). Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg (2005). p. 273–7. doi: 10.1007/3-540-28447-8_23
- 34. Konrad N. Psychiatrie im Strafvollzug als Alternative? Zur Versorgung psychisch kranker Straftäter. (Prison psychiatry as an alternative? Treatment issues of mentally ill prisoners). In: Pollähne H, editor. Forensische Psychiatrie - selbst ein Behandlungsfall?: Maßregelvollzug (§ 63 StGB) Zwischen Reform und Abschaffung. LIT: Berlin (2015). p. 105–23.
- 35. Konrad N, Rasch W. Forensisch-psychiatrische Therapie (Therapy in forensic psychiatry). In: Konrad N, Rasch W, editors. Forensische Psychiatrie: Rechtsgrundlagen, Begutachtung und Praxis, 4th ed. Kohlhammer Verlag: Stuttgart (2014). p. 427–46.
- 36. Spinney E, Yeide M, Feyerherm W, Cohen M, Stephenson R, Thomas C. Racial disparities in referrals to mental health and substance abuse services from the juvenile justice system: a review of the literature. *J Crime Justice* (2016) 39(1): 153–73. doi: 10.1080/0735648X.2015.1133492
- Steadman HJ, Redlich AD, Griffin P, Petrila J, Monahan J. From referral to disposition: Case processing in seven mental health courts. *Behav Sci Law* (2005) 23(2):215–26. doi: 10.1002/bsl.641
- Redlich AD, Steadman HJ, Monahan J, Robbins PC, Petrila J. Patterns of practice in mental health courts: A national survey. *Law and Human Behavior* (2006) 30(3):347–62. doi: 10.1007/s10979-006-9036-x
- Forrester A, Singh J, Slade K, Exworthy T, Sen P. Mental health in-reach in an urban UK remand prison. Int J Prison Health (2014) 10(3):155–63. doi: 10.1108/IJPH-07-2013-0035
- Steel J, Thornicroft G, Birmingham L, Brooker C, Mills A, Harty M, et al. Prison mental health inreach services. *Br J Psychiatry* (2007) 190:373–4. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.031294
- 41. Department of Health & HM Prison Service. Changing the Outlook: A Strategy for Developing Mental Health Services in Prisons. (2001) Retrieved from https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20110504020501/http:// www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/ documents/digitalasset/dh_4034228.pdf.
- 42. Till A, Forrester A, Exworthy T. The development of equivalence as a mechanism to improve prison healthcare. *J R Soc Med* (2014) 107(5): 179–82. doi: 10.1177/0141076814523949
- Vinkers DJ, de Beurs E, Barendregt M, Rinne T, Hoek HW. Pre-trial psychiatric evaluations and ethnicity in the Netherlands. Int J Law Psychiatry (2010b) 33(3):192–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2010.03.010

- Kaba F, Lewis A, Glowa-Kollisch S, Lee D, Alper H, Selling D, et al. Solitary confinement and risk of self-harm among jail inmates. *Am J Public Health* (2014) 104(3):442–7.
- Borrill J, Taylor DA. Suicides by foreign national prisoners in England and Wales 2007: mental health and cultural issues. J Forensic Psychiatry Psychol (2009) 20(6):886–905. doi: 10.1080/14789940903174113
- 46. Berliner Justizvollzug. (2018). Merkmale der Strafgefangenen und Sicherungsverwahrten in Berlin (Characteristics of prisoners and persons in preventive detention in Berlin). Retrieved from https://www.berlin.de/ justizvollzug/service/zahlen-und-fakten/merkmale-der-gefangenen-undverwahrten/.
- Ministerium der Justiz und für Europa Baden-Württemberg. (2018). Justizvollzug - Daten und Fakten (The penal system - data and facts). Retrieved from https://www.justiz-bw.de/Justizministerium,Lde/Startseite/ Justiz/datenundfakten.
- Gabrielsen G, Kramp P. Forensic psychiatric patients among immigrants in Denmark–diagnoses and criminality. *Nordic J Psychiatry* (2009) 63(2):140–7. doi: 10.1080/08039480802423014
- 49. Curley A, Agada E, Emechebe A, Anamdi C, Ng XT, Duffy R, et al. Exploring and explaining involuntary care: the relationship between psychiatric admission status, gender and other demographic and clinical variables. *Int J Law Psychiatry* (2016) 47:53–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.034
- Hausotter W, Schouler-Ocak M. Ethnomedizinische Grundlagen (Ethnomedical basics). In: Hausotter W, Schouler-Ocak M, editors. Begutachtung bei Menschen mit Migrationshintergrund, 2nd ed. Elsevier Urban & Fischer: München (2013a). p. 57–68.
- Kirmayer LJ, Weinfeld M, Burgos G, Du Fort GG, Lasry J-C, Young A. Use of health care services for psychological distress by immigrants in an urban multicultural milieu. *Can J Psychiatry* (2007) 52(5):295–304. doi: 10.1177/ 070674370705200504
- Mösko M-O, Gil-Martinez F, Schulz H. Cross-cultural opening in German outpatient mental healthcare service: an exploratory study of structural and procedural aspects. *Clin Psychol Psychother* (2013) 20(5):434–46. doi: 10.1002/ cpp.1785
- 53. Schmidt-Quernheim F. Kommunizierende Röhren Vom schwierigen Verhältnis von Sozialpsychiatrie und Massregelvollzug: Beobachtungen aus der Sicht einer forensischen Ambulanz (Difficulties in the communication of social psychiatry and high security hospitals: Communicating tubes - the difficult relationship between social and forensic psychiatry: observations from a forensic outpatient department). *Psychiatr Praxis* (2007) 34(5):218–22. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-951971
- Al-Rousan T, Rubenstein L, Sieleni B, Deol H, Wallace RB. Inside the nation's largest mental health institution: a prevalence study in a state prison system. *BMC Public Health* (2017) 17(1):342. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4257-0
- Thompson M, Newell S, Carlson MJ. Race and access to mental health and substance abuse treatment in the criminal justice system. J Offender Rehabil (2016) 55(2):69–94. doi: 10.1080/10509674.2015.1112867
- Bhui HS. Alien experience: foreign national prisoners after the deportation crisis. *Probation J* (2007) 54(4):368–82. doi: 10.1177/0264550507083536
- 57. Adeponle AB, Thombs BD, Groleau D, Jarvis E, Kirmayer LJ. Using the cultural formulation to resolve uncertainty in diagnoses of psychosis among ethnoculturally diverse patients. *Psychiatr Serv (Washington D.C.)* (2012) 63 (2):147–53. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201100280
- Gara MA, Vega WA, Arndt S, Escamilla M, Fleck DE, Lawson WB, et al. Influence of patient race and ethnicity on clinical assessment in patients with affective disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2012) 69(6):593–600. doi: 10.1001/ archgenpsychiatry.2011.2040
- Haasen C, Lambert M, Yagdiran O, Krausz M. Psychiatric disorders among migrants in Germany: prevalence in a psychiatric clinic and implications for services and research. *Eur Psychiatry* (1997) 12(6):305–10. doi: 10.1016/ S0924-9338(97)84791-8
- Kirmayer LJ, Groleau D, Guzder J, Blake C, Jarvis E. Cultural consultation: a model of mental health service for multicultural societies. *Can J Psychiatry* (2003) 48(3):145–53. doi: 10.1177/070674370304800302

- Lewis-Fernández R, Díaz N. The cultural formulation: a method for assessing cultural factors affecting the clinical encounter. *Psychiatr Q* (2002) 73(4):271– 95. doi: 10.1023/A:1020412000183
- Barendregt M, Muller E, Nijman H, de Beurs E. Factors associated with experts' opinions regarding criminal responsibility in The Netherlands. *Behav Sci Law* (2008) 26(5):619–31. doi: 10.1002/bsl.837
- Mikton C, Grounds A. Cross-cultural clinical judgment bias in personality disorder diagnosis by forensic psychiatrists in the UK: a case-vignette study. J Pers Disord (2007) 21(4):400–17. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2007.21.4.400
- Van Ryn M, Burke J. The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. *Soc Sci Med* (2000) 50(6):813–28. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00338-X
- Vinkers DJ, de Vries SC, van Baars AWB, Mulder CL. Ethnicity and dangerousness criteria for court ordered admission to a psychiatric hospital. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* (2010a) 45(2):221–4. doi: 10.1007/s00127-009-0058-9
- Nedopil N, Müller JL. Forensische Psychiatrie (Forensic Psychiatry): Klinik, Begutachtung und Behandlung zwischen Psychiatrie und Recht. 4th ed. Georg Thieme Verlag KG: Stuttgart (2012). p. 379–81.
- Schouler-Ocak M, Reiske S-L, Rapp MA, Heinz A. Cultural factors in the diagnosis and treatment of traumatised migrant patients from Turkey. *Transcult Psychiatry* (2008) 45(4):652–70. doi: 10.1177/1363461508100787
- Schouler-Ocak M, Aichberger MC. Versorgung von Migranten [Providing Care for Migrants]. Psychother Psych Med (2015) 65(12):476–85. doi: 10.1055/ s-0041-100492
- 69. Hausotter W, Schouler-Ocak M. Spezielle Probleme bei der Begutachtung (Specific problems in assessment of patients with a migration background). In: Hausotter W, Schouler-Ocak M, editors. *Begutachtung bei Menschen mit Migrationshintergrund, 2nd ed.* Elsevier Urban & Fischer: München (2013b). p. 97–133.

- 70. Keppler K, Stöver H, Schulte B, Reimer J. Prison Health is Public Health! Angleichungs- und Umsetzungsprobleme in der gesundheitlichen Versorgung Gefangener im deutschen Justizvollzug. Ein Übersichtsbeitrag [Prison health is public health! Problems in adapting and implementing health services for prisoners in Germany. A review]. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz (2010) 53(2):233–44. doi: 10.1007/ s00103-009-1023-1
- 71. United Nations. (1982). Principles of medical ethics relevant to the Role of Health Personnel, particularly Physicians, in the Protection of Prisoners and Detainees against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/ruleoflaw/ files/TH005.PDF.
- Denzel AD, Harte JM, van den Bergh M, Scherder EJA. Ethnic variations regarding clinical profiles and symptom representation in prisoners with psychotic disorders. *BJPsych Open* (2018) 4(1):18–28. doi: 10.1192/bjo.2017.3
- Schouler-Ocak M. Psychiatrische Versorgung von Menschen mit Migrationshintergrund in Deutschland [Mental health care for immigrants in Germany]. Der Nervenarzt (2015) 86(11):1320–5. doi: 10.1007/s00115-015-4333-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Neumann, Ross and Opitz-Welke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

